# MHC-E-RESTRICTED CD8+ T CELL RESPONSES ELICITED BY RHESUS CYTOMEGALOVIRUS VACCINE VECTORS

By Helen L. Wu

A Dissertation

Presented to the Department of Molecular Microbiology & Immunology and the Oregon Health & Science University School of Medicine in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

June 2016

School of Medicine

Oregon Health & Science University

# CERTIFICATE OF APPROVAL

This is to certify that the PhD dissertation of

Helen Wu

has been approved.

Jonah Sacha, PhD, Mentor/Advisor

Klaus Frueh, PhD, Oral Exam Committee Chair

Nancy Haigwood, PhD, Member

David Lewinsohn, MD, Member

Daniel Streblow, PhD, Member

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Acknowledgmentsv
List of figures and tablesvii
Abstractx
CHAPTER 1: Introduction
I. Human and simian immunodeficiency viruses1
A. Transmission and disease1
B. HIV/SIV classification
C. Non-human primate models of AIDS5
D. HIV/SIV virology
i. Cellular tropism10
ii Viral life cycle and proteins11
iii. Viral evolution16
iv. Early events in vivo18
E. The immune response to HIV/SIV
i. Innate immune response
ii. Adaptive immune response: interplay between virus and host20
a. Viral escape from adaptive immunity21
b. Antibody response and CD4+ T cell responses
c. CD8+ T cell responses

II. HIV vaccine development
A. The need for an HIV vaccine
B. T cell vaccines
i. CD8+ T cell immunology
ii. CD8+ T cell-based vaccine design
C. Previous vaccine trials in humans and vaccine studies in non-human primates
III. The major histocompatibility complex43
A. Classification of MHC-I molecules
B. Antigen presentation on MHC-I
С. МНС-Е
i. General characteristics of MHC-E48
ii. The role of MHC-E in NK cell regulation48
iii. Primate MHC-E50
iv. Other peptide ligands of MHC-E
v. Regulation of NK cells by virus-derived MHC-E ligands
vi. MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells
a. Auto-reactive MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells specific for TCR-Vβ-
derived peptides55
b. MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells specific for bacterial peptides56
c. MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells specific for viral peptides59
vii. Antigen presentation on E61
IV. Cytomegalovirus-based vaccine vectors
A. CMV virology

B. The immune response to CMV	68
C. CMV as a vaccine vector	71
i. Rationale for use as a vaccine vector for HIV	72
ii. General features of RhCMV vector vaccination	74
iii. Efficacy of RhCMV/SIV vector vaccination	76
iv. CD8+ T cell responses elicited by RhCMV/SIV vaccine vectors	80

# CHAPTER 2: Broadly targeted CD8+ T cell responses restricted by major

histocompatibility complex E
I. The problem and scientific approach
II. Author contributions
III. Materials and methods85
IV. Results
A. Non-classical MHC-E molecules restrict SIVgag-specific, MHC-I-blocked CD8+ T
cell responses in strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag-vaccinated rhesus macaques92
B. SIVgag-specific, MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells targeting supertopes Gag69 and
Gag120 are conventional CD8 $\alpha/\beta$ T cells
C. SIVgag-specific, MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells recognize naturally processed
antigen on the surface of SIV-infected CD4+ T cells
D. SIV infection increases expression of MHC-E on the surface of rhesus macaque CD4+
T cells
E. Primate MHC-E molecules exhibit functional conservation in the presentation of
peptide to primed CD8+ T cells

CHAPTER 3: Discussion and future directions	126
I. MHC-E restriction explains the unique properties of the strain 68-1 RhC	CMV-
elicited, MHC-I-dependent CD8+ T cell response	126
II. Priming of MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells by strain 68-1 RhCMV	
III. The role of MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells in strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIV	V-
mediated control of SIV	136
IV. MHC-E peptide presentation to CD8+ T cells is conserved across prim	ate
species	141
V. Implications for vaccine design	145
VI. Future directions	146
VII. Summary and conclusions	150

References	References	.1:	5	5	2
------------	------------	-----	---	---	---

Appendix 1: Identification and spontaneous immune targeting of an endogenous	
retrovirus K envelope protein in the Indian rhesus macaque model of human	
disease	.215

Appendix 2: Tertiary mutations stabilize CD8+ T lymphocyte escape-associated	
compensatory mutations following transmission of simian immunodeficiency	
virus	253

#### Acknowledgments

First and most importantly, I would like to thank my mentor, Dr. Jonah Sacha, for giving me the opportunity to be a part of his laboratory and providing continual support to me throughout graduate school. Dr. Sacha has served as a fantastic scientific mentor to me, providing scientific guidance and knowledge as well as constant support. I thank him for the opportunity to work on this project and others, for always making himself available for advice and discussion, and for encouraging my development as a scientist. His enthusiasm for science is infectious.

I would also like to thank Dr. Nancy Haigwood and Dr. Eric Cambronne, who have taught me a great deal and have continually supported me over the past few years, as well as Dr. Scott Hansen and Dr. Louis Picker for their valuable advice and collaboration. I would like to thank the members of my thesis advisory committee, Dr. Klaus Frueh, Dr. Daniel Streblow, and Dr. David Lewinsohn, for their time, advice, and support.

The members of the Sacha laboratory have been an enormous part of my experience in graduate school. Thank you to Dr. Ben Burwitz for training me and for valuable scientific and personal advice and support. I would not have made it through graduate school without assistance, advice, and friendship from Kate Hammond, Dr. Gabriela Webb, Jason Reed, and Reese Pathak, and more recently Dr. Justin Greene and Dr. Shaheed Abdulhaqq. Thank you all for your support and for making it fun to come to work every day. I would also like to thank my fellow graduate students for their friendship and commiseration, especially Laura Springgay, who has been there throughout this journey as my friend, study buddy, and Portland family.

V

None of this would be possible without my parents, Ping and Jacky Wu, who I like to think gave me my passion and ability for science and who have always supported and encouraged me. I greatly appreciate being able to discuss graduate school with parents who have experienced the process themselves. Thank you to my brother, Sammy Wu, for his support and for never wanting to discuss science ©. Thank you to my friends for their endless laughs, support, and encouragement, especially Victoria Davies, Robynn Choy, and Sarah Suharwardy, without whom I would not have made it through graduate school.

# List of figures and tables

## **CHAPTER 1: Introduction**

Table 1.1: Previously identified pathogen-derived MHC-E ligands	53
Figure 1.1: MHC-E molecules expressed in humans, rhesus macaques, and Mauritian	
cynomolgus macaques	63
Figure 1.2: Sequence conservation in the $\alpha 1$ and $\alpha 2$ regions of MHC-E molecules	
expressed in humans, rhesus macaques, and Mauritian cynomolgus macaques	64

## CHAPTER 2: Broadly targeted CD8+ T cell responses restricted by major

## histocompatibility complex E

Figure 2.1: Validation of transfected cell lines expressing single MHC-I molecules
corresponding to MHC-I molecules expressed by 4 strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag-
vaccinated RM103
Figure 2.2: Schematic of MHC-I restriction assay
Figure 2.3: MHC-E molecules restrict SIVgag supertope-specific CD8+ T cell
responses
Figure 2.4: Comprehensive analysis of the MHC-Ia and MHC-Ib specificity of twelve
SIVgag 15-mer peptide-specific CD8+ T cell responses in four strain 68-1
RhCMV/SIVgag-vaccinated rhesus macaques
Figure 2.5: Classical MHC-Ia allomorphs capable of presenting SIVgag peptides to
strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag-elicited CD8+ T cells are not the restricting MHC alleles for
these T cell responses

Figure 2.6: MHC-E-binding peptide VL9 specifically blocks MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T
cell responses targeting SIVgag supertopes110
Figure 2.7: MHC-E-binding peptide VL9 specifically blocks ten identified MHC-E-
restricted CD8+ T cell responses
Figure 2.8: Every MHC-I-dependent CD8+ T cell response elicited by strain 68-1
RhCMV/SIVgag vaccination is restricted by MHC-E113
Figure 2.9: Strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag-elicited, MHC-E-restricted, SIVgag supertope-
specific CD8+ T cells exhibit a conventional CD8 $\alpha/\beta$ +, TCR $\gamma/\delta$ -, NKG2A/C-
phenotype114
Figure 2.10: MHC-E-restricted, strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag-elicited CD8+ T cells
recognize SIV-infected CD4+ T cells
Figure 2.11: An SIVgag supertope-specific CD8+ T cell line recognizes SIV-infected
CD4+ T cells in an MHC-E-dependent manner
<b>Figure 2.12:</b> MHC-E is up-regulated on the surface of SIV-infected CD4+ T cells119
Figure 2.13: Strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag-elicited CD8+ T cells recognize peptide across
rhesus macaque and human MHC-E molecules
Figure 2.14: Dose response of MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells to optimal SIVgag 9-
mers pulsed on human and RM MHC-E transfectants and BLCL122
Figure 2.15: Strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag-elicited CD8+ T cells recognize peptide
presented by Mauritian cynomolgus macaque MHC-E molecules

# **CHAPTER 3: Discussion and future directions**

<b>Table 3.1:</b> CD8+ T cell recognition frequency of eleven MHC-E-binding SIVgag
optimal 9-mers among strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag-vaccinated rhesus macaques128
Figure 3.1: The number of MHC-E molecules expressed in an individual RM does not
correlate with the number of primed SIVgag-specific, MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cell
esponses primed

#### Abstract

Vaccination of rhesus macaques with rhesus cytomegalovirus strain 68-1 expressing SIV proteins (RhCMV/SIV) results in stringent control of SIV replication. Approximately fifty percent of vaccinated rhesus macaques exhibit robust control of SIV replication following challenge and eventually clear the virus entirely. However, the mechanism of control and clearance of SIV in strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIV-vaccinated rhesus macaques is unknown. Previous work demonstrated that strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIV vaccination elicits a unique SIV-specific CD8+ T cell response characterized by novel epitope targeting, universal responses elicited regardless of MHC genotype, and wide breadth. We hypothesized this distinct SIV-specific CD8+ T cell response results from unique patterns of MHC restriction. Here, we demonstrate that a large subset of strain 68-1 RhCMV-induced CD8+ T cell responses are restricted by MHC-E molecules, a class of highly conserved, non-classical MHC-I molecules canonically involved in NK cell regulation. SIVgag-specific, MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells are able to recognize naturally processed antigen on the surface of both autologous and heterologous SIVinfected CD4+ T cells. In addition, MHC-E is up-regulated on the surface of CD4+ T cells after SIV infection, in contrast to decreased levels of classical MHC-Ia molecules. Finally, we show that MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells from rhesus macaques recognize antigen presented across MHC-E molecules from rhesus macaques, humans, and Mauritian cynomolgus macaques, suggesting conservation of MHC-E function across primate species. The findings presented here are the first description of retrovirusspecific, MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells, and first identification of MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells in non-human primates. Restriction by MHC-E, along with the previously

Х

described MHC-II-restricted class of CD8+ T cells, explains the unique characteristics of the strain 68-1 RhCMV-induced, SIV-specific, MHC-I-dependent CD8+ T cell response, and suggests that virus-specific MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cell responses may contribute to control and clearance of SIV. Further, induction of a novel MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cell response of such unprecedented breadth suggests a unique mechanism of CD8+ T cell priming by strain 68-1 RhCMV vectors. Finally, as MHC-E surface expression is often preserved despite pathogen-mediated down-modulation of MHC-Ia, MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cell responses may remain effective in the face of immune evasion mechanisms. MHC-E appears functionally conserved across primates and exhibits very limited diversity in the human population, and thus mobilizing pathogen-specific MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells may serve as a promising approach to T cell-based vaccine development for HIV and other pathogens.

#### **CHAPTER 1: Introduction**

#### I. Human and simian immunodeficiency viruses

Human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) is the causative agent of acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS), a deficiency of cellular immunity characterized by low CD4+ T cell counts and the development of opportunistic infections and malignancies. HIV remains an enormous global health concern. In 2014, there were 36.9 million people globally living with HIV, 2 million new HIV infections, and 1.2 million deaths due to AIDS-related illnesses (1). Although treatment with antiretroviral therapy (ART) can control viral replication and reduce the risk of transmission (2) (3), access and life-long adherence to ART is challenging for some patients and treatment is not curative (4)(5). In contrast to drug therapy, vaccination against infectious pathogens is among the most cost-effective medical interventions (6) (7). While the implementation of an effective vaccine would significantly slow the HIV/AIDS epidemic, efforts to develop such a vaccine for HIV have been unsuccessful, largely due to the sequence diversity, adaptability, and immune-evasive capability of the virus. Thus, vaccine strategies that overcome these issues are needed. Infection of Asian macaques with various simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV) strains, primate lentiviruses related to HIV, serves as a powerful experimental animal model of HIV infection that can be employed to test new vaccine strategies (8) (9). This section discusses the virological and immunological characteristics of HIV/SIV infection, particularly key features that pose challenges for vaccine development.

#### A. Transmission and disease

The first cases of HIV disease were reported in 1981, describing a rare type of pneumonia caused by *Pneumocystis carinii* (PCP) in five young homosexual men in Los Angeles (10). *Pneumocystis carinii*, now known as *Pneumocystic jiroveci*, is a ubiquitous fungus that rarely causes disease in healthy individuals but causes life-threatening pneumonia in immunocompromised patients (11). Similar reports of PCP and other opportunistic diseases among homosexual men, hemophiliacs, intravenous drug users, recipients of blood transfusions, female sexual partners of men with symptoms, infants, and Africans accumulated (12) (13) (14) (15) (16) (17) (18) (19) (20). The syndrome became known as Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome, or AIDS (21), and was discovered to be caused by a retrovirus, eventually named Human Immunodeficiency Virus type 1, or HIV-1 (22) (23) (24) (25) (26), a virus that infects and destroys CD4+ T cells (27) (28) (29).

HIV is transmitted through contact with bodily fluids of an infected individual, including blood, semen, vaginal fluids, and breast milk (30) (31). Of the three main modes of HIV transmission, sexual, percutaneous, and perinatal, sexual exposure is the predominant route of infection, with 80% of new infections due to mucosal exposure (30) (31). Upon primary HIV infection, many patients experience symptoms resembling those of mononucleosis, such as fever, fatigue, lymph node swelling, headache, and rash, that appear within days to weeks following exposure (32) (33) (34). Seroconversion typically occurs weeks to months after infection (35). Peak viremia is accompanied by a decline of CD4+ T cell counts in blood that is occasionally accompanied by the development of opportunistic infections (36) (37) (38). However, viremia subsequently declines to a setpoint, blood CD4+ T cell counts rebound, and patients often enter clinical latency,

exhibiting little or no clinical manifestations of HIV infection. Plasma viral set point is strongly predictive of the rate of disease progression (39). Despite lack of apparent symptoms, viral replication persists, and CD4+ T cells turnover rapidly during this period (40) (41). For most infected memory T cells, the half-life is less than a day (42). This chronic HIV infection results in gradual CD4+ T cell loss, typically occurring over years, and ultimately in the onset of AIDS. AIDS is clinically defined by (1) CD4+ T cell count of less than 200 cells per microliter of blood, or (2) diagnosis with an AIDS-defining illness, including opportunistic infectious diseases such as Candidiasis, Cryptococcosis, Cytomegalovirus disease, and Pneumocystis jiroveci pneumonia, and opportunistic malignancies such as Kaposi's sarcoma, Burkitt's lymphoma, and invasive cervical cancer (43). Most untreated individuals succumb to AIDS approximately 10 years after infection. Prior to the availability of antiretroviral treatment, the median survival time after AIDS diagnosis was 20 months (44). When adhered to, combination antiretroviral therapy controls viral replication and prolongs the life expectancy of HIV-infected individuals (2)(45).

While most untreated HIV-infected individuals progress as described above, a small subset of untreated individuals (~5-15%), termed long-term non-progressors (LTNPs), progress to AIDS more slowly (46). While no official standard definition exists, LTNP cases are typically defined by a CD4+ T cell count of over 500 cells per microliter of blood with no signs of disease sustained for more than 7 years of infection (47) (46). Long-term non-progressors also tend to have lower viral loads (47), and thus often overlap with a group termed elite controllers (ECs), typically defined as individuals with less than 50 copies HIV RNA per milliliter of plasma (48) (49) (50). However, elite

controllers are exceeding rare, making up less than 1% of infected individuals (*51*). Remarkably, some elite controllers have maintained CD4+ T cell counts and undetectable viral loads for over 25 years of HIV infection (*48*), while others have progressed (*52*). Investigating the mechanisms of control in these individuals, as well as in SIV elite controller macaques, can inform vaccine design.

#### **B. HIV/SIV classification**

HIV and SIV are lentiviruses belonging to the *Retroviridae* family that exhibit highly error-prone replication in primate hosts (40) (53). With reverse transciptase's estimated error rate of  $10^{-4}$  to  $10^{-5}$  mutations per base per cycle (778) (54) (55) (56), HIV-1 evolves around one million times faster than mammalian DNA (57) (58) (56), and an enormous diversity of HIV/SIV viruses exists among and within infected individuals (59) (60) (61). As described in detail below, this immense genetic diversity greatly diminishes the efficacy of both natural and vaccine-elicited immune responses.

The HIV strains circulating today arose from SIVs that were transmitted to humans from naturally infected African primates, including multiple zoonotic transmissions of SIV from chimpanzees, gorillas, and sooty mangabeys (*62*). There are two major types of HIV: HIV type 1 (HIV-1) and HIV type 2 (HIV-2). HIV-1 is responsible for the vast majority of infections, while HIV-2 is largely contained within West Africa. Circulating HIV-2 strains are descendants of sooty mangabey SIVs (SIVsmm) that crossed into humans (*63*) (*64*) (*65*), including 8 distinct lineages denoted A-H, each resulting from a separate cross-species transmission (*62*). HIV-2 infection is characterized by a longer asymptomatic stage, lower plasma viral load, and lower mortality compared to HIV-1 (*62*). There are four main lineages of HIV-1, called groups

M, N, O, P, each resulting from an independent zoonotic transmission of SIV from chimpanzees or gorillas (*62*). Viruses belonging to group M viruses, or main group, originated from chimpanzee SIV (SIVcpz) and are responsible for the vast majority of HIV-1 infections (*62*), and thus represent the pandemic strain of HIV. During the global spread of HIV-1 group M viruses, a number of population bottlenecks occurred, resulting in nine group M subtypes, A-D, F-H, J-K (*62*). Circulating recombinant forms of these HIV-1 group M subtypes also exist (*66*). Compared to group M infections, HIV-1 group N, O, and P infections are far less prevalent and largely restricted to West Africa (*62*). Molecular clock analysis dates the cross-species transmission event that led to the group M and O epidemics to the early 20<sup>th</sup> century, while Group N and P infections probably occurred more recently (*67*) (*68*) (*69*) (*70*). Thus, the pandemic group of HIV (HIV-1 group M) has spent over 100 years replicating in human hosts, generating an enormous amount of sequence diversity that poses a significant challenge in developing a globally effective vaccine.

#### C. Non-human primate models of AIDS

For the study of any infectious disease, a physiologically relevant animal model of infection that recapitulates key features of human pathogenic and immunologic processes is extremely powerful. Among other advantages, animal models allow for direct testing of scientific hypotheses, extensive sampling that would be impossible or unethical in humans, and initial efficacy testing of vaccines and treatments. In particular, non-human primate models provide the most physiologically relevant species to study human disease and disease intervention, and, for reasons described below, serve as standard animal models in HIV/AIDS research.

HIV is species-specific due to inter-species disparities in host co-factors and restriction factors that dictate the ability of the virus to replicate in that host's cells. Thus, HIV-1 is unable to replicate or cause disease in most species other than humans, including commonly used small animal models and most non-human primate species (71) (8). While chimpanzees can be infected with HIV-1, infection rarely results in the development of disease (72) (73), and their endangered species status and high maintenance costs preclude the use of chimpanzees as an animal model for HIV/AIDS. Further, the only non-primate virus to cause an AIDS-like syndrome is the feline lentivirus, feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV). However, FIV lacks key proteins present in HIV and SIV, utilizes a different receptor, exhibits broader cellular tropism, and induces a distinct immune response upon infection compared to HIV (74) (8).

Over 40 African primate species harbor species-specific strains of SIV that are endemic to these natural hosts (*75*) (*76*) (*77*), with SIV infection prevalence ranging from 1% to over 50% depending on the species (*78*). Despite chronic infection with high levels of viral replication, these natural hosts of SIV, such as African green monkeys and sooty mangabeys, do not typically develop AIDS (*79*) (*8*), and thus are unsuitable models for studying pathogenesis. However, SIV infection of non-natural hosts, such as Asian macaques, closely models the course of HIV-1 infection in humans, including gradual CD4+ T cell depletion and progression to AIDS (*8*). The history of simian AIDS in Asian macaques dates back to the 1970's, when an outbreak of B cell lymphomas and opportunistic infections occurred among Asian rhesus macaques housed at the California National Primate Research Center (CNPRC) (*81*). The outbreak was later discovered to be the result of simian AIDS caused by SIVmac (SIV of macaques) (*81*). Prior to the

outbreak, rhesus macaques had been co-housed with healthy, SIV-seropositive sooty mangabeys (80) (81). While underlying immune deficiency was also noted, the outbreak was not known to be infectious at that time, and few of the surviving healthy SIVcarrying rhesus macaques were sent to other primate centers, including the New England Primate Research Center (NEPRC) (81). Thus, SIVmac, which was first isolated at NEPRC in 1985 (82), most likely originated from one of the asymptomatic carriers originally co-housed with SIV-infected sooty mangabeys at the CNPRC (80) (81). The commonly used strains of the SIVmac lineage are the cloned SIVmac239 and uncloned SIVmac251 (8). Another lineage of SIV commonly used to infect rhesus macaques, called SIVsm, is derived from SIV of sooty mangabeys that was minimally passaged in rhesus macaques (83) (84). The commonly used strains of this lineage are the cloned SIVsmE543-3 and uncloned SIVsmE660 (8). Both the SIVmac and SIVsm lineages are neutralization-sensitive, utilize co-receptor CCR5, and preferentially replicate in memory CD4+ T cells. As with natural HIV-1 infection, experimental infection of Asian macaques with SIV results in high levels of viremia in the acute phase followed by a reduction in viremia concomitant with the appearance of virus-specific CD8+ T cells, a subsequent prolonged asymptomatic phase, and finally onset of AIDS characterized by the depletion of CD4+ T cells, an increase in viral load, and onset of opportunistic infections (9) (85) (86) (87) (88). Further, a small percentage of SIV-infected Asian macaques stringently control viral replication, with a phenotype similar to HIV-infected elite controllers (89). Thus, SIV-infected Asian macaques, including rhesus, pig-tail, and cynomolgus macaques, serve as relevant experimental models to study HIV/AIDS, including pre-clinical testing of vaccines and therapeutics.

Among non-human primate models of AIDS, SIV infection of Indian-origin rhesus macaques (Macaca mulatta) is the most well characterized and widely used. SIVmac251 and SIVmac239 infection of rhesus macaques results in high viral load infection and progressive loss of CD4+ T cells (90) (8). However, as with any experimental animal model, there are caveats of the rhesus macaque model that must be considered in designing studies and interpreting results. Progression to AIDS occurs faster in SIV-infected rhesus macaques than in HIV-1-infected humans, occurring 0.5-3 years after SIV infection, while untreated HIV-1-infected individuals progress to AIDS ~8-10 years after infection (8) (91). Further, the genetic diversity among and within SIV strains is lower than the genetic diversity of HIV in humans, particularly with virus grown from molecular clones, such as SIVmac239 (8). Thus, vaccines and therapeutics that are broadly effective against SIV infection may not work equally well among diverse HIV strains. In addition, outbred rhesus macaques possess complex MHC genetics compared to humans, with individual rhesus macaques expressing a larger number of MHC-I and MHC-II alleles that present pathogen epitopes to T cells. However, the relative expression of MHC alleles in macaques vary, and there is evidence that the majority of SIV-specific CD8+ T cells are restricted by transcriptionally abundant alleles (92). Finally, rhesus macaques possess a larger diversity of tripartite-motif-containing protein 5 (TRIM5) alleles compared to humans, for which only a few minor variants exist (93). TRIM5 is a restriction factor and determinant of host-range for retroviruses; in fact TRIM5 $\alpha$  was initially identified as a post-entry block to HIV-1 infection in rhesus macaque and other Old World monkey cells (94). Rhesus macaque TRIM5 variants confer varying degrees of susceptibility to SIV infection. For example, rhesus macaques

expressing restrictive TRIM5 $\alpha$  variants exhibit SIVsmE543-3 viral loads 100- to 1,000fold lower than animals expressing only non-restrictive variants (95).

A more recently characterized Asian macaque model for AIDS is the Mauritian cynomolgus macaque model. SIV infection of cynomolgus macaques is similar to that of rhesus macaques, with the caveat that cynomolgus macaques exhibit slightly lower peak and set-point viral loads (779). Mauritian cynomolgus macaques (MCMs) are an insular population of cynomolgus macaques descended from a small founder population that has expanded over the last 500 years (96) (97). Thus, MCMs exhibit extremely low genetic diversity and possess simplified TRIM5 and MHC genetics relative to other non-human primate models (98) (99). The majority of MCMs express MHC alleles from seven MHC haplotypes, termed M1 through M7 (99) (100). Indeed the most common haplotype, M1, is carried by 19% of MCMs and over 4% of MCMs are homozygous for this haplotype (101) (100). The seven MCM MHC haplotypes are fully defined for MHC-Ia and MHC-II alleles (100) (102), and thus cohorts of MHC-defined, including MHC-identical, animals can be easily obtained. Thus, MCMs serve as a powerful model to define the relationship between host genetics and control of lentiviral infection (101) (103) (104) (105) (106) (107). Further, access to cohorts of MHC-identical MCMs enable adoptive transfer experiments used to study the protective capacity of various T cell populations (108) (109) (110).

#### **D. HIV/SIV virology**

HIV and SIV belong to the *Lentivirus* genus of the *Retroviridae* virus family. Retroviruses are enveloped, single-stranded, positive-sense RNA viruses that replicate through the process of reverse transcription, whereby the viral reverse transcriptase

converts the viral RNA genome into cDNA that is subsequently integrated into the host cell genome, allowing for the transcription and translation of viral genes and packaging of new virions (*111*). Due to the error-prone nature of reverse transcription and high level of viral replication, retroviruses exhibit immense sequence variability and evolutionary potential. Among retroviruses, lentiviruses like HIV/SIV are named for their long incubation periods (*"lente-"* meaning slow in Latin), infecting for months or years prior to the onset of disease. Lentiviruses cause chronic, persistent infections in various mammalian species, including primates, ungulates, and felids (*62*), and can result in a variety of pathologies, including immunodeficiency and neurological disease (*112*) (*86*). This section describes HIV/SIV cellular tropism, life cycle, proteins, and evolution as well as early events of *in vivo* infection, all of which have implications for vaccine design and efficacy.

#### i. Cellular tropism

HIV/SIV primarily infect CD4+ T cells and macrophages *in vivo*. The restricted cellular tropism of HIV/SIV is largely determined by cellular receptors that allow for viral entry, however other cell-specific factors also impact viral tropism. In order to infect a cell, envelope proteins on the HIV/SIV virion must bind to the receptor, CD4, and co-receptor, either CCR5 or CXCR4, on the surface of the target cell (*113*) (*114*) (*115*) (*116*) (*117*) (*118*). The primary receptor, CD4, is a glycoprotein expressed on the surface of CD4+ T cells, monocytes, macrophages, and dendritic cells (*119*) (*120*) (*121*) (*122*). CCR5 (CD195), or C-C chemokine receptor type 5, binds  $\beta$ -chemokines MIP-1 $\alpha$ , MIP-1 $\beta$ , and RANTES, and is expressed on macrophages, dendritic cells, eosinophils, microglia, and some subsets of T cells (*123*) (*124*) (*125*) (*126*). CCR5 is expressed on 5-

25% of peripheral T cells, mostly CD45RA- memory/effector cells (*127*) (*128*) (*117*) (*126*). CXCR4 (CD184), or C-X-C chemokine receptor type 4, binds α-chemokine SDF-1α and is expressed on most peripheral T cells, including both naïve and memory subsets (*127*) (*129*). Individual viral isolates are typically classified by co-receptor usage, either CCR5 or CXCR4; however dual-tropic strains also exist (*780*). CCR5-utilizing viruses typically predominate in the early stages of HIV-1 infection (*130*) (*131*) (*132*) (*133*) (*134*). In about half of HIV-infected individuals, a switch in the viral population to CXCR4-utilizing viruses occurs later in infection; this switch correlates with subsequent accelerated CD4+ T cell decline and disease progression (*135*) (*136*) (*137*) (*138*). In addition to cellular receptors involved in virus entry, additional cellular factors determine HIV/SIV cellular tropism. For example, resting CD4+ T cells are highly resistant to productive HIV-1 infection due to a barrier of cortical actin and abundant expression of SAMHD1, an HIV-1 restriction factor that blocks HIV-1 infection early in reverse transcription (*139*).

#### ii. Viral life cycle and proteins

Due to the nature of the retroviral life cycle, which includes incorporation into the host genome, HIV/SIV establish irreversible infection in cellular targets. The viral envelope proteins on the surface HIV/SIV virions bind to the receptor, CD4, and co-receptor, CCR5 or CXCR4, on the surface of the target cell, which facilitates fusion of the viral envelope with the target cell plasma membrane and the subsequent release of the viral capsid into the cytosol (*111*) (*140*). Uncoating, reverse transcription of the viral RNA genome into DNA, and assembly of the pre-integration complex occur in the cytosol (*111*) (*140*). The pre-integration complex is then imported into the nucleus, where

the viral integrase protein facilitates integration of the viral DNA into the host cell genome, creating a provirus (111) (140). Host cell machinery transcribes the proviral cDNA into new viral RNA genomes as well as mRNAs encoding viral proteins, which are exported from the nucleus to the cytosol for translation (mRNAs) and incorporation into virions (genomes) (140). New virions assemble and bud from the plasma membrane, after which the viral protease inside each virion cleaves the viral polyproteins into active proteins, creating a mature virion capable of infecting a new target cell (111) (140).

Integration of HIV/SIV into the host cell genome renders the cell irreversibly infected and also allows for the establishment of viral latency, whereby production of viral proteins and progeny ceases but can later reactivate to produce replication-competent virus (141) (142) (143). The establishment of latency prevents immune recognition of infected cells, and thus latently infected cells avoid immune-mediated destruction (144). Further, the latent reservoir persists during antiretroviral treatment (145) (146) (147) (148) (143) (149). The major cellular latent reservoir is resting memory CD4+ T cells (145) (150) (151) (148), thought to be previously activated T cells that became infected and survived long enough to revert back to a resting memory state non-permissive for viral gene expression.

HIV/SIV proteins participate in the viral life cycle, but also serve other critical functions, including counteracting cellular restriction factors and facilitating immune evasion. These viral proteins also serve as the antigenic targets of adaptive immune responses. Lentiviruses encode three major viral genes, *gag*, *pol*, and *env*, as well as two regulatory genes, *tat* and *rev*. The major viral genes *gag*, *pol*, and *env* encode polyproteins that are later cleaved into the individual, active proteins. The *gag* gene

encodes a polyprotein that is cleaved by the viral protease during virion maturation into the individual structural proteins of the virus: matrix, capsid, and nucleocapsid (152) (153). Matrix proteins are myristoylated at the N-terminus, and thus associate with the lipid bilayer, forming a protein layer under the viral envelope (154). In HIV, a subset of matrix proteins associate with cellular nuclear import machinery, and thus serve to escort the viral RNA genome to the nucleus for import, allowing the virus to access the nucleus and integrate into the host genome without cell division (155) (156) (157). Gag-encoded capsid proteins form the conical core of the virion, surrounding two copies of the viral RNA genome as well as other viral proteins, including gag-encoded nucleocapsid proteins and *pol*-encoded enzymes (158). Nucleocapsid proteins recognize the packaging signal of the viral RNA genome, mediating incorporation of the viral RNA into virions (159). The Gag polyprotein also contains the p2, p1, and p6 regions (160) (161). Spacers p2 and p1 as well as C-terminal p6 are critical for virion structure and infectivity (160) (162) (163). In addition, the p6 region facilitates incorporation of accessory proteins Vpr and Vpx into virions (164) (165).

*Pol* encodes the enzymatic proteins of the virus, including reverse transcriptase, RNase H, integrase, and protease. Reverse transcriptase reverse transcribes the viral RNA genome into cDNA with the assistance of RNase H, which degrades the template RNA in the RNA:DNA intermediate of reverse transcription (*166*). Reverse transcriptase does not possess proofreading activity, and thus reverse transcription is error-prone and produces cDNA copies with point mutations, leading to the continuous production of mutant viruses (*57*) (*58*) (*56*). In addition, reverse transcriptase can "jump" between templates during DNA synthesis, resulting in high rates of recombination and thus further genetic diversity of progeny viruses (167) (168) (169) (170). These characteristics of the viral reverse transcriptase, coupled with the exponential replication of the virus, is a defining feature of HIV/SIV infection that has enormous implications in every aspect of the pandemic, as discussed below. Integrase possesses exonuclease, endonuclease, and ligase activity that facilitate insertion of the viral cDNA into the host genomic DNA in the nucleus (171). The *pol* gene is transcribed only as a single *gal-pol* mRNA, which is translated into a single polyprotein and incorporated into virions (172) (158). Synthesis of the Gal-Pol polyprotein occurs via a slipping mechanism whereby an RNA stem-loop causes stalling of the ribosome and a frameshift (162). Similar to Gag-only polyproteins, Gag-Pol polyproteins are cleaved into individual, active proteins by the viral protease during virion maturation (152) (153). Virions contain a strict 20:1 ratio of Gag to Gag-Pol protein, which is critical for viral assembly and replication (162).

The *env* gene encodes the Env polyprotein, containing the gp120 and gp41 subunits of the viral envelope protein. As Env proteins are expressed on the surface of virions as well as the surface of infected cells, these proteins serve as the targets of both neutralizing antibodies that prevent infection of host cells and binding antibodies that mediate other antiviral immune functions, such as antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC), whereby antibody coats infected cells and facilitates natural killer cell-mediated lysis (*173*). The Env polyprotein is synthesized in the ER, migrates through the Golgi where it is glycosylated, and is then cleaved into the two subunits of the polyprotein by furin, a cellular protease (*174*). The surface subunit, gp120, non-covalently interacts with gp41, which contains a transmembrane domain and localizes the viral envelope protein to the plasma membrane of infected cells and the envelope of

virions, which form Env trimers of the gp120-gp41 heterodimer (175) (176). Gp120 mediates interaction of Env with the viral surface receptor, CD4, and co-receptor on target cells (177), and gp41 subsequently facilitates fusion of the viral envelope and plasma membrane, allowing the virus to enter the target cell (178) (179).

Retroviruses like HIV/SIV also encode two essential regulatory factors that play critical roles in the replication cycle of the virus: Tat and Rev. Tat serves as a transcriptional transactivator, primarily promoting the elongation phase of provirus transcription (*180*) (*181*) (*182*). Rev facilitates the nuclear export of viral genomic RNA as well as unspliced and incompletely spliced viral transcripts. Most host cellular pre-mRNAs must undergo complete splicing to remove intronic sequences prior to export from the nucleus and subsequent translation (*183*). Thus, Rev export is required for translation of viral proteins translated from unspliced or incompletely spliced viral mRNAs (*183*). Completely spliced viral transcripts encoding Tat, Rev, and Nef can use the normal cellular mRNA nuclear export machinery, and thus Tat, Rev, and Nef are produced early in the Rev-independent phase of translation (*183*). In contrast, the partially spliced and unspliced transcripts encoding Env, Vif, Vpu, Vpr, and Vpx proteins and the Gag and Pol proteins, respectively, rely on Rev for nuclear export, and thus these proteins are not produced until the later, Rev-dependent phase of translation (*183*) (*184*).

In addition to the viral proteins directly involved in the replication cycle, HIV/SIV also encode accessory proteins Nef, Vif, Vpr, and either Vpu (HIV-1) or Vpx (SIV), virulence factors that together serve to enhance viral replication, counteract host restriction factors, and facilitate viral immune evasion mechanisms. With the exception of Vpu, all accessory proteins are detected in virions, and thus can act immediately upon

infection of a new cell (*185*) (*158*). Likely the most relevant HIV/SIV accessory protein to the CD8+ T cell-based vaccine strategies described here is Nef. Nef is critical for high viral loads and viral pathogenesis *in vivo* (*186*) (*187*) (*188*). Nef facilitates downregulation of MHC class I from the surface of HIV/SIV-infected cells by interfering with cell surface trafficking of MHC-I molecules in the trans-Golgi network (TGN) as well as by promoting endocytosis of MHC-I molecules from the cell surface (*781*) (*189*) (*782*). This function of Nef impedes the ability of virus-specific CD8+ T cells to recognize infected cells (*330*) (*190*) (*738*) (*191*) (*192*) (*193*). Nef also downregulates CD4, MHC-II, and other cell surface receptors (*194*).

#### iii. Viral evolution

Retroviruses like HIV/SIV exhibit a high degree of sequence variability and evolutionary potential. HIV-1 replicates vigorously, with an estimated  $10^{10}$  virions produced each day cells in a single patient (*195*) (*813*). Coupled with the high rates of mutation and recombination during revere transcription, this exponential replication result in immense genetic diversity among viruses, both at a population-level and within a single infected individual (*70*). Within HIV-1 group M subtypes, variation on the amino acid level is typically 8-17%, but can be as high as 30%, and continues to increase over time (*70*) (*196*). Amino acid variation among group M subtypes is typically 17-35%, but can be as high as 42% (*61*) (*70*). This phenomenon of viral genetic diversity holds true within a single HIV-1 infected individual, where replication gives rise to multiple viral variants, or quasispecies, that change over the course of infection. In some individuals, viral sequences differ by up to 10% (*61*).

This enormous genetic diversity of HIV/SIV has implications for disease progression, transmission, diagnosis, treatment, and vaccine development. For example, subtype D infection is associated with faster disease progression but reduced rates of heterosexual transmission compared to subtype A infection in the same population (70). In addition, HIV-1 genetic diversity makes diagnosis and viral load measurements challenging, particularly in areas with limited resources, and existing assays must be checked for the ability to detect emerging variants in order to avoid false negatives (197). Treatments and vaccines are also profoundly impacted by HIV/SIV genetic diversity. The effectiveness of antiretroviral therapy varies among strains due to differences in drug resistance mutations (70). Similarly, developing a vaccine that is universally effective against all or even most viral variants is an enormous challenge, as vaccine-elicited antibody and T cell responses rely on the recognition of specific viral sequences.

Perhaps the most significant consequence of the exponential, error-prone replication of HIV/SIV, however, is the extreme adaptability of the virus. This conferred evolutionary advantage allows HIV/SIV to adapt to new hosts; in fact, it likely allowed zoonotic SIV to overcome human restriction factors and establish productive infection in the human host (*62*). Furthermore, adaptability allows HIV/SIV to persist in the face of antiviral mechanisms, including antiretroviral drugs and adaptive immune responses, through the development of drug resistance and immune-escape mutations (*198*) (*90*). Thus, current drug and vaccine development programs focus on targeting multiple areas of the virus, through multi-drug treatment or immune response breadth, in an attempt to overwhelm the virus' ability to resist/escape. Immune-driven escape is particularly relevant to the data presented here, and thus is discussed in more detail in section E.

#### iv. Early events in vivo

The most common route of HIV-1 infection is sexual exposure through the genital tract or rectal mucosa;  $\sim 80\%$  of adult cases occur via mucosal exposure (30) (31). In these cases, transmission is thought to be an inefficient process as the mucosa imposes a genetic bottleneck on the infecting virus; ~80% of mucosally transmitted HIV-1 clade B and C infections are initiated by a single virus, often referred to as the transmitted founder virus (130) (199) (200) (201) (202). A similar genetic bottleneck occurs in SIV infection of rhesus macaques (203). Transmission is followed by an eclipse phase of  $\sim 10$ days before viral RNA is detectable in the plasma. SIV models of vaginal mucosal exposure demonstrate that the virus can cross the mucosal epithelial barrier within hours and establish a small population of infected cells, but local expansion is necessary before dissemination and establishment of systemic infection throughout the secondary lymphoid organs (204). At the end of the eclipse period, virus arrives in the draining lymph node, which contains activated CD4+CCR5+ T cells that serve as targets for further infection, allowing for rapid replication and spread to other lymphoid tissues. In particular, the gut-associated lymphoid tissue (GALT) is a major site of HIV/SIV replication due to the presence of high numbers of activated CD4+CCR5+ memory T cells (205) (206) (207). During this period of replication in the GALT, plasma viremia increases exponentially to a peak while CD4+ T cell numbers drop (208). This is followed by a decline in viremia over 12-20 weeks, eventually reaching a set point (40) (209) (210). A rebound of CD4+ T cells in blood is observed over this time period; however, GALT CD4+ T cells do not return to normal levels (205) (211) (212).

#### E. The immune response to HIV/SIV

#### i. Innate immune response

At mucosal portals of entry, HIV/SIV likely encounter an array of innate inhibitory defenses, including chemokines that block co-receptor-mediated viral entry, recruitment of type I interferon-producing plasmacytoid dendritic cells, and large increases in IFN- $\gamma$  (204). While these innate immune defenses may account for the limited genetic diversity of transmitted viruses and may often protect against acquisition, they are insufficient to control viral replication and systemic spread. The first detectable innate immune response to HIV-1 infection is an increase in the levels of acute-phase proteins, such as serum amyloid A, production of which can be triggered by proinflammatory cytokines (213). This first wave of acute-phase proteins occurs just before viral RNA is first detected in plasma at greater than 100 copies per milliliter (213). A subsequent wave of acute-phase protein production is accompanied by a large cytokine and chemokine response and rapid increase in plasma viremia (214) (215). The cytokine storm observed during early HIV-1 infection is greater than that observed in acute hepatitis B virus and hepatitis C virus infections, and includes transient increases in IL-15, type I interferons, CXCL10, and IL-10 as well as sustained increases in IL-18, TNF, IFN- $\gamma$ , and IL-22 (215) (213). The cellular sources of these cytokines and chemokines are likely infected CD4+CCR5+ T cells, activated DCs, monocytes, macrophages, NK cells, NKT cells, and, later, HIV-specific T cells (216) (207). Some of the induced cytokines mediate anti-viral activities, such as type I interferons, which inhibit HIV replication and enhance innate and adaptive immune responses (217). However, the intense cytokine response may also promote viral replication and mediate immunopathology. For example, the pro-apoptotic effects of type I interferons and TNF can contribute to a loss in

activated DCs and bystander destruction of CD4+ T cells and B cells (*213*). In addition, chemokines produced from plasmacytoid DCs can recruit virus-susceptible CD4+ T cells to the foci of infection (*216*) (*218*).

#### ii. Adaptive immune response: interplay between virus and host

The adaptive immune response against HIV/SIV includes induction of virusspecific CD4+ and CD8+ T cell responses as well as virus-specific antibody responses. However, this natural adaptive immune response is typically unable to exert complete control over viral replication and, in every case, is unable to eliminate the virus. Indeed, there are no reports of natural clearance of HIV. Decades of research have highlighted a number of concepts that explain this lack of adaptive immune control over HIV/SIV. First, virus-specific adaptive immune responses require time to develop, allowing for an initial period of massive viral replication and for the establishment of systemic infection, including the seeding of viral reservoirs (219). This is corroborated by studies demonstrating homogeneity of the virus at peak viremia (130) (199) (200), suggesting a lack of immune-driven selection, both T cell- and antibody-mediated, before and during this time. Second, HIV/SIV infection creates a dysfunctional immune environment by depleting CD4+ T cells that orchestrate immune responses, and causing chronic immune activation (29) (220) (221). Finally, HIV/SIV execute numerous immune evasion strategies, including interference with T cell antigen presentation machinery and viral sequence escape. In particular, keeping up with the rapidly changing viral quasispecies that develops within an infected individual is an immense challenge for the adaptive immune response, particularly as effective adaptive immune responses drive the emergence of viral escape mutants.

#### a. Viral escape from adaptive immunity

Adaptive immune responses possess exquisite specificity; each clonally expanded response, either antibody or T cell, recognizes a particular part of an antigen, known as an epitope. As adaptive immune responses only carry out their functions upon recognition of specific antigen, the effectiveness of a HIV/SIV-specific immune response is first determined by its ability to effectively recognize the virus. Thus, a key consideration in understanding the adaptive immune response to HIV/SIV infection is the adaptability of the virus. High rates of mutation and recombination during reverse transcription generate enormous viral diversity within a single infected individual (61). Measured error rates for reverse transcriptase predict the occurrence of at least one error per viral genome per replication cycle (90). HIV/SIV can tolerate sequence variation quite well (223), and thus, HIV/SIV possess impressive plasticity, including the ability to escape mounted adaptive immune responses. In immune-driven viral selection, an anti-viral T cell or antibody response drives the selection of viral mutants that are no longer susceptible to that immune response, termed "escape mutants". Conceptually, effective adaptive immune responses will drive the selection of escape mutants with sequence changes that abrogate epitope recognition, as there is a selective advantage for viruses that are no longer targeted by that initial antiviral adaptive immune response. This is in contrast to ineffective adaptive immune responses, which should not drive the selection of escape mutants, as unrecognized viral mutants should not have a selective advantage over viruses that are recognized. Indeed, observations of immune-driven escape provide strong evidence for the effectiveness of particular adaptive immune responses. In both HIV and SIV infection, viral escape from numerous CD8+ T cell responses as well as from Env-

specific neutralizing antibody responses has been observed (224) (225) (226) (227) (228) (229) (230) (231) (232) (233) (783) (234) (235) (236) (237). This can occur quickly; for example, the first CD8+ T cell selected mutations can replace the original sequence of the founder virus within 10 days (238) (239). Some adaptive immune responses target epitopes in areas critical for protein function, and thus, a mutation in that epitope might exert a fitness cost to the viral escape mutant. Escape from a particular adaptive immune response often involves multiple changes in the viral sequence, suggesting that various mutants emerge until the fittest are selected (238). There are demonstrated compensatory mutations that occur in some of these cases, where changes in another part of the viral sequence, often outside of the recognized epitope, can compensate for the fitness cost of the epitope mutation (231)(240)(241)(242)(243)(244)(245). Thus, viral evolution creates a continual interplay between virus and host, whereby an effective antibody or T cell response is followed by a wave of viral escape mutants, which may in turn be followed by a new immune response targeting the escape variant (238) (246) (247). Ultimately, the virus outpaces the virus-specific immune response and persistently replicates in the infected host.

#### b. Antibody and CD4+ T cell responses

Antibodies recognize epitopes on native antigens, and thus directly recognize surface proteins such as the HIV/SIV viral envelope proteins that exist as trimers on the surface of virions and infected cells (248). Antibodies can prevent virus from infecting cells, termed neutralization, or can bind and facilitate other immune functions, such as opsonization-mediated phagocytosis, complement activation, and antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC) (250) (251) (252) (253) (254) (255). In order to neutralize

virus, antibodies must recognize and block crucial structure features of Env and prevent Env from facilitating entry. Unfortunately, Env is the most variable protein of HIV/SIV (256), and thus most neutralizing antibodies are only effective against a narrow range of strains (257). Antibodies to HIV/SIV develop within weeks to months after infection (35) (258). The earliest binding antibodies are specific for gp41 and are detected  $\sim 2$  weeks after first detection of plasma viremia, while gp120-specific antibodies only appear after an additional 2 weeks (214) (259) (260) (261) (262). However, this initial Env-specific antibody response is non-neutralizing, and does not appear to control viral replication or substantially contribute to the initial decline in plasma viral load (263) (214). Antibodies that neutralize autologous virus are not detected until at least 12 weeks after transmission (233) (264) (259) (265). This initial wave of autologous virus-neutralizing antibodies is typically narrow in epitope-targeting and neutralization activity is only effective against the individual's contemporary and prior viral isolates (266) (255), and the virus rapidly escapes (233) (264) (265). Broadly neutralizing antibodies, those that are effective against a wide range of strains, develop in ~20% of HIV-infected patients within two years of infection, but usually the virus escapes these antibody responses as well (267) (268). In addition to viral sequence escape, numerous other antibody evasion strategies are employed by HIV/SIV, including heavy glycosylation of Env that can mask neutralization epitopes and release of "decoy" soluble Env molecules that elicit antibodies poorly reactive with the native Env structure (90) (269) (270) (271).

During acute infection, virus-specific CD4+ T cells expand but then decline rapidly and are present at low levels during chronic infection (272) (273) (274) (275) (276) (277) (278). HIV/SIV infect and significantly deplete memory CD4+ T cells (212)
(218) (279) (280). Further, virus-specific CD4+ T cells are particularly susceptible to infection (281). Defining the role of virus-specific CD4+ T cells in viral control and disease progression is complicated by the fact that these cells serve as targets of viral replication. For example, proliferative capacity and polyfunctionality of virus-specific CD4+ T cell responses is preserved in elite controllers compared to progressors, however this is at least partially the consequence of low viral load (276). On the other hand, HIV-specific CD4+ T cells from elite controllers secrete higher levels of IL-21 compared to progressors (285), and IL-21 has been demonstrated to increase virus-specific CD8+ T cell cytolytic capacity and ability to suppress viral replication *in vitro* (285). In addition, particular MHC-II alleles, which present viral epitopes to CD4+ T cells, are associated with control of both HIV-1 and SIV (810) (811), and there is evidence for CD4+ T cell-driven viral escape (812).

## c. CD8+ T cell responses

CD8+ T cells recognize non-self peptides presented in the context of major histocompatibility complex class I (MHC-I) molecules on the surface of target cells. For example, during viral infections such as HIV/SIV, infected cells presenting viral peptides can activate virus-specific CD8+ T cells. This recognition occurs in a specific manner whereby each CD8+ T cell response recognizes a specific peptide epitope in the context of a particular MHC-I molecule (*286*). Upon recognition of specific peptide, CD8+ T cells exhibit a variety of antiviral functions, including killing of the target cell and secretion of antiviral cytokines (*287*). In both HIV-1 and SIV infection, the first virusspecific CD8+ T cell responses appear as viremia approaches its peak (*288*) (*289*) (*290*) (*291*) (*87*) (*87*). The virus-specific CD8+ T cell response peaks 1-2 weeks later as

viremia declines to set-point, dropping from a peak of  $\sim 10^7$  HIV RNA copies per ml of plasma to a set point median of 30,000 within a few weeks (292) (293). This peak of virus-specific CD8+ T cell responses concomitant with the rapid decline in plasma viremia suggests these cells might be important in viral control.

Indeed, ample evidence supports a role of CD8+ T cell-mediated immunity in controlling viral replication. Early virus-specific CD8+ T cell responses are implicated in the establishment and maintenance of set point viremia (293) (51) (294) (295). High frequencies of circulating HIV-specific CD8+ T cells are associated with a reduction in HIV replication and improved clinical outcome (288) (289) (296) (291). In particular, long-term non-progressors mount vigorous, highly functional virus-specific CD8+ T cell responses (297) (298) (413). In SIV-infected rhesus macaques, experimental depletion of CD8+ T cells in either acute or chronic infection results in a significant increase in viral replication and accelerated disease progression (299) (300). Furthermore, in situations of viral suppression, either through antiretroviral treatment or elite control, transient CD8+ T cell depletion of infected rhesus macaques leads to an increase in viral load, which returns to baseline levels with the reconstitution of the CD8+ T cell compartment (301)(302) (303) (304). Anti-viral properties of HIV/SIV-specific CD8+ T cells can also be observed in vitro. The ability of virus-specific CD8+ T cells to suppress viral replication *in vitro* inversely correlates with the rate of CD4+ T cell decline and viral set point in HIV-1-infected patients (305), and cytoxicity of SIV-specific CD8+ T cells correlates with control of SIV replication in SIV-infected rhesus macaques (306).

In addition, viral escape from CD8+ T cell responses is well documented, suggesting virus-specific CD8+ T cells exert immune pressure on the virus. During the

peak of CD8+ T cell responses and rapid decline of viremia to set point, the viral sequences change dramatically (200) (307) (213). Most of the observed amino acid changes in the virus at this time occur in epitopes recognized by CD8+ T cells (238); numerous studies have described virus escape mutations from near the time of viral set point in both HIV-1 and SIV infection (288) (226) (308) (309) (310) (225) (240) (242) (311) (312) (313) (314) (315). This rapid replacement of the founder virus with escape mutants suggests the early founder virus-specific CD8+ T cell responses are quite effective at controlling viral replication. However, following viral escape, these initial CD8+ T cell responses decline rapidly (238) (316), presumably due to the paucity of the original epitope sequence in the viral population. Viral escape from mounted virusspecific CD8+ T cells continues throughout the course of infection (238) (224) (225) (226) (227) (228) (229) (230) (231) (232). In some cases, viral escape from an effective CD8+ T cell response late in infection leads to breakthrough of virus and disease progression (317). Various types of CD8+ T cell epitope escape have been observed, including changes that abrograte or weaken the ability of viral peptide to bind to the presenting MHC-I molecule, prevent viral peptide recognition by the corresponding T cell receptor, interfere with processing of the viral peptide, or completely delete the epitope (318) (319) (317).

In further support of the role of CD8+ T cells in viral control, particular MHC-Ia alleles are associated with viral control and slower rate of disease progression in both HIV-1-infected patients and SIV-infected rhesus macaques (*320*) (*49*) (*321*) (*322*) (*323*) (*324*). The MHC class Ia genes encode the highly polymorphic antigen presentation molecules that present peptides to CD8+ T cells (*325*) (*326*), and thus the set of MHC-Ia

molecules expressed in an individual governs the epitope targeting of the mounted CD8+ T cell response. Elite controllers have an overrepresentation of "protective" MHC-Ia alleles HLA-B\*27, HLA-B\*57:01, HLA-B\*57:03, and HLA-B\*58:01 in humans, and Mamu-B\*08 and Mamu-B\*17 in rhesus macaques (49) (321) (322) (323). While some aspects of the association between MHC and viral control are not fully defined, individuals expressing protective MHC-Ia alleles are more likely to mount dominant and effective CD8+ T cell responses targeting conserved regions of the virus (227) (327). Conserved regions likely represent areas of critical protein function, where viral mutational escape would exert a fitness cost to the virus. Indeed, associations of MHC-Ia alleles and superior viral control likely result, at least in part, from the presentation of conserved epitopes by particular MHC-Ia molecules, allowing for CD8+ T cell targeting of conserved regions (328). HIV-1 infected individuals heterozygous at these loci exhibit slower disease progression (329). Thus, as greater diversity of MHC-I genes theoretically means a greater diversity of viral epitopes could be presented, heterozygote advantage suggests that control of HIV replication is associated with the ability to mount a diverse CD8+ T cell response. Qualities of the virus-specific CD8+ T cell response associated with virus control are discussed further in section II.

While virus-specific CD8+ T cells have a clear role in the control of viral replication, they ultimately fail to completely control the virus. The delayed timing of adaptive immune responses and the potential of HIV/SIV for mutational escape, gives the virus a kinetic advantage over host immune responses. In addition, other mechanisms specifically impede effective CD8+ T cell responses. The viral accessory protein Nef interferes with antigen presentation on MHC-I, protecting HIV/SIV-infected cells from

CD8+ T cell-mediated killing (330) (782) (189) (331) (332) (781) (738) (191) (192)

(193). In addition, recent evidence demonstrates that not all SIV-infected cells are readily accessed by virus-specific CD8+ T cells, and instead viral sanctuaries exist in sites like B cell follicles (784). Finally, the continuous high-level antigenic stimulation that occurs during chronic infection, coupled with the lack of CD4+ T cell help, leads to progressive exhaustion of virus-specific CD8+ T cells, rendering these cells unable to exert antiviral functions (333) (334).

## **II. HIV vaccine development**

Key features of HIV/SIV infection, described above in section I, make developing an effective AIDS vaccine exceedingly challenging. First, the genetic variation and adaptability of the virus pose challenges for adaptive immune responses, as HIV/SIVspecific adaptive immune responses are only effective against a subset of viruses and the virus can evade mounted immune responses through mutational escape. Thus, a globally effective HIV vaccine is an enormous challenge. Second, HIV/SIV possess various immune evasion mechanisms, including viral protein-mediated down-regulation of MHC-I that facilitates CD8+ T cell evasion (*194*). Third, the integration of the viral genome into the host cell chromosome allows for the establishment viral latency, whereby the cell is infected but limited viral replication and virion production allow the virally infected cell to avoid recognition and clearance by the host immune response (*144*). Unlike other infectious diseases, natural immune responses to HIV are ineffective, and thus there is no model immune response on which to base vaccine-mediated immunity. This section discusses the need for an HIV vaccine, vaccine design, and the

successes and failures of tested vaccine strategies, with a focus on CD8+ T cell-based vaccination strategies.

# A. The need for an HIV vaccine

An HIV vaccine is needed to slow the AIDS epidemic. Although treatment with combined antiretroviral therapy (cART) limits viral replication in patients, this treatment does not eliminate the virus (*335*) and requires life-long adherence as cART cessation ultimately results in restoration of viral replication and progression to AIDS (*4*) (*142*) (*336*) (*337*). In addition, access and adherence to cART poses a challenge for many individuals. Prevention measures such as vaginal microbicides and pre-exposure prophylaxis have shown some efficacy in reducing HIV-1 transmission (*338*) (*339*) (*340*) (*341*) (*342*), however these measures also require strict adherence for efficacy. In contrast, vaccines require only a handful of administrations to elicit long-lasting protective immune responses (*6*) (*7*). Despite improved access to ART over the past several years, the rate of new infections is still enormous; two million new infections were reported for 2014. Thus, even a moderately effective HIV-1 vaccine would slow the AIDS epidemic.

HIV vaccine strategies must elicit virus-specific immune responses effective against a range of viral strains. While potent broadly neutralizing antibodies have been identified and are effective in preventing infection in a dose-dependent manner upon passive transfer (343) (344) (785) (345) (346), vaccinologists have been unable to elicit high levels of broadly neutralizing antibody responses in a vaccine. The recent RV144 vaccine trial and other studies suggest that other antibody-mediated functions, such as ADCC, may offer efficacy (347) (348) (253). Vaccinologists have also failed to induce

effective virus-specific CD8+ T cell responses in humans; three major T cell-focused vaccine trials using HIV protein-expressing DNA and Ad5 vectors showed no efficacy. Thus, novel approaches to vaccine development are required.

# B. T cell vaccines

## i. CD8+ T cell immunology

Activation of T cells occurs through the T-cell receptor, and thus the specificity of a given T cell is dictated by the particular T-cell receptor expressed on its surface (349). T-cell receptor genes are rearranged during T cell maturation in the thymus, which results in each T cell expressing a unique T-cell receptor that recognizes a specific epitope presented in the context of a particular MHC molecule (349). Indeed, an estimated 2.5 x  $10^7$  unique T-cell receptors exist in the peripheral naïve T cell pool of a single individual (350) (351). Naïve T cells, those that have not yet encountered antigen, circulate primarily in secondary lymphoid tissues surveying host cells for their specific antigen (352). The development of a T cell response involves priming upon first exposure to the antigen, whereby a naïve T cell is activated by specific antigen, proliferates, and differentiates (353). The priming of a T cell response occurs in the T cell areas of secondary lymphoid organs and is thought to require three signals, termed the threesignal model of naïve T cell activation (354). The first signal, ligation of the T-cell receptor (TCR), is delivered through the T-cell receptor (TCR) upon interaction with specific peptide complexed with an MHC molecule present on the surface of the antigenpresenting cell. T-cell receptor ligation typically also involves the co-receptor, either CD4 or CD8, contacting the antigen-presentation molecule (355). The second signal is the co-stimulatory signal, which must be delivered simultaneously with signal 1; naïve T

cells that receive signal 1 in the absence of signal 2 become anergic. The co-stimulatory signal is often delivered to the T cell through the CD28 receptor upon ligation of B7 costimulatory molecules CD80 and CD86 on the antigen-presenting cell. These costimulatory molecules are induced on the surface of antigen-presenting cells by innate immune pathways that sense pathogen-associated molecular patterns. In addition, effector CD4+ T cells recognizing the same antigen-presenting cell can induce expression of costimulatory molecules on the antigen-presenting cell. The third signal is mediated by cytokines that control the survival, differentiation state, and polarization fate of the activated T cell. These signals ultimately result in the clonal expansion of the activated T cell into a population of primed T cells. As the T cells within this clonal population express identical T-cell receptors, they possess identical specificities, and the population is referred to as a T cell response. Mature, or "licensed", dendritic cells are thought to be primary antigen-presenting cells responsible for priming T cell responses due to their ability to present antigens on both MHC class I and MHC class II and simultaneously provide adequate co-stimulatory signal (354). However, other cell types, such as macrophages, also appear able to prime T cell responses (356).

The pathway of memory T cell development is not fully delineated. The initial clonal expansion of an activated naïve T cell produces a large pool of effector T cells that carry out effector functions such as cytokine secretion and cytotoxicity (*357*) (*358*) (*359*). This expansion is followed by a period of contraction whereby a large percentage of the effector T cells die, and surviving T cells are maintained for long periods of time as memory T cells (*358*). Memory T cells can be further divided into three broadly-categorized subsets, defined based on homing capacity and effector function: central

memory  $(T_{CM})$ , effector memory  $(T_{EM})$ , and the recently discovered resident memory  $(T_{RM})$  (360). Central memory T cells  $(T_{CM})$  home to T cell areas of secondary lymphoid organs and possess limited effector function, but readily proliferate and differentiate into effectors T cells in response to antigen exposure (361) (360) (362). In contrast, effector memory T cells ( $T_{EM}$ ) circulate through extralymphoid tissues and exhibit immediate effector function upon antigenic stimulation, but are limited in proliferative capacity (361) (360) (362). Resident memory T cells  $(T_{RM})$  are a recently discovered subset of T cells that do not circulate, but reside permanently in the tissues; the markers of  $T_{RM}$  cells are still under investigation (359). However, the markers of the T<sub>CM</sub> and T<sub>EM</sub> subsets are consistent with their homing and effector capacities, and allow classification of memory T cell responses into one of these subsets (361) (360) (362). For example, CCR7, the lymph node-homing chemokine receptor, is expressed at high levels on  $T_{CM}$  but not  $T_{EM}$ (361). The distribution of memory T cells varies among infections and vaccine strategies, and is likely the result of differences in the levels and persistence of antigen (363) (362). The decline in antigen levels that occurs with pathogen clearance is accompanied by a shift in the memory T cell response to a  $T_{CM}$ -biased population (362). For example, agents that provide antigen for a limited amount of time, such as non-persistent pathogens or replication-defective vaccine vectors, predominately elicit central memory T cells (362). In contrast, agents that provide persistent levels of antigen maintain effector memory T cells ( $T_{EM}$ ) in extralympoid tissues (362) (364) (365). As described below, the differentiation state of vaccine-elicited memory T cells likely has implications for vaccine efficacy.

T-cell receptor ligation of an effector or effector memory CD8+ T cell activates a variety of functions. Canonically, activated CD8+ T cells secrete cytokines and kill recognized target cells. The repertoire of cytokines produced and secreted by the T cells varies among CD8+ T cell subsets, but includes TNF-α, IFN-γ, IL-2, IL-4, IL-5, IL-10, and IL-13 (366) (367). The most commonly detected CD8+ T cell cytokines are TNF- $\alpha$ , IFN- $\gamma$ , and IL-2 (368). TNF- $\alpha$  is a pro-inflammatory cytokine that activates the vascular endothelium and increases vascular permeability, facilitating the entry of immune cells and molecules into tissues and increased fluid drainage to lymph nodes (369). TNF- $\alpha$ also induces an antiviral state by increasing MHC-I expression as well as inducing IL-12 and IL-18 production, which can in turn up-regulate CD8+ T cell production of IFN-y (370) (371) (372). IFN- $\gamma$  promotes an antiviral state through a variety of mechanisms, including induction of immunoproteasome function and up-regulation of transporter associated with antigen processing (TAP) and MHC-I expression (373) (374) (375) (376) (370). IFN-γ can also increase expression of TNF family receptors on target cells, effectively increasing susceptibility to apoptosis (377) (378). IL-2, which is expressed by some subsets of CD8+ T cells, induces T cell proliferation. In addition, CD8+ T cells can kill target cells via release of perforin and granzymes contained in secretory granules (379) (380) (381), or via ligation of surface receptors linked to apoptosis (382). In the granule-dependent mechanism of killing, cytotoxic CD8+ T cells release the contents of secretory granules, perforin and granzymes, into the immunological synaptic cleft between the CD8+ T cell and target cell. Perforin oligomerizes to form pores in the target cell membrane and facilitates entry of granzymes into the target cell (381) (383) (379). Granzymes are a family of serine proteases that induce apoptosis primarily via direct

cleavage and activation of caspases (*381*). CD8+ T cell release of secretory granules, or degranulation, can be detected by staining for externalization of CD107, a membrane glycoprotein of secretory granules (*384*) (*385*) (*714*). In the granule-independent pathway of cytotoxicity, CD8+ T cells engage TNF family "death" receptors on the target cell that induce apoptosis, for example via the interaction of Fas ligand on the CD8+ T cell with Fas receptor on the target cell (*382*) (*386*). CD8+ T cells differ in cytokine production and cytotoxic capacity, and thus differ in their antiviral capacities.

## ii. CD8+ T cell-based vaccine design

A successful HIV vaccine will likely need to elicit both antibodies and T cells. The enormous genetic diversity of Env, the target of neutralizing antibodies, in circulating strains of HIV-1 (256), suggests vaccine-elicited antibody responses will likely only prevent infection in a subset of HIV-exposed individuals. Vaccine-elicited CD8+ T cells can target internal viral antigens that are more highly conserved across HIV-1 strains, however the antigen processing requirements for T cell recognition limit the ability of T cells to provide sterilizing protection. Thus, an ideal vaccine would induce virus-specific antibodies to provide some level of protection against HIV-1 acquisition, and induce virus-specific CD8+ T cells to control viral replication in individuals who become infected, reducing the risk of transmission to uninfected individuals. Targeting HIV/SIV at the earliest stages of infection would offer the best opportunity for prevention and viral control as the early viral population is small, limited in genetic diversity, and more localized to the portal of entry (204), and thus more susceptible to immune control. In addition, immune responses acting early in infection could exert antiviral functions prior to the onset of immune dysfunction that rapidly

ensues once systemic infection is established (204) (280). Finally immune responses able to act early against viral replication could limit the seeding of viral reservoirs, which are established very early after infection (219).

Vaccination involves delivering viral antigens or expressing viral antigens in cells via a variety of strategies. Vaccine strategies eliciting CD8+ T cell responses must produce antigen in cells to allow for presentation on MHC-I molecules. The predominate strategies used to elicit strong CD8+ T cell responses against HIV/SIV include immunization with DNA, live attenuated viruses, and recombinant vectored vaccines (*362*). Recombinant vector vaccines can be replication-competent or -incompetent, and include Modified Vaccinia Ankara (MVA) vectors, fowlpox vectors, and adenoviral vectors (*387*). In particular, heterologous DNA prime-recombinant vector boost regimens, such as DNA/Ad5 and DNA/MVA, are particularly effective at eliciting CD8+ T cell responses (*362*) (*387*). Of note, numerous HIV vaccines using replicationcompetent recombinant vectors are currently in clinical trials, including vesicular stomatitis virus-, vaccinia virus-, measles virus-, and Sendai virus-based vaccines (*388*). For some recombinant vaccine vectors, such as Ad5, pre-existing immunity to the vector itself can diminish vaccine efficacy (*389*) (*390*).

The vaccine delivery system, as well as route and dose, influences not only the overall immunogenicity of the inserted antigens, but also the qualitative characteristics of the elicited immune response. Different vaccines modalities encoding the same viral antigen elicit CD8+ T cell responses that vary in kinetics and differentiation state (*362*). For example, in Manu-A1\*001:01-positive rhesus macaques, the peak of SIV Gag<sub>181</sub>. <sub>189</sub>(CM9)-specific CD8+ T cells elicited by live attenuated SIV, MVA, and DNA/MVA

vaccine strategies varies in timing and magnitude (*391*) (*392*) (*362*). In addition, the timing and magnitude of CD8+ T cell memory contraction also differ among vaccine strategies (*362*). Memory CD8+ T cell responses elicited by different vaccine strategies also exhibit variation in functional capacity and localization, which is likely the result of differences in differentiation state determined by level and persistence of vaccine-expressed antigen, as described above (*362*).

Despite these differences in vaccine-elicited CD8+ T cell phenotype, the repertoire of epitopes targeted by vaccine-elicited CD8+ T cells is overlapping among various vaccine strategies and infection itself (*391*) (*392*) (*362*) (*393*) (*394*) (*395*) (*786*). While variations do exist in the patterns of CD8+ T cell epitope targeting, this is largely attributed to differences in antigen presentation, particularly MHC-Ia expression, among vaccinated individuals (*786*). However, the targeting of immunodominant epitopes is consistent among vaccine regimens, with the exception of the rhesus cytomegalovirus vaccine vectors (*393*). For example, both the natural and vaccine-elicited CD8+ T cell response to SIVgag in Mamu-A1\*001:01-positive rhesus macaques typically includes a GagCM9-targeted response (*396*) (*397*) (*787*) (*391*) (*392*) (*362*) (*393*). Indeed, CD8+ T cell epitope overlap among vaccine strategies is exemplified by the ability of heterologous prime-boost regimens, such as DNA/MVA and DNA/Ad5, to prime and then boost a GagCM9-specific CD8+ T cell response (*391*) (*392*) (*362*) (*393*).

Another aspect of vaccine development is the selection of viral antigens. Factors taken into account include conservation of the antigen and the timing of antigen presentation in infected cells. Theoretically, conserved proteins would offer a greater chance of eliciting a CD8+ T cell response targeting diverse viral strains. Pol and Gag are

the most conserved antigens of HIV/SIV, while Env is the most variable (256). However, within antigens, some regions are variable and some conserved. Thus, recent efforts have focused on developing conserved element vaccines, incorporating the most highly conserved regions or epitopes of the viral genome. Another way to overcome virus variability is to include multiple coding sequences for the same antigen, region, or epitope; such multivalent vaccines often include sequences from multiple HIV-1 group M clades. In addition, the timing of antigen presentation in infected cells dictates the onset of CD8+ T cell recognition. HIV-1 viral progeny are produced approximately 24 hours after infection (398). Thus, viral antigens presented early in the infectious cycle may serve as advantageous CD8+ T cell targets as early CD8+ T cell recognition could eliminate infected cells prior to virion production. Viral antigens present in incoming virions can be rapidly processed and presented following infection. For example, Gagand Pol-specific CD8+ T cells recognize virion-derived antigen presented on infected CD4+ T cells as early as 2 hours post-infection (399) (400), prior to viral integration and gene expression (401) (402). In contrast, processing and presentation of Env epitopes requires de novo Env synthesis (403), and Env-specific CD8+ T cells do not recognize infected CD4+ T cells until 18 hours post-infection (399). An additional factor in the timing of antigen presentation is Nef-mediated MHC-I down-regulation. Nef downregulates MHC-I beginning at 12 hours post-infection (400), and thus CD8+ T cells specific for viral epitopes presented prior to Nef-mediated MHC-I down-regulation could more effectively recognize infected cells later in infection. Thus, at least some Gag- and Pol-specific CD8+ T cells recognize infected cells prior to Nef-mediated MHC-I downregulation, while Env-specific CD8+ T cells do not. In agreement with both relative

sequence conservation and early presentation of Gag, the breadth of the HIV Gagspecific CD8+ T cell response is associated with lower viremia (403) (404). However, conflicting reports exist regarding the benefit of Env-specific CD8+ T cells in HIV control and disease progression (403) (405) (406) (407). The associations of CD8+ T cell targeting of particular whole viral antigens with viral control are likely complicated by differences in conservation and timing of presentation among individual epitopes of the same viral antigen. Indeed, differential timing of presentation among epitopes of the same viral protein has been previously demonstrated for epitopes of both Gag and Rev (408) (409).

Several characteristics of HIV-specific CD8+ T cells are correlated with HIV control, including broad targeting of conserved regions (particularly of Gag) (404) (410) (411) (412), polyfunctionality (413) (414) (415), proliferative capacity (416) (417), cytotoxic capacity (418) (419) (788), and high avidity peptide recognition (414) (420). Tailoring vaccines to elicit CD8+ T cells with these qualities, either through selection of vaccine antigens or selection of vaccine platform, might improve vaccine efficacy.

## C. Previous vaccine trials in humans and vaccine studies in non-human primates

Vaccines can be improved by studying the outcomes and immune correlates of previous vaccine efficacy trials in humans and non-human primates. In the decades since the discovery of the virus, six major HIV-1 vaccine efficacy clinical trials have been conducted. The VaxGen trials, Vax003 and Vax004, utilized bivalent vaccines containing monomeric gp120 subunit in alum adjuvant: AIDSVAX B/E and AIDSVAX B/B, respectively. Administration of the Vax004 AIDSVAX B/B vaccine protected chimpanzees from intravenous challenge (*421*) (*422*). However, these vaccines generated

only limited levels of neutralizing antibodies in phase I and phase II clinical trials and showed no efficacy in reducing HIV-1 acquisition or slowing disease progression among MSM and high risk women in the United States and Europe, nor among injecting drug users in Thailand (423) (424) (425) (426) (427) (428) (429) (430).

Two subsequent trials focused on stimulating cell-mediated immunity with Merck's replication-deficient recombinant adenovirus serotype 5 (Ad5) trivalent vaccine expressing HIV-1 gag, pol, and nef (429) (430). The STEP trial, also known as HVTN 502, was conducted among MSM and heterosexual men and women in North and South America, the Caribbean, and Australia. While robust T cell responses to the vaccine antigens were detected by ELISPOT and flow cytometry assays, no reduction in acquisition or long-term control of post-infection viremia was observed and the trial was stopped for futility (389). Subsequent analyses revealed evidence of vaccine-elicited immune pressure on the virus in individuals with specific HLA types as well as individuals with responses to particular Gag and Nef epitopes (431). However, these analyses also revealed an unexpected transient increased rate of HIV infection in recipients that were both uncircumcised and immune to Ad5 prior to vaccination (389) (390); the mechanisms behind these findings remain unknown. Excess infections in the vaccine arm were also observed in the Phambili trial (432), also known as HVTN 503, which utilized the same vaccine among sexually active heterosexuals in South Africa. HVTN 503 was halted shortly after the STEP trial, during study enrollment (430) (433). A similar Ad5 vaccine regimen administered to rhesus macaques also failed to protect against infection via either intra-rectal SIVsmE660 or penile SIVmac251 challenges (434) (435).

The RV144 Thai trial, conducted among heterosexual men and women in Thailand, is the only HIV-1 vaccine trial to show efficacy against HIV-1 acquisition, with a 31% reduction in the frequency of HIV-1 acquisition among vaccinated individuals (436). The RV144 vaccine regimen consisted of a canarypox vaccine vector prime followed by two boosts with AIDSVAX B/E, the same bivalent gp120+alum vaccine utilized in the Vax003 trial (436) (429) (430). The recombinant canarypox vaccine vector, called ALVAC-HIV, expresses Gag, Pro, and gp120 linked to the transmembrane anchoring portion of gp41 (436). The RV144 vaccine regimen induced binding antibodies against HIV-1 Env and Gag immunogens, CD4+ T cell proliferative responses, neutralizing antibodies, and antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC) (437) (438). No significant HIV-specific CD8+ T cell responses were detected (436). However, antibodies binding to the V1V2 region of gp120, particularly the IgG1 and IgG3 subclasses that mediate ADCC, correlated with protection from HIV-1 acquisition (347) (348). The V1V2 region serves critical functions, including the binding of receptor, co-receptor, and  $\alpha 4\beta 7$  integrin (439), and is the target of neutralizing antibodies (440) (441) (442) (443). However, neither neutralization activity nor antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity activity correlated with protection (347) (444) (348). In the same study, plasma Env-binding IgA antibodies were directly correlated with infection (347). Vaccination did not modify disease course in individuals that became infected; viral setpoint, post-infection CD4+ T cell counts, and time to AIDS-defining illness/death were not significantly different among infected individuals in the vaccine and placebo groups (445).

Most recently, the HVTN 505 trial utilized a heterologous prime-boost approach with a gag/pol/env DNA prime and matching replication-defective recombinant Ad5 boost. Due to the unexpected results in the HVTN 502 and 503 trials using Ad5 vectors, HVTN 505 was conducted in the U.S. among circumcised MSM with negative Ad5specific antibody titers prior to vaccination (446) (430). HVTN 505 was halted for lack of efficacy in mid-2013 when primary analysis showed no difference in acquisition of infection between the vaccine and placebo groups, with no significant differences in mean viral load set-point among infected individuals in the two groups (446). A similar vaccine regimen encoding SIVmac239 versions of the same antigens protected about 50% of rhesus macaques from acquisition of intra-rectal SIVsmE660, but did not protect against acquisition of SIVmac251 (447). However, vaccinated rhesus macaques that acquired SIVmac251 exhibited lower peak plasma viremia than unvaccinated animals. Vaccine protection against acquisition of SIVsmE660 was associated with low levels of neutralizing antibodies in PBMC and Env-specific CD4+ T cell responses (447). Additional DNA prime/Ad5 boost regimen studies using only internal antigens found that vaccination fails to protect against SIV acquisition, thus further demonstrating that Envspecific immune responses are required for protection. Administration of this regimen did result in reduced plasma viral loads and increased preservation of memory CD4+ T cell populations in vaccinated animals (448) (449) (396) (450), which was correlated with the magnitude of virus-specific CD8+ T cells (449) (396). However, DNA/Ad5-mediated viral control was transient (449) (396) (451) (450), and in some cases only manifested in rhesus macaques expressing Mamu-A1\*001:01 (396), an MHC-Ia allele associated with lower viral loads (452).

Many other T cell-eliciting vaccine modalities have been tested in non-human primates, with variable challenge outcomes that likely result, at least in part, from differences in challenge strains and routes of challenge. The majority of T-cell-eliciting vaccine regimens tested to-date utilize DNA and/or replication-incompetent or -defective recombinant vectors, particularly vectors based on poxviruses and adenoviruses. Modified Vaccinia Ankara (MVA), an attenuated form of vaccinia (453), has been extensively tested alone and in combination with DNA vaccination and other vaccine vectors (454). MVA vaccination encoding internal antigens results in reduced set point viral load upon SIV challenge (455) (456). In challenge with a simian-human immunodeficiency virus hybrid SHIV 89.6P, a DNA prime/MVA boost vaccine regimen resulted in reduced peak and set point viremia, increased preservation of CD4+ T cells, and prolonged survival (392) (457), which was associated with both antibody- and CD8+ T cell-mediated control (458) (459). Most animals maintained long-term viral control, while loss of control was associated with CD8+ T cell-driven mutational escape and virus-specific CD4+ and CD8+ T cell exhaustion (460) (454). However, in studies using neutralization-resistant SIVmac239 as a challenge virus, a similar DNA/MVA vaccine regimen only transiently reduced viral loads, and most animals progressed to disease (461). However, some of the most effective vaccines include live attenuated vaccines, such as SIVANef. Vaccination SIVANef elicits robust antibody and T cell responses and can protect against virus acquisition and reduce viral load in animals that become productively infected (462) (463) (464). SIV-specific CD8+ T cell responses contribute to the control of viremia observed with live attenuated vaccines (303) (464) (465) (466) (303, 467) (468) (469). However, the ability of SIVANef viruses and other live attenuated

SIV viruses to cause immune dysfunction, T cell depletion, and AIDS as well as their ability to recombine with challenge strains precludes the use of SIVΔNef viruses as vaccines (464) (303) (470). More recently, replication-competent viral vectors have shown efficacy against SIV and/or SHIV challenge (388), including vectors based on rhadinovirus, vaccinia virus, vesicular stomatitis virus, rabies virus, Sendai virus, Semliki Forest virus, and rhesus cytomegalovirus (471) (789) (472) (473) (474) (475) (476) (477) (478) (479) (480) (450) (481). While correlates of protection and/or virus control have not been defined for most of these vectors, virus-specific CD8+ T cell responses were implicated in vaccine-mediated control in some cases (789) (479) (480).

# III. The major histocompatibility complex

Pathogen-specific CD8+ T cells play a critical role in the adaptive immune response against infection. Upon activation, CD8+ T cells can secrete antiviral cytokines and kill target cells, and thus serve to control or clear infections by limiting viral replication and directly eliminating infected cells (287). Activation of CD8+ T cells occurs upon recognition of foreign peptides presented by major histocompatibility class I (MHC-I) molecules on the surface of target cells (349). The presentation of peptides on MHC-I molecules is an intricate process that involves the breakdown of foreign proteins into antigenic peptides, loading onto MHC-I molecules, and transport to the cell surface for surveillance by CD8+ T cells (482) (394). The repertoire of peptides presented, and consequently the repertoire of epitope-specific CD8+ T cell responses engendered, is in large-part determined by the set of MHC-I molecules expressed in the individual (394). The MHC-I molecules that typically present peptides to CD8+ T cells are encoded by the

highly polymorphic MHC-Ia genes (*325*) (*326*). However, while most CD8+ T cells recognize peptides presented by MHC-Ia molecules, some CD8+ T cells recognize peptides presented by non-classical, more highly conserved MHC-I molecules (*483*). This section focuses on the role of MHC molecules in presenting peptide antigens to T cells. Particularly relevant to the data presented here, presentation of peptides by the nonclassical MHC-Ib molecule, MHC-E, is discussed.

# A. Classification of MHC-I molecules

Recognition of specific antigen is central to T cell activation both in priming of a naïve T cell upon first antigen encounter and in triggering of antigen-experienced T cells. In contrast to B cells, which recognize native antigens, T cells recognize processed antigens presented by antigen presentation molecules on the surface of target cells (*484*) (*485*). Indeed, the T-cell receptor contacts both the antigenic peptide and the antigen presentation molecule during recognition (*486*) (*487*) (*488*). Thus, the activation of each T cell is "restricted" by the particular antigen presentation molecule presenting the antigenic peptide (*484*). Most T cell antigen presentation molecules are encoded by a cluster of genes called the Major Histocompatibility Complex (MHC), located on human chromosome 6 (*489*). Some MHC molecules carry out alternative, immunoregulatory functions distinct from antigen presentation to T cells.

Major Histocompatibility Complex (MHC) genes are broadly classified into two categories: MHC class I (MHC-I) and MHC class II (MHC-II). MHC-II molecules typically present exogenous peptides to CD4+ T cells, and are expressed by only a subset of cell types, primarily professional antigen-presenting cells such as dendritic cells, macrophages, and B cells (*490*) (*355*). The MHC-I genes are further divided into classical

(MHC-Ia) and non-classical (MHC-Ib) subcategories (491). MHC-Ia molecules typically present cytosolic peptides to CD8+ T cells and are expressed by all nucleated cells. The classical MHC-Ia genes are highly polymorphic in the human population, with thousands of alleles identified thus far (492). This diversity in MHC-Ia genes reflects the primary role of these molecules in the presentation of diverse peptide antigens to CD8+ T cells (493). As each MHC-Ia molecule binds a distinct repertoire of peptides (494), diversity of MHC-Ia endows the population with the ability to present many different peptide antigens and, as a result, mount immune responses to many different pathogen epitopes (495). In addition, the collection of MHC-I molecules expressed by the individual governs the repertoire of peptides presented and the range of specificities of the CD8+ T cell response mounted in that individual. In contrast to the MHC-Ia genes, non-classical MHC-Ib genes exhibit limited polymorphism, which is thought to reflect the conserved immunoregulatory functions of these molecules (491) (790). While some MHC-Ib molecules appear to present peptides to T-cell receptors, some also ligate to innate immune receptors, as described below for MHC-E (483). The precise functional roles of MHC-Ib molecules are not fully elucidated in most cases (790).

In humans, the MHC genes are called human leukocyte antigen (*HLA*) genes; the *HLA-A*, *-B*, and *-C* genes encode classical MHC-Ia molecules, and the *HLA-E*, *-F*, and *-G* genes encode non-classical MHC-Ib molecules. The rhesus macaque homologues of these MHC genes are designated *Mamu*; the *Mamu-A and –B* genes encode classical MHC-Ia molecules, and the *Mamu-E*, *-F*, *and –AG* genes encode the non-classical MHC-Ib homologues of *HLA-E*, *-F*, and *-G*, respectively. In humans, there are three MHC-Ia loci per chromosome, *HLA-A*, *-B*, and *-C*, and thus individuals express a maximum of 6

MHC-Ia molecules (496). In contrast, rhesus macaques possess complex MHC genetics, including a number of duplications and deletions in the MHC-Ia genes (497) (498). Thus, rhesus macaque MHC chromosomes carry a heterogenous assortment of up to 20 MHC-Ia loci per haplotype (497) (498).

The structural features of MHC molecules govern the repertoire of peptides presented (493). MHC-I molecules are composed of the MHC-I-encoded membranespanning alpha ( $\alpha$ ) chain, or heavy chain, non-covalently complexed with beta2microglobulin ( $\beta$ 2M), a molecule not encoded by the MHC (499). The MHC-I  $\alpha$  chain dictates most of the function of the MHC-I molecule as the  $\alpha 1$  and  $\alpha 2$  domains form the peptide-binding groove and contact the T-cell receptor, and the  $\alpha$ 3 domain anchors the MHC-I molecule in the membrane (500). CD8 expressed on the surface of the T cell binds to an invariant site in the  $\alpha$ 3 domain of MHC-I, and also interacts with the base of the  $\alpha 2$  domain (501). Due to the closed confirmation of the MHC-I peptide-binding groove, these molecules typically present short peptides of 8 to 10 amino acids in length (494). The major sites of polymorphism in variable MHC-Ia molecules are in the  $\alpha 1$  and  $\alpha^2$  domains forming the peptide-binding region, particularly in the amino acids lining the peptide-binding groove (325). Thus, these polymorphic residues govern the diversity of epitopes presented by the particular MHC-I molecule, and consequently the targeting of the mounted CD8+ T cell response.

## **B.** Antigen presentation on MHC-I

In order to successfully reach the cell surface for recognition by antigen-specific CD8+ T cells, antigens must be proteolytically processed into short peptides, loaded onto MHC-I molecules, and transported to the cell surface. The generation of MHC-I-loaded

peptides typically occurs in the cytosol where the proteasome breaks down larger proteins into short peptides (502) (503) (504). The transporter associated with antigen processing (TAP) transports processed cytosolic peptides into the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) (506), where assembly of MHC-I molecules occurs (507). Newly synthesized MHC-I heavy chains initially complex with chaperone calnexin until  $\beta$ 2M binds and facilitates release of MHC-I from calnexin and association with a chaperone complex called the peptideloading complex (PLC) (508). The PLC is composed of two chaperone proteins called calreticulin and ERp57, a TAP-associated protein called tapasin, and TAP itself (507) (509) (510) (511). The PLC facilitates peptide loading onto MHC-I by maintaining the MHC-I molecule in a peptide-receptive state and bringing the MHC-I molecule in close association with TAP, through which potential binding peptides are being transported (507) (512) (513). Peptide binding to the MHC-I molecule releases it from the PLC, and the peptide:MHC-I complex is transported through the Golgi apparatus to the cell surface (507) (514). Thus, the range of peptides presented to CD8+ T cells is also governed by the ability of the antigen processing and presentation machinery to generate the peptide and load it onto MHC-I.

Of note, many pathogens interfere with MHC-I antigen presentation in order to evade CD8+ T cell immunity (*515*). For example, herpes simplex virus 1 (HSV-1), human cytomegalovirus (HCMV), bovine herpesvirus 1 (BHV 1), and Epstein barr virus (EBV) encode viral inhibitors of TAP (*516*). Adenovirus protein E19 retains MHC-I in the ER and prevents tapasin-mediated association of MHC-I with TAP (*517*). As described above, the Nef proteins of HIV and SIV remove MHC-I from the cell surface and retain it in the trans-Golgi network (*782*) (*189*) (*331*) (*332*) (*330*) (*781*) (*738*) (*191*).

However, as described below in section C below, this interference can render infected cells susceptible to natural killer (NK) cells.

# C. MHC-E

## i. General characteristics of MHC-E

Major histocompatibility complex E (MHC-E) molecules are a class of nonclassical MHC-Ib molecules encoded by the MHC-E locus. Homologues of human MHC-E, or HLA-E, have been found in mice (Qa-1b), rats (RT-BM1), and non-human primates (*518*) (*519*) (*520*) (*521*) (*522*) (*523*) (*524*). HLA-E is ubiquitously found on virtually all nucleated cells, with particularly high expression on immune cells (*520*) (*525*) (*526*). HLA-E retains the key structural features of MHC-I molecules, and associates with  $\beta$ 2M as well as TAP, tapasin, and calreticulin (*501*) (*527*) (*520*) (*528*).

The MHC-E locus is the most well conserved of all known primate MHC class I genes (791) (524). In humans and most non-human primates, classical MHC-Ia genes exhibit a large degree of polymorphism in the exons encoding the  $\alpha$ 1 and  $\alpha$ 2 domains that form the peptide-binding region (325); this positive selection pressure allows for diversity in ligand binding, and thus for presentation of diverse peptide antigens to T cells. In contrast, MHC-E genes in primates exhibit higher rates of synonymous nucleotide substitutions than non-synonymous substitutions in these exons (521) (522) (524), suggesting that the peptide-binding region of MHC-E is under purifying selection to maintain a critical immunological function. This immune function was later revealed when two groups discovered the role of HLA-E in NK cell regulation.

# ii. The role of MHC-E in NK cell regulation

HLA-E binds leader sequence peptides derived from positions 3-11 of certain HLA class I molecules, including those of particular HLA-A, B, C, and G molecules (*529*) (*530*) (*528*). In fact, surface expression of HLA-E, which had been controversial until this discovery (*520*) (*525*), is dependent upon the presence of HLA-E-binding leader peptides (*528*) (*530*). HLA-E cannot bind its own leader peptide (*529*) (*528*), and thus HLA-E surface expression correlates with the expression of other MHC-I molecules possessing a leader peptide capable of binding to HLA-E (*528*) (*530*). Studies performed with leader peptides containing various amino acid substitutions demonstrated that positions 2, 7, and 9 were critical for binding to HLA-E (*529*). Surface expression of HLA-E is considered TAP-dependent as HLA-E is not detected on the surface of TAPdeficient cells despite adequate expression of MHC-I molecules with appropriate HLA-Ebinding leader peptides (*528*, *530*). However, a separate study detected HLA-E expression on the surface of PBMC from a TAP1-deficient, MHC-Ia-deficient patient, suggesting that TAP-independent surface expression of HLA-E can occur (*531*).

HLA-E/leader peptide complexes bind to CD94/NKG2 receptors present on NK cells and a small subset of T cells (*532*). CD94 belongs to the C-type lectin superfamily and is expressed at the cell surface as a heterodimer with NKG2A, NKG2B, NKG2C, or NKG2E (*533*). The particular CD94/NKG2 heterodimer dictates whether the receptor will activate or inhibit the NK cell's activity (*533*). HLA-E/leader peptide complexes bind to inhibitory receptors CD94/NKG2A and CD94/NKG2B as well as to the activating receptor CD94/NKG2C (*532*). In order to investigate the biological significance of this interaction, several groups employed .221 cells, a mutagenized B-lymphoblastoid cell line, which express low-levels of intracellular HLA-E but are devoid of HLA-A, B, C,

and G molecules, and thus do not express surface HLA-E under normal conditions. Expression of HLA class I molecules or chimeric molecules containing an HLA-Ebinding leader sequence capable of stabilizing HLA-E surface expression protects .221 cells from NK cell lysis by NKG2A+ NK cell lines or clones (532) (526) (534) (535). This finding was repeated using other NK-susceptible cell types, such as RMA-S cells (534) (536). This inhibition of NKG2A+ NK cell-mediated lysis occurred in a CD94dependent and HLA-E-dependent manner (532) (526). As HLA-E surface expression is dependent on an adequate supply of MHC-I leader peptides and perhaps upon TAP function, these findings implicate MHC-E as a host mechanism to detect defects in MHC-I antigen presentation that often occur upon viral infection or neoplastic transformation. Thus, MHC-E could counteract CD8+ T cell evasion mechanisms by targeting virally infected cells or tumor cells for NK cell lysis. In contrast to HLA-E/leader peptidemediated inhibition of CD94/NKG2A+ NK cell clones, the activity NK cell clones expressing the activating receptor CD94/NKG2C+ respond poorly to most HLA-E/leader peptide complexes, with the exception of strong activation by HLA-E loaded with leader peptide derived from HLA-G, a non-classical MHC-Ib molecule with restricted placentaassociated tissue expression (537). The role of MHC-E in binding MHC-I leader peptides to regulate NK cells is preserved in mice (538).

#### iii. Primate MHC-E

The diversity of the MHC-E locus differs among primate species. There are only two HLA-E alleles present in the human population, which differ by a single amino acid change outside of the peptide-binding groove. Thus, each individual expresses 1 or 2 HLA-E molecules of very limited diversity. In contrast, 28 Mamu-E genes differing by

up to 45 amino acids have been identified in rhesus macaques (Figure 1.1), and individual rhesus macaques express 1-4 different MHC-E molecules (Figure 2.1), suggesting the Mamu-E locus may have undergone a duplication event. Genetically simplified Mauritian cynomolgus macaques carrying MHC haplotypes M1-M4, which represent the vast majority of the MCM population (*100*), express only 4 Mafa-E alleles as a population (Figure 1.1). However, 2 Mafa-E molecules can be expressed from a single haplotype (M4), suggesting a potential duplication event of the Mafa-E locus in MCMs as well (Figure 1.1). Cotton-top tamarins, a non-human primate species with limited sequence variation in MHC-Ia genes (*539*), appear to encode only one MHC-E molecule (*524*). Of note, nearly all primate MHC-E molecules identified thus far share an identical peptide-binding groove (Figures 1.1 and 1.2) (*522*) (*523*) (*524*).

Thus far, a few differences between the two HLA-E alleles have been observed. HLA-E\*01:03 is expressed at higher levels on the cell surface compared to HLA-E\*01:01, despite equal overall cellular expression, and exhibits higher affinity for leader peptides (*540*) (*541*) (*542*). In addition, different peptide repertoires are eluted from the two HLA-E molecules in transfected cell lines devoid of MHC-I molecules (*543*) (*544*). The two HLA-E alleles are carried at nearly equal frequencies in the human population (*545*), which may reflect balancing selection to maintain these two alleles and implicate functional differences between the two molecules. Indeed, correlative studies implicate HLA-E\*01:03 in HIV protection and HLA-E\*01:01 in hepatitis C virus protection (*792*) (*793*) (*561*), however the mechanisms behind these associations is unknown. There are no studies evaluating the peptide ligands or immune functions of non-human primate MHC- E molecules, and thus it is unclear whether individual MHC-E molecules within and across primate species function differently.

# iv. Other peptide ligands of MHC-E

Apart from binding peptides derived from MHC-I leader sequences, HLA-E and mouse Qa-1b also bind other peptides, including peptides derived from self, bacterial, and viral proteins (bacterial and viral ligands are summarized in Table 1.1). Similar to the canonical leader sequence-derived peptides, some virally derived HLA-E-binding peptides confer resistance to NK cell-mediated killing (*546*) (*547*) (*548*) (*549*) (*550*). In addition, numerous groups have identified CD8+ T cells recognizing peptide/MHC-E complexes through their T-cell receptor (*551*) (*552*) (*553*) (*554*) (*555*) (*556*) (*557*) (*558*) (*559*) (*560*) (*561*). NK cell and CD8+ T cell recognition of these alternative peptide/MHC-E complexes are described below in sections v and vi, respectively.

Mouse MHC-E (Qa-1b) Ligands					
Species source	Protein source	Peptide	Recognized by NKG2A+ NK cells	Recognized by MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells	Ref.
Klebsiella pneumoniae	Urease enzyme	LLLPRGLLL	Unknown	Unknown	(562)
Salmonella typhimurium	GroEL	GMQFDRGYL	Unknown	Yes	(552) (553)
Human MHC-E (HLA-E) Ligands					
Species source	Protein source	Peptide	Recognized by NKG2A+ NK cells	Recognized by MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells	Ref.
Epstein Barr virus	BZLF-1	SQAPLPCVL	No	Yes	(563) (536) (555) (558) (794)
Influenza virus	Matrix	ILGKVFTLT	Unknown	Unknown	(563)
Mycobacterium tuberculosis	Rv0056	FLLPRGLAI	Unknown	Yes	
	Rv1518	VMATRRNVL	No	Yes	(557)
	Rv2997	RMPPLGHEL			(583)
	Rv1523	VLRPGGHFL			(584)
	Rv1734c	VMTTVLATL			(585)
	Rv1484	RLPAKAPLL			
Human Cytomegalovirus	UL40	VMAPRTLIL VMAPRTLVL VMAPRTLLL	Yes- inhibits lysis	Yes (NK-CTLs)	(558) (559)
Salmonella enterica serovar Typhi strain Ty21a	GroEL	AVAKAGKPL	Unknown	Yes	
		AMLODIATL			(560)
		KMI.RGVNVI.			
		KLOEBVAKL			
HIV-1	Gag	AISPRTLNA	Yes- inhibits lysis*	Unknown (HLA- B*57-restricted CD8+ T cells)	(549)
Hepatitis C virus	Core	YLLPRRGPRL	Yes- inhibits lysis	Yes, both HLA- A2-restricted and HLA-E-restricted	(550) (561)
Vaccinia virus	D8L	DGLIIISI	Yes- inhibits lysis**	Unknown (HLA- Cw1-restricted)	(564)

\*A recent report contradicted this finding, and instead found that this peptide cannot effectively bind CD94/NKG2A or inhibit killing by NKG2A+ NK cells (565) \*\*This peptide is missing the P5 arginine present in other peptides that bind CD94/NKG2A

\*\*This peptide is missing the P5 arginine present in other peptides that bind CD94/NKG2A receptors

Table 1.1: Previously identified pathogen-derived MHC-E ligands. Table displays previously reported

Qa-1b- and HLA-E-binding ligands and whether the ligand has been demonstrated to be recognized by

NKG2A+ NK cells or MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells.

## v. Regulation of NK cells by virus-derived MHC-E ligands

As discussed above in section ii, MHC-E may serve an important host immune strategy against viruses that interfere with MHC-I antigen presentation, as the failure to deliver the leader peptide/HLA-E inhibitory signal through CD94/NKG2A renders cells susceptible to NK cell-mediated killing. However, viral mechanisms to counteract this MHC-E immune surveillance mechanism have also been discovered. Human cytomegalovirus (HCMV), HIV-1, hepatitis C virus (HCV), and vaccinia virus (VACV) encode peptides that both stabilize HLA-E surface expression and effectively ligate to CD94/NKG2A receptors, inhibiting CD94/NKG2A+ NK cell-mediated lysis. The HCMV UL40 gene encodes an exact mimic of the MHC-I leader sequence-derived VL9 peptide, and thus expression of UL40 prevents NK cell-mediated lysis by CD94/NKG2A+ NK cells (546) (566) (547) (548) (567). This is particularly relevant for immune evasion by HCMV as HCMV US2-US11 viral proteins interfere with MHC-I antigen presentation through multiple mechanisms in order to evade CD8+ T cell responses (795) (568) (569) (570) (571) (572) (573). Indeed, HCMV strains deleted of UL40 cannot inhibit CD94/NKG2A+ NK cell killing (548). Of note, the UL40-derived VL9 peptide is presented on MHC-E independently of TAP, and thus retains its NK cell evasion capabilities in the face of viral TAP inhibitor US6 (548) (574). HIV-1, HCV, and VACV also encode peptides capable of stabilizing HLA-E surface expression and delivering an inhibitory signal to CD94/NKG2A+ NK cells. However, not all peptides capable of stabilizing MHC-E surface expression confer protection from NK cellmediated lysis (Table 1.1) Multiple groups found that the arginine located at position 5 (P5) of MHC-I leader peptides bound to MHC-E is critical for recognition by

CD94/NKG2A (*575*) (*576*) (*577*) (*549*) (*578*). As shown in Table 1.1, the HLA-Ebinding HCMV, HIV-1, and HCV peptides shown to interact with CD94/NKG2A all possess the P5 arginine. However, the VACV HLA-E-binding peptide does not, suggesting that the P5 arginine rule is not absolute. As discussed below, some of these HLA-E-binding viral peptides are targeted by HLA-E-restricted CD8+ T cells.

## vi. MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells

While MHC-E was first described as a molecule primarily involved in NK cell regulation, evidence that MHC-E serves an additional role as a restricting molecule for CD8+ T cells subsequently emerged. Indeed, the crystal structure of HLA-E revealed that the residues and structural elements required for interaction with both CD8 and TCR $\alpha/\beta$  are conserved in HLA-E (*501*) (*527*). MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells recognizing self, bacterial, and viral peptides exhibit a variety of functions, which are described in this section.

# a. Auto-reactive MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells specific for TCR-Vβ-derived and tumor-derived peptides

Self peptides presented by MHC-E include peptides derived from certain TCR-V $\beta$  chains (*579*) (*556*). TCR-V $\beta$ -specific, Qa-1b-restricted CD8+ T cells were identified in mice after administration of superantigens, such as Staphylococcus enterotoxin B (SEB), intravenously (*579*). CD8+ T cells from SEB-primed mice lyse autologous CD4+ T cell targets based on expression of particular TCR-V $\beta$  chains, and this recognition is specifically blocked by antisera to Qa-1 (*579*). Similarily, TCR-V $\beta$ -specific, HLA-E-restricted CD8+ T cell lines expanded from human peripheral blood lyse TCR-V $\beta$ -peptide-loaded HLA-E transfectants as well as autologous CD4+ T cell clones expressing

the specific TCR-V $\beta$  in an HLA-E-dependent manner (*556*). The groups that performed these studies proposed that Qa-1b and HLA-E may bind non-leader sequence-derived peptides upon activation, and thus autoreactive Qa-1b-restricted TCR-V $\beta$ -specific CD8+ T cells might serve an immunoregulatory role *in vivo*, controlling the activation of CD4+ T cells. In support of this autoregulatory T cell mechanism, Qa-1-deficient mice develop exaggerated CD4+ T cell responses to self and foreign peptides and increased susceptibility to experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (*580*).

Qa-1b-restricted CD8+ T cells also participate in the immune response against tumors with defects in antigen processing (757) (796). In the context of cellular antigen processing defects, such as TAP inhibition or deficiency, Qa-1b and HLA-E shift from binding predominantly leader sequence-derived peptides to binding a distinct repertoire of self peptides (581) (757) (582) (797). TAP-deficient cells activate Qa-1b-restricted CD8+ T cells from mice immunized with TAP-deficient RMA-S cells expressing the costimulatory molecule CD80, while TAP restoration decreases the Qa-1b-restricted CD8+ T cell response (757). Vice versa, expression of TAP-inhibitor UL49.5 in TAP-positive tumor cells allows for recognition by Qa-1b-restricted CD8+ T cells (581). Immunization with TAP-inhibited DCs induces tumor-specific CD8+ T cell responses and protects mice against the outgrowth of TAP-deficient tumors (758) (798), suggesting that Qa-1brestricted CD8+ T cells may protect against tumors with defects in antigen processing.

# b. MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells specific for bacterial peptides

MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cell responses recognizing bacterial peptides are found in the context of infection with *Listeria monocytogenes, Salmonella typhimurium,* and *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* as well as in the context of typhoid vaccination. In mice, *L*.

*monocytogenes* and *S. typhimurium* infection elicits pathogen-specific Qa-1b-restricted CD8+ T cells (*551*) (*552*). *L. monocytogenes*-specific Qa-1b-restricted CD8+ T cells lyse infected macrophages as well as infected Qa-1b-transfected cell lines (*551*). In *S. typhi-murium*-infected mice, Qa-1b-restricted CD8+ T cells make up the dominant CTL response, comprising 50-60% of *S. typhimurium*-specific CTLs (*552*). One immunodominant *S. typhimurium*-specific CTL response recognized a Qa-1b-presented peptide derived from the bacterial GroEL protein (*553*). This GroEL-specific CTL response was particularly cross-reactive, recognizing cells infected with other Gramnegative bacteria as well as cells loaded with mouse heat shock protein 60 (*553*).

The first pathogen-specific HLA-E-restricted CD8+ T cell responses identified in humans were from individuals latently infected with *M.tuberculosis* (557). Clones derived from latently infected individuals secrete IFN- $\gamma$  in response to HLA-E transfectants treated with supernatant from *M.tb*-infected DCs as well as to HLA-Etransduced mouse cell lines infected with *M.tb* (557). A separate group identified HLA-E-restricted CD8+ T cells targeting six *M.tb* H37Rv-derived peptides in individuals responding to *M.tb*-purified protein derivative (PPD) as well as in patients with active TB (583) (584) (585). One Rv2997-derived peptide, RMPPLGHEL, was targeted by HLA-Erestricted CD8+ T cells in over 30% of PPD-responding donors and in 60% of active TB patients (583) (585). Tetramer staining revealed an increase in HLA-E-restricted CD8+ T cells in active infection compared to latent infection or chemotherapy-treated infection, with the highest frequency of tetramer-positive CD8+ T cells found in patients with HIV co-infection (584). Some *M.tb*-specific, HLA-E-restricted CD8+ T cells exhibit cytotoxic activity, lysing peptide-loaded HLA-E transfectants as well as monocytes infected with M. bovis BCG or M.tb (583) (584) (585). Cytolytic M.tb-specific, HLA-E-restricted CD8+ T cell clones from PPD-responders inhibit outgrowth of intracellular *M.tb* in primary macrophages (585). However, in addition to cytotoxic activity, studies of T cell clones and ex vivo tetramer+ T cells revealed that the majority of M.tb-specific, HLA-Erestricted CD8+ T cells from both PPD-responders and active TB patients express markers of suppressor function and exhibited an unusual Tc2-like phenotype, predominantly expressing GATA3 and producing IL-4 and IL-13 but not IFN- $\gamma$  (585). In accordance with this phenotype, many clones activated co-cocultured B cells and increased B cell secretion of Ig, particularly IgG and IgM (584) (585). Clones from PPDresponders also suppressed proliferation and IFN-y secretion of co-cultured *M.tb*-specific CD4+ T cell Th1 clones (583) (585), further suggesting a regulatory role for HLA-Erestricted CD8+ T cells in the immune response to M.tb. Although all isolated M.tbspecific HLA-E-restricted CD8+ T cell clones described in the study expressed GATA3 and predominantly secreted Th2-like cytokines, individual clones usually exhibited either cytolytic or regulatory activity (583) (585). Thus, the M.tb-specific, HLA-E-restricted CD8+ T cell response appears to be multifunctional.

Vaccination with *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhi strain Ty21a, a live attenuated typhoid vaccine, elicits HLA-E-restricted CD8+ T cells (*560*). *S.* Typhispecific, HLA-E-restricted CD8+ T cells are detected as early as 4 days after immunization (*586*). These HLA-E-restricted CD8+ T cells effectively lyse *S.* Typhiinfected targets, including allogeneic targets, in a granule-dependent mechanism (*560*). Four *S.* Typhi GroEL-derived peptides stimulated vaccine-elicited CD8+ T cells when loaded onto HLA-E transfectants or HLA-E-expressing BLCL (*560*). The majority of vaccine-induced *S*. Typhi-specific, HLA-E-restricted CD8+ T cells are multifunctional, secreting both TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$  and expressing CD107 (586).

## c. MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells specific for viral peptides

Virus-specific, HLA-E-restricted CD8+ T cells are found in the context of viral infection with human cytomegalovirus (HCMV), Hepatitis C virus (HCV), and Epstein-Barr virus (EBV). Perhaps the most unique case of a virus-specific, HLA-E-restricted CD8+ T cell response is that specific for the HCMV UL40-derived peptide, a virally encoded mimic peptide of MHC-E-binding leader peptides, described above in section v. Three versions of the mimic peptide, each identical to an MHC-Ia-derived leader sequence, are encoded by UL40 in various HCMV strains: VMAPRTLIL,

VMAPRTLVL, and VMAPRTLLL (Table 1.1) (*559*). As described above, UL40-derived VL9 mimic peptides loaded on HLA-E inhibit lysis by CD94/NKG2A+ NK cells (*546*) (*566*) (*547*) (*548*) (*567*). However, HCMV UL40-derived mimic peptides can also be targeted by HLA-E-restricted CD8+ T cells (*558*) (*559*) (*587*). This UL40 VL9-specific CD8+ T cell response only occurs in patients infected with a strain of HCMV encoding a UL40 VL9 peptide that does not match any of the endogenous leader-derived VL9 peptides encoded by the individual's MHC-I alleles (*558*) (*559*) (*587*). Presumably, mechanisms of tolerance preclude UL40 VL9-specific, HLA-E-restricted CD8+ T cell responses in cases where UL40 VL9 matches one of the endogenous MHC-I leader-derived VL9 peptides. These UL40 VL9-specific CD8+ T cells were first identified as a unique subset of CD8+ T cells, termed "NK-CTL" due to their expression of inhibitory NK cell receptors, such as CD94/NKG2A, and their ability to lyse NK cell-susceptible targets (*588*). However, NK-CTL recognize HLA-E/peptide complexes through their
TCR $\alpha$ / $\beta$  rather than through CD94/NKG2A (*588*) (*589*) (*558*), and are only found in CMV-seropositive individuals. Thus, the discovery that NK-CTL are UL40-specific explains these observations as well as their broad cytotoxic activity against some allogeneic, but not autologous, target cells (*588*) (*589*). Upon recognition of "non-self" UL40 peptide, HCMV-elicited HLA-E-restricted CD8+ T cells lyse target cells, proliferate, and secrete IFN- $\gamma$ , but not IL-2, consistent with their effector memory T cell phenotype (CD45RA+, CD28-, CCR7-) (*559*).

Similar to HCMV UL40-derived peptide, a single HLA-E-binding peptide of HCV also participates in both NK cell and T cell immunity. As described above, peptide YLLPRRGPRL derived from the core protein of HCV binds HLA-E and inhibits lysis by CD94/NKG2A+ NK cells (*550*). The same HCV core peptide is targeted by HLA-Erestricted CD8+ T cells in 40% of HCV-infected patients (*561*). Further, patients possessing this IFN- $\gamma$ -secreting HLA-E-restricted CD8+ T cell response display significantly lower levels of HCV and higher levels of serum ALT and AST, readouts of liver damage, compared to patients lacking the response (*561*), suggesting these HLA-Erestricted CD8+ T cells might lyse HCV-infected cells. Interestingly, HLA-A2-restricted CD8+ T cells also target this HCV core peptide, but only the HLA-E-restricted CD8+ T cell response correlates with clinical parameters (*561*).

In contrast to HCMV UL40-derived peptide and HCV core-derived peptide, the HLA-E-binding peptide derived from EBV BZLF-1 protein does not appear to interact with CD94/NKG2A receptors (*536*) (*590*). However, this peptide is targeted by HLA-E-restricted CD8+ T cells in EBV-seropositive donors (*590*). In addition, a slight increase in the frequency of HLA-E/BLZF1 SL9 tetramer+ CD8+ T cells is observed in Multiple

Sclerosis (MS) patients compared to healthy controls (*590*), which may reflect an increase in EBV expression in these patients as accumulating evidence suggests EBV is linked to MS (*591*) (*592*) (*593*) (*594*). However, characterization of the functional properties of EBV-specific, HLA-E-restricted CD8+ T cells has not been performed.

#### vii. Antigen presentation on MHC-E

The pathway of MHC-I-derived leader peptide presentation on HLA-E has been experimentally determined (595) (596) (528) (530). As the nascent MHC-I molecule is translocated into the ER, the leader sequence is cleaved off by signal peptidase (SP) located in the ER membrane, and then further processed by signal peptide peptidase (SPP), also located in the ER membrane (595) (597). SPP cuts the hydrophobic membrane-spanning region of the leader segment, releasing a 14-mer peptide into the cytosol (595). The peptide is trimmed into the HLA-E-binding 9-mer by the proteasome (596), and then re-imported into the ER by TAP (528) (530), where it binds to HLA-E and is transported to the cell surface (528) (530). Tapasin is also required for this process (528), and HLA-E associates with TAP, tapasin, and calreticulin (the members of the peptide-loading complex) (528). A similar mechanism of leader peptide loading is supported for mouse MHC-E (Qa-1b), with the exception that leader peptide presentation of Qa-1b is proteasome-independent (598) (599), suggesting other cytosolic or ER proteases in mice can generate the MHC-E-binding 9-mer in the absence of proteasome function.

In contrast to leader peptide presentation, the presentation of pathogen-derived peptides on MHC-E may occur through multiple pathways, particularly as pathogen proteins differ in subcellular localization, and some pathogens interfere with the antigen

processing machinery. Indeed, pathogen-derived peptides exhibit differences in their requirements for the presentation on MHC-E. Presentation of *Listeria-*, *Salmonella-*, and *Mtb*-derived CD8+ T cell epitopes on MHC-E requires intact TAP function (*551*) (*600*) (*552*). In contrast, presentation of HCMV UL40-derived VL9 peptide and vaccinia virus-derived DI8 peptide on MHC-E occurs occurs independently of TAP (*546*) (*566*) (*567*) (*564*), suggesting TAP-independent pathways of MHC-E loading exist.

While the processing and presentation of virally derived peptides on MHC-E remains enigmatic, the process of *Mtb* peptide loading onto MHC-E has been extensively characterized. Bacteria-containing phagosomes can acquire retrotranslocation machinery, which exports proteins from the ER to the cytosol, as well as ER-derived antigen presentation machinery, including MHC-I, TAP, and other members of the PLC (601) (602) (603) (600). Presentation of *Mtb*-derived CD8+ T cell epitopes on HLA-E requires retrotranslocation machinery, proteasome, and TAP function, but does not require ERgolgi transport (557) (600). In addition, HLA-E is enriched in the *Mtb* phagosome after infection, and *Mtb*-specific HLA-E-restricted CD8+ T cells recognize purified phagosome fractions. These data support a model whereby *Mtb* phagosomal antigens exit the phagosome by retrotranslocation, undergo proteasomal processing in the cytosol, and are re-imported into the phagosome by TAP, where they bind to HLA-E. Of note, both *Listeria* and *Salmonella* are localized to phagosomes at some point in their infectious life cycle (604) (605), and thus may support a similar mechanism of HLA-E peptide loading. In support of this hypothesis, presentation of *Salmonella* peptides to MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells is also proteasome-dependent (557) (600) (552) (553).



Figure 1.1: MHC-E molecules expressed in humans, rhesus macaques, and Mauritian cynomolgus macaques. Amino acid alignment of the  $\alpha$ 1 and  $\alpha$ 2 regions of 2 HLA-E, 28 Mamu-E, and 4 Mafa-E alleles, with the key B and F pocket residues predicted to contact peptide highlighted in blue and red, respectively. B and F pocket residues are conserved among all MHC-E molecules, with the exception of 3 Mamu-E alleles (Mamu-E\*02:15, -E\*02:20, and -E\*02 nov 02) and 1 Mafa-E allele (Mafa-E M4 minor).



Figure 1.2: Sequence conservation in the  $\alpha 1$  and  $\alpha 2$  regions of MHC-E molecules expressed in humans, rhesus macaques, and Mauritian cynomolgus macaques. The amino acid sequences of the  $\alpha 1$ and  $\alpha 2$  regions of 2 HLA-E alleles, 28 Mamu-E alleles, and 4 Mafa-E alleles were aligned (alignment shown in Figure 1.1). (A) Neighbor-joining tree of MHC-E molecules is shown. (B) Graph displays the

frequency of MHC-E alleles differing from the consensus at each amino acid position of the  $\alpha 1$  and  $\alpha 2$  region in black. Blue highlighting indicates amino acid residues predicted to line the peptide-binding groove (606, 607).

# IV. Cytomegalovirus-based vaccine vectors

Vaccination of rhesus macaques with rhesus cytomegalovirus (RhCMV) expressing SIV antigens is effective against SIV in ~50% of rhesus macaques; efficacy is characterized by stringent control of viral replication and eventual viral clearance. Thus, CMV-based vaccine vectors represent a potentially effective T cell-based vaccine strategy for HIV. This section discusses aspects of CMV virology and immunology relevant to CMV-based vector vaccination, and reviews previous studies utilizing such vectors.

#### A. CMV virology

Cytomegaloviruses, or CMVs, are ubiquitious betaherpesviruses that infect a range of mammalian species, from mice to humans. CMV persists in infected hosts indefinitely and, like other herpesviruses, is able to go latent with target cells (*799*). Periodically, latent viral genomes reactivate, producing infectious virus that is shed in saliva, urine, genital secretions, and breast milk (*608*). Transmission occurs through exposure to such bodily fluids as well as by intrauterine exposure and transplantation (*609*). An estimated 60-100% of the adult population is infected with human CMV (HCMV), with higher prevalence in developing countries (*610*) (*609*). HCMV infection is generally asymptomatic in immunocompetent individuals, but can cause severe disease in immunocompromised hosts such as AIDS patients, transplant recipients, and congenitally infected infants (*611*) (*800*). A key feature of betaherpesviruses like CMVs is their species specificity; each CMV species is highly adapted to its host species and is unable to infect other species, even those closely related to its host (*610*). In addition, CMVs have the ability to superinfect CMV-positive hosts, despite strong immune

responses to primary infection (*612*) (*613*). CMV infects a wide range of host tissues and multiple cell types, including endothelial cells, epithelial cells, smooth muscle cells, fibroblasts, monocytes, macrophages, dendritic cells, and CD34+ bone marrow progenitors (*614*) (*615*) (*616*). Primary CMV infection involves initial replication in the mucosal epithelium followed by dissemination to myeloid lineage cells such as monocytes and CD34+ bone marrow progenitors, which serve as sites of latent infection (*617*) (*618*) (*619*).

CMVs are enveloped viruses with large double-stranded DNA genomes. The genome of HCMV is ~235 kilobases composed of between 165 and 250 open-reading frames (620) (621) (622) (623) (624). The HCMV virion consists of nucleocapsidenclosed double-stranded linear DNA core surrounded by a proteinaceous matrix known as the tegument, all of which is encased in a lipid bilayer (609) (625). The viral glycoproteins present in the virion envelope interact with cellular surface receptors. Viral glycoproteins gB and gH/gL are essential for virus entry (626) (627); gB mediates adsorption of HCMV onto heparan sulfate glycosaminoglycans and may assist in entry (628) (629), while gH/gL mediate entry, either alone or in complex with other envelope glycoproteins (627). Entry into fibroblasts requires only the gH/gL complex, while entry into epithelial and endothelial cells requires both gH/gL and the pentameric complex, composed of gH/gL/UL128/UL130/UL131 (627). Many cell surface molecules have been described as HCMV receptors, including epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), platelet-derived growth factor receptor- $\alpha$  (PDGFR $\alpha$ ), integrins, and BST/tetherin (630) (631) (632) (633) (634) (635) (636). Entry of HCMV occurs through either direct fusion or through the endocytic pathway, which release the tegument and capsid into the

cytoplasm (637). The capsid travels to the nucleus, and the viral DNA is released into nucleus (637). During lytic infection, expression of viral proteins occurs in three overlapping phases: immediate-early (IE, 0-2 hours), delayed-early (E, <24 hours), and late (L, >24 hours) (609). In some cell types, immediate-early gene expression is silenced, resulting in latent infection characterized by minimal viral gene expression and no production of new virions (639) (640). The immediate-early proteins activate expression of delayed-early genes, which initiate viral genome replication (801) (641). After DNA replication, the late genes are expressed, which initiate assembly and egress of new virions (801) (641). During assembly, the DNA genome is encapsidated in the nucleus, the capsids bud through the nuclear envelope, and assembly occurs in a unique secretory apparatus known as the viral assembly complex (VAC) (643) (644) (645).

#### **B.** The immune response to CMV

CMV disease is typically restricted to immunocompromised hosts (*611*) (*800*), suggesting that the immune response to CMV is important in limiting viral pathogenesis. Indeed, numerous studies in humans and animal models provide evidence for the important of immune responses in control of viral replication and protection from CMV disease. However, CMV persists and is often shed in the face of such immune responses (*608*) (*646*) (*647*) (*648*) (*649*) (*650*), demonstrating that host immunity is unable to clear the virus. Thus, CMV infection of immunocompetent hosts represents a balanced interplay between the virus and host, whereby the virus is able to persist but replication is contained to levels that preclude disease development.

Entry of CMV into cells activates several innate immune pathways, resulting in induction of inflammatory cytokines, type I interferons, and costimulatory molecules

such as CD80 and CD86, the latter are crucial in priming effective adaptive immune responses (651). For example, HCMV gB/gH envelope glycoproteins activate Toll-like receptor 2 signaling to activate NF-kB signaling (652). The innate immune response to CMV also involves natural killer (NK) cells, which survey cells for the presence of activating and inhibitory ligands that alert the NK cell of abnormal cellular processes, such as infection or neoplastic transformation. Upon activation, NK cells secrete cytokines such as IFN-y and kill target cells. While direct evidence for the role of NK cells in controlling HCMV infection is lacking, patients without NK cells have increased susceptibility to HCMV and can develop severe herpesvirus infections like HCMV disease, and NK cell expansion correlated with control of HCMV infection in a SCID patient lacking T cells and B cells (653) (654). In support of the importance of NK cells in HCMV infection, HCMV encodes numerous modulators of NK cell activity, including a protein that binds NK cell activating ligands to prevent NKG2D+ NK cell activation and the VL9 mimic peptide that stabilizes HLA-E surface expression and inhibits NKG2A+ NK cell-mediated killing (802) (546) (566) (547) (548) (567).

Adaptive immune responses to primary HCMV infection control HCMV reactivation and prevent uncontrolled viral replication and serious HCMV disease. Binding and neutralizing antibodies against HCMV are readily detected in HCMV-infected individuals, and serve to restrict viral dissemination and limit disease severity (655) (656) (657). Neutralizing antibodies are primarily directed to the envelope glycoprotein gB, but also target envelope glycoprotein gH and complexes gN/gM and gH/gL/UL128/UL130/UL131 (655) (658) (659) (660) (661) (662). However, virus-specific T cell responses are the primary means by which HCMV replication is

controlled. The T cell response to HCMV infection is dominated by effector memory  $(T_{EM})$  and terminally differentiated effector T cells (363) (663) (361). In AIDS patients and transplant recipients, HCMV-specific CD8+ T cell responses limit systemic viral load and/or correlate with protection from CMV disease (664) (665) (666) (667) (668) (669) (670) (671). Indeed, infusion of HCMV-specific CD8+ T cells into allogeneic bone marrow transplant recipients protects against HCMV-associated clinical complications (672) (673). The magnitude of the HCMV-specific CD8+ T cell response is very large; a median of 10% of CD8+ T cells in peripheral blood of healthy carriers are HCMVspecific, and this frequency increases in elderly individuals (674) (675) (676) (677). In addition, the antigenic targets of the HCMV-specific CD8+ T cell response are extensive, including structural, regulatory, and immunomodulatory proteins spanning immediateearly, early, early-late, and late gene products (803) (678) (677) (609). Indeed, comprehensive ex vivo T cell assays revealed that more than 70% of HCMV ORFs are targeted by T cells (803) (678) (677). CD8+ T cell responses targeting IE-1, IE-2, and pp65 are immunodominant (679) (803) (680) (681) (682) (683) (684) (678) (677) (609). CD4+ T cell responses to HCMV also appear to be critical for HCMV control. Shedding of HCMV in urine and saliva in HCMV-infected healthy children is associated with deficiencies in HCMV-specific CD4+ T cells (685). In transplant recipients, low levels of HCMV-specific CD4+ T cells correlate with increased susceptibility to HCMV disease and/or increases in viral load (686) (687) (663), while detection of HCMV-specific CD4+ T cells is associated with protection from HCMV disease (688) (664) (689). Adoptive transfer of HCMV-specific CD4+ T cells reduces HCMV viral loads in allogeneic stem cell transplant recipients (690). Similar to the CD8+ T cell response, CD4+ T cell

responses to HCMV are also present at high frequencies and exhibit broad antigen recognition (*677*) (*681*). The major targets of HCMV-specific CD4+ T cell responses are gB, TRL14, and UL16 (*677*) (*681*) (*691*). While many HCMV-specific CD4+ T cells are conventional helper T cells that maintain HCMV-specific antibody and CD8+ T cell responses (*692*) (*673*), some are able to lyse infected cells (*691*) (*804*) (*693*) (*694*).

In the face of such robust immune responses, a key enabler of CMV persistence is viral evasion of host immune responses. CMV possesses an array of immunomodulatory strategies to interfere with host immunity, including dampening induction of interferonstimulated genes, interfering with antigen presentation to T cells, and evading NK cell responses (805) (695) (609). For example, HCMV encodes a set of related glycoproteins that interfere with antigen presentation on MHC-I to evade CD8+ T cell recognition. US2 and US11 facilitate the degradation of newly synthesized MHC-I molecules (795), US3 retains MHC-I in the ER via tapasin inhibition (568) (569) (696), and US6 inhibits TAPmediated translocation of antigenic peptides into the ER (570) (571) (572) (573). Indeed, deletion of the locus homologous to US2-11 from rhesus CMV (Rh182-189) abolishes the ability of the virus to superinfect RhCMV-seropositive rhesus macaques (697), demonstrating that these CD8+ T cell evasion genes are required for CMV to establish persistent secondary infection. Of note, these CD8+ T cell evasion genes do not preclude priming of CMV-specific CD8+ T cell responses, but instead interfere with CD8+ T cell recognition of infected cells (393), allowing the virus to persist (697). This ability to establish persist superinfection is a key advantage of CMV-based vaccine vectors, as described in the next section.

#### C. CMV as a vaccine vector

#### i. Rationale for use as a vaccine vector for HIV

Most previous approaches to T cell-based vaccination use non-persistent vectors that produce antigen for a limited time, and thus predominantly elicit central memory T cells ( $T_{CM}$ ) (*361*), see section II. While central memory T cells are effective against some pathogens (*698*), the massive initial replication of HIV/SIV outpace vaccine-elicited central memory T cells, which require a period of antigen-stimulated anamnestic expansion, differentiation to gain effector functions, and migration to the site of infection in order to act against incoming virus (*362*). Indeed, while some non-persistent vaccine regimens can lower SIV viremia in rhesus macaques, this control is incomplete and usually transient (*449*) (*451*) (*396*) (*450*) (*461*). Further, these non-persistent vaccine regimens have shown no efficacy thus far in humans (*389*) (*430*) (*433*) (*446*).

With these considerations, our collaborators developed a vaccine where SIV antigens are expressed by cytomegalovirus virus (CMV), the prototypical persistent pathogen, in an attempt to elicit SIV-specific effector memory T cells ( $T_{EM}$ ) capable of acting against the virus at its most vulnerable early stage. A number of characteristics of CMV-elicited immune responses suggest CMV-based vaccine vectors might offer superior control of viral replication and serve as suitable immunization modalities in humans. First, vaccine-elicited T cell responses would be most effective if they act very early after HIV/SIV infection, when the viral population is smaller, less diverse, and more localized to the site of transmission (*204*), see section I. CMV elicits and maintains high-frequency CD4+ and CD8+ T cell responses that are highly  $T_{EM}$ -biased (*677*) and, consequently, possess immediate effector function and are present at high frequencies in extralymphoid sites (*362*) 3(*699*) (*700*) (*364*) (*365*), including the vaginal and rectal

mucosa that serve as sites of viral entry and initial replication for the majority of HIV infections (*30*) (*31*). Thus, CMV-elicited  $T_{EM}$  cells would be poised to act early against mucosally transmitted HIV. Second, high frequency CMV-elicited  $T_{EM}$  responses are maintained throughout the life of the infected individual (*674*) (*675*) (*676*) (*677*) (*681*), and thus are well suited for preventative vaccines. Finally, CMV is able to superinfect CMV-seropositive hosts and prime new T cell responses (*612*) (*613*) (*701*) (*697*) (*450*) (*393*). Thus, while a large proportion of the global population is infected with HCMV, HCMV-based vaccine vectors would be able to elicit antigen-specific T cell responses regardless of CMV status. This is in contrast to Ad5 vector vaccination, where pre-existing immunity to Ad5 can reduce vaccine immunogenicity, and perhaps even increase the risk of HIV acquisition (*702*) (*389*) (*390*). Thus, CMV vectors encoding HIV antigens represent potential candidates for T cell-based HIV vaccines.

Rhesus macaques are an ideal model to test CMV-based vaccine vectors. The relatedness of CMVs mirrors the evolutionary relatedness of their hosts, and thus many genes and gene families present in HCMV are shared by rhesus cytomegalovirus (RhCMV) but not rodent CMVs (*703*) (*610*). The genomes of HCMV and RhCMV are colinear and possess a similar size and structure (*704*) (*705*). Similar to HCMV, infection with RhCMV is persistent, ubiquitous, and typically asymptomatic (*705*). Over 90% of captive rhesus macaques are infected within the first year of life, and the majority RhCMV infections are subclinical (*648*) (*649*) (*650*) (*706*) (*705*). Further, RhCMV infects a similar range of tissues and cell types as HCMV, and is shed in the same bodily fluids (*707*) (*708*) (*709*) (*710*) (*711*) (*647*) (*646*) (*705*). RhCMV is also able superinfect; multiple genetic variants can be isolated from individual immunocompetent RMs (*712*).

Perhaps most significantly for studies of CMV-based vaccine vectors, the host immune response to RhCMV mirrors that observed in HCMV infection. RhCMV-infected RMs develop high frequency, effector memory-biased RhCMV-specific CD4+ and CD8+ T cell responses as well as RhCMV-binding and –neutralizing antibodies (*713*) (*806*) (*714*) (*715*) (*710*) (*706*) (*716*) (*677*). Further, RhCMV encodes homologues of many of the immunomodulatory proteins of HCMV, including the homologues of the US2-11 proteins that interfere with antigen presentation on MHC-I (*704*) (*712*) (*717*) (*718*). Thus, RhCMV infection of rhesus macaques serves as a relevant model of HCMV infection in humans. As SIV-infection of rhesus macaques is a standard model of HIV/AIDS pathogenesis, rhesus macaques can be utilized to study both the immunogenicity of CMV-based vaccine vectors and their efficacy against pathogenic lentiviral infection.

#### ii. General features of RhCMV vector vaccination

Our collaborators developed RhCMV vaccine vectors expressing SIV antigens based on RhCMV strain 68-1 (719) (704) (720) (701) (697) (450) (393) (481). Indeed, every SIV challenge study of RhCMV/SIV vector-vaccinated RMs published to-date involved animals administered RhCMV/SIV vaccine vectors engineered from strain 68-1 (701) (450) (481). As described below, this distinction is critical. Most of the open reading frames of RhCMV strain 68-1 encode proteins homologous to known HCMV proteins, including structural proteins, replicative proteins, transcriptional regulators, and immune evasion proteins (704). Strain 68-1 is a laboratory-adapted strain of RhCMV passaged in fibroblasts, and thus contains fibroblast adaptions similar to those observed with fibroblast-adapted HCMV, including mutations in homologues of HCMV UL128 and UL130, two components of a pentameric glycoprotein complex that facilitates entry of CMV into non-fibroblast cells (704) (720) (721). While strain 68-1 RhCMV exhibits attenuated growth *in vivo*, including lower plasma titers and shedding (712), the virus is able to establish persistent infection and prime T cell responses in CMV-negative and CMV-positive hosts (701) (697) (450) (393) (481). The SIV antigens inserted into strain 68-1 RhCMV to make RhCMV/SIV vectors include Gag, Env, a fusion of Rev, Tat, and Nef (Retanef), 5' Pol (encoding protease and reverse transcriptase), and 3' Pol (encoding RNase H and integrase).

As expected, administration of strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIV vectors to either RhCMV-naïve or naturally RhCMV-infected rhesus macaques results in clinically benign infection. Strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIV vectors persist in vaccinated rhesus macaques, with antigen-expressing RhCMV shed in urine and saliva indefinitely but no measurable viremia (701) (450). This shedding is consistent with previous findings that healthy RhCMV-infected adult RMs often shed virus in urine, saliva, and genital secretions (646) (647) (648) (649) (650).

Strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIV vectors do not elicit strong antibody responses to SIV. In some vaccinated rhesus macaques, SIV-binding antibodies are detected at very low titers ( $\leq$ 1:10 plasma dilution), but they are unable to neutralize SIVmac239 or a neutralization-sensitive, tissue culture-adapted variant of SIVmac251 (701) (450) (481). However, all rhesus macaques administered strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIV vectors develop and maintain high frequency effector memory-biased CD4+ and CD8+ T cell responses against the inserted SIV antigens indefinitely, with >90% of peripheral blood SIVspecific CD8+ T cells possessing a T<sub>EM</sub> phenotype (701) (450). Consistent with this T<sub>EM</sub> biased response, SIV-specific T cell responses are detectable in a variety of tissues,

including extralymphoid sites such as the liver, intestinal mucosa, and bronchoalveolar lavage (450) (393). In addition, the induced SIV-specific CD4+ and CD8+ T cell responses are polyfunctional, consistent with previous studies of CMV-elicited T cells (722) (723). RhCMV-induced, SIV-specific CD4+ T cells are equally split between transitional  $T_{EM1}$  (CD28+CCR7-) and fully differentiated  $T_{EM2}$  (CD28-CCR7-) phenotypes and produce combinations of TNF, IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-2, and MIP-1 $\beta$ , with the majority of responding cells producing at least three of these effector molecules (701). RhCMV-induced, SIV-specific CD8+ T cells are nearly exclusively fully-differentiated  $T_{EM2}$  cells and, consistent with this, produce a combination of TNF, IFN- $\gamma$ , and MIP-1 $\beta$ and externalize CD107, but do not produce significant amounts of IL-2 (701).

## iii. Efficacy of RhCMV/SIV vector vaccination

Multiple challenge studies performed to-date have demonstrated that vaccination with strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIV vectors is able to stringently control SIV in challenged rhesus macaques (701) (450) (481). Strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIV vector vaccination is effective in 50% of vaccinated rhesus macaques after repeated, limiting dose intrarectal or intravaginal challenge with SIVmac239 and in two of six vaccinated rhesus macaques after low dose intravenous challenge (481). The hallmarks of strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIV vector-mediated control are consistent regardless of the route of challenge and, as described below, differ from that of other HIV/SIV vaccines and elite control.

First, the outcome of challenge among strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIV-vaccinated rhesus macaques is binary. RhCMV/SIV-vaccinated rhesus macaques that do not control viral replication (non-controllers) manifest mean peak and plateau phase viral loads similar to that observed in unvaccinated progressors (*701*) (*450*) (*481*). In contrast, RhCMV/SIV-

vaccinated controller rhesus macaques exhibit an acute peak of viremia followed by rapid control of viral replication periodically interrupted by blips of plasma virus (701) (450) (481). This binary efficacy is also reflected in CD4+ T cell levels, whereby RhCMV/SIV controllers do not exhibit any decrease in CD4+ T cell numbers in peripheral blood or frequency in bronchoalveolar lavage, while RhCMV/SIV non-controllers exhibit significant CD4+ T cell depletion similar to that observed in unvaccinated controls (450) (481). This binary outcome in both control of viral replication and CD4+ T cell preservation suggests that once progressive infection is established, RhCMV/SIV vectorelicited T cells are unable to exert control over viral replication. Indeed, such binary efficacy is reminiscent of successful antibody-based vaccines like the RV144 vaccine regimen, where vaccine-elicited antibodies are able to provide some level of protection against acquisition, but are unable to alter the course of HIV/SIV infection once infection is established (445). However, RhCMV/SIV vector-mediated binary efficacy is in contrast to the consistent challenge outcome observed with conventional T cell-based vaccines, such as standard benchmark DNA/Ad5 vaccine regimens, where all vaccinated rhesus macaques manifest progressive infection with reduced early phase viral loads compared to unvaccinated controls (449) (451) (396) (450).

Second, despite viral spread, controller strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIV vaccinees maintain control of viral replication and eventually appear to clear the virus entirely. After the acute peak of viremia following SIV challenge, RhCMV/SIV controller vaccinees quickly control virus replication to lower than 30 copies of SIV RNA per milliliter of plasma. This robust control of viral replication is occasionally interrupted by blips of plasma viremia, which decrease in magnitude and frequency over time until they

eventually disappear by  $\sim$ 75 weeks post-SIV challenge (701) (450) (481). The level of viral control offered by RhCMV/SIV vectors is superior to that conferred by T cell-based vaccine regimens like DNA/Ad5, which is incomplete and often transient (449) (451) (396) (450). Despite stringent control of viral replication in RhCMV/SIV vectorprotected RMs, SIV spreads from the site of inoculation in RhCMV/SIV controller animals. SIV RNA and DNA is detectable in the lymph nodes, bone marrow, spleen, and liver of protected animals necropsied within 24 days of plasma virus control, albeit at much lower levels than those found in unvaccinated SIV-infected progressors (481). Further, replication-competent SIV is able to be co-cultured from draining lymph nodes and spleen of protected animals necropsied at such early time points (481). However, RhCMV/SIV controller animals necropsied between 69-180 weeks after infection, after the disappearance of plasma virus blips, show no signs of infection (481). Viral clearance in RhCMV/SIV controller RMs at these later time-points is supported by lack of tissueassociated SIV RNA and DNA by ultra-sensitive qRT-PCR and qPCR, inability to coculture replication competent virus from lymphoid tissues, decline in CD8+ T cell responses to an SIV antigen not included in the vaccine (Vif) to undetectable levels, lack of induction of SIV Env-specific antibody responses, and the failure of  $6 \times 10^7$ hematolymphoid cells from protected animals to initiate infection in SIV-naïve RM upon adoptive transfer (481). These data support immune-mediated control and progressive clearance of SIV infection in RhCMV/SIV controller RMs, and constitute the only report of vaccine-mediated clearance of an established lentiviral infection.

In addition, strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIV vector-mediated control is insensitive to depletion of either CD8+ or CD4+ T cells from blood (450). Administration of anti-

CD8a or anti-CD4 monoclonal antibody to RhCMV/SIV controller RMs does not result in any rebound in plasma viremia or tissue-associated SIV RNA levels (450) (481). In contrast, administration of anti-CD8a to unvaccinated, ART-suppressed, DNA/Ad5vaccinated, or elite controller RMs results in a transient increase in plasma viremia that returns to pre-depletion levels concomitant with the return of CD8+ T cells (299) (300)(301) (302) (303) (304) (450). While transient depletion of CD8+ T cells by anti-CD8 $\alpha$  is complete in the blood, this depletion is incomplete in the tissues, particularly in extralymphoid sites such as bronchoalveolar lavage where only  $\sim 50\%$  depletion is observed (450) (481). As RhCMV/SIV vector-elicited SIV-specific CD8+ T cells are  $T_{EM}$ in phenotype and present at high frequencies in such extralymphoid sites, it is possible that sufficient numbers remain after depletion to maintain control over viral replication. However, lack of viral rebound in RhCMV/SIV controller RMs after CD8+ or CD4+ T cell depletion could also reflect very low levels of virus or the ability of the other T cell subset to compensate for the depleted subset (i.e. CD4+ T<sub>EM</sub> cells may compensate for the depletion of CD8+  $T_{EM}$  cells). Regardless, this suggests resilient control of SIV replication by RhCMV/SIV vector-elicited immune responses.

Finally, strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIV vector-mediated control is not associated with protective MHC-Ia alleles (701) (450) (481). This is in contrast to other T cell-based vaccine regimens as well as natural SIV infection, where rhesus macaques expressing particular MHC-Ia alleles or TRIM5 alleles manifest superior control over viral replication or slower disease progression (449) (724) (321) (322) (324). The observed lack of association between protection and MHC-Ia alleles is explained by the findings described in the next section and in Chapter 2.

Control and clearance of SIV replication in strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIV-vaccinated rhesus macaques is likely mediated by SIV-specific T cell responses. Vaccination does not induce significant SIV-specific antibody responses (701) (450) (481). Innate immune responses can also be discounted as all challenged rhesus macaques harbored natural strains of RhCMV prior to vaccination, and all previous studies conducted SIV challenges at least 300 days after the last RhCMV/SIV vaccination (701) (450) (481).

#### iv. CD8+ T cell responses elicited by RhCMV/SIV vaccine vectors

Surprisingly, strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIV vector vaccination elicits an SIV-specific CD8+ T cell response that is distinct from that induced upon SIV infection or conventional vaccination (393). First, the canonical dominant and sub-dominant SIVspecific CD8+ T cell responses are not induced upon strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIV vaccination (393). For example, strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag-vaccinated Mamu-A1\*001:01-positive RMs do not mount responses to SIVgag<sub>181-189</sub>(CM9), and Mamu-A1\*002:01-positive animals do not mount responses to SIVgag<sub>71-79</sub>(GY9). Instead, strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIV vectors elicit SIV-specific CD8+ T cell responses targeting novel viral epitopes (393). Indeed, the SIVgag epitopes targeted by strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgagelicited CD8+ T cells are non-overlapping with epitopes targeted by MVA/SIVgag-, Ad5/SIVgag-, and DNA/SIVgag+IL-12-elicited CD8+ T cells, as evidenced by the failure of these conventional vaccine regimens to boost SIVgag epitope-specific CD8+ T cell responses primed by strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag, and vice versa (393). This lack of epitope overlap was further confirmed by comprehensive deconvolution of epitopes targeted by SIVgag-specific CD8+ T cells in RMs administered strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag vectors, RM administered conventional SIVgag-encoding vaccines, and

RMs with controlled SIV infection (*393*). Thus, strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIV vectors elicit SIV-specific CD8+ T cell responses targeting novel viral epitopes.

Second, strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIV vaccination elicits a breadth of CD8+ T cell responses about 3-fold as wide as conventional vaccination or SIV infection (*393*). For example, rhesus macaques vaccinated with strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag target an average of 46 of 125 SIVgag 15-mer peptides (with 11 amino acid overlap), corresponding to a minimum of ~32 distinct epitopes (*393*). In contrast, conventionally vaccinated and SIV-infected controller RMs mount responses to 15-mers corresponding to a minimum of 9-14 SIVgag epitopes (*393*). Thus, strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIV vector vaccination induces a broad SIV-specific CD8+ T cell response.

Third, particular SIVgag epitopes, termed "supertopes", were universally targeted by the CD8+ T cells of every strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag-vaccinated rhesus macaque, with many additional SIVgag epitopes frequently targeted by the CD8+ T cells of over 40% of animals (*393*). This frequent CD8+ T cell targeting of particular SIVgag epitopes occurs despite the fact that rhesus macaques are outbred, and no MHC-Ia allele is shared among all vaccinated animals (*393*). This frequent, sometimes universal, CD8+ T cell targeting of SIV epitopes among MHC-disparate rhesus macaques is unique to strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIV vaccination.

These unique properties of the strain 68-1 RhCMV-induced SIV-specific CD8+ T cell response were partially explained by two key findings. First, RhCMV gene Rh189, which encodes a homologue of HCMV US11, inhibits canonical SIV-specific CD8+ T cell priming, as deletion of this gene results in induction of canonical SIVgag-specific CD8+ T cell responses in addition to the novel SIVgag-specific CD8+ T cell responses

elicited by strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag (*393*). Second, two-thirds of the strain 68-1 RhCMV-elicited SIVgag-specific CD8+ T cell responses are unconventionally restricted by MHC-II molecules (*393*). Unconventional restriction by MHC-II explains the novel targeting of a large subset of the strain 68-1 RhCMV-induced, SIV-specific CD8+ T cell response. Further, the demonstration that single MHC-II molecules could present multiple SIVgag peptides to MHC-II-restricted CD8+ T cells, and that MHC-II-restricted CD8+ T cells could recognize a single SIVgag peptide in the context of multiple MHC-II molecules explains the wide breadth and universal targeting, respectively, of the induced MHC-II-restricted SIV-specific CD8+ T cell response. However, these two findings did not explain the differential targeting of the remaining one-third of SIVgag-specific CD8+ T cell responses induced upon strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIV vector vaccination, which is the focus of the study presented here.

# <u>CHAPTER 2: Broadly targeted CD8+ T cell responses restricted by major</u> histocompatibility complex E

# I. The problem and scientific approach

The specific mechanism of viral control conferred by vaccination with strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIV vectors is unknown. As strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIV vector vaccination stringently controls viral replication and eventually clears the virus entirely in ~50% of vaccinees, defining the mechanism of control would be valuable to both HIV vaccine development and cure research. The demonstrated association of the peak vaccine-phase SIV-specific CD8+, not CD4+, T cell response magnitude with vaccine-mediated protection, coupled with the lack of vaccine-elicited SIV-directed antibody responses, suggests vaccine-elicited CD8+ T cells mediate viral control in strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVvaccinated RMs. While the  $T_{EM}$ -biased phenotype of the RhCMV-induced SIV-specific CD8+ T cell response supports the ability of these CD8+ T cells to intercept virus early and control viral replication, the distinct SIV epitope targeting exhibited by these cells, particularly their wide breadth, might also be critical to strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVmediated control. Further characterization of these strain 68-1 RhCMV-induced SIVspecific CD8+ T cell responses is required to delineate how such responses might influence the course of SIV infection and facilitate vaccine efficacy.

While the majority of SIVgag-specific CD8+ T cell responses induced by strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIV vector vaccination were found to be restricted by MHC-II molecules, the remaining one-third of SIVgag epitope-specific CD8+ T cell responses, including two "supertope" responses, were blocked by pan-MHC-I monoclonal antibody W6/32, and thus were MHC-I-dependent (393). An explanation for the differential targeting exhibited by these MHC-I-dependent SIV-specific CD8+ T cell responses required further investigation. In particular, while promiscuous presentation of a single peptide by multiple MHC-II molecules has been previously documented (725), such promiscuous presentation by MHC-Ia molecules has not. Thus, the generation of universal MHC-Irestricted CD8+ T cell responses by strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIV vectors was particularly enigmatic. As this subset of non-canonical MHC-I-dependent, SIV-specific CD8+ T cell responses is elicited by protective vaccination with strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIV vectors, we set out to characterize these cells. We hypothesized that the differential targeting of the strain 68-1 RhCMV-induced, MHC-I-dependent SIV-specific CD8+ T cell response results from unique patterns of MHC restriction.

In order to characterize the subset of MHC-I-dependent SIV-specific CD8+ T cell responses elicited by strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIV vector vaccination, we first attempted to identify restricting MHC-I molecules for these CD8+ T cell responses. As described above in section III, the particular MHC molecule capable of presenting the specific CD8+ T cell epitope and activating the CD8+ T cell, is known as the restricting MHC molecule for that particular CD8+ T cell response. We reasoned that priming of MHC-Idependent universal CD8+ T cell responses in every strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIV-vaccinated RM could potentially result from (1) promiscuous presentation of the same SIVgag peptide by multiple MHC-Ia molecules, or (2) presentation of SIVgag peptides by nonclassical MHC-I molecules that exhibit limited diversity among animals. Thus, we MHCtyped four strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag-vaccinated RMs whose SIV gag epitope-specific CD8+ T cell responses had been previously mapped (393), and made transfectant cell lines expressing single MHC-I molecules, both classical and non-classical, encoded by these RMs. We utilized this panel of single MHC-I-expressing transfectants to present SIVgag peptides to CD8+ T cells from these vaccinated RMs, in order to identify restricting molecules for these MHC-I-dependent SIVgag-specific CD8+ T cell responses.

The repertoire of epitope-specific CD8+ T cell responses induced upon infection or vaccination is largely determined by the ability of MHC molecules expressed in the animal to bind and present particular peptides. As such, knowledge of the restricting MHC allele for a particular CD8+ T cell response would likely explain the novel patterns of epitope targeting observed in strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIV-vaccinated rhesus macaques. Indeed, this was previously demonstrated with the identification of MHC-II molecules as

the restricting elements for a large subset of strain 68-1 RhCMV-induced, SIV-specific CD8+ T cells (*393*). Further, identification of the restricting MHC allele would facilitate further characterization of the CD8+ T cell response by allowing for creation of MHC tetramer reagents that can be used to isolate a pure population of epitope-specific T cells for functional assays and T-cell receptor sequencing, both of which could shed light on the contribution of such T cell responses to strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIV vector-mediated control. Thus, we believed our approach of identifying restricting MHC molecules would lay the foundation for future studies of these unique MHC-I-dependent SIV-specific CD8+ T cell responses and their role in efficacy against SIV.

# **II.** Author contributions

All the work presented here was performed by the author, with the following exceptions: MHC typing (Figure 2.1A) and epitope mapping (Figure 2.8). In some instances, experiments were performed with technical assistance from Scott G. Hansen and Colette M. Hughes (ICS stimulations), Katherine B. Hammond (MHC-I transfectants, blood processing), and Jason S. Reed (blood processing, Miltenyi sorting).

# **III. Materials and methods**

#### Vaccines

The construction, characterization, and administration of 1) the strain 68-1 RhCMV vectors expressing SIVgag and SIV5'-pol (amino acids 97-441), 2) the strain 68-1.2 RhCMV vector expressing SIVgag, and 3) the MVA vectors expressing SIVgag have been previously reported (*393*) (*450*) (*481*) (*701*).

## Macaques

A total of 74 purpose-bred male or female rhesus macaques (RM; Macaca mulatta) of Indian genetic background were used in the experiments reported here. These animals included 42 RM vaccinated with strain 68-1 RhCMV vectors expressing SIVgag, 9 RM vaccinated with strain 68-1.2 RhCMV/gag vectors, 11 vaccinated with SIVgagexpressing MVA/gag vaccines, and 12 unvaccinated RM with controlled SIVmac239 infection (plateau phase plasma viral loads < 10,000 copies/ml). All RM were used with the approval of the Oregon National Primate Research Center Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee, under the standards of the US National Institutes of Health Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals. RM used in these experiments were free of cercopithicine herpesvirus 1, D-type simian retrovirus, and simian T-lymphotrophic virus type 1. Selected RM were MHC-I- genotyped by deep sequencing, as previously described (726). Briefly, amplicons of Mamu class I sequences were generated via amplification of cDNA by PCR using high-fidelity PhusionTM polymerase (New England Biolabs) and a pair of universal MHC-I-specific primers with the following thermocycling conditions: 98°C for 3min, (98°C for 5s, 57°C for 1s, 72°C for 20s) for 23 cycles, and 72°C for 5min. Each PCR primer contained a unique 10 bp Multiplex Identifier (MID) tag along with an adaptor sequence for 454 SequencingTM (5'-GCCTCCCTCGCGCCATCAG-MID-GCTACGTGGACGACACG-3'; 5'-GCCTTGCCAGCCCGCTCAG-MID-TCGCTCTGGTTGTAGTAGC-3'). Resulting amplicons span 190bp of a highly polymorphic region within exon two. The primary cDNA-PCR products were purified using AMPure XP magnetic beads (Beckman Coulter Genomics). Emulsion PCR and pyrosequencing procedures were carried out with Genome Sequencer FLX instruments (Roche/454 Life Sciences) as per the

manufacturer's instructions. Data analysis was performed using a Labkey database in conjunction with Geneious-Pro® bioinformatics software (Biomatters Ltd.) for sequence assembly. Expression of Mamu-E\*02:04 and Mamu-E\*02:11 in Rh21826, Rh22034, Rh22436, and Rh22607 was confirmed by extracting RNA from PBMC using the AllPrep DNA/RNA Mini Kit (Qiagen) and amplifying full-length MHC-E by RT-PCR using primers that bind to the 5' and 3' untranslated regions (forward: 5'-

TCTAAGCTTCACGACTCCCGACTATAAAG-3'; reverse: 5'-

AGCGGCCGCTTGCACACAAGGCAGCTGTC-3') with the following thermocycling conditions: 50°C for 30min, 94°C for min, (94°C for 15s, 52°C for 30s, 68°C for 30s) for 40 cycles, 68°C for 5min(SuperScript III One-Step RT-PCR system, Invitrogen). Amplicons were cloned into pCEP4 with HindIII/NotI restriction sites, and Sanger sequenced. Cells from four Mauritian cynomolgus macaques were also utilized; MCMs were MHC-typed as previously described (*110*).

#### **Antigens and Antigen-Presenting Cells**

The synthesis of sequential 15-mer peptides (overlapping by 11 amino acids) comprising the SIVgag proteins, as well as specific 9-mer peptides within these proteins, was performed by Intavis AG, based on the SIVmac239 Gag sequence (Genbank Accession #M33262). All peptides are identified by the position of their inclusive amino acids from the n-terminus (e.g., Gagxx-yy). Consecutive 15-mers (as well as 9-mers within these 15mers) are also designated by their position starting from the n-terminal 15-mer [e.g., Gag1-15 (1) is 15-mer #1; Gag5-19 (2) is 15-mer #2, etc.]. Unless otherwise specified, these peptides were used in T cell assays at 2µg/ml. Autologous B-lymphoblastoid cell lines (BLCL) were generated by infecting RM PBMC with Herpesvirus papio, as

previously described (393). Mammalian expression vectors for Mamu class I molecules were generated by ligating each allele into pCEP4 KpnI/NotI or HindIII/NotI restriction sites. Plasmids were cloned in DH5a E. coli (Life Technologies), sequence confirmed, and electroporated into MHC-I-negative K562, 721.221, or RMA-S cells (727) using Nucleofector II/Kit C (Lonza). Transfectants were maintained on drug selection (Hygromycin B). HLA-E\*01:03-expressing K562 cells were generously provided by T. van Hall (described in (582)). All transfectants were routinely confirmed for surface expression of MHC-I by staining with pan-MHC-I antibody clone W6/32. Throughout use in T cell assays, RNA from MHC-I transfectants was extracted using the AllPrep DNA/RNA Mini Kit (Qiagen), amplified by RT-PCR using primer pairs flanking a highly polymorphic region within exon 2, and sequence confirmed by Sanger sequencing. Antigen-presenting cells were pulsed with peptides of interest at a final concentration of 10µM for 90 minutes then washed three times with warm PBS and once with warm R10 (RPMI 1640 supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum, L-glutamine, and antibiotic/mycotic) to remove unbound peptide before combining with freshly isolated PBMC at an effector:target ratio of 10:1. In order to stabilize MHC-E surface expression (728) (526), MHC-E transfectants were incubated at 27°C for >3 hours prior to use in assays and maintained at 27°C throughout peptide incubation until combined with effectors. Autologous SIV-infected target cells were generated by isolation of CD4+ T cells from PBMC with CD4 microbeads and LS columns (Miltenyi Biotec), activation with a combination of IL-2 (NIH AIDS Reagent Program), Staphylococcus enterotoxin B (Toxin Technologies Inc.), and anti-CD3 (NHP Reagent Resource), anti-CD28, and anti-CD49d mAbs (BD Biosciences), and spinoculation with sucrose-purified SIVmac239,

followed by 3-4 days of culture. Prior to use in T cell assays, SIV-infected target cells were purified using CD4 microbeads and LS columns (Miltenyi Biotec), as previously described (*399*). Infected target cell preparations were confirmed to be >95% CD4+ T cells prior to infection and >50% SIV-infected following enrichment and were used at an effector:target ratio of 40:1 (effectors: CD8 $\beta$ + T cells) or 8:1 (effectors: CD8+ T cell line effectors). In these experiments, uninfected, activated CD4+ T cells served as negative control APCs [uninfected targets from SIV+ RM were cultured with 400  $\mu$ M tenofovir (NIH AIDS Reagent Program)]. To assess surface bulk MHC-I and MHC-E expression, SIV-infected CD4+ T cells were generated as described above without post-infection purification and stained for surface MHC-I (clone W6/32), MHC-E (clone 4D12; antimouse IgG1 clone M1-14D12), CD3, and CD4, followed by intracellular SIV Gag.

# **T Cell Assays**

SIV-specific CD8+ T cell responses in peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) or CD8+ T cell lines were measured by flow cytometric ICS. Brief, PBMC were isolated from anticoagulant-treated whole blood by Ficoll density gradient centrifugation (GE Healthcare). Where indicated, CD8 $\beta$ + cells were isolated from PBMC via Miltenyi sorting using CD8 $\beta$ -PE and anti-PE beads. CD8+ T cell lines were generated as previously described. Briefly, PBMC was stimulated with peptide-pulsed, irradiated autologous BLCL weekly and cultured in R15 supplemented with 100 units/ml IL-2 (NIH AIDS Reagent Program). PBMC, isolated CD8 $\beta$ + T cells, or CD8+ T cell lines were incubated with antigen (peptides, peptide-pulsed antigen-presenting cells, or SIV-infected CD4+ T cells) and the co-stimulatory molecules CD28 and CD49d (BD Biosciences) for 1 hour, followed by addition of Brefeldin A (Sigma-Aldrich) for an additional 8 hour. Co-stimulation with no antigen, unpulsed antigen-presenting cells, or uninfected CD4+ T cells served as background controls. In restriction assays, peptide-pulsed MHC-I-negative parental cell lines served as additional negative controls. The MHC association (MHC-Ia, MHC-E, MHC-II) of a response was determined by pre-incubating isolated PBMC, antigen-presenting cells, or SIV-infected CD4+ cells for 1 hr at room temperature (prior to adding peptides or combining effector and target cells and incubating per the standard ICS assay) with the following blockers: 1) the pan anti-MHC-I mAb W6/32 (10mg/ml), 2) the MHC-II-blocking CLIP peptide (MHC-II-associated invariant chain, amino acids 89-100; 20µM), and 3) the MHC-E blocking VL9 peptide (VMAPRTLLL; 20µM), alone or in combination (blocking reagents were not washed, but remained throughout the assay). In some experiments, the Mamu-A1\*001:01-binding peptide CM9 (CTPYDINQM; 20µM), or the Mamu-A1\*002:01-binding peptide GY9 (GSENLKSLY; 20µM) were used as blocking controls. Stimulated cells were stained and analyzed as described below and previously described (393). Cells were washed with 1x PBS, surface stained for 30 minutes, washed with FACS (1X PBS supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum), fixed with 2% paraformaldehyde, permeabilized with saponin buffer, and stained intracellularly for 45 minutes. Sample collection was performed on an LSR-II instrument (BD Biosciences), and analysis was done using FlowJo software (Tree Star). In all analyses, gating on the light scatter signature of small lymphocytes was followed by progressive gating on the CD3+ population and then the CD4-/CD8+ T cell subset. For epitope deconvolution experiments (Figure 2.8), strict response criteria were used to prevent false positives. In these studies, a response to a given 15-mer peptide was considered positive if the frequency of events clustered as CD69+, TNF- $\alpha$ + and IFN- $\gamma$ +

was >0.05%, with background <0.01% in at least 2 independent assays. The classification of an individual peptide response as blocked was based on >90% inhibition by blockade relative to the isotype control. To be considered MHC-E-restricted by blocking, the individual peptide response must have been singly blocked by both anti-MHC-I clone W6/32 and MHC-E-binding peptide VL9, and not blocked by the CLIP peptide. To be considered MHC-II-restricted by blocking, the individual peptide response must have been blocked by the CLIP peptide and not blocked by either the anti-MHC-I clone W6/32 or the MHC-E-binding peptide VL9. To be considered MHC-Ia-restricted by blocking, the individual peptide response must have been blocked by the anti-MHC-I clone W6/32 and not blocked by either the MHC-E-binding peptide VL9 or the MHC-II-binding CLIP peptide. Responses that did not meet these criteria were considered indeterminate. Minimal independent epitope numbers were estimated from the positive responses identified by testing of consecutive 15mer peptides by the following criteria: single positive peptide of same restriction type = 1 independent epitope; 2 adjacent positive peptides of same restriction type = 1 independent epitope; 3 adjacent positive peptides of same restriction type = 2 independent epitopes; 4 adjacent positive peptides of same restriction type = 2 independent epitopes; and 5 adjacent positive peptides of same restriction type = 3 independent epitopes.

# Antibodies

The following conjugated antibodies were used in these studies: a) from BD Biosciences, L200 (CD4; AmCyan), SP34-2 (CD3; PacBlu), SK1 (CD8a; TruRed, AmCyan), 25723.11 (IFN-γ; APC, FITC), 6.7 (TNF; APC), MAb11 (TNF; Alexa700), b) from Beckman Coulter, L78 (CD69; PE), 2ST8.5H7 (CD8β; PE), Z199 (NKG2A/C or

CD159a/c; PE), c) from Biolegend, W6/32 (pan-MHC-I; PE), OKT-4 (CD4; PE-Cy7), B1 (TCRγ/δ; Alexa647), d) from Miltenyi Biotec, M-T466 (CD4; APC), e) from eBiosciences, M1-14D12 (mouse IgG1; PE-Cy7). The following unconjugated antibodies were used in these studies: a) from Advanced BioScience Laboratories, 4324 (SIV Gag p27), b) from LSBio, 4D12 (HLA-E), c) W6/32 (pan-MHC-I). LIVE/DEAD Fixable Yellow Dead Cell Stain (Life Technologies) was used to assess cell viability.

#### **IV. Results**

# A. Non-classical MHC-E molecules restrict SIVgag-specific, MHC-I-blocked CD8+ T cell responses in strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag-vaccinated rhesus macaques

In order to identify restricting MHC-I molecules for the subset of MHC-Idependent CD8+ T cell responses mapped in strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag-vaccinated rhesus macaques, we conducted previously described MHC restriction assays (*393*) using a panel of single MHC-I-expressing cell lines to present SIVgag peptides to CD8+ T cells. Four strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag-vaccinated rhesus macaques were typed for expression of MHC-I transcripts by deep sequencing (Figure 2.1A). We expressed a subset of identified MHC-I molecules in MHC-I-negative 721.221 or K562 cells, which resulted in detectable MHC-I surface expression (Figure 2.1B). To identify the restricting MHC-I molecule of a particular SIVgag-specific CD8+ T cell response, single MHC-Iexpressing transfectants were pulsed with SIVgag 15-mer, washed to remove excess peptide, and combined with peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) from a strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag-vaccinated rhesus macaque (Figure 2.2A). CD8+ T cell reactivity was determined by intracellular cytokine staining (ICS) for cytokines TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$ (Figure 2.2B). In these assays, we found that supertope-specific CD8+ T cells did not

respond to SIVgag<sub>273-287</sub>(69) or SIVgag<sub>477-491</sub>(120) pulsed onto classical MHC-Ia molecules expressed in the macaque, but rather recognized peptide presented by nonclassical MHC-E molecules, Mamu-E\*02:04 and Mamu-E\*02:11 (Figure 2.3). We extended this restriction analysis to an additional 10 SIVgag 15-mer-specific CD8+ T cell responses present in the four studied macaques, and found that, in every case, SIVgagspecific CD8+ T cells responded to peptide pulsed onto Mamu-E\*02:04 and Mamu-E\*02:11 (Figure 2.4). In contrast, most of the tested SIVgag-specific CD8+ T cell responses did not respond to peptide-pulsed transfectants expressing classical MHC-Ia molecules expressed in the macaque (Figure 2.4). Three SIVgag-specific CD8+ T cell responses, directed at  $Gag_{69-83}(18)$ ,  $Gag_{129-143}(33)$ , and  $Gag_{197-211}(50)$ , were able to recognize peptide presented by classical MHC-Ia molecules Mamu-A1\*001:01 or Mamu-A1\*002:01(Figure 2.4). However, the presence of CD8+ T cell responses directed at these SIVgag peptides did not correlate with expression of Mamu-A1\*001:01 or Mamu-A1\*002:01 in vaccinated rhesus macaques (Figure 2.5), suggesting recognition of Gag<sub>69</sub>- $_{83}(18)$ , Gag<sub>129-143</sub>(33), and Gag<sub>197-211</sub>(50) in the context of these classical MHC-Ia molecules likely reflects cross-recognition rather than priming by Mamu-A1\*001:01- or Mamu-A1\*002:01-presented peptide. Thus, MHC-I restriction analysis identified twelve MHC-E-restricted, SIVgag-specific CD8+ T cell responses in strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag-vaccinated rhesus macaques.

In order to confirm SIVgag-specific CD8+ T cell responses were restricted by MHC-E, we attempted to specifically block MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cell responses using MHC-E-binding peptide VMAPRTLLL (VL9). Peptide VL9 is derived from positions 3-11 of the leader sequence of a subset of MHC-Ia molecules and canonically

binds HLA-E with high affinity to regulate NK cells (529) (530) (528) (532) (526) (534) (535). Antigen-presenting cells were pre-incubated with VL9 or irrelevant Mamu-A1\*001:01- or Mamu-A1\*002:01-binding peptide prior to addition of the SIVgag 15-mer of interest in the MHC-I restriction assay described above. Pre-incubation of autologous BLCL or Mamu-E transfectants with VL9 blocked the SIVgag<sub>273-287</sub>(69)- and SIVgag<sub>477</sub>. 491(120)-specific supertope CD8+ T cell responses, while pre-incubation with irrelevant peptide did not (Figure 2.6A). We confirmed VL9 blocking was specific for MHC-E by titrating the concentration of VL9 blocking peptide pre-incubated on antigen-presenting cells, which resulted in a dose-dependent increase in blocking of the SIVgag<sub>477-491</sub>(120)specific, MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cell response to both peptide-pulsed autologous BLCL or Mamu-E\*02:11 transfectant with increasing concentrations of VL9 blocking (Figure 2.6B). In contrast, even high concentrations of VL9 peptide blocking did not affect recognition by SIVgag-specific, A1\*001:01-restricted CD8+ T cells (Figure 2.6B). Thus, pre-incubation of antigen-presenting cells with VL9 specifically blocks MHC-Erestricted CD8+ T cells.

Extending these blocking studies to the other ten identified MHC-E-restricted, SIVgag-specific CD8+ T cell responses demonstrated that pre-incubation of MHC-E transfectants with VL9 blocked all twelve identified MHC-E-restricted, SIVgag-specific CD8+ T cell responses, while pre-incubation with irrelevant peptide did not affect SIVgag peptide recognition (Figure 2.7). In order to discern the proportion of strain 68-1 RhCMV-induced CD8+ T cell responses restricted by MHC-E, we utilized MHC-Eblocking peptide VL9 as well as pan-MHC-I antibody W6/32 and MHC-II-blocking peptide CLIP to restriction-classify every previously mapped SIVgag-specific CD8+ T

cell response in a total of 42 animals (Figure 2.8 and (729)). PBMC were pre-incubated with blocking reagents for one hour prior to adding SIVgag 15-mer peptides in the ICS assay setup, as previously described (393). Every strain 68-1 RhCMV-elicited, SIVgag 15-mer-specific CD8+ T cell response previously shown to be blocked by pan-MHC-I antibody W6/32 (393) was also blocked by VL9, while CD8+ T cell responses previously classified as MHC-II-restricted were impervious to VL9 blockade (Figure 2.8). This pattern of blocking was distinct from that of MVA/gag-vaccinated, SIV-infected, and strain 68-1.2 RhCMV/SIVgag-vaccinated rhesus macaques, where nearly all of the SIVgag-specific CD8+ T cell responses were blocked by pan-MHC-I antibody W6/32, but not VL9 (Figure 2.8), suggesting these animals mounted a predominantly classically MHC-Ia-restricted CD8+ T cell response against SIV. Thus, every MHC-I-dependent, SIVgag-specific CD8+ T cell response elicited in strain 68-1 RhCMV vaccinees was found to be restricted by MHC-E, with a median of 20 distinct MHC-E-restricted, SIVgag-specific CD8+ T cell responses elicited in each animal (729). This strain 68-1 RhCMV-induced pattern of MHC restriction, with two distinct subsets of CD8+ T cells restricted by either MHC-E or MHC-II, was consistent with all tested vaccine inserts, including SIVpol and Mycobacterium tuberculosis antigens RpfA, Ag85B, and ESAT-6, with a similar density of ~4 MHC-E-restricted epitopes per 100 amino acids of protein length (729). Thus, strain 68-1 RhCMV consistently elicits a large subset of MHC-Erestricted CD8+ T cell responses, regardless of the nature of inserted antigen.

# B. SIVgag-specific, MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells targeting supertopes Gag69 and Gag120 are conventional CD8α/β T cells
Previous reports HLA-E-restricted CD8+ T cells demonstrated TCRγ/δ usage or expression of inhibitory NK cell receptors (730) (731) (732) (733) (734) (588) (589) (558) (559). Thus, we investigated whether strain 68-1 RhCMV-induced MHC-Erestricted CD8+ T cells belonged to one of these unconventional T cell subsets. Particularly relevant to the studies described here, a previous report found HCMVelicited, HLA-E-restricted NK-CTLs express inhibitory NK cell receptor CD94/NKG2A, possess a CD8βdim, CD45RA+, CD28-, CD27-, CCR7-, and CD56+ phenotype, and produce IFN- $\gamma$  but not IL-2 upon stimulation (559). MHC-I-dependent SIVgag-specific CD8+ T cells from strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag vaccinees (demonstrated here to be MHC-E-restricted) were previously shown to be predominantly effector memory in phenotype (CD28-, CCR7-) and to produce IFN- $\gamma$  but not substantial amounts of IL-2 upon stimulation (701) (450) (393). Thus, we conducted additional phenotypic analyses of these cells. Backgating on CD3+ T cells responding to either SIVgag<sub>273-287</sub>(69)- and SIVgag<sub>477-491</sub>(120)-pulsed autologous BLCL in bulk PBMC revealed these T cells were uniformly CD4-, CD8 $\alpha/\beta$ +, TCR $\gamma/\delta$ -, and NKG2A/C- (Figure 2.9). Thus, supertopespecific MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells in strain 68-1 RhCMV vaccinees do not belong to the NK-CTL subset observed in HCMV infected patients. Furthermore, this analysis suggests that T cell recognition of SIVgag peptide bound to MHC-E does not occur through an unconventional TCR $\gamma/\delta$  receptor nor through HLA-E-binding NK cell receptors NKG2A or C. Thus, strain 68-1 RhCMV-elicited MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells likely recognize peptide in the context of a conventional TCR $\alpha/\beta$ . Unfortunately, we could not find a commercially available rhesus macaque cross-reactive TCR $\alpha/\beta$ specific antibody to verify this hypothesis. These data suggest that MHC-E-restricted,

SIVgag-specific CD8+ T cells in strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag-vaccinated RMs are conventional CD8 $\alpha/\beta$  T cells.

## C. SIVgag-specific, MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells recognize naturally processed antigen on the surface of SIV-infected CD4+ T cells

MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells from strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag vaccinees respond to SIV peptides *in vitro*, but these T cells must recognize naturally processed antigen on the surface of SIV-infected cells in order to participate in immune responses against the virus and contribute to *in vivo* control. Previous analysis demonstrated that both MHC-I-dependent and MHC-II-dependent SIVgag-specific CD8+ T cells from strain 68-1 RhCMV vaccinees recognize SIV-infected CD4+ T cells (393). As every MHC-I-dependent SIVgag-specific CD8+ T cell response was demonstrated to be restricted by MHC-E based on the restriction and blocking assays shown above (Figures 2.3, 2.4, 2.6, 2.7, 2.8), we assessed the ability of MHC-I-dependent SIVgag-specific CD8+ T cells to recognize SIV-infected CD4+ T cells in an MHC-E-dependent manner. CD4+ cells were isolated from strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag-vaccinated rhesus macaque PBMC, activated, infected with SIVmac239, and enriched for SIV-infected cells by isolating cells with down-regulated surface CD4, a consequence of productive HIV/SIV infection mediated by Nef (735) (736) (737). In order to assess recognition by the distinct restriction-classified subsets of strain 68-1 RhCMV-elicited CD8+ T cells, we incubated SIV-infected CD4+ T cell targets with various blocking reagents, including pan-MHC-Iblocking antibody W6/32, MHC-II-blocking peptide CLIP, and MHC-E-blocking peptide VL9, prior to combining targets with autologous CD8 $\beta$ + effector cells from PBMC (Figure 2.10A). CD8+ T cell reactivity to SIV infected CD4+ T cell targets was

determined by ICS detection of TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$  production. CD8+ T cells from strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag vaccinees responded to autologous SIV-infected CD4+ T cell targets, but not uninfected counterparts. Single blockade with W6/32, CLIP, or VL9 failed to completely block the CD8+ T cell response to SIV-infected CD4+ T cell targets (Figure 2.10B,C) However, SIV-specific CD8+ T cell recognition was completely blocked by a combination of W6/32 and CLIP, effectively inhibiting both the MHC-Idependent and MHC-II-dependent SIVgag-specific CD8+ T cell subsets (Figure 2.10B,C). Strain 68-1 RhCMV-elicited SIV-specific CD8+ T cell recognition was also completely blocked by a combination of VL9 and CLIP in the absence of W6/32 (Figure 2.10B,C), demonstrating that every MHC-I-dependent CD8+ T cell response displaying reactivity to SIV-infected CD4+ T cell targets recognized antigen in the context of MHC-E molecules. Further, a CD8+ T cell line specific for supertope SIVgag<sub>477-491</sub>(120) also responded autologous SIV-infected targets, and this recognition was inhibited by single blockade with either pan-MHC-I-blocking antibody W6/32 or MHC-E-blocking peptide VL9 (Figure 2.11A,C). In addition, the SIVgag<sub>477-491</sub>(120)-specific CD8+ T cell line, which was derived from Rh22607, also recognized heterologous SIV-infected targets from Rh21826 and Rh22034 in a VL9-dependent manner (Figure 2.11D). In contrast, addition of W6/32, either alone or in combination with CLIP, completely blocked recognition of autologous SIV-infected targets by CD8+ T cells from MVA/gagvaccinated, SIV-infected, or strain 68-1.2 RhCMV/gag-vaccinated rhesus macaques, while dual VL9 and CLIP blockade failed to block recognition (Figure 2.10B,C). This pattern of blockade was consistent with restriction analysis of SIVgag-specific CD8+ T cells from these cohorts (Figure 2.8), confirming a predominantly classical MHC-Ia-

restricted CD8+ T cell response to SIV in these animals. Further, recognition of SIVinfected targets by a SIVgag<sub>181-189</sub>(CM9)-specific, Mamu-A1\*001:01-restricted CD8+ T cell line derived from an SIV-infected rhesus macaque was blocked by W6/32, but not VL9, further confirming VL9 to be a specific inhibitor of MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cell responses (Figure 2.11B,C). Collectively, these data demonstrate that strain 68-1 RhCMV-induced, SIVgag-specific, MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells recognize naturally processed antigen presented on the surface of SIV infected CD4+ T cells, confirming that at least some of the identified MHC-E-binding SIVgag peptides, including supertope SIVgag<sub>477-491</sub>(120), are processed and presented on MHC-E during SIV infection.

## D. SIV infection increases expression of MHC-E on the surface of rhesus macaque CD4+ T cells

Both HIV and SIV encode the accessory protein Nef, which selectively downregulates classical MHC-Ia molecule expression on the cell surface (782) (332) (331), a mechanism employed by the virus to evade CD8+ T cell responses (330) (738) (190) (191) (192) (193). HLA-E and Mamu-E molecules are resistant to Nef-mediated downregulation as a result of amino acid differences in the cytoplasmic tails of MHC-E molecules compared to Nef-susceptible MHC-Ia molecules (739) (332). In fact, one report found that HLA-E is up-regulated on the surface of CD4+ T cells infected with HIV *in vitro* (549). Thus, we assessed changes in Mamu-E surface expression during *in vitro* SIV infection. CD4+ cells were isolated from 16 rhesus macaques, activated, infected with SIVmac239, and surface-stained for bulk MHC-I or MHC-E at Day4 postinfection (Figure 2.12A). As expected, bulk MHC-I levels were decreased on the surface of productively SIV-infected CD4+ T cells (SIVgag p27+, CD4low) compared to uninfected cells in the same well (SIVgag27-, CD4high,Figure 2.12A). In contrast, surface MHC-E levels were increased on SIV-infected CD4+ T cells (Figure 2.12A). The HLA-E monoclonal antibody clone 4D12 used in these experiments was confirmed to be specific for MHC-E and cross-reactive with Mamu-E by staining a panel of single MHC-I transfectants (Figure 2.12B). Thus, SIV infection up-regulates MHC-E on the surface of rhesus macaque CD4+ T cells, in contrast to SIV-induced down-regulation of bulk MHC-I molecules, suggesting that SIV-specific CD8+ T cells restricted by MHC-E may be particularly effective against SIV-infected CD4+ T cells.

# E. Primate MHC-E molecules exhibit functional conservation in the presentation of peptide to primed CD8+ T cells

Human HLA-E molecules exhibit reduced sequence diversity compared to Mamu-E molecules of rhesus macaques (*521*), as described above in section III. Thus, we sought to investigate whether sequence differences among HLA-E and Mamu-E molecules resulted in functional differences in each molecule's ability to present peptide antigens to CD8+ T cells. Using Mamu-E\*02:04 and Mamu-E\*02:11 transfectants in MHC-I restriction assays described above, we demonstrated that strain 68-1 RhCMVelicited CD8+ T cells from rhesus macaques lacking Mamu-E\*02:11 (Rh22034 and Rh22436) could nevertheless recognize SIVgag peptide presented on Mamu-E\*02:11 (Figure 2.4). To extend these studies, we employed two new transfectants singly expressing Mamu-E\*02:20 and HLA-E\*01:03 (Figure 2.1B, Figure 2.13A), two MHC-E molecules that differ most significantly from the Mamu-E\*02:04 and Mamu-E\*02:11 molecules previously demonstrated to present SIVgag peptides to CD8+ T cells in strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag-vaccianted rhesus macaques (Figures 1.1, 1.2, 2.3, 2.4). In

particular, Mamu-E\*02:20 differs at 5 amino acid positions predicted to line the peptidebinding groove of MHC-E, while nearly all other MHC-E molecules in humans and rhesus macaques are completely conserved at these positions (Figures 1.1, 1.2). All twelve Mamu-E-restricted CD8+ T cell responses tested reacted to SIVgag 15-mer presented on Mamu-E\*02:20 and HLA-E\*01:03 in addition to Mamu-E\*02:04 and Mamu-E\*02:11 (Figure 2.13B), regardless of whether the rhesus macaque expressed the particular allele (Figure 2.1A). Further, when the optimal 9-mer SIVgag peptides (mapping in (393) and (729)) were pulsed onto single MHC-E transfectants at decreasing concentrations and combined with PBMC from each of four strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgagvaccinated rhesus macaques, CD8+ T cells equivalently recognized peptide presented by HLA-E\*01:03, Mamu-E\*02:04, and Mamu-E\*02:20 transfectants at peptide doses ranging from 10µM to 1 nM (Figure 2.14A, B). In some cases, Mamu-E\*02:04 and Mamu-E\*02:20 were capable of presenting peptide at a 10-fold lower dose (0.1 nM) compared to HLA-E\*01:03 (Figure 2.14A, B). Dose response of CD8+ T cells to peptide-pulsed BLCL reflected the results found with peptide-pulsed MHC-E transfectants (Figure 2.14C).

Mauritian cynomolgus macaques (MCMs) represent an alternative non-human primate model of SIV infection and a potential alternative model to study CMV-elicited CD8+ T cells (*740*). As described above, MCMs possess simplified MHC genetics; the majority of MCM express MHC alleles from seven haplotypes, termed M1 through M7. MHC-Ia and MHC-II alleles expressed from these seven haplotypes have been fully defined (*100*) (*741*). Sixty-four percent of MCMs carry one of the 4 most common MHC haplotypes (M1, M2, M3, and M4), and our collaborators recently identified MHC-E

molecules expressed from these haplotypes by deep sequencing full-length MHC-E cDNAs from haplotype homozygous MCMs (Figure 1.1). In order to test Mafa-E for the ability to present SIVgag peptides to Mamu-E-restricted CD8+ T cells, we made a transfectant expressing the Mafa-E molecule encoded by the M1 haplotype (Figure 2.15A). When pulsed with a pool of the 11 MHC-E-binding optimal 9-mer SIVgag peptides, the Mafa-E transfectant, and not MHC-I-negative parental cell line K562, was able to stimulate CD8+ T cells from four strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag-vaccinated rhesus macaques (Figure 2.15B). Further, strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag-elicited, MHC-Erestricted CD8+ T cells from rhesus macaques were able to recognize SIV-infected CD4+ T cells derived from Mauritian cynomolgus macaques expressing a variety of MHC haplotypes as well as SIV-infected CD4+ T cells derived from heterologous rhesus macaques (Figure 2.15C, D). Collectively, these data suggest that Mamu-E-restricted CD8+ T cells can cross-recognize peptide presented by Mamu-E molecules not expressed in the rhesus macaque as well as peptide presented by MHC-E of other primate species, including HLA-E and Mafa-E. Further, rhesus, human, and Mauritian cynomolgus macaque MHC-E molecules, even those with amino acid differences in predicted peptidecontact positions, effectively present at least some of the same peptides to SIVgagspecific CD8+ T cells.



**Figure 2.1:** Validation of transfected cell lines expressing single MHC-I molecules corresponding to MHC-I molecules expressed by 4 strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag-vaccinated RM. (A) 4 strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag-vaccinated RMs were Mamu-A, -B, and -E typed by Roche/454 pyrosequencing. Green highlight indicates alleles selected for MHC-I transfectant generation. Where multiple alleles are listed, a transfectant expressing the bolded allele was produced. (B) One MHC-Ia (top) or MHC-Ib (bottom) allele was transfected into a parental (MHC-I negative) cell line (.221 cells or K562 cells) and stained with pan-MHC-I monoclonal mAb W6/32. MHC-I-expressing B-lymphoblastoid cells (BLCL) served as a positive control, while the MHC-I negative parental cell lines were used as negative controls.



**Figure 2.2:** Schematic of MHC-I restriction assay. (A) Single MHC-I-expressing transfectants are incubated with SIVgag peptide at a final concentration of 10 $\mu$ M for 90 minutes, washed three times with 1X PBS and once with R10 to remove unbound peptide, and combined with freshly isolated peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) from a strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag-vaccinated rhesus macaque. Positive CD8+ T cell recognition of SIVgag peptide in the context of the particular MHC-I molecule expressed by the transfectant results in induction of cytokines TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$ . (B) Brefeldin A (BFA) is added one hour after combining antigen-presenting cells and PBMC, trapping cytokines in the endoplasmic reticulum for detection by intracellular cytokine staining. Eight hours after addition of BFA, cells are stained for surface expression of CD4 and CD8 $\alpha$ , permeabilized with saponin, stained for CD3, TNF- $\alpha$ , and IFN- $\gamma$ ,

and collected on a BD LSR-II instrument. Plots displaying TNF- $\alpha$  versus IFN- $\gamma$  are gated for CD8+ T cells using the following progressive gating strategy: lymphocytes, singlets, APC-Cy7-negative cells (dump channel), CD3+ cells, and CD4-CD8 $\alpha$ + cells.



**Figure 2.3: MHC-E molecules restrict SIVgag supertope-specific CD8+ T cell responses.** PBMC from representative strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag-vaccinated rhesus macaques were combined with SIVgag peptide pulsed onto autologous BLCL (positive control), MHC-I-negative cell lines (.221 and K562; negative controls), or the indicated transfectants expressing single MHC-I molecules encoded by the animal (MHC typing shown in Figure 2.1A; schematic shown in Figure 2.2A). CD8+ T cell recognition was determined by detection of TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$  in flow cytometric ICS, using the gating strategy shown in Figure 2.2B. Representative flow plots display MHC-I restriction analysis of **(A)** SIVgag<sub>273-287</sub>(69)-specific or **(B)** SIVgag<sub>477-491</sub>(120)-specific CD8+ T cell responses in Rh21826 and Rh22034, respectively. Results shown are representative of those obtained with PBMC from 4 strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag-vaccinated rhesus macaques, see Figure 2.4 for comprehensive restriction analysis.

Α			.221	K562	2								
	autol	logous	Parental lin	e Parenta	line								
	B	LCL	(MHC-I neg	g) (MHC-L	neg) A1*(	002:01 A	3*13:02	B*01:01	B*030:	05 E*02	2:04 E	*02:11	F*01:01
2 2 2 2 2 2	0.16	6.59 0	.08 0.	04 0.08	0.07 0.06	0.10 0.17	7 0.04	0.13 0.0	09.0.15	0.07 0.18	3.39 0.16	2.58 0.1	12 0.06
N S	92.19	1.06 9	9.42 0.	46 99.24	0.61 99.07	0.77 99.0	0.71	99.13 0.0	66 99.29	0.49 94.80	1.63 94.34	2.92 99	0.48
	0 10 <sup>2</sup>	10 <sup>3</sup> 10 <sup>4</sup> 10 <sup>9</sup>	0 10 <sup>2</sup> 10 <sup>3</sup> 10 <sup>4</sup>	10 <sup>8</sup> 0 10 <sup>2</sup> 10 <sup>3</sup>	10 <sup>4</sup> 10 <sup>8</sup> 0 10 <sup>2</sup>	10 <sup>3</sup> 10 <sup>4</sup> 10 <sup>8</sup> 0 10	<sup>2</sup> 10 <sup>3</sup> 10 <sup>4</sup> 10 <sup>8</sup>	0 10 <sup>2</sup> 10 <sup>3</sup> 10 <sup>4</sup>	10 <sup>0</sup> 0 10 <sup>2</sup> 10 <sup>3</sup> 10	4 10 <sup>8</sup> 0 10 <sup>2</sup> 10 <sup>3</sup>	10 <sup>4</sup> 10 <sup>8</sup> 0 10 <sup>2</sup>	10 <sup>3</sup> 10 <sup>4</sup> 10 <sup>8</sup> 0	10 <sup>2</sup> 10 <sup>3</sup> 10 <sup>4</sup> 10 <sup>6</sup>
в	INF-a-												
Rh2	1826	Gag <sub>61-75</sub> (16)	Gag <sub>69-83</sub> (18)	Gag <sub>89-103</sub> (23)	Gag <sub>117-131</sub> (30)	Gag <sub>129-143</sub> (33)	Gag <sub>197-211</sub> (50)	Gag <sub>257-271</sub> (65)	Gag <sub>273-287</sub> (69)	Gag <sub>385-399</sub> (97)	Gag <sub>433-447</sub> (109)	Gag <sub>473-487</sub> (119)	Gag <sub>477-491</sub> (120)
BL	.CL		-	+	-	+	+	+	+	-	-	+	+
2	21	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
K5	01:01	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
A1*0	02:01		-	-		+	+	-	-	-	-	-	-
A3*1	3:02	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
B*02	29:01	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
B*03	2.04		-	-		-	-	-	- +		-	-	-
E*0	2:11	-	-	+	-	+	+	+	+	-	-	+	+
F*0	1:01	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	<b>r</b>												
Rh2	2034	Gag <sub>61-75</sub> (16)	Gag <sub>69-83</sub> (18)	Gag <sub>89-103</sub> (23)	Gag <sub>117-131</sub> (30)	Gag <sub>129-143</sub> (33)	Gag <sub>197-211</sub> (50)	Gag <sub>257-271</sub> (65)	Gag <sub>273-287</sub> (69)	Gag <sub>385-399</sub> (97)	Gag <sub>433-447</sub> (109)	Gag <sub>473-487</sub> (119)	Gag <sub>477-491</sub> (120)
2	.CL 21	+	+	+		-	-	+	+	+	+	-	+
K	62	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
A1*0	02:01	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
A3*1	13:02	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
B*03	30:05		-	-		-		-	-	-	-	-	-
E*0	2:04	+	+	+	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	-	+
E*0	2:11	+	+	+	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	-	+
F-0	1:01	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Rh2	2436	Gag <sub>61-75</sub> (16)	Gag <sub>69.83</sub> (18)	Gag <sub>89-103</sub> (23)	Gag117-131 (30)	Gag <sub>129-143</sub> (33)	Gag <sub>197-211</sub> (50)	Gag <sub>257,271</sub> (65)	Gag <sub>273-287</sub> (69)	Gag <sub>385-399</sub> (97)	Gag <sub>433-447</sub> (109)	Gag <sub>473-487</sub> (119)	Gag <sub>477-491</sub> (120)
BL	.CL	-	-	-	+	-	+	+	+	-	+	+	+
2	21	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
K5	62	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
A1 0	13:02		-	-		-		-	-	-	-	-	-
B*04	18:01		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
E*0	2:04	-	-	-	+	-	+	+	+	-	+	+	+
E*0	2:11 1·01		-	-	+	-	+	+	+		+	+	+
Rh2	2607	Gag <sub>61-75</sub> (16)	Gag <sub>69-83</sub> (18)	Gag <sub>89-103</sub> (23)	Gag <sub>117-131</sub> (30)	Gag <sub>129-143</sub> (33)	Gag <sub>197-211</sub> (50)	Gag <sub>257-271</sub> (65)	Gag <sub>273-287</sub> (69)	Gag <sub>385-399</sub> (97)	Gag <sub>433-447</sub> (109)	Gag <sub>473-487</sub> (119)	Gag <sub>477-491</sub> (120)
BL	.CL	-	+	+	-	+	-	+	+	+	+	+	+
2	21	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
A1*0	01:01	-	+	-				-			-	-	
A1*0	02:01	-	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
A3*1	3:02	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
B*00	01:01 0:05		<u> </u>	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
E*0	2:04	-	+	+	-	+	-	+	+	+	+	+	+
E*0	2:11	-	+	+	-	+	-	+	+	+	+	+	+
F*0	1:01	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Figure 2.4: Comprehensive analysis of the MHC-Ia and MHC-Ib specificity of twelve SIVgag 15-mer peptide-specific CD8+ T cell responses in four strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag-vaccinated rhesus macaques. (A) Flow cytometric ICS plots showing a representative MHC restriction analysis of the SIVgag<sub>433-447</sub>(109)-specific CD8+ T cell response in Rh22034. PBMC were combined with SIVgag 15-mer peptide pulsed onto autologous BLCL (positive control), MHC-I-negative cell lines (.221 and K562; negative controls), or the indicated transfectants expressing single MHC-I molecules encoded by the animal (MHC typing shown in Figure 2.1A; assay schematic shown in Figure 2.2A). CD8+ T cell recognition was determined by detection of TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$  in flow cytometric ICS, using the gating strategy shown in Figure 2.2B. (B) Table shows comprehensive MHC-I restriction analysis of twelve SIVgag 15-mer peptidespecific CD8+ T cell responses in PBMC of 4 indicated RM (MHC-typing shown in Figure 2.1A), as described in (A). Combinations that resulted in CD8+ T cell responses above background (antigen-

presenting cells with no peptide) are indicated by + signs (blue boxes); combinations that did not result in CD8+ T cell responses above background are indicated by - signs (open boxes). MHC-I alleles expressed in each RM are indicated in red; non-expressed alleles are shown in white (except expression of Mamu-F\*01:01 is unknown).

Macaque:	A1*001:01	A1*002:01	Gag <sub>69-83</sub> (18)	Gag <sub>129-143</sub> (33)	Gag <sub>197-211</sub> (50)	
Rh22607	+	+	+	+	-	
Rh21826	+	+	-	+	+	
Rh25545	+	-	-	-	-	
Rh25565	+	-	+	-	+	
Rh22034	-	+	+	-	-	
Rh28819	-	+	+	-	-	
Rh28808	-	+	-	+	+	
Rh22436	-	+	-	-	+	
Rh24194	-	+	-	-	+	
Rh27517	-	-	+	+	-	
Rh22063	-	-	+	-	-	
Rh27473	-	-	+	-	-	
Rh27715	-	-	+	-	-	
Rh29483	-	-	+	-	-	
Rh25222	-	-	-	+	+	
Rh29208	-	-	-	+	+	
Rh29212	-	-	-	+	+	
Rh22624	-	-	-	+	-	
Rh29482	-	-	-	-	+	
Rh21756	-	-	-	-	_	

**Figure 2.5:** Classical MHC-Ia allomorphs capable of presenting SIVgag peptides to strain 68-1 **RhCMV/SIVgag-elicited CD8+ T cells are not the restricting MHC alleles for these T cell responses.** Twenty strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag-vaccinated RM were MHC-typed for the presence of Mamu-A1\*001:01 and Mamu-A1\*002:01 and tested for CD8+ T cell responses specific for SIVgag<sub>69-83</sub>(18), SIVgag<sub>129-143</sub>(33), and SIVgag<sub>197-211</sub>(50). As shown in Figure 2.4, Mamu-A1\*001:01 can present SIVgag<sub>69</sub>. <sup>83</sup>(18) and SIVgag<sub>197-211</sub>(50), and Mamu-A1\*002:01 can present SIVgag<sub>129-143</sub>(33). The presence of Mamu-A1\*001:01 or Mamu-A1\*002:01 in the rhesus macaque does not track with the detection of CD8+ T cells specific for these three peptides.



Figure 2.6: MHC-E-binding peptide VL9 specifically blocks MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cell responses targeting SIVgag supertopes. (A, B) Flow cytometric ICS plots on left show a representative blocking experiment. The indicated antigen-presenting cells, either autologous BLCL or MHC-E transfectants, were pre-incubated with MHC-E-binding peptide VMAPRTLLL (VL9) or irrelevant A1\*002:01-binding peptide SIVgag<sub>71-79</sub>(GY9) prior to addition of SIVgag 15-mer peptide and combination with PBMC from a strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag-vaccinated rhesus macaque, as described in Figure 2.2A. CD8+ T cell recognition was determined by detection of TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$  in flow cytometric ICS, using the gating strategy shown in Figure 2.2B. Representative flow plots display blocking of (A)  $SIVgag_{273}$ . <sub>287</sub>(69)-specific and **(B)** SIVgag<sub>477-491</sub>(120)-specific CD8+ T cell responses in Rh21826. Bar graphs on the right show results from four rhesus macaques response (mean $\pm$ SEM TNF- $\alpha$ +IFN- $\gamma$ + CD8+ T cell response frequencies, normalized to the response observed with no peptide blocking). (C) Verification of VL9 blocking specificity for MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cell responses. The indicated antigen-presenting cells were pre-incubated with increasing concentrations of VL9 prior to pulse with the SIVgag<sub>477-491</sub>(120) 15-mer or optimal Mamu-A1\*001:01-presented SIVgag<sub>181-189</sub>(CM9) or SIVtat<sub>25-35</sub>(SL8) peptides. These antigenpresenting cells were then incubated with the indicated effectors for flow cytometric ICS analysis, as described in (A, B). Data represent the percentage of TNF- $\alpha$ +IFN- $\gamma$ + CD8+ T cells, normalized to the response observed with no peptide blocking. Rh22436 is a strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag-vaccinated RM, while Rh27002 is SIV-infected. Note that increasing concentrations of VL9 peptide progressively block the

ability of MHC-E-expressing antigen-presenting cells to activate SIVgag<sub>477-491</sub>(120)-specific CD8+ T cells from a strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag-vaccinated RM, but have no effect on conventionally MHC-Iarestricted CD8+ T cells specific for SIVgag<sub>181-189</sub>(CM9) or SIVtat<sub>28-35</sub>(SL8).



**Figure 2.7: MHC-E-binding peptide VL9 specifically blocks ten identified MHC-E-restricted CD8+** T **cell responses.** Flow cytometric ICS plots show representative blocking experiments. MHC-E transfectants were pre-incubated with MHC-E-binding peptide VL9 or control peptide prior to addition of SIVgag 15mer peptide and combination with PBMC from a strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag-vaccinated rhesus macaque, as described in Figure 2.2A. CD8+ T cell recognition was determined by detection of TNF-α and IFN-γ in flow cytometric ICS, using the gating strategy shown in Figure 2.2B. The following MHC-E transfectants were utilized: Mamu-E\*02:04 for the SIVgag<sub>69-83</sub>(18), SIVgag<sub>89-103</sub>(23), SIVgag<sub>385-399</sub>(97), and SIVgag<sub>433-447</sub>(109) responses and Mamu-E\*02:11 for the SIVgag<sub>61-75</sub>(16), SIVgag<sub>117-131</sub>(30), SIVgag<sub>129-143</sub>(33), SIVgag<sub>197-211</sub>(50), SIVgag<sub>257-271</sub>(65), SIVgag<sub>473-487</sub>(119), and SIVgag<sub>471-491</sub>(120) responses. Control peptides consisted of either Mamu-A1\*002:01-binding peptide SIVgag<sub>71-79</sub>(GY9) or Mamu-A1\*001:01-binding peptide SIVgag<sub>181-189</sub>(CM9). Along with Figure 2.6, these data indicate that the VL9 peptide blocks CD8+ T cell recognition of twelve MHC-E-presented 15-mer peptide epitopes.

	мнс	restri	ction				
Strain 68-1 RhCMV/gag vector-vaccinated:	a	E					
Rh21756	0 0 0 0 0	13 15 14 17 14	21 24 24 26 21 21				
MVA/gag vector-vaccinated:							
Rh27086	20 22 15 15 23 20	0 0 0 0 0	0 0 0 0 0				
SIVmac239-infected (plateau-phase plasma viral load <10,000 copies/mL):							
Rh23836	18 18 16 20 12 14	0 0 0 0 0	1 0 0 0 0				
Strain 68-1,2 RhCMV/gag vector-vaccinated:							
Rh26468	15 27 16 28 27 18	0 0 0 0 0	0 0 0 0 0				

MHC-la restricted MHC-E restricted MHC-II restricted Indeterminate

**Figure 2.8: Every MHC-I-dependent CD8+ T cell response elicited by strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag vaccination is restricted by MHC-E.** CD8+ T cell responses to SIVgag were epitope-mapped using flow cytometric ICS to detect recognition of 125 consecutive 15-mer SIVgag peptides (with 11 amino acid overlap) in rhesus macaques vaccinated with the indicated SIVgag-expressing viral vectors or infected with SIVmac239. Peptides resulting in specific CD8+ T cell responses are indicated by a box, with the color of the box designating MHC restriction as determined by blocking with pan-MHC-I mAb W6/32, MHC-E-binding peptide VL9, or MHC-II-binding peptide CLIP. MHC-Ia-, MHC-E-, and MHC-II-restriction was based on >90% response blocking by W6/32 alone (red), W6/32 alone and VL9 alone (green), and CLIP alone (blue), respectively, with responses not meeting these criteria labeled indeterminate (purple). The minimal number of independent epitopes in each MHC restriction category is shown at right for each rhesus macaque. Analysis of additional RMs (strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag n=36, MVA/gag n=5, SIVmac239-infected n=6, strain 68-1.2 RhCMV/SIVgag n = 3) are shown in the supplementary material of *Hansen & Wu* et al. (729).



**Figure 2.9:** Strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag-elicited, MHC-E-restricted, SIVgag supertope-specific CD8+ T cells exhibit a conventional CD8a/β+, TCRγ/δ-, NKG2A/C- phenotype. (A) Representative flow cytometric analysis of the phenotype of SIVgag supertope-specific, MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells elicited by strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag vaccination. PBMC from Rh21826 were stimulated with autologous BLCL pulsed with either the SIVgag<sub>273-287</sub>(69) or SIVgag<sub>477-491</sub>(120) MHC-E-presented supertopes, and responding vs. non-responding CD3+ lymphocytes (responding defined as TNF-α+IFN-γ+; gate shown in left plot) were cell surface phenotyped by flow cytometric ICS. Responding cells and non-responding cells within the CD3+ T cell gate colored blue and black, respectively; the percentage of cells

within each population falling within the red gated regions of each plot are indicated in the same colors. Note that supertope-responding cells (blue) are almost entirely CD8 $\alpha/\beta+$ , TCR $\gamma/\delta-$ , and NKG2A/Cnegative. **(B)** Summary of the phenotypic analysis of MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells responding to autologous BLCL pulsed with SIVgag<sub>273-287</sub>(69) or SIVgag<sub>477-491</sub>(120) in four strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgagvaccinated rhesus macaques. The graph shows the percentages of responding CD3+ T cells (TNF- $\alpha$ +IFN- $\gamma$ +) that possess the indicated phenotypes.



Figure 2.10: MHC-E-restricted, strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag-elicited CD8+ T cells recognize SIVinfected CD4+ T cells. (A) Schematic of SIV recognition assay is shown. CD4+ cells are isolated from PBMC, activated, and infected with SIVmac239 for 3-4 days to generate targets. SIV-infected targets are enriched for SIV-infected cells by isolation of CD4-negative cells, a consequence of SIV infection. Flow plots at top show uninfected targets and SIV-infected targets prior to and after enrichment (gated on live, CD3+ cells). Uninfected targets or SIV-infected, post-sort CD4-negative targets are combined with freshly isolated, autologous CD8 $\beta$ + cells from PBMC. CD8+ T cell recognition is determined by detection of TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$  in flow cytometric ICS, using the gating strategy shown in Figure 2.2B with the addition of a live cell gate. (B) Flow cytometric ICS plots show representative SIV-infected CD4+ T cell recognition by  $CD8\beta$ + T cells isolated from PBMC of rhesus macaques vaccinated with the indicated SIVgag-expressing viral vectors or infected with SIV. Plots show CD86+ T cell recognition of autologous SIV-infected CD4+ T cells alone (no block), in the presence of anti-MHC-I mAb W/632 plus CLIP, or in the presence of VL9 plus CLIP. All plots gated on live, CD3+, CD8+ cells. Bar graph on right shows SIV recognition results from 4-6 rhesus macaques per group. Data represent the percentage of responding TNF- $\alpha$  + and/or IFN- $\gamma$ + CD8+ T cells (gated as shown in B), normalized to the response observed with no peptide blocking (mean±SEM).



**Figure 2.11:** An SIVgag supertope-specific CD8+ T cell line recognizes SIV-infected CD4+ T cells in an MHC-E-dependent manner. (A, B) Flow cytometric ICS plots showing peptide recognition by (A) an MHC-E-restricted, SIVgag<sub>477.491</sub>(120)-specific CD8+ T cell line and (B) a Mamu-A1\*001-restricted, SIVgag<sub>181-189</sub>(CM9)-specific CD8+ T cell line. All plots gated on live, CD3+, CD8+ cells. (C) Flow cytometric ICS plots showing SIV-infected CD4+ T cell recognition by CD8+ T cell lines. Both the MHC-E-restricted, SIVgag<sub>477.491</sub>(120)-specific and the Mamu-A1\*001-restricted, SIVgag<sub>181-189</sub>(CM9)-specific CD8+ T cell lines were used as effectors in SIV recognition, as described in Figure 2.10A. Plots show CD8+ T cell recognition of Rh22607 (Mamu-A1\*001+) SIV-infected CD4+ T cells alone (no block) or in the presence of blocking with anti-MHC-I mAb W/632, MHC-E-binding peptide VL9, or MHC-II-binding peptide CLIP. All plots gated on live, CD3+, CD8+ cells. (D) Flow cytometric ICS plots showing MHC-Erestricted, SIVgag<sub>477.491</sub>(120)-specific CD8+ T cell line recognition of heterologous SIV-infected CD4+ T cells derived from Rh21826 and Rh22034, as described in C.



Figure 2.12: MHC-E is up-regulated on the surface of SIV-infected CD4+ T cells. (A, B, C) CD4+ cells were isolated from PBMC, activated, and infected with SIVmac239 for 4 days. (A) Flow cytometric plots showing gating scheme for uninfected (SIVgag p27-/CD4high) versus productively SIV-infected cells (SIVgag p27+/CD4low) in the same culture. Plots gated on live, CD3+ cells. (B, C) Surface expression of bulk MHC-I (B), as determined by staining with mAb W6/32, or MHC-E (C), as determined by staining with mAb 4D12, is shown on productively SIV-infected and uninfected CD4+ T cells in the same cultures, gating scheme shown in A. Left panels show representative flow cytometric histograms. Right panels depict the mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) of bulk MHC-I or MHC-E-specific staining on the surface of in vitro SIV-infected versus uninfected CD4+ T cells derived from a total of 16 unrelated RM. P values were determined by the paired Student's T test. (D) Validation of the specificity of MHC-E-specific mAb 4D12. Mamu-Ia and Mamu-E were expressed the murine cell line RMA-S, which expresses human  $\beta_2$ microglubulin. Histograms showing surface staining of single rhesus macaque MHC-Ia or MHC-Ib transfectants by the pan-MHC-I mAb W6/32 (top row) versus the MHC-E-specific mAb 4D12 (bottom row). Rhesus macaque BLCL were used as a positive control, whereas the parental RMA-S cell line was used as a negative control (light gray histogram). Note the restriction of 4D12 reactivity to the Mamu-E transfectants.



Figure 2.13: Strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag-elicited CD8+ T cells recognize peptide across rhesus macaque and human MHC-E molecules. Flow cytometric ICS plots showing CD8+ T cell recognition of peptide presented by various human and rhesus MHC-E molecules. PBMC from strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag-vaccinated rhesus macaques [Rh21826: SIVgag<sub>89-103</sub>(23), SIVgag<sub>129-143</sub>(33), SIVgag<sub>257</sub>. <sub>271</sub>(65), SIVgag<sub>473-487</sub>(119); Rh22034: SIVgag<sub>61-75</sub>(16), SIVgag<sub>69-83</sub>(18), SIVgag<sub>271-287</sub>(69), SIVgag<sub>385-<sub>399</sub>(97), SIVgag<sub>477-491</sub>(120); Rh22436: SIVgag<sub>197-211</sub>(30), SIVgag<sub>197-211</sub>(50)] were combined with SIVgag 15-mer peptide pulsed onto autologous BLCL (positive control), MHC-I-negative cell lines K562 (negative control), or the indicated MHC-E transfectants. CD8+ T cell recognition was determined by detection of TNF-α and IFN-γ in flow cytometric ICS, using the gating strategy shown in Figure 2.2B. Note that all twelve MHC-E-restricted 15-mer peptide epitopes studied can be effectively presented to strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag-elicited CD8+ T cells on all 3 tested Mamu-E molecules and on HLA-E. Since MHC-E expression levels on the different transfectants vary from each other and with each experiment, the strength</sub>

of the MHC-E-mediated presentation of these 15-mer peptides cannot be directly compared by relative response frequencies, but rather should be compared by endpoint dilution analysis of optimal 9-mer peptides for each epitope on the same transfectant (see Figure 2.14).



Figure 2.14: Dose response of MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells to optimal SIVgag 9-mers pulsed on human and RM MHC-E transfectants and BLCL. Autologous BLCL or MHC-E transfectants were pulsed with the indicated concentration of the optimal SIVgag 9-mer peptide epitopes, washed, and combined with PBMC from strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag-vaccinated rhesus macaques for flow cytometric

ICS detection of responding CD8+ T cells, as described in Figure 2.2A. In these experiments, numbers of MHC-E transfectants combined with PBMC were normalized based on surface MHC-E expression. (A) Representative flow cytometric ICS plots showing the dose response to SIVgag<sub>476-484</sub>(119) in Rh22607. (B, C) Graphs show the dose response for CD8+ T cells responding to the indicated pulsed antigen-presenting cells (mean±SEM TNF- $\alpha$ +IFN- $\gamma$ + CD8+ T cell response frequencies, normalized to the response observed with APCs pulsed with 10 $\mu$ M peptide dose). Each graph shows data from (B) 3-4 or (C) 1-2 strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag-vaccinated rhesus macaques.



Figure 2.15: Strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag-elicited CD8+ T cells recognize peptide presented by Mauritian cynomolgus macaque MHC-E molecules. (A) The Mafa-E allele expressed from the MCM MHC haplotype M1 was transfected into a parental MHC-I negative K562 cells and stained with pan-MHC-I monoclonal mAb W6/32. MHC-I-expressing B-lymphoblastoid cells (BLCL) served as a positive control, while parental MHC-I negative K562 cells served as a negative control. (B) Flow cytometric ICS plots showing CD8+ T cell recognition of peptide presented by Mafa-E. PBMC from 4 strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag-vaccinated rhesus macaques were combined with MHC-I negative parental cell line K562 (negative control) or Mafa-E transfectant from (A) pulsed with a pool of the 11 SIVgag MHC-E-binding minimals (listed in Figure 2.14C), as described in Figure 2.2A. CD8+ T cell recognition was determined by detection of TNF-α and IFN-γ in flow cytometric ICS, using the gating strategy shown in Figure 2.2B. (C) Representative flow cytometric ICS plots show SIV-infected CD4+ T cell recognition by CD8β+ T cells isolated from PBMC of a strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag-vaccinated rhesus macaque (Rh21826), performed

as outlined in Figure 2.10A. Plots show CD8 $\beta$ + T cell recognition of SIV-infected CD4+ T cells derived from the RM (autologous), from a heterologous RM, or from an MCM under the following conditions: alone (no block), in the presence of CLIP alone, in the presence of anti-MHC-I mAb W/632 plus CLIP, or in the presence of VL9 plus CLIP. All plots gated on live, CD3+, CD8+ cells. **(D)** Bar graph shows SIV recognition results from 2-4 strain 68-1/SIVgag-vaccinated rhesus macaques for each type of target. For MCM targets, SIV-infected CD4+ T cells from four different MCM carrying different MHC haplotypes (M1/M1, M2/M3, M1/M5, and M4/M4) were utilized. The following non-autologous combinations were performed: Rh21826 effectors vs. Rh22436 targets, Rh21826 effectors vs. MCM 32843 (M2/M3) targets, Rh22034 effectors vs. MCM 32845 (M1/M5) targets, Rh22436 effectors vs. Rh21826 targets, Rh22436 effectors vs. MCM 32848 (M4/M4) targets, and Rh22607 effectors vs. MCM 32851 (M1/M1). Data represent the percentage of responding TNF- $\alpha$ +IFN- $\gamma$ + CD8+ T cells (gated as shown in B), normalized to the response observed with no peptide blocking (mean±SEM).

### **CHAPTER 3: Discussion and future directions**

The restriction and blocking analyses performed in this study demonstrate that vaccination with strain 68-1 RhCMV vectors reliably elicits broadly targeted MHC-Erestricted CD8+ T cells. This is the first description of retrovirus-specific, MHC-Erestricted CD8+ T cells, and the first description of MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells in non-human primates. These results explain the unique epitope targeting of the strain 68-1 RhCMV-induced, MHC-I-dependent CD8+ T cell response, and support the existence of a novel mechanism of unconventional CD8+ T cell priming by RhCMV. As MHC-Erestricted CD8+ T cells recognize SIV-infected CD4+ T cells, these cells likely contribute to control of SIV replication observed in strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIV-vaccinated rhesus macaques. In addition, these data provide evidence for functional conservation of MHC-E in primates, including humans, and thus support the use of non-human primates models to study HLA-E-restricted CD8+ T cells. Harnessing pathogen-specific MHC-Erestricted CD8+ T cell responses might be near universally effective against other human infectious diseases, as MHC-E exhibits extremely limited polymorphism in humans and MHC-E surface expression must be preserved to evade NK cells. However, the mechanism of MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cell priming as well as the protective capacity of MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells against HIV/SIV and other pathogens require further investigation.

## I. MHC-E restriction explains the unique properties of the strain 68-1 RhCMVelicited, MHC-I-dependent CD8+ T cell response.

Restriction by MHC-E explains the non-canonical epitope targeting, universal epitope targeting, and wide breadth of the strain 68-1 RhCMV-induced, MHC-I-

dependent CD8+ T cell response. First, while the lack of canonical epitope targeting is attributed to Rh189 (US11), unconventional restriction by MHC-II (previously described) (393) and MHC-E (described here) explains the targeting of novel SIV epitopes by strain 68-1 RhCMV-induced CD8+ T cells. As the data presented here constitute the first description of retrovirus-specific, MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cell responses, no MHC-Ebinding CD8+ T cell epitopes of HIV or SIV had been previously described and, consequently, these MHC-E-binding epitopes represent entirely novel retroviral CD8+ T cell epitopes. Further, the nature of the MHC-E-binding epitopes identified here is distinct from that of previously described MHC-E ligands. Under normal cellular conditions, MHC-E binds a limited peptide repertoire composed almost exclusively of peptides derived from the leader sequences of other MHC-I molecules (599) (742) (797), which possess a defined MHC-E-binding motif including hydrophobic anchor residues at positions 2 and 9 (529). While MHC-E has been demonstrated to present select bacterial and viral peptides to CD8+ T cells in the context of infection and vaccination, this presentation is typically limited to peptides possessing a similar motif to MHC-E-binding leader peptides (see Table 1.1). However, the data shown here and accompanying data in (729) reveal MHC-E can bind a much broader repertoire of peptides that diverge from this canonical motif (Table 3.1). Not only are these novel MHC-E-binding epitopes presented in the context of strain 68-1 RhCMV vaccination, but we also demonstrated that at least some of these MHC-E-binding SIVgag peptides are naturally presented during SIV infection of both rhesus macaque and Mauritian cynomolgus macaque CD4+ T cells (Figures 2.10, 2.11, and 2.15). We, and others, have looked for MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells in SIV-infected rhesus macaques and HIV-infected patients, but have thus

far failed to identify such responses. Why CD8+ T cell responses are not normally engendered against these naturally presented MHC-E-binding SIVgag epitopes during SIV infection is unclear, and provides further evidence that strain 68-1 RhCMV vectors alter normal CD8+ T cell priming. This is discussed further in section II below.

Peptide	Sequence	Recognition frequency (%)
SIVgag <sub>65-73</sub> (16)	APLVPTGSE	44
SIVgag <sub>72-80</sub> (18)	SENLKSLYN	34
SIVgag <sub>92-100</sub> (23)	EKVKHTEEA	49
SIVgag <sub>120-128</sub> (30)	KTSRPTAPS	41
SIVgag <sub>132-140</sub> (33)	GGNYPVQQI	30
SIVgag <sub>201-209</sub> (50)	QIIRDIINE	56
SIVgag <sub>259-267</sub> (65)	VGNIYRRWI	51
SIVgag <sub>276-284</sub> (69)	RMYNPTNIL	100
SIVgag <sub>389-397</sub> (97)	KPIKCWNCG	61
SIVgag <sub>475-484</sub> (119)	LGKQQREKQ	71
SIVgag <sub>482-490</sub> (120)	EKQRESREK	100

**Table 3.1: CD8+ T cell recognition frequency of eleven MHC-E-binding SIVgag optimal 9-mers among strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag-vaccinated rhesus macaques.** Table displays the sequence and recognition frequency of eleven SIVgag optimal 9-mers targeted in strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag-vaccinated rhesus macaques (n=42). The mapping of these optimal 9-mers is shown in (729).

Second, restriction by a highly conserved MHC molecule such as MHC-E explains the observed universal targeting of the supertopes SIVgag<sub>273-287</sub>(69) and SIVgag<sub>477-491</sub>(120), as well as the frequent targeting of other epitopes (Table 3.1) (*729*). This high degree of sequence conservation among MHC-E molecules suggests that every rhesus macaque encodes an MHC-E molecule capable of presenting each of the two supertopes and priming a CD8+ T cell response. Indeed, we demonstrated that three Mamu-E molecules, including one molecule with differences in the predicted peptide contact residues (Mamu-E\*02:20), were each able to present all 12 MHC-E-binding SIVgag peptides to primed strain 68-1 RhCMV-induced CD8+ T cells (Figure 2.13), providing evidence that different Mamu-E molecules are able to present the same SIVgag peptides to CD8+ T cells. However, this prompts the question, why isn't every MHC-Erestricted CD8+ T cell response universal? Similar gaps in priming exist for HLA-Erestricted CD8+ T cell responses in humans, where the diversity of MHC-E is even more limited compared to rhesus macaques (561) (590) (583). The explanation for these observed gaps in priming is unknown, but may reflect differences in antigen presentation or differences in T-cell receptor clonotypes among animals. Another possible explanation is lack of detection of particular responses at the time of epitope identification experiments. Indeed, fluctuations in the magnitude of HCMV epitope-specific CD8+ T cell responses have been previously reported (674) (743). Finally, computed binding affinities suggest that SIVgag<sub>276-284</sub>(69) and SIVgag<sub>482-490</sub>(120) optimal 9-mers possess the highest binding affinities for MHC-E among the eleven MHC-E-binding SIVgag optimal 9-mers tested (729), so perhaps the universal priming of these two CD8+ T cell responses reflects their superior binding affinities, which may be significant for priming CD8+ T cell responses, but not for recognition by already-primed CD8+ T cells.

Third, and perhaps most surprisingly, the breadth of the strain 68-1 RhCMVinduced, MHC-I-dependent CD8+ T cell response is explained by the ability of MHC-E to present a highly varied peptide repertoire. A median of 20 SIVgag epitopes are targeted by MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells in strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag-vaccinated animals, in comparison to a median of 11 and 14.5 epitopes targeted by MHC-Iarestricted CD8+ T cells in conventionally vaccinated (MVA, Ad5, and DNA+IL-12) and

SIV-infected controller RMs, respectively (729). This breadth of MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cell responses is impressive considering there is a larger diversity of MHC-Ia molecules expressed in each individual RM compared to MHC-E molecules (Figure 2.1), and appears to result from the surprisingly diverse array of peptides bound by MHC-E molecules. Indeed, 87% of the overlapping 15-mer peptides spanning SIVgag were targeted by MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells in at least one of the 42 vaccinated RMs tested here. Of note, the breadth of antigen-specific MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells is accompanied by an even wider breadth of MHC-II-restricted CD8+ T cells specific for the same antigen that are also engendered in these vaccinated animals (*393*).

The unique patterns of epitope targeting and MHC-E/II-restriction of strain 68-1 RhCMV-induced CD8+ T cell response are not limited SIVgag, as animals vaccinated with vectors encoding SIV pol and *Mtb* antigens mount antigen-specific CD8+ T cell responses of similar breadth and restriction patterns, including universal targeting of supertopes (729). In addition, RhCMV IE1-directed CD8+ T cells in RhCMV seronegative rhesus macaques vaccinated with these vectors also share these characteristics (729), suggesting this unique strain 68-1 RhCMV-induced CD8+ T cell targeting also applies to RhCMV antigens in the vector backbone. The significance of these unique properties of strain 68-1 RhCMV-elicited CD8+ T cells is discussed below in section III.

#### **II. Priming of MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells by strain 68-1 RhCMV**

While there are descriptions of MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cell responses specific for epitopes of a few bacterial and viral pathogens, there are no descriptions of an MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cell response with the wide breadth and diverse nature of targeted

epitopes exhibited by the strain 68-1 RhCMV-induced CD8+ T cell response described here. Thus, the mechanism behind the consistent priming of broadly targeted MHC-Erestricted CD8+ T cell responses by strain 68-1 RhCMV vectors likely constitutes a novel mechanism of CD8+ T cell priming.

The confirmed presentation of SIVgag epitopes on MHC-E during SIV infection (Figures 2.10, 2.11 and 2.15) raises the question of why this antigen presentation fails to prime MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cell responses during SIV infection (Figure 2.8 and 2.10). This may reflect differences in the levels of antigen presented on MHC-E in SIVinfected cells versus RhCMV-infected cells, whereby levels of MHC-E antigen presentation on SIV-infected cells are insufficient to prime CD8+ T cell responses (744). Or, perhaps the relatively low level of MHC-E surface expression compared to that of MHC-Ia molecules normally favors priming of MHC-Ia-restricted CD8+ T cell responses in lieu of those restricted by MHC-E. In any case, this phenomenon suggests that priming of MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells is precluded under most conditions, but strain 68-1 RhCMV vectors are able to circumvent this preventative mechanism. Importantly, strain 68-1 RhCMV lacks expression of a number viral genes, including the Rh157.5 and Rh157.4 genes that encode RhCMV homologues of HCMV UL128 and UL130. Our collaborators previously demonstrated that natural RhCMV infection as well as vaccination with RhCMV/SIV vectors based on an alternative strain of RhCMV, called strain 68-1.2, which contains intact expression of Rh157.5 and Rh157.4, results in a CD8+ T cell response distinct from that of strain 68-1 (393). This response is more narrowly targeted, completely lacks supertope responses, and is entirely MHC-Idependent (393). In conjuction with the data presented here, our collaborators confirmed
that this shift in the CD8+ T cell response is mediated by Rh157.5 and Rh157.4 (729). Vaccination with strain 68-1.2 RhCMV/SIVgag in which Rh157.5 (UL128) and Rh157.4 (UL130) have been specifically deleted completely alters the induced CD8+ T cell response to one similar to strain 68-1 vaccination, characterized by wide breadth, supertope targeting, and MHC-E- and MHC-II-restricted responses. Conversely, vaccination with strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag in which expression of Rh157.5 (UL128) and Rh157.4 (UL130) has been repaired, results in a CD8+ T cell response indistinguishable from that of strain 68-1.2, a more narrowly targeted response lacking supertope-specific and MHC-E- and MHC-II-restricted CD8+ T cells. Thus, generation of both MHC-E- and MHC-II-restricted CD8+ T cell responses by RhCMV vectors only occurs in the absence of Rh157.5 (UL128) and Rh157.4 (UL130), suggesting RhCMV naturally primes unconventional CD8+ T cell responses in the absence of interference by these two viral proteins. RhCMV 157.5 and Rh157.4 genes encode homologues of HCMV UL128 and UL130, two components of the pentameric receptor complex involved in CMV infection of non-fibroblast cells (721). In addition, HCMV UL128 exhibits chemokine activity (745). The specific functions of RhCMV 157.5 (UL128) and Rh157.4 (UL130) that prevent the generation of MHC-E- and MHC-II-restricted CD8+ T cells require further investigation, but could involve either of these previously ascribed functions or an entirely novel function.

The inherent features of RhCMV infection that promote priming of unconventional MHC-E- and MHC-II-restricted CD8+ T cell responses are also incompletely characterized. However, studies of RhCMV vector vaccination and CMV biology to-date implicate particular aspects of CMV infection in MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cell priming. First, the ability of RhCMV 157.5 (UL128) and Rh157.4 (UL130), members of a receptor complex that facilitates RhCMV entry, to abolish priming of these unconventional CD8+ T cell responses suggests virus cellular tropism may be critical. Of note, pathogens that elicit HLA-E-restricted CD8+ T cells are all able to infect myeloidlineage cells (746) (557) (747) (748) (749) (750) (751). Thus, the ability of strain 68-1 RhCMV to infect myeloid-lineage cells may be critical in priming MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells. Second, both HCMV and RhCMV encode viral mimics of canonical MHC-E-binding VL9 peptides within the UL40 and Rh67 genes, respectively, a strategy employed to up-regulate surface MHC-E/VL9 and evade NK cell recognition (807) (567) (566) (546) (548). The demonstrated interplay between this virally encoded VL9 peptide and MHC-E suggests this peptide may also facilitate MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cell priming. High levels of Rh67-derived VL9 peptide might stabilize MHC-E molecules and facilitate delivery to a compartment rich in RhCMV vector-encoded peptides where peptide exchange could occur, effectively enhancing antigen presentation on MHC-E and allowing for priming of MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells. Indeed, in conjunction with the data presented here, our collaborators provided evidence that HLA-E maintains a relatively rigid peptide binding groove that remains open in the absence of peptide (729). Thus, such a peptide exchange mechanism, similar to that observed with CLIP and MHC-II in endosomal compartments (752), is plausible for VL9 and MHC-E. In further support of this, in macrophages, the majority of newly synthesized HLA-E molecules traffic to intracellular autophagy-lysosomal vesicles, rather than the cell surface (753). A third aspect of CMV infection that might allow for priming of MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells is the formation of the virion assembly complex. HCMV-encoded microRNAs facilitate

restructuring of the Golgi apparatus and formation of a virion assembly compartment, or VAC, in the cytoplasm of infected cells (*644*) (*643*) (*754*) (*755*), where host proteins from the Golgi, ER, and endosomes accumulate along with viral glycoproteins and tegument proteins (*644*) (*754*) (*756*). Thus, VAC formation might facilitate interactions between MHC-E present in secretory networks and RhCMV vector-encoded antigenic peptides, and ultimately enable the priming of antigen-specific MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cell responses.

The idea of peptide-loading on MHC-E in the VAC is similar to the demonstrated loading of *Mtb*-derived peptides on HLA-E in the *Mtb* phagosome, where HLA-E and other members of the antigen presentation machinery are enriched following *Mtb* infection (600). In this case, newly synthesized HLA-E is not required from presentation of *Mtb* antigen on HLA-E and thus peptide loading in the phagosome likely involves recycled HLA-E. This type of presentation appears to facilitate priming of MHC-Erestricted CD8+ T cell responses, as a large number of *Mtb*-specific CD8+ T cell responses are restricted by MHC-E (Table 1.1) (583) (583) (585). This supports a hypothesis that the nature of antigen presentation normally precludes the generation of MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells, but infection with certain pathogens, such as Mtb and CMV, alters the antigen presentation environment in a way that facilitates priming of MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells. Additional evidence in support of this hypothesis are reports of defects in antigen presentation machinery shifting the repertoire of peptides presented by Qa-1b and HLA-E from predominantly MHC-I leader sequence-derived peptides to diverse, alternative peptide ligands that do not uniformly exhibit the canonical MHC-E-binding motif (757) (582) (543) (544). Indeed, the CD8+ T cell response to

TAP-deficient tumors is dominated by Qa-1b-restricted CD8+ T cells, and vaccination with DCs expressing the potent TAP inhibitor UL49.5 from Bovine herpesvirus-1 protect mice against TAP-deficient tumor challenge (796) (757) (758). Further, in addition to *Mtb* and CMV, many other pathogens demonstrated to elicit MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells have been reported to alter MHC-I antigen presentation in some way (759) (760) (761) (762) (763) (568) (569) (570, 696) (571) (572) (573) (764). For example, Epstein Barr virus encodes a TAP inhibitor, BNFL2a, and a mediator of MHC-I degradation, BILF1 (765) (766), similar to CMV. Thus, modifications in antigen presentation created upon infection may allow for the generation of MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cell responses.

Interesting, the CMV-derived VL9 peptide can be targeted by HLA-E-restricted CD8+ T cells in cases where the infecting strain of HCMV encodes a VL9 peptide that does not match any of the VL9 leader-derived peptides encoded by the individual's endogenous MHC-I alleles. The existence of UL40-derived VL9-specific HLA-E-restricted CD8+ T cell responses in some HCMV-infected patients in face of UL128/UL130 expression by wildtype HCMV is contrary to the ability of RhCMV UL128/UL130 homologues to abolish priming of MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells in rhesus macaques. One explanation is that priming of this particular VL9-specific MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cell response occurs by a different mechanism than that of RhCMV-elicited CD8+ T cells, specifically one that is unaffected by expression of UL128/130. Another explanation is UL128/UL130 of HCMV function differently than Rh157.5 and Rh157.4 of RhCMV, and thus the UL128/UL130 homologue-mediated inhibition of MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cell priming observed in rhesus macaques does not occur in HCMV infection of humans. However, this seems unlikely as priming of additional

HCMV-specific, HLA-E-restricted CD8+ T cell responses would be expected, but no other HLA-E-restricted CD8+ T cell responses have been identified in HCMV infection. In rhesus macaques, the most common MHC-I leader sequence-derived VL9 peptide is VMAPRTLLL, and this is identical to the peptide encoded by Rh67 of RhCMV strain 68-1. Thus, most, if not all, rhesus macaques encode a self VL9 peptide identical to the Rh67 VL9 mimic, and accordingly none of the rhesus macaques studied here mounted a response to VMAPRTLLL during blocking experiments. Infection of rhesus macaques with RhCMV strains possessing mutated Rh67-derived VL9 sequences, mismatched from the endogenous MHC-I-derived leader sequences in the animal, would assess whether VL9-directed MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cell responses can be engendered in the presence of UL128/UL130 homologues in rhesus macaques, as occurs in humans. However, this particular VL9-targeted CD8+ T cell response may be a unique case of MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cell priming distinct from that of broadly targeted MHC-Erestricted CD8+ T cell priming distinct from that of broadly targeted MHC-Erestricted CD8+ T cell responses engendered by strain 68-1 RhCMV.

## III. The role of MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells in strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVmediated control of SIV

While there is no direct evidence that MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells, specifically, confer control of SIV replication, these responses constitute one of only two CD8+ T cell subsets elicited by protective strain 68-1 RhCMV vector vaccination, the other being MHC-II-restricted CD8+ T cell responses. SIV challenge of rhesus macaques vaccinated with strain 68-1.2 RhCMV vectors, which do not elicit MHC-E- or MHC-IIrestricted CD8+ T cell responses, will assess whether unconventional restriction of SIVspecific CD8+ T cells is critical to viral control conferred by strain 68-1 RhCMV vector vaccination. If unconventionally restricted CD8+ T cells are critical for SIV control after challenge, further experiments will be necessary to assess whether both subsets of unconventionally restricted CD8+ T cells (MHC-E-restricted and MHC-II-restricted), or just one, are critical in this regard. In addition, the mechanism by which this unconventional restriction endows RhCMV vector-elicited CD8+ T cell responses with the ability to control SIV replication would require further investigation.

Key to elucidating the mechanism of protection mediated by unconventionally restricted CD8+ T cells is a comprehensive characterization of the function and antiviral capacity of strain 68-1 RhCMV-elicited, SIV-specific CD8+ T cells. Our collaborators previously demonstrated that the MHC-I-dependent SIVgag supertope-specific CD8+ T cells, shown here to be MHC-E-restricted, are polyfunctional upon activation, producing cytokines TNF- $\alpha$ , IFN- $\gamma$ , and MIP-1 $\beta$  and externalizing CD107 (393). However, additional functions of strain 68-1 RhCMV-induced MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells, such as direct cytolytic action against SIV-infected cells, require further investigation. Most previously identified pathogen-specific HLA-E-restricted CD8+ T cells, such as those specific for Salmonella enterica, Mycobacterium tuberculosis, Epstein Barr virus, HCMV, and HCV, have been demonstrated to lyse target cells, secrete IFN-y and granzyme B, and proliferate upon antigen recognition (563) (556) (558) (794) (557) (583) (558) (559) (560) (561). However, recent characterization of Mtb-specific HLA-Erestricted CD8+ T cell clones show that some clones lack the ability to produce IFN-y and instead possess an alternative, regulatory phenotype. While the former cytolytic phenotype is probably more applicable to strain 68-1 RhCMV-induced MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells due to their consistent induction of IFN-y and externalization of CD107

upon antigen recognition, alternative functions of these cells cannot be excluded at this time.

While comprehensive characterization of the function and antiviral capacity of strain 68-1 RhCMV-induced MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells has not been performed, an SIV-specific immune response mediated by MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells offers potential advantages over that mediated by classical MHC-Ia-restricted CD8+ T cells. First, MHC-E is resistant to Nef-mediated downregulation by both HIV and SIV, in contrast to other MHC-Ia molecules (767) (332); this selectivity protects HIV- and SIVinfected cells from NK cell-mediated lysis (739) (549). Thus, while Nef-mediated MHC-I-downregulation prevents some MHC-Ia-restricted CD8+ T cell responses from effectively lysing SIV-infected cells (330) (738) (190) (191) (192) (193), MHC-Erestricted CD8+ T cells would be unaffected. In fact, MHC-E is actually up-regulated on the surface of both HIV- and SIV-infected CD4+ T cells (549) (Figure 2.12). Shang et al. also observed up-regulation of MHC-E in the female reproductive tract of rhesus macaques within 24 hours of intra-vaginal SIV infection, particularly in Langerhaans cells, myeloid-derived dendritic cells, within the genital epithelium (768). While the mechanism behind surface MHC-E up-regulation during HIV/SIV infection is unclear, it may reflect the ability of MHC-E-binding HIV/SIV epitopes to stabilize MHC-E surface expression, a phenomenon observed for VL9 and other MHC-E binding peptides, see section III. However, Shang *et al.* also found up-regulation of MHC-E mRNA transcripts, suggesting a separate, perhaps additional, mechanism of MHC-E up-regulation (768). In any case, up-regulation of MHC-E on the surface of SIV-infected cells suggests that

MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells may be superior to MHC-Ia-restricted CD8+ T cells in recognizing infected cells.

A second potential advantage lies in the ability of MHC-E to present a broad range of diverse epitopes. Strain 68-1 RhCMV-elicited MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cell responses exhibit wide breadth, targeting an average of 4 epitopes per 100 amino acids of SIVgag and 4.4 epitopes per 100 amino acids of SIV 5' pol (729). Indeed, the breadth of MHC-E-restricted, SIVgag-specific CD8+ T cell responses alone exceeds the breadth of the entire SIV-gag-specific CD8+ T cell response engendered upon SIV infection or Ad5-, MVA-, or DNA+IL-12-based vaccination (729). Wider breadth of epitope targeting increases the probability that mounted virus-specific CD8+ T cell responses will target conserved epitopes, where escape would incur at a high fitness cost to the virus, as well as target at least one epitope of diverse viral strains, including quasispecies that develop within the infected individual. Furthermore, breadth hampers the ability of the virus to escape the mounted immune response. Indeed, broadly targeted HIV-specific CD8+ T cell responses are associated with control of viral replication (403) (411) (412). In order to exert antiviral functions and contribute to in vivo virus control, antigen-specific CD8+ T cells must recognize naturally processed antigen on the surface of SIV-infected cells. While it is unknown whether the entire breadth of MHC-E-binding epitopes described here are naturally presented during SIV infection, we provide evidence here that at least some are (Figures 2.10, 2.11, 2.15), and thus at least some of the MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cell responses identified here are capable of participating in immune responses against the virus.

Importantly, while all strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIV-vaccinated rhesus macaques develop broadly targeted MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cell responses, only ~50% control SIV upon challenge. This disparity suggests that, while MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells might be critical to control of SIV, restriction by MHC-E alone is insufficient to confer vaccine efficacy. As viruses like HIV/SIV replicate and establish systemic infection very quickly, immediate control of viral replication by effector memory CD8+ T cell responses is likely critical in RhCMV vector efficacy. Thus, stochastic variations in the magnitude and breadth of effector memory CD8+ T cell responses in the tissues at the time of challenge might plausibly explain the lack of universal efficacy among rhesus macaques. In addition, a unique feature of RhCMV vector-mediated control is eventual viral clearance, constituting the first report of vaccine-mediated clearance of HIV or SIV. This clearance likely partially reflects the ability of RhCMV-elicited CD8+ T cells to quickly control viral replication and reduce seeding of viral reservoirs, as these reservoirs are smaller in RhCMV/SIV controller animals compared to animals on ART (450). However, does clearance also reflect a unique ability of RhCMV-elicited CD8+ T cells to eliminate viral reservoirs, and, if so, is unconventional restriction by MHC-E and MHC-II paramount to this ability? One intriguing possibility lies in the immense breadth of the strain 68-1 RhCMV-induced, SIV-specific CD8+ T cell response, mediated by both MHC-E- and MHC-II-restricted CD8+ T cells. In HIV-1 infection, the vast majority of latent viruses carry CTL escape mutations that they acquire early in infection, which renders them resistant to later elimination. Perhaps, the strain 68-1 RhCMV-induced, SIV-specific CD8+ T cell responses are so broad and effective, that the virus is unable to escape or is only able to escape a small subset of responses. In this case, the persistent

RhCMV-induced, SIV-specific CD8+ T cell responses might be sufficiently broad as to recognize and eliminate any reactivated latent virus.

# **IV. MHC-E** peptide presentation to CD8+ T cells is conserved across primate species

In this study, we demonstrate the ability of MHC-E from three primate species, human, rhesus macaque, and Mauritian cynomolgus macaque, to present a shared peptide repertoire to MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells (Figures 2.3, 2.4, 2.13, 2.14, 2.15). Recognition by MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells reflects two properties of MHC-E: (1) the ability to bind peptide ligand, and (2) the ability of MHC-E/peptide complexes to ligate T-cell receptors on MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells. While MHC-E molecules might differ in their affinities for a particular peptide, peptide dose titration experiments demonstrate near identical presentation of 9-mer optimal peptides by Mamu-E\*02:04, Mamu-E\*02:20, and HLA-E\*01:03 from peptide doses of 10uM to 1nM (Figure 2.14). Mamu-E\*02:04 and Mamu-E\*02:20 appear able to effectively present some SIVgag 9mers at a 10-fold lower dose (0.1nM) compared to HLA-E\*01:03, suggesting a slightly enhanced binding affinity of these MHC-E molecules for particular 9-mers. Among MHC-E molecules, Mamu-E\*02:20 and HLA-E\*01:03 are most divergent from other MHC-E molecules in the  $\alpha 1$  and  $\alpha 2$  regions that form the peptide-binding groove (Figure 1.2). In particular, while most human, rhesus, and MCM MHC-E molecules are completely conserved at the predicted peptide-binding residues, Mamu-E\*02:20 differs at 5 of these positions (Figure 1.1). However, Mamu-E\*02:20 and HLA-E\*01:03 are each able to present the same peptides as Mamu-E\*02:04 and Mamu-E\*02:11.

There may be subtle differences in the ability of various MHC-E molecules to prime CD8+ T cell responses to the same peptide. However, if this were the case, we might expect a broader MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cell response in rhesus macaques expressing a greater number of MHC-E molecules. This trend is not observed in the subset of strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag-vaccinated rhesus macaques that have been typed for MHC-E molecules (Figure 3.1).

MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cell recognition of peptide across MHC-E molecules not only indicates functional conservation among primate MHC-E molecules in the presentation of peptides, but also demonstrates the promiscuity of strain 68-1 RhCMVelicited, Mamu-E-restricted CD8+ T cells. For example, the only MHC-E molecule expressed in Rh22436 is Mamu-E\*02:04 (Figure 2.1), and consequently all of its MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cell responses must be primed by Mamu-E\*02:04-presented epitopes. However, these Mamu-E\*02:04-restricted CD8+ T cells recognize SIVgag peptides presented by Mamu-E\*02:11, Mamu-E\*02:20, HLA-E\*01:03, Mafa-E expressed from the M1 MCM haplotype, and at least one Mafa-E expressed from the M4 MCM haplotype (Figures 2.4, 2.13, 2.14, and 2.15). This suggests that the T-cell receptors of strain 68-1 RhCMV-induced, MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells do not discriminate between different MHC-E molecules, at least at the stage of antigen recognition. Whether particular MHC-E molecules are more likely to prime CD8+ T cells with particular T-cell receptor clonotypes requires further investigation.

The high level of functional conservation in peptide presentation among Mamu-E molecules likely allows for the observed frequent, sometimes universal, CD8+ T cell targeting of MHC-E-binding epitopes among strain 68-1 RhCMV-vaccinated rhesus

macaques, regardless of MHC genotype (*393*) (*729*). This frequency of epitope targeting among individuals far exceeds that observed for MHC-Ia molecules (*393*) (*729*), suggesting that eliciting MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells might make T cell-based vaccines more effective in a larger percentage of individuals. Importantly, MHC-E is even more conserved in the human population, with only 2 HLA-E alleles that differ by a single amino acid, and thus MHC-E-binding epitopes might be even more frequently targeted in humans than in rhesus macaques. While few studies have screened patients for particular epitope-specific HLA-E-restricted CD8+ T cell responses, an HLA-E-restricted CD8+ T cell response to the HCV core epitope YLLPRRGPRL is detected in 40% of chronically infected HCV patients (*561*). Similarly, an HLA-E-restricted CD8+ T cell response to the *Mtb* Rv2997 epitope RMPPLGHEL is detected in 30% of PPDresponding donors (*583*).

This report contains the first description of MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells in non-human primates. There are very few studies describing MHC-E function in non-human primates, and thus it is unknown whether macaque MHC-E molecules possess functions different from that of HLA-E. However, the data presented here provide evidence that, at least in antigen presentation to primed CD8+ T cells, MHC-E function appears conserved across primate species.



**Figure 3.1: The number of MHC-E molecules expressed in an individual RM does not correlate with the number of primed SIVgag-specific, MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cell responses primed.** Graph displays 11 strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag-vaccinated rhesus macaques. MHC-E molecules were identified by deep sequencing. Cases where amplicon sequences could not distinguish between multiple MHC-E molecules (see Figure 2.1) were counted as one MHC-E molecule. The number of primed SIVgag-specific, MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cell responses is based on the minimal number of independent epitopes (see Figure 2.8 and Methods).

#### V. Implications for vaccine design

This study demonstrates that MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells constitute a large proportion of the CD8+ T cell response engendered upon strain 68-1 RhCMV vector vaccination. Vaccination with strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIV vectors stringently controls viral replication in ~50% of challenged rhesus macaques. Thus, vaccine strategies eliciting unconventional MHC-E- and MHC-II-restricted CD8+ T cells represent an attractive new approach to vaccine development, for both HIV and other pathogens.

Successful mobilization of broadly targeted MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells in an HIV vaccine would offer numerous advantages. First, as described above, MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cell responses would likely remain effective in the face of Nef-mediated MHC-I-downregulation, in contrast to MHC-Ia-restricted CD8+ T cells. Second, the wide breadth of MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells increases the probability that vaccine-elicited CD8+ T cells would target diverse viral strains and conserved epitopes, and decreases the likelihood of viral escape. Third, MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cell response have not been identified in the context of HIV and SIV infection, and SIV-specific MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells target an entirely distinct set of epitopes from CD8+ T cell responses elicited during SIV infection. Thus, HIV/SIV have not evolved under immune pressure from MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells, and thus vaccine-elicited MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells would likely be effective against transmitted escape variants (*769*) (*311*) (*770*).

The finding that broadly targeted MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells are engendered against every tested vaccine insert to-date, including SIV, *Mtb*, and RhCMV antigens, suggests that the binding repertoire of MHC-E is much more diverse than previously

thought. Consequently, MHC-E is likely able to present epitopes from diverse pathogen proteins, and under the correct conditions, prime CD8+ T cell responses. Thus, vaccines mobilizing MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells may also be effective for other pathogens. In particular, many pathogens other than HIV/SIV interfere with MHC-I antigen processing and presentation to evade pathogen-specific CD8+ T cell responses (*771*). However, if this mechanism interferes with leader peptide-mediated stabilization of surface MHC-E, the infected cell becomes susceptible to NK cell-mediated killing. Thus, similar to HIV/SIV, many of these pathogens have also evolved mechanisms to preserve or increase MHC-E surface expression, see section III. However, the inevitable result of simultaneous evasion of both CD8+ T cell- and NK cell-mediated immune responses by this mechanism is that infected cells are rendered susceptible to MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells. Thus, for these pathogens, vaccine-elicited MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells might be particularly effective.

#### **VI. Future directions**

Future studies of strain 68-1 RhCMV-induced, MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells should define their contribution to SIV control, particularly relative to MHC-II-restricted CD8+ T cells. Indeed, vectors that elicit MHC-II-, but not MHC-E-, restricted CD8+ T cells have been identified, and challenge studies of rhesus macaques vaccinated with these vectors will assess whether MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells are critical to vaccine efficacy. In addition, comprehensive functional characterization of MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells *ex vivo* would be valuable in assessing how these cells influence the course of SIV infection. Such analyses would include assessing MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells for the ability to suppress viral replication, kill SIV-infected target cells, and proliferate

in response to antigen, perhaps performed in comparison to MHC-II-restricted CD8+ T cells or control MHC-Ia-restricted CD8+ T elicited by SIV infection or conventional vaccination. This type of characterization requires isolation of MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells from bulk PBMC, which can be achieved with tetramer reagents or other capture assays that are currently under development. In addition to functional characterization, sequencing the T-cell receptors expressed by individual epitope-specific MHC-Erestricted CD8+ T cells may provide an explanation to the promiscuity of MHC-Erestricted CD8+ T cells as well as additional clues about antiviral efficacy. In particular, we are interested in whether strain 68-1 RhCMV-elicited MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cell responses use public TCR clonotypes. A public clonotype is a TCR amino acid sequence specific for a particular epitope/MHC that is found in more than one individual (772) (773). Usage of these public clonotypes by antigen-specific CD8+ T cells is associated with control of both HIV and SIV infection (808) (809) (414) (774). For example, the immunodominant Mamu-A1\*001:01-restricted CD8+ T cell response targeting Gag<sub>181</sub>. 189(CM9), a conserved epitope, is associated with control of SIVmac239 in rhesus macaques. However, when the CD8+ T cells targeting this epitope used TCRs with a limited public repertoire, they failed to control replication following viral escape (787). Thus, knowledge of the TCR sequence of MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells among rhesus macaques might provide an explanation for the 50% efficacy rate observed with strain 68-1 RhCMV vector vaccination. Finally, direct sequencing of ligands eluted from MHC-E in SIV-infected cells (775) would facilitate identification of the particular SIV epitopespecific MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cell responses that are capable of participating in immune responses against the virus.

As eliciting pathogen-specific MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cell responses may benefit vaccine strategies for HIV as well as other pathogens, future studies should also focus on elucidating the mechanism of MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cell priming by RhCMV. This can be achieved by using virus vectors with specific deletions and by studying the functions of viral genes implicated in this process, such as Rh67 and Rh157.5/Rh157.4. Such studies may lead to new vaccine strategies capable of eliciting MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells, for example other vectors expressing the required RhCMV genes along with vaccine antigens.

More broadly, the data presented here lay the foundation for studies of basic MHC-E biology, including antigen presentation on MHC-E and how MHC-E is influenced by infection with various pathogens. Eluting and sequencing ligands from MHC-E molecules may identify more subtle differences in peptide binding repertoire among various primate MHC-E molecules and would assess changes in the peptide repertoire of MHC-E during infection, for example with CMV or HIV/SIV. In addition, the pathway of antigen presentation on MHC-E requires further investigation, and the MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells identified here could aid these studies by serving as a functional readout for epitope presentation on MHC-E after blocking various cellular processes and antigen presentation pathways, for example with inhibitors of TAP or the proteasome. Indeed, such studies would likely assist in elucidating the mechanism of MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cell priming by RhCMV.

Finally, key aspects of MHC-E immunobiology, including NK cell and T cell biology, have not been investigated in non-human primates. For example, the relationship between MHC-E and NKG2A+ NK cells observed in humans has not been demonstrated

in any non-human primate species. However, HLA-E/leader peptide tetramers stain rhesus NK cells (*575*), suggesting the role of MHC-E in NK cell regulation is conserved in rhesus macaques. Of note, we have verified an HLA-E-specific antibody, clone 4D12, that cross-reacts with Mamu-E and Mafa-E (Figure 2.12 and data not shown). With this verified antibody, we can perform a comprehensive assessment of MHC-E expression on different cellular subsets in rhesus macaques and cynomolgus macaques, without complications from non-specific staining observed previously (*777*). In addition, this MHC-E-specific antibody can detect changes in MHC-E surface expression during infection (Figure 2.12), and thus could identify pathogens for which pathogen-specific, MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cell responses might be effective.

Developing an additional animal model for CMV-based vaccine studies would also be advantageous. In particular, CMV vaccination of humans will involve HCMV, rather than RhCMV, vaccine vectors, as primate CMVs exhibit exquisite species specificity. Differences between HCMV and RhCMV vector backbones, or inherent host differences between humans and rhesus macaques, could translate into differences in vaccine-elicited CD8+ T cells and ultimately vaccine efficacy. Here, we show that the presentation of CD8+ T cell epitopes by MHC-E is conserved in Mauritian cynomolgus macaques. Of note, we have isolated the CMV strains naturally infecting MCMs (CyCMV), and cloned one of these as a bacterial artificial chromosome, which can serve as a backbone for creating CyCMV vaccine vectors analogous to strain 68-1 RhCMV vectors. Thus, a model of CMV vector vaccination in Mauritian cynomolgus macaques is currently being established. This model will assess the ability of CMV vectors to elicit unconventional MHC-E- and MHC-II- restricted CD8+ T cells, and ultimately mediate

control of SIV, in another primate species, particularly one where the diversity of MHC-E more closely mirrors that of humans (Figure 1.1).

#### **VII. Summary and conclusions**

In summary, we have shown that strain 68-1 RhCMV/SIVgag vector vaccination elicits MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cell responses targeting a broad set of diverse SIVgag epitopes. These MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cell responses constitute the entire MHC-Idependent CD8+ T cell response in vaccinated rhesus macaques. In addition, some SIVgag epitope-specific, MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cell responses are frequently, sometimes universally, engendered among vaccinated rhesus macaques. SIVgag-specific, MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells possess a conventional CD8 $\alpha/\beta$ +, TCR $\gamma/\delta$ -, NKG2A/C-T cell phenotype and are able to recognize naturally processed antigen presented on the surface of SIV-infected CD4+ T cells. In contrast to bulk MHC-I, MHC-E is up-regulated on the surface of SIV-infected CD4+ T cells. Finally, SIVgag-specific, MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells from vaccinated rhesus macaques are able to recognize peptide presented across rhesus macaque, human, and Mauritian cynomolgus macaque MHC-E molecules.

These results demonstrate that broadly targeted pathogen-specific, MHC-Erestricted CD8+ T cell responses can be reliably elicited by strain 68-1 RhCMV vaccine vectors, and suggest strain 68-1 RhCMV possesses a unique mechanism to facilitate priming of MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cell. SIVgag-specific, MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells likely participate in immune responses against SIV in challenged vaccinees, as at least some SIV epitopes are presented on MHC-E during CD4+ T cell infection. In addition, these MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cell responses will likely retain the ability to recognize infected cells in the face of Nef-mediated MHC-I down-regulation. Finally, MHC-E peptide presentation to CD8+ T cells is conserved across primate species, supporting the possibility that CMV-based vaccine vectors will elicit MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cells in humans. As MHC-E surface expression must be preserved to evade NK cell-mediated killing, pathogen-specific MHC-E-restricted CD8+ T cell responses may be effective against HIV and other pathogens well versed in immune evasion.

### References

- 1. The Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS, "UNAIDS Fact Sheet 2015" (2015), (available at http://www.unaids.org/en/resources/campaigns/HowAIDSchangedeverything/fac tsheet).
- 2. J. Castilla *et al.*, Effectiveness of highly active antiretroviral therapy in reducing heterosexual transmission of HIV. *J. Acquir. Immune Defic. Syndr.* **40**, 96–101 (2005).
- 3. R. Granich *et al.*, Highly active antiretroviral treatment as prevention of HIV transmission: review of scientific evidence and update. *Current Opinion in HIV and AIDS*. **5**, 298–304 (2010).
- 4. T. W. Chun *et al.*, Relationship between pre-existing viral reservoirs and the reemergence of plasma viremia after discontinuation of highly active anti-retroviral therapy. *Nat Med.* **6**, 757–761 (2000).
- 5. J. N. Blankson, D. Persaud, R. F. Siliciano, The challenge of viral reservoirs in HIV-1 infection. *Annu Rev Med.* **53**, 557–593 (2002).
- 6. J. M. Maurice, S. Davey, *State of the World's Vaccines and Immunization* (World Health Organization, 2009).
- 7. A. S. Fauci, H. D. Marston, Ending AIDS--is an HIV vaccine necessary? *N. Engl. J. Med.* **370**, 495–498 (2014).
- 8. T. Hatziioannou, D. T. Evans, Animal models for HIV/AIDS research. *Nat Rev Microbiol.* **10**, 852–867 (2012).
- 9. V. M. Hirsch, J. D. Lifson, Simian immunodeficiency virus infection of monkeys as a model system for the study of AIDS pathogenesis, treatment, and prevention. *Adv. Pharmacol.* **49**, 437–477 (2000).
- 10. Centers for Disease Control (CDC), Pneumocystis pneumonia--Los Angeles. *MMWR Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep.* **30**, 250–252 (1981).
- 11. J. R. Harris, S. A. Balajee, B. J. Park, Pneumocystis Jirovecii Pneumonia: Current Knowledge and Outstanding Public Health Issues. *Current Fungal Infection Reports*. **4**, 229–237 (2010).
- 12. Centers for Disease Control (CDC), Kaposi's sarcoma and Pneumocystis pneumonia among homosexual men--New York City and California. *MMWR Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep.* **30**, 305–308 (1981).
- 13. D. T. Durack, Opportunistic infections and Kaposi's sarcoma in homosexual men. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **305**, 1465–1467 (1981).

- Centers for Disease Control (CDC), A cluster of Kaposi's sarcoma and Pneumocystis carinii pneumonia among homosexual male residents of Los Angeles and Orange Counties, California. *MMWR Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep.* 31, 305–307 (1982).
- 15. Centers for Disease Control (CDC), Pneumocystis carinii pneumonia among persons with hemophilia A. *MMWR Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep.* **31**, 365–367 (1982).
- 16. Centers for Disease Control (CDC), Possible transfusion-associated acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS) California. *MMWR Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep.* **31**, 652–654 (1982).
- 17. Centers for Disease Control (CDC), Unexplained immunodeficiency and opportunistic infections in infants--New York, New Jersey, California. *MMWR Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep.* **31**, 665–667 (1982).
- H. Masur *et al.*, Opportunistic infection in previously healthy women. Initial manifestations of a community-acquired cellular immunodeficiency. *Ann. Intern. Med.* 97, 533–539 (1982).
- 19. C. Harris *et al.*, Immunodeficiency in female sexual partners of men with the acquired immunodeficiency syndrome. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **308**, 1181–1184 (1983).
- 20. N. Clumeck, F. Mascart-Lemone, J. de Maubeuge, D. Brenez, L. Marcelis, Acquired immune deficiency syndrome in Black Africans. *Lancet.* **1**, 642 (1983).
- 21. Centers for Disease Control (CDC), Update on acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS)--United States. *MMWR Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep.* **31**, 507–8–513–4 (1982).
- 22. F. Barré-Sinoussi *et al.*, Isolation of a T-lymphotropic retrovirus from a patient at risk for acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS). *Science*. **220**, 868–871 (1983).
- 23. R. C. Gallo *et al.*, Frequent detection and isolation of cytopathic retroviruses (HTLV-III) from patients with AIDS and at risk for AIDS. *Science*. **224**, 500–503 (1984).
- 24. J. A. Levy *et al.*, Isolation of lymphocytopathic retroviruses from San Francisco patients with AIDS. *Science*. **225**, 840–842 (1984).
- 25. M. Popovic, M. G. Sarngadharan, E. Read, R. C. Gallo, Detection, isolation, and continuous production of cytopathic retroviruses (HTLV-III) from patients with AIDS and pre-AIDS. *Science*. **224**, 497–500 (1984).
- 26. J. Coffin *et al.*, Human immunodeficiency viruses. *Science*. **232**, 697–697 (1986).

- 27. K. M. Monroe *et al.*, IFI16 DNA sensor is required for death of lymphoid CD4 T cells abortively infected with HIV. *Science*. **343**, 428–432 (2014).
- 28. G. Doitsh *et al.*, Cell death by pyroptosis drives CD4 T-cell depletion in HIV-1 infection. *Nature*. **505**, 509–514 (2014).
- 29. G. Doitsh, W. C. Greene, Dissecting How CD4 T Cells Are Lost During HIV Infection. *Cell Host Microbe*. **19**, 280–291 (2016).
- 30. F. Hladik, M. J. McElrath, Setting the stage: host invasion by HIV. *Nat Rev Immunol.* **8**, 447–457 (2008).
- 31. M. S. Cohen, G. M. Shaw, A. J. McMichael, B. F. Haynes, Acute HIV-1 Infection. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **364**, 1943–1954 (2011).
- 32. D. A. Cooper *et al.*, Acute AIDS retrovirus infection. Definition of a clinical illness associated with seroconversion. *Lancet.* **1**, 537–540 (1985).
- 33. J. O. Kahn, B. D. Walker, Acute human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **339**, 33–39 (1998).
- P. Vanhems *et al.*, Comprehensive classification of symptoms and signs reported among 218 patients with acute HIV-1 infection. *J. Acquir. Immune Defic. Syndr.* 21, 99–106 (1999).
- 35. N. T. Constantine, J. D. Callahan, D. M. Watts, *Retroviral Testing* (CRC Press, 1992).
- 36. S. Vento, T. Garofano, G. Di Perri, E. Concia, Bassetti, Pneumocystis carinii pneumonia during primary HIV-1 infection. *The Lancet.* **342**, 24–25 (1993).
- 37. K. K. Gupta, Acute immunosuppression with HIV seroconversion. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **328**, 288–289 (1993).
- 38. C. Pedersen *et al.*, T-cell subset alterations and lymphocyte responsiveness to mitogens and antigen during severe primary infection with HIV: a case series of seven consecutive HIV seroconverters. *AIDS*. **4**, 523–526 (1990).
- 39. S. E. Langford, J. Ananworanich, D. A. Cooper, Predictors of disease progression in HIV infection: a review. *AIDS Res Ther.* **4**, 11 (2007).
- 40. D. D. Ho *et al.*, Rapid turnover of plasma virions and CD4 lymphocytes in HIV-1 infection. *Nature*. **373**, 123–126 (1995).
- 41. G. Pantaleo *et al.*, HIV infection is active and progressive in lymphoid tissue during the clinically latent stage of disease. *Nature*. **362**, 355–358 (1993).
- 42. M. Markowitz *et al.*, A novel antiviral intervention results in more accurate

assessment of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication dynamics and T-cell decay in vivo. *Journal of Virology*. **77**, 5037–5038 (2003).

- 43. K. G. Castro, J. W. Ward, L. Slutsker, J. W. Buehler, *1993 Revised classification* system for HIV infection and expanded surveillance case definition for AIDS among adolescents and adults (Morbidity and Mortality ..., 1992).
- 44. A. Mocroft *et al.*, Survival after diagnosis of AIDS: a prospective observational study of 2625 patients. Royal Free/Chelsea and Westminster Hospitals Collaborative Group. *BMJ*. **314**, 409–413 (1997).
- 45. Antiretroviral Therapy Cohort Collaboration, Life expectancy of individuals on combination antiretroviral therapy in high-income countries: a collaborative analysis of 14 cohort studies. *Lancet.* **372**, 293–299 (2008).
- 46. J. F. Okulicz *et al.*, Clinical outcomes of elite controllers, viremic controllers, and long-term nonprogressors in the US Department of Defense HIV natural history study. *J Infect Dis.* **200**, 1714–1723 (2009).
- 47. G. Pantaleo *et al.*, Studies in subjects with long-term nonprogressive human immunodeficiency virus infection. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **332**, 209–216 (1995).
- 48. S. G. Deeks, B. D. Walker, Human Immunodeficiency Virus Controllers: Mechanisms of Durable Virus Control in the Absence of Antiretroviral Therapy. *Immunity*. **27**, 406–416 (2007).
- 49. S. A. Migueles *et al.*, HLA B\*5701 is highly associated with restriction of virus replication in a subgroup of HIV-infected long term nonprogressors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* **97**, 2709–2714 (2000).
- 50. O. Lambotte *et al.*, HIV controllers: a homogeneous group of HIV-1-infected patients with spontaneous control of viral replication. *Clin Infect Dis.* **41**, 1053–1056 (2005).
- 51. J. B. Hubert *et al.*, Natural history of serum HIV-1 RNA levels in 330 patients with a known date of infection. The SEROCO Study Group. *AIDS*. **14**, 123–131 (2000).
- 52. P. W. Hunt *et al.*, Relationship between T cell activation and CD4+ T cell count in HIV-seropositive individuals with undetectable plasma HIV RNA levels in the absence of therapy. *J Infect Dis.* **197**, 126–133 (2008).
- 53. X. Wei *et al.*, Viral dynamics in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. *Nature*. **373**, 117–122 (1995).
- 54. L. M. Mansky, Retrovirus mutation rates and their role in genetic variation. *J. Gen. Virol.* **79 ( Pt 6)**, 1337–1345 (1998).

- 55. L. M. Mansky, Forward mutation rate of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 in a T lymphoid cell line. *AIDS Research and Human Retroviruses*. **12**, 307–314 (1996).
- 56. J. D. Roberts, K. Bebenek, T. A. Kunkel, The accuracy of reverse transcriptase from HIV-1. *Science*. **242**, 1171–1173 (1988).
- 57. W. H. Li, M. Tanimura, P. M. Sharp, Rates and dates of divergence between AIDS virus nucleotide sequences. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*. **5**, 313–330 (1988).
- 58. P. Lemey, A. Rambaut, O. G. Pybus, HIV evolutionary dynamics within and among hosts. *AIDS Rev.* **8**, 125–140 (2006).
- 59. M. Goodenow *et al.*, HIV-1 isolates are rapidly evolving quasispecies: evidence for viral mixtures and preferred nucleotide substitutions. *J. Acquir. Immune Defic. Syndr.* **2**, 344–352 (1989).
- 60. A. Meyerhans *et al.*, Temporal fluctuations in HIV quasispecies in vivo are not reflected by sequential HIV isolations. *Cell.* **58**, 901–910 (1989).
- 61. B. Korber *et al.*, Evolutionary and immunological implications of contemporary HIV-1 variation. *Br. Med. Bull.* **58**, 19–42 (2001).
- 62. P. M. Sharp, B. H. Hahn, Origins of HIV and the AIDS pandemic. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med.* **1**, a006841–a006841 (2011).
- 63. V. M. Hirsch, R. A. Olmsted, M. Murphey-Corb, R. H. Purcell, P. R. Johnson, An African primate lentivirus (SIVsm) closely related to HIV-2. *Nature*. **339**, 389–392 (1989).
- 64. F. Gao *et al.*, Human infection by genetically diverse SIVSM-related HIV-2 in west Africa. *Nature*. **358**, 495–499 (1992).
- 65. Z. Chen *et al.*, Genetic characterization of new West African simian immunodeficiency virus SIVsm: geographic clustering of household-derived SIV strains with human immunodeficiency virus type 2 subtypes and genetically diverse viruses from a single feral sooty mangabey troop. *Journal of Virology*. **70**, 3617–3627 (1996).
- 66. B. S. Taylor, M. E. Sobieszczyk, F. E. McCutchan, S. M. Hammer, The challenge of HIV-1 subtype diversity. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **358**, 1590–1602 (2008).
- 67. B. Korber *et al.*, Timing the ancestor of the HIV-1 pandemic strains. *Science*. **288**, 1789–1796 (2000).
- P. Lemey *et al.*, The molecular population genetics of HIV-1 group O. *Genetics*. 167, 1059–1068 (2004).

- 69. M. Worobey *et al.*, Direct evidence of extensive diversity of HIV-1 in Kinshasa by 1960. *Nature*. **455**, 661–664 (2008).
- J. Hemelaar, The origin and diversity of the HIV-1 pandemic. *Trends Mol Med.* 18, 182–192 (2012).
- 71. P. D. Bieniasz, Intrinsic immunity: a front-line defense against viral attack. *Nat Immunol.* **5**, 1109–1115 (2004).
- 72. H. J. Alter *et al.*, Transmission of HTLV-III infection from human plasma to chimpanzees: an animal model for AIDS. *Science*. **226**, 549–552 (1984).
- 73. S. P. O'Neil *et al.*, Progressive infection in a subset of HIV-1-positive chimpanzees. *J Infect Dis.* **182**, 1051–1062 (2000).
- J. Elder, Y.-C. Lin, E. Fink, C. Grant, Feline Immunodeficiency Virus (FIV) as A Model for Study of Lentivirus Infections: Parallels with HIV. *Current HIV Research.* 8, 73–80 (2010).
- M. Worobey *et al.*, Island biogeography reveals the deep history of SIV. *Science*.
  329, 1487–1487 (2010).
- 76. S. VandeWoude, C. Apetrei, Going Wild: Lessons from Naturally Occurring T-Lymphotropic Lentiviruses. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*. **19**, 728–762 (2006).
- 77. N. R. Klatt, G. Silvestri, V. Hirsch, Nonpathogenic simian immunodeficiency virus infections. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med.* **2**, a007153–a007153 (2012).
- 78. A. F. Aghokeng *et al.*, Extensive survey on the prevalence and genetic diversity of SIVs in primate bushmeat provides insights into risks for potential new cross-species transmissions. *Infect. Genet. Evol.* **10**, 386–396 (2010).
- 79. A. Chahroudi, S. E. Bosinger, T. H. Vanderford, M. Paiardini, G. Silvestri, Natural SIV hosts: showing AIDS the door. *Science*. **335**, 1188–1193 (2012).
- 80. M. B. Gardner, The history of simian AIDS. *J Med Primatol.* **25**, 148–157 (1996).
- 81. M. B. Gardner, Simian AIDS: an historical perspective. *J Med Primatol.* **32**, 180–186 (2003).
- 82. M. D. Daniel *et al.*, Isolation of T-cell tropic HTLV-III-like retrovirus from macaques. *Science*. **228**, 1201–1204 (1985).
- 83. V. M. Hirsch, P. M. Zack, P. R. Johnson, Molecular characterization of SIV in tissues from experimentally infected macaques. *J Med Primatol.* **19**, 287–294 (1990).

- 84. V. Hirsch *et al.*, A molecularly cloned, pathogenic, neutralization-resistant simian immunodeficiency virus, SIVsmE543-3. *Journal of Virology*. **71**, 1608–1620 (1997).
- 85. C. J. Miller *et al.*, Genital mucosal transmission of simian immunodeficiency virus: animal model for heterosexual transmission of human immunodeficiency virus. *Journal of Virology*. **63**, 4277–4284 (1989).
- 86. J. M. Coffin, S. H. Hughes, H. E. Varmus, A. S. Fauci, R. C. Desrosiers, Pathogenesis of HIV and SIV (1997).
- 87. Y. Yasutomi, K. A. Reimann, C. I. Lord, M. D. Miller, N. L. Letvin, Simian immunodeficiency virus-specific CD8+ lymphocyte response in acutely infected rhesus monkeys. *Journal of Virology*. **67**, 1707–1711 (1993).
- 88. J. M. Coffin, *Retroviruses* (CSHL Press, 1997).
- P. A. Mudd, D. I. Watkins, Understanding animal models of elite control: windows on effective immune responses against immunodeficiency viruses. *Curr Opin HIV AIDS*. 6, 197–201 (2011).
- 90. W. E. Johnson, R. C. Desrosiers, Viral persistence: HIV's strategies of immune system evasion. *Annu Rev Med.* **53**, 499–518 (2002).
- 91. D. J. Shedlock, G. Silvestri, D. B. Weiner, Monkeying around with HIV vaccines: using rhesus macaques to define "gatekeepers" for clinical trials. *Nat Rev Immunol.* **9**, 717–728 (2009).
- 92. M. L. Budde *et al.*, Transcriptionally abundant major histocompatibility complex class I alleles are fundamental to nonhuman primate simian immunodeficiency virus-specific CD8+ T cell responses. *J Virol.* **85**, 3250–3261 (2011).
- 93. R. M. Newman *et al.*, Balancing selection and the evolution of functional polymorphism in Old World monkey TRIM5alpha. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 103, 19134–19139 (2006).
- 94. M. Stremlau *et al.*, The cytoplasmic body component TRIM5alpha restricts HIV-1 infection in Old World monkeys. *Nature*. **427**, 848–853 (2004).
- 95. A. Kirmaier *et al.*, TRIM5 suppresses cross-species transmission of a primate immunodeficiency virus and selects for emergence of resistant variants in the new species. *PLoS Biol.* **8**, e1000462 (2010).
- 96. R. W. Sussman, I. Tattersall, Distribution, Abundance, and Putative Ecological Strategy of <i>Macaca fascicularis </i>on the Island of Mauritius, Southwestern Indian Ocean. *Folia Primatologica*. **46**, 28–43 (1986).
- 97. S. H. Lawler, R. W. Sussman, L. L. Taylor, Mitochondrial DNA of the Mauritian

macaques (Macaca fascicularis): an example of the founder effect. *Am J Phys Anthropol.* **96**, 133–141 (1995).

- 98. N. Berry *et al.*, Early potent protection against heterologous SIVsmE660 challenge following live attenuated SIV vaccination in Mauritian cynomolgus macaques. *PLoS One.* **6**, e23092 (2011).
- 99. R. W. Wiseman *et al.*, Simian immunodeficiency virus SIVmac239 infection of major histocompatibility complex-identical cynomolgus macaques from Mauritius. *Journal of Virology*. **81**, 349–361 (2007).
- 100. M. L. Budde *et al.*, Characterization of Mauritian cynomolgus macaque major histocompatibility complex class I haplotypes by high-resolution pyrosequencing. *Immunogenetics*. **62**, 773–780 (2010).
- S. L. O'Connor *et al.*, MHC heterozygote advantage in simian immunodeficiency virus-infected Mauritian cynomolgus macaques. *Sci Transl Med.* 2, 22ra18– 22ra18 (2010).
- S. L. O'Connor *et al.*, Comprehensive characterization of MHC class II haplotypes in Mauritian cynomolgus macaques. *Immunogenetics*. 59, 449–462 (2007).
- B. J. Burwitz *et al.*, Mauritian Cynomolgus Macaques Share Two Exceptionally Common Major Histocompatibility Complex Class I Alleles That Restrict Simian Immunodeficiency Virus-Specific CD8+ T Cells. *Journal of Virology*. 83, 6011–6019 (2009).
- M. L. Budde *et al.*, Specific CD8+ T cell responses correlate with control of simian immunodeficiency virus replication in Mauritian cynomolgus macaques. *J Virol.* 86, 7596–7604 (2012).
- 105. A. Borsetti *et al.*, Effect of MHC haplotype on immune response upon experimental SHIVSF162P4cy infection of Mauritian cynomolgus macaques. *PLoS One.* **9**, e93235 (2014).
- 106. E. T. Mee *et al.*, Mhc haplotype H6 is associated with sustained control of SIVmac251 infection in Mauritian cynomolgus macaques. *Immunogenetics*. **61**, 327–339 (2009).
- 107. E. T. Mee *et al.*, Mhc haplotype M3 is associated with early control of SHIVsbg infection in Mauritian cynomolgus macaques. *Tissue Antigens*. **76**, 223–229 (2010).
- 108. J. M. Greene *et al.*, Allogeneic lymphocytes persist and traffic in feral MHCmatched mauritian cynomolgus macaques. *PLoS One.* **3**, e2384 (2008).
- 109. J. M. Greene et al., Adoptive transfer of lymphocytes isolated from simian

immunodeficiency virus SIVmac239∆nef-vaccinated macaques does not affect acute-phase viral loads but may reduce chronic-phase viral loads in major histocompatibility complex-matched recipients. *J Virol.* **87**, 7382–7392 (2013).

- 110. M. S. Mohns *et al.*, Expansion of Simian Immunodeficiency Virus (SIV)-Specific CD8 T Cell Lines from SIV-Naive Mauritian Cynomolgus Macaques for Adoptive Transfer. *J Virol.* **89**, 9748–9757 (2015).
- 111. F. Barré-Sinoussi, A. L. Ross, J.-F. Delfraissy, Past, present and future: 30 years of HIV research. *Nat Rev Microbiol.* **11**, 877–883 (2013).
- 112. B. SIGURDSSON, H. GRIMSSON, P. A. PALSSON, Maedi, a chronic, progressive infection of sheep's lungs. *J Infect Dis.* **90**, 233–241 (1952).
- 113. A. G. Dalgleish *et al.*, The CD4 (T4) antigen is an essential component of the receptor for the AIDS retrovirus. *Nature*. **312**, 763–767 (1984).
- 114. D. Klatzmann *et al.*, T-lymphocyte T4 molecule behaves as the receptor for human retrovirus LAV. *Nature*. **312**, 767–768 (1984).
- 115. G. Alkhatib *et al.*, CC CKR5: a RANTES, MIP-1alpha, MIP-1beta receptor as a fusion cofactor for macrophage-tropic HIV-1. *Science*. **272**, 1955–1958 (1996).
- Y. Feng, C. C. Broder, P. E. Kennedy, E. A. Berger, HIV-1 entry cofactor: functional cDNA cloning of a seven-transmembrane, G protein-coupled receptor. *Science*. 272, 872–877 (1996).
- 117. T. Dragic *et al.*, HIV-1 entry into CD4+ cells is mediated by the chemokine receptor CC-CKR-5. *Nature*. **381**, 667–673 (1996).
- 118. E. A. Berger, P. M. MURPHY, J. M. Farber, CHEMOKINE RECEPTORS AS HIV-1 CORECEPTORS: Roles in Viral Entry, Tropism, and Disease. *Annu Rev Immunol.* **17**, 657–700 (1999).
- L. G. Filion, C. A. Izaguirre, G. E. Garber, L. Huebsh, M. T. Aye, Detection of surface and cytoplasmic CD4 on blood monocytes from normal and HIV-1 infected individuals. *J Immunol Methods*. 135, 59–69 (1990).
- C. E. Rudd, J. M. Trevillyan, J. D. Dasgupta, L. L. Wong, S. F. Schlossman, The CD4 receptor is complexed in detergent lysates to a protein-tyrosine kinase (pp58) from human T lymphocytes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. **85**, 5190–5194 (1988).
- 121. P. R. Crocker, W. A. Jefferies, S. J. Clark, L. P. Chung, S. Gordon, Species heterogeneity in macrophage expression of the CD4 antigen. *J Exp Med.* **166**, 613–618 (1987).
- 122. S. Patterson *et al.*, CD4 expression on dendritic cells and their infection by

human immunodeficiency virus. J. Gen. Virol. 76, 1155-1163 (1995).

- M. Samson, O. Labbe, C. Mollereau, G. Vassart, M. Parmentier, Molecular cloning and functional expression of a new human CC-chemokine receptor gene. *Biochemistry*. 35, 3362–3367 (1996).
- 124. C. Combadiere, S. K. Ahuja, H. L. Tiffany, P. M. Murphy, Cloning and functional expression of CC CKR5, a human monocyte CC chemokine receptor selective for MIP-1(alpha), MIP-1(beta), and RANTES. *J Leukoc Biol.* 60, 147– 152 (1996).
- 125. C. J. Raport, J. Gosling, V. L. Schweickart, P. W. Gray, I. F. Charo, Molecular Cloning and Functional Characterization of a Novel Human CC Chemokine Receptor (CCR5) for RANTES, MIP-1, and MIP-1. *J Biol Chem.* **271**, 17161–17166 (1996).
- 126. J. B. Rottman *et al.*, Cellular localization of the chemokine receptor CCR5. Correlation to cellular targets of HIV-1 infection. *Am J Pathol.* **151**, 1341–1351 (1997).
- R. D. Berkowitz, K. P. Beckerman, T. J. Schall, J. M. McCune, CXCR4 and CCR5 expression delineates targets for HIV-1 disruption of T cell differentiation. *J Immunol.* 161, 3702–3710 (1998).
- 128. C. C. Bleul, L. Wu, J. A. Hoxie, T. A. Springer, C. R. Mackay, The HIV coreceptors CXCR4 and CCR5 are differentially expressed and regulated on human T lymphocytes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. **94**, 1925–1930 (1997).
- 129. H. Mo *et al.*, Expression patterns of the HIV type 1 coreceptors CCR5 and CXCR4 on CD4+ T cells and monocytes from cord and adult blood. *AIDS Research and Human Retroviruses*. **14**, 607–617 (1998).
- B. F. Keele *et al.*, Identification and characterization of transmitted and early founder virus envelopes in primary HIV-1 infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 105, 7552–7557 (2008).
- 131. J. F. Salazar-Gonzalez *et al.*, Deciphering human immunodeficiency virus type 1 transmission and early envelope diversification by single-genome amplification and sequencing. *J Virol.* **82**, 3952–3970 (2008).
- 132. E. M. Long, S. M. J. Rainwater, L. Lavreys, K. Mandaliya, J. Overbaugh, HIV type 1 variants transmitted to women in Kenya require the CCR5 coreceptor for entry, regardless of the genetic complexity of the infecting virus. *AIDS Research and Human Retroviruses*. **18**, 567–576 (2002).
- 133. A. B. van't Wout *et al.*, Macrophage-tropic variants initiate human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection after sexual, parenteral, and vertical transmission. *J Clin Invest.* **94**, 2060–2067 (1994).

- 134. T. Zhu *et al.*, Genotypic and phenotypic characterization of HIV-1 patients with primary infection. *Science*. **261**, 1179–1181 (1993).
- 135. M. Tersmette *et al.*, Differential syncytium-inducing capacity of human immunodeficiency virus isolates: frequent detection of syncytium-inducing isolates in patients with acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS) and AIDS-related complex. *Journal of Virology*. **62**, 2026–2032 (1988).
- 136. H. Schuitemaker *et al.*, Biological phenotype of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 clones at different stages of infection: progression of disease is associated with a shift from monocytotropic to T-cell-tropic virus population. *Journal of Virology*. 66, 1354–1360 (1992).
- 137. M. Koot *et al.*, Prognostic value of HIV-1 syncytium-inducing phenotype for rate of CD4+ cell depletion and progression to AIDS. *Ann. Intern. Med.* **118**, 681–688 (1993).
- 138. D. D. Richman, S. A. Bozzette, The impact of the syncytium-inducing phenotype of human immunodeficiency virus on disease progression. *J Infect Dis.* **169**, 968–974 (1994).
- 139. O. Leavy, Antiviral immunity: SAMHD1 stopping HIV in its tracks. *Nat Rev Immunol.* **11**, 440–440 (2011).
- 140. A. Engelman, P. Cherepanov, The structural biology of HIV-1: mechanistic and therapeutic insights. *Nat Rev Microbiol.* **10**, 279–290 (2012).
- 141. T. W. Chun *et al.*, In vivo fate of HIV-1-infected T cells: quantitative analysis of the transition to stable latency. *Nat Med.* **1**, 1284–1290 (1995).
- 142. J. K. Wong *et al.*, Recovery of replication-competent HIV despite prolonged suppression of plasma viremia. *Science*. **278**, 1291–1295 (1997).
- 143. J. B. Dinoso *et al.*, A simian immunodeficiency virus-infected macaque model to study viral reservoirs that persist during highly active antiretroviral therapy. *J Virol.* **83**, 9247–9257 (2009).
- 144. R. B. Jones *et al.*, A Subset of Latency-Reversing Agents Expose HIV-Infected Resting CD4+ T-Cells to Recognition by Cytotoxic T-Lymphocytes. *PLoS Pathog.* 12, e1005545 (2016).
- 145. T. W. Chun *et al.*, Presence of an inducible HIV-1 latent reservoir during highly active antiretroviral therapy. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. **94**, 13193–13197 (1997).
- 146. D. Finzi *et al.*, Identification of a reservoir for HIV-1 in patients on highly active antiretroviral therapy. *Science*. **278**, 1295–1300 (1997).
- 147. J. B. Dinoso et al., Treatment intensification does not reduce residual HIV-1

viremia in patients on highly active antiretroviral therapy. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. **106**, 9403–9408 (2009).

- 148. T. W. North *et al.*, Viral sanctuaries during highly active antiretroviral therapy in a nonhuman primate model for AIDS. *J Virol.* **84**, 2913–2922 (2010).
- 149. J. D. Siliciano *et al.*, Long-term follow-up studies confirm the stability of the latent reservoir for HIV-1 in resting CD4+ T cells. *Nat Med.* **9**, 727–728 (2003).
- 150. N. Chomont *et al.*, HIV reservoir size and persistence are driven by T cell survival and homeostatic proliferation. *Nat Med.* **15**, 893–900 (2009).
- 151. H.-C. Yang, Primary cell models of HIV latency. *Current Opinion in HIV and AIDS*. **6**, 62–67 (2011).
- 152. H. G. Göttlinger, J. G. Sodroski, W. A. Haseltine, Role of capsid precursor processing and myristoylation in morphogenesis and infectivity of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. **86**, 5781–5785 (1989).
- 153. P. Ashorn *et al.*, An inhibitor of the protease blocks maturation of human and simian immunodeficiency viruses and spread of infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. **87**, 7472–7476 (1990).
- 154. M. Bryant, L. Ratner, Myristoylation-dependent replication and assembly of human immunodeficiency virus 1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. **87**, 523–527 (1990).
- 155. P. Gallay, S. Swingler, J. Song, F. Bushman, D. Trono, HIV nuclear import is governed by the phosphotyrosine-mediated binding of matrix to the core domain of integrase. *Cell.* **83**, 569–576 (1995).
- 156. P. Lewis, M. Hensel, M. Emerman, Human immunodeficiency virus infection of cells arrested in the cell cycle. *EMBO J.* **11**, 3053–3058 (1992).
- 157. M. I. Bukrinsky *et al.*, A nuclear localization signal within HIV-1 matrix protein that governs infection of non-dividing cells. *Nature*. **365**, 666–669 (1993).
- 158. W. I. Sundquist, H.-G. Kräusslich, HIV-1 assembly, budding, and maturation. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med.* **2**, a006924–a006924 (2012).
- 159. G. P. Harrison, A. M. Lever, The human immunodeficiency virus type 1 packaging signal and major splice donor region have a conserved stable secondary structure. *Journal of Virology*. **66**, 4144–4153 (1992).
- 160. J. L. Newman, E. W. Butcher, D. T. Patel, Y. Mikhaylenko, M. F. Summers, Flexibility in the P2 domain of the HIV-1 Gag polyprotein. *Protein Sci.* **13**, 2101–2107 (2004).

- 161. L. E. Henderson *et al.*, Molecular characterization of gag proteins from simian immunodeficiency virus (SIVMne). *Journal of Virology*. **62**, 2587–2595 (1988).
- 162. M. K. Hill, M. Shehu-Xhilaga, S. M. Crowe, J. Mak, Proline residues within spacer peptide p1 are important for human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infectivity, protein processing, and genomic RNA dimer stability. *Journal of Virology*. 76, 11245–11253 (2002).
- 163. S. M. Ø. Solbak *et al.*, HIV-1 p6 a structured to flexible multifunctional membrane-interacting protein. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta.* **1828**, 816–823 (2013).
- 164. W. Paxton, R. I. Connor, N. R. Landau, Incorporation of Vpr into human immunodeficiency virus type 1 virions: requirement for the p6 region of gag and mutational analysis. *Journal of Virology*. **67**, 7229–7237 (1993).
- 165. M. A. Accola, A. A. Bukovsky, M. S. Jones, H. G. Göttlinger, A conserved dileucine-containing motif in p6(gag) governs the particle association of Vpx and Vpr of simian immunodeficiency viruses SIV(mac) and SIV(agm). *Journal of Virology*. **73**, 9992–9999 (1999).
- 166. G. L. Beilhartz, M. Götte, HIV-1 Ribonuclease H: Structure, Catalytic Mechanism and Inhibitors. *Viruses*. **2**, 900–926 (2010).
- D. Cromer, A. J. Grimm, T. E. Schlub, J. Mak, M. P. Davenport, Estimating the in-vivo HIV template switching and recombination rate. *AIDS*. 30, 185–192 (2016).
- 168. W. S. Hu, H. M. Temin, Retroviral recombination and reverse transcription. *Science*. **250**, 1227–1233 (1990).
- 169. T. E. Schlub, R. P. Smyth, A. J. Grimm, J. Mak, M. P. Davenport, Accurately measuring recombination between closely related HIV-1 genomes. *PLoS Comput Biol.* **6**, e1000766 (2010).
- 170. H. M. Temin, Sex and recombination in retroviruses. *Trends in Genetics*. **7**, 71–74 (1991).
- 171. F. D. Bushman, T. Fujiwara, R. Craigie, Retroviral DNA integration directed by HIV integration protein in vitro. *Science*. **249**, 1555–1558 (1990).
- 172. T. Jacks *et al.*, Characterization of ribosomal frameshifting in HIV-1 gag-pol expression. *Nature*. **331**, 280–283 (1988).
- H. K. Lyerly *et al.*, Anti-GP 120 antibodies from HIV seropositive individuals mediate broadly reactive anti-HIV ADCC. *AIDS Research and Human Retroviruses*. 3, 409–422 (1987).
- 174. S. Hallenberger *et al.*, Inhibition of furin-mediated cleavage activation of HIV-1

glycoprotein gp160. Nature. 360, 358-361 (1992).

- 175. H. B. Bernstein *et al.*, Oligomerization of the hydrophobic heptad repeat of gp41. *Journal of Virology*. **69**, 2745–2750 (1995).
- 176. J. B. Munro, W. Mothes, Structure and Dynamics of the Native HIV-1 Env Trimer. *J Virol.* **89**, 5752–5755 (2015).
- 177. N. R. Landau, M. Warton, D. R. Littman, The envelope glycoprotein of the human immunodeficiency virus binds to the immunoglobulin-like domain of CD4. *Nature*. **334**, 159–162 (1988).
- 178. D. J. Capon, R. H. Ward, The CD4-gp120 interaction and AIDS pathogenesis. *Annu Rev Immunol.* **9**, 649–678 (1991).
- 179. D. C. Chan, P. S. Kim, HIV entry and its inhibition. *Cell.* **93**, 681–684 (1998).
- 180. S. Ruben *et al.*, Structural and functional characterization of human immunodeficiency virus tat protein. *Journal of Virology*. **63**, 1–8 (1989).
- S. Y. Kao, A. F. Calman, P. A. Luciw, B. M. Peterlin, Anti-termination of transcription within the long terminal repeat of HIV-1 by tat gene product. *Nature*. 330, 489–493 (1987).
- 182. M. B. Feinberg, D. Baltimore, A. D. Frankel, The role of Tat in the human immunodeficiency virus life cycle indicates a primary effect on transcriptional elongation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. **88**, 4045–4049 (1991).
- B. R. Cullen, Nuclear mRNA export: insights from virology. *Trends Biochem.* Sci. 28, 419–424 (2003).
- 184. P. K. Singhal, P. R. Kumar, M. R. K. S. Rao, M. Kyasani, S. Mahalingam, Simian immunodeficiency virus Vpx is imported into the nucleus via importin alpha-dependent and -independent pathways. *Journal of Virology*. 80, 526–536 (2006).
- 185. J. C. Kappes *et al.*, Intracellular transport and virion incorporation of vpx requires interaction with other virus type-specific components. *Virology*. **193**, 222–233 (1993).
- 186. F. Kirchhoff, T. C. Greenough, D. B. Brettler, J. L. Sullivan, R. C. Desrosiers, Brief report: absence of intact nef sequences in a long-term survivor with nonprogressive HIV-1 infection. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **332**, 228–232 (1995).
- 187. N. J. Deacon *et al.*, Genomic structure of an attenuated quasi species of HIV-1 from a blood transfusion donor and recipients. *Science*. **270**, 988–991 (1995).
- 188. H. W. Kestler *et al.*, Importance of the nef gene for maintenance of high virus

loads and for development of AIDS. Cell. 65, 651-662 (1991).

- V. Piguet *et al.*, HIV-1 Nef protein binds to the cellular protein PACS-1 to downregulate class I major histocompatibility complexes. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 2, 163– 167 (2000).
- 190. J. T. Minang *et al.*, Nef-mediated MHC class I down-regulation unmasks clonal differences in virus suppression by SIV-specific CD8(+) T cells independent of IFN-gamma and CD107a responses. *Virology*. **391**, 130–139 (2009).
- 191. T. Swigut *et al.*, Impact of Nef-mediated downregulation of major histocompatibility complex class I on immune response to simian immunodeficiency virus. *Journal of Virology*. **78**, 13335–13344 (2004).
- 192. O. O. Yang *et al.*, Nef-mediated resistance of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 to antiviral cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Journal of Virology*. **76**, 1626–1631 (2002).
- 193. H. Tomiyama, H. Akari, A. Adachi, M. Takiguchi, Different effects of Nefmediated HLA class I down-regulation on human immunodeficiency virus type 1-specific CD8(+) T-cell cytolytic activity and cytokine production. *Journal of Virology*. **76**, 7535–7543 (2002).
- 194. A. Landi, V. Iannucci, A. V. Nuffel, P. Meuwissen, B. Verhasselt, One protein to rule them all: modulation of cell surface receptors and molecules by HIV Nef. *Current HIV Research.* **9**, 496–504 (2011).
- 195. J. Coffin, R. Swanstrom, HIV pathogenesis: dynamics and genetics of viral populations and infected cells. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med.* **3**, a012526–a012526 (2013).
- 196. A. Rambaut, D. L. Robertson, O. G. Pybus, M. Peeters, E. C. Holmes, Human immunodeficiency virus. Phylogeny and the origin of HIV-1. *Nature*. **410**, 1047–1048 (2001).
- 197. A. F. Aghokeng *et al.*, Inaccurate diagnosis of HIV-1 group M and O is a key challenge for ongoing universal access to antiretroviral treatment and HIV prevention in Cameroon. *PLoS One.* **4**, e7702 (2009).
- 198. N. Kurt Yilmaz, R. Swanstrom, C. A. Schiffer, Improving Viral Protease Inhibitors to Counter Drug Resistance. *Trends in Microbiology* (2016), doi:10.1016/j.tim.2016.03.010.
- 199. M.-R. Abrahams *et al.*, Quantitating the multiplicity of infection with human immunodeficiency virus type 1 subtype C reveals a non-poisson distribution of transmitted variants. *J Virol.* **83**, 3556–3567 (2009).
- 200. J. F. Salazar-Gonzalez et al., Genetic identity, biological phenotype, and

evolutionary pathways of transmitted/founder viruses in acute and early HIV-1 infection. *J Exp Med.* **206**, 1273–1289 (2009).

- 201. G. M. Shaw, E. Hunter, HIV transmission. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med.* **2**, a006965–a006965 (2012).
- S. B. Joseph, R. Swanstrom, A. D. M. Kashuba, M. S. Cohen, Bottlenecks in HIV-1 transmission: insights from the study of founder viruses. *Nat Rev Microbiol.* 13, 414–425 (2015).
- B. F. Keele *et al.*, Low-dose rectal inoculation of rhesus macaques by SIVsmE660 or SIVmac251 recapitulates human mucosal infection by HIV-1. J Exp Med. 206, 1117–1134 (2009).
- 204. A. T. Haase, Targeting early infection to prevent HIV-1 mucosal transmission. *Nature*. **464**, 217–223 (2010).
- 205. J. M. Brenchley *et al.*, CD4+ T cell depletion during all stages of HIV disease occurs predominantly in the gastrointestinal tract. *J Exp Med.* **200**, 749–759 (2004).
- 206. J. M. Brenchley *et al.*, Microbial translocation is a cause of systemic immune activation in chronic HIV infection. *Nat Med.* **12**, 1365–1371 (2006).
- 207. J. M. Brenchley *et al.*, Differential Th17 CD4 T-cell depletion in pathogenic and nonpathogenic lentiviral infections. *Blood*. **112**, 2826–2835 (2008).
- 208. G. Pantaleo, C. Graziosi, A. S. Fauci, New concepts in the immunopathogenesis of human immunodeficiency virus infection. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **328**, 327–335 (1993).
- T. W. Schacker, J. P. Hughes, T. Shea, R. W. Coombs, L. Corey, Biological and virologic characteristics of primary HIV infection. *Ann. Intern. Med.* 128, 613– 620 (1998).
- 210. B. Rodriguez *et al.*, Predictive value of plasma HIV RNA level on rate of CD4 T-cell decline in untreated HIV infection. *JAMA*. **296**, 1498–1506 (2006).
- 211. R. S. Veazey *et al.*, Gastrointestinal tract as a major site of CD4+ T cell depletion and viral replication in SIV infection. *Science*. **280**, 427–431 (1998).
- 212. J. J. Mattapallil *et al.*, Massive infection and loss of memory CD4+ T cells in multiple tissues during acute SIV infection. *Nature*. **434**, 1093–1097 (2005).
- A. J. McMichael, P. Borrow, G. D. Tomaras, N. Goonetilleke, B. F. Haynes, The immune response during acute HIV-1 infection: clues for vaccine development. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 10, 11–23 (2010).
- 214. G. D. Tomaras *et al.*, Initial B-cell responses to transmitted human immunodeficiency virus type 1: virion-binding immunoglobulin M (IgM) and IgG antibodies followed by plasma anti-gp41 antibodies with ineffective control of initial viremia. *J Virol.* **82**, 12449–12463 (2008).
- 215. A. R. Stacey *et al.*, Induction of a striking systemic cytokine cascade prior to peak viremia in acute human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection, in contrast to more modest and delayed responses in acute hepatitis B and C virus infections. *J Virol.* **83**, 3719–3733 (2009).
- Q. Li *et al.*, Glycerol monolaurate prevents mucosal SIV transmission. *Nature*.
   458, 1034–1038 (2009).
- 217. C. Lapenta *et al.*, Type I interferon is a powerful inhibitor of in vivo HIV-1 infection and preserves human CD4(+) T cells from virus-induced depletion in SCID mice transplanted with human cells. *Virology*. **263**, 78–88 (1999).
- 218. Q. Li *et al.*, Peak SIV replication in resting memory CD4+ T cells depletes gut lamina propria CD4+ T cells. *Nature*. **434**, 1148–1152 (2005).
- 219. J. B. Whitney *et al.*, Rapid seeding of the viral reservoir prior to SIV viraemia in rhesus monkeys. *Nature* (2014), doi:10.1038/nature13594.
- 220. N. R. Klatt, N. Chomont, D. C. Douek, S. G. Deeks, Immune activation and HIV persistence: implications for curative approaches to HIV infection. *Immunol. Rev.* **254**, 326–342 (2013).
- 221. M. Paiardini, M. Müller-Trutwin, HIV-associated chronic immune activation. *Immunol. Rev.* **254**, 78–101 (2013).
- 222. J. M. Coffin, HIV population dynamics in vivo: implications for genetic variation, pathogenesis, and therapy. *Science*. **267**, 483–489 (1995).
- 223. M. H. Malim, M. Emerman, HIV-1 sequence variation: drift, shift, and attenuation. *Cell*. **104**, 469–472 (2001).
- 224. S. Koenig *et al.*, Transfer of HIV-1-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes to an AIDS patient leads to selection for mutant HIV variants and subsequent disease progression. *Nat Med.* **1**, 330–336 (1995).
- 225. P. Borrow *et al.*, Antiviral pressure exerted by HIV-1-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs) during primary infection demonstrated by rapid selection of CTL escape virus. *Nat Med.* **3**, 205–211 (1997).
- 226. D. A. Price *et al.*, Positive selection of HIV-1 cytotoxic T lymphocyte escape variants during primary infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. **94**, 1890–1895 (1997).

- 227. P. J. Goulder *et al.*, Late escape from an immunodominant cytotoxic Tlymphocyte response associated with progression to AIDS. *Nat Med.* **3**, 212–217 (1997).
- 228. L. Mortara *et al.*, Selection of virus variants and emergence of virus escape mutants after immunization with an epitope vaccine. *Journal of Virology*. **72**, 1403–1410 (1998).
- D. T. Evans *et al.*, Virus-specific cytotoxic T-lymphocyte responses select for amino-acid variation in simian immunodeficiency virus Env and Nef. *Nat Med.* 5, 1270–1276 (1999).
- D. T. Evans *et al.*, Definition of five new simian immunodeficiency virus cytotoxic T-lymphocyte epitopes and their restricting major histocompatibility complex class I molecules: evidence for an influence on disease progression. *Journal of Virology*. 74, 7400–7410 (2000).
- 231. T. M. Allen *et al.*, Tat-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes select for SIV escape variants during resolution of primary viraemia. *Nature*. **407**, 386–390 (2000).
- J. T. Loffredo *et al.*, Identification of seventeen new simian immunodeficiency virus-derived CD8+ T cell epitopes restricted by the high frequency molecule, Mamu-A\*02, and potential escape from CTL recognition. *J Immunol.* 173, 5064–5076 (2004).
- 233. X. Wei *et al.*, Antibody neutralization and escape by HIV-1. *Nature*. **422**, 307–312 (2003).
- 234. S. D. W. Frost *et al.*, Neutralizing antibody responses drive the evolution of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope during recent HIV infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. **102**, 18514–18519 (2005).
- 235. D. P. Burns, C. Collignon, R. C. Desrosiers, Simian immunodeficiency virus mutants resistant to serum neutralization arise during persistent infection of rhesus monkeys. *Journal of Virology*. **67**, 4104–4113 (1993).
- D. P. Burns, R. C. Desrosiers, Selection of genetic variants of simian immunodeficiency virus in persistently infected rhesus monkeys. *Journal of Virology*. 65, 1843–1854 (1991).
- D. P. Burns, R. C. Desrosiers, Envelope sequence variation, neutralizing antibodies, and primate lentivirus persistence. *Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol.* 188, 185–219 (1994).
- 238. N. Goonetilleke *et al.*, The first T cell response to transmitted/founder virus contributes to the control of acute viremia in HIV-1 infection. *J Exp Med.* **206**, 1253–1272 (2009).

- 239. W. Fischer *et al.*, Transmission of single HIV-1 genomes and dynamics of early immune escape revealed by ultra-deep sequencing. *PLoS One*. **5**, e12303 (2010).
- 240. D. H. O'Connor *et al.*, Acute phase cytotoxic T lymphocyte escape is a hallmark of simian immunodeficiency virus infection. *Nat Med.* **8**, 493–499 (2002).
- 241. T. C. Friedrich *et al.*, Reversion of CTL escapevariant immunodeficiency viruses in vivo. *Nat Med.* **10**, 275–281 (2004).
- 242. A. J. Leslie *et al.*, HIV evolution: CTL escape mutation and reversion after transmission. *Nat Med.* **10**, 282–289 (2004).
- 243. H. Crawford *et al.*, Compensatory mutation partially restores fitness and delays reversion of escape mutation within the immunodominant HLA-B\*5703-restricted Gag epitope in chronic human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. *Journal of Virology*. **81**, 8346–8351 (2007).
- 244. R. M. Lynch *et al.*, HIV-1 fitness cost associated with escape from the VRC01 class of CD4 binding site neutralizing antibodies. *J Virol.* **89**, 4201–4213 (2015).
- 245. B. J. Burwitz *et al.*, Pyrosequencing Reveals Restricted Patterns of CD8+ T Cell Escape-Associated Compensatory Mutations in Simian Immunodeficiency Virus. *Journal of Virology*. **85**, 13088–13096 (2011).
- 246. C. K. Wibmer *et al.*, Viral escape from HIV-1 neutralizing antibodies drives increased plasma neutralization breadth through sequential recognition of multiple epitopes and immunotypes. *PLoS Pathog.* **9**, e1003738 (2013).
- 247. B. Autran, F. Hadida, G. Haas, Evolution and plasticity of CTL responses against HIV. *Curr Opin Immunol.* **8**, 546–553 (1996).
- 248. M. Pancera *et al.*, Structure and immune recognition of trimeric pre-fusion HIV-1 Env. *Nature*. **514**, 455–461 (2014).
- 249. M. M. Lederman, S. F. Purvis, E. I. Walter, J. T. Carey, M. E. Medof, Heightened complement sensitivity of acquired immunodeficiency syndrome lymphocytes related to diminished expression of decay-accelerating factor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* 86, 4205–4209 (1989).
- 250. G. T. Spear, B. L. Sullivan, A. L. Landay, T. F. Lint, Neutralization of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 by complement occurs by viral lysis. *Journal of Virology*. **64**, 5869–5873 (1990).
- S. J. D. Neil, A. McKnight, K. Gustafsson, R. A. Weiss, HIV-1 incorporates ABO histo-blood group antigens that sensitize virions to complement-mediated inactivation. *Blood.* 105, 4693–4699 (2005).
- 252. J. P. Gregersen, S. Mehdi, A. Baur, J. Hilfenhaus, Antibody- and complement-

mediated lysis of HIV-infected cells and inhibition of viral replication. *Journal of Medical Virology*. **30**, 287–293 (1990).

- 253. A. J. Hessell *et al.*, Fc receptor but not complement binding is important in antibody protection against HIV. *Nature*. **449**, 101–104 (2007).
- 254. R. H. Florese *et al.*, Evaluation of passively transferred, nonneutralizing antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity-mediating IgG in protection of neonatal rhesus macaques against oral SIVmac251 challenge. *J Immunol.* **177**, 4028–4036 (2006).
- 255. G. D. Tomaras, B. F. Haynes, HIV-1-specific antibody responses during acute and chronic HIV-1 infection. *Curr Opin HIV AIDS.* **4**, 373–379 (2009).
- 256. B. T. Korber, N. L. Letvin, B. F. Haynes, T-cell vaccine strategies for human immunodeficiency virus, the virus with a thousand faces. *J Virol.* **83**, 8300–8314 (2009).
- 257. K. E. Stephenson, D. H. Barouch, Broadly Neutralizing Antibodies for HIV Eradication. *Current HIV/AIDS Reports*. **13**, 31–37 (2016).
- 258. J. D. Amos *et al.*, Rapid Development of gp120-Focused Neutralizing B Cell Responses during Acute Simian Immunodeficiency Virus Infection of African Green Monkeys. *J Virol.* **89**, 9485–9498 (2015).
- 259. E. S. Gray *et al.*, Neutralizing antibody responses in acute human immunodeficiency virus type 1 subtype C infection. *Journal of Virology*. **81**, 6187–6196 (2007).
- 260. C. A. Derdeyn *et al.*, Envelope-constrained neutralization-sensitive HIV-1 after heterosexual transmission. *Science*. **303**, 2019–2022 (2004).
- 261. S. M. Alam *et al.*, The role of antibody polyspecificity and lipid reactivity in binding of broadly neutralizing anti-HIV-1 envelope human monoclonal antibodies 2F5 and 4E10 to glycoprotein 41 membrane proximal envelope epitopes. *J Immunol.* **178**, 4424–4435 (2007).
- 262. S. M. Alam *et al.*, Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp41 antibodies that mask membrane proximal region epitopes: antibody binding kinetics, induction, and potential for regulation in acute infection. *J Virol.* **82**, 115–125 (2008).
- A. J. McMichael, P. Borrow, G. D. Tomaras, N. Goonetilleke, B. F. Haynes, The immune response during acute HIV-1 infection: clues for vaccine development. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 10, 11–23 (2009).
- 264. D. D. Richman, T. Wrin, S. J. Little, C. J. Petropoulos, Rapid evolution of the neutralizing antibody response to HIV type 1 infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. **100**, 4144–4149 (2003).

- 265. W. W. Yeh *et al.*, Autologous neutralizing antibodies to the transmitted/founder viruses emerge late after simian immunodeficiency virus SIVmac251 infection of rhesus monkeys. *J Virol.* **84**, 6018–6032 (2010).
- P. L. Moore *et al.*, The c3-v4 region is a major target of autologous neutralizing antibodies in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 subtype C infection. *J Virol.* 82, 1860–1869 (2008).
- D. R. Burton *et al.*, A Blueprint for HIV Vaccine Discovery. *Cell Host Microbe*. 12, 396–407 (2012).
- B. F. Haynes, G. Kelsoe, S. C. Harrison, T. B. Kepler, B-cell-lineage immunogen design in vaccine development with HIV-1 as a case study. *Nat Biotechnol.* 30, 423–433 (2012).
- 269. J. N. Reitter, R. E. Means, R. C. Desrosiers, A role for carbohydrates in immune evasion in AIDS. *Nat Med.* **4**, 679–684 (1998).
- 270. N. L. Haigwood, L. Stamatatos, Role of neutralizing antibodies in HIV infection. *AIDS*. **17**, 67–71 (2003).
- 271. P. Poignard, E. O. Saphire, P. W. Parren, D. R. Burton, gp120: Biologic aspects of structural features. *Annu Rev Immunol.* **19**, 253–274 (2001).
- 272. A. Oxenius *et al.*, Variable fate of virus-specific CD4(+) T cells during primary HIV-1 infection. *Eur J Immunol.* **31**, 3782–3788 (2001).
- 273. S. E. Gloster *et al.*, Association of strong virus-specific CD4 T cell responses with efficient natural control of primary HIV-1 infection. *AIDS*. **18**, 749–755 (2004).
- 274. C. Riou *et al.*, Distinct kinetics of Gag-specific CD4+ and CD8+ T cell responses during acute HIV-1 infection. *J Immunol.* **188**, 2198–2206 (2012).
- 275. M. R. Betts *et al.*, Analysis of total human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)specific CD4(+) and CD8(+) T-cell responses: relationship to viral load in untreated HIV infection. *Journal of Virology*. **75**, 11983–11991 (2001).
- 276. F. Porichis, D. E. Kaufmann, HIV-specific CD4 T cells and immune control of viral replication. *Current Opinion in HIV and AIDS*. **6**, 174–180 (2011).
- 277. H. Streeck, D. F. Nixon, T cell immunity in acute HIV-1 infection. *J Infect Dis*.
  202 Suppl 2, S302–8 (2010).
- 278. C. J. Pitcher *et al.*, HIV-1-specific CD4+ T cells are detectable in most individuals with active HIV-1 infection, but decline with prolonged viral suppression. *Nat Med.* **5**, 518–525 (1999).

- 279. D. C. Douek, M. Roederer, R. A. Koup, Emerging concepts in the immunopathogenesis of AIDS. *Annu Rev Med.* **60**, 471–484 (2009).
- A. A. Okoye, L. J. Picker, CD4(+) T-cell depletion in HIV infection: mechanisms of immunological failure. *Immunol. Rev.* 254, 54–64 (2013).
- D. C. Douek *et al.*, HIV preferentially infects HIV-specific CD4+ T cells. *Nature*. 417, 95–98 (2002).
- International HIV Controllers Study *et al.*, The major genetic determinants of HIV-1 control affect HLA class I peptide presentation. *Science*. **330**, 1551–1557 (2010).
- J. Rychert, S. Saindon, S. Placek, D. Daskalakis, E. Rosenberg, Sequence variation occurs in CD4 epitopes during early HIV infection. *J. Acquir. Immune Defic. Syndr.* 46, 261–267 (2007).
- 284. R. B. Jones *et al.*, Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 escapes from interleukin-2-producing CD4+ T-cell responses without high-frequency fixation of mutations. *J Virol.* **83**, 8722–8732 (2009).
- 285. M. F. Chevalier *et al.*, HIV-1-specific interleukin-21+ CD4+ T cell responses contribute to durable viral control through the modulation of HIV-specific CD8+ T cell function. *J Virol.* **85**, 733–741 (2011).
- 286. M. G. Rudolph, I. A. Wilson, The specificity of TCR/pMHC interaction. *Current Opinion in Immunology*. 14, 52–65 (2002).
- 287. J. T. Harty, A. R. Tvinnereim, D. W. White, CD8+ T cell effector mechanisms in resistance to infection. *Annu Rev Immunol.* **18**, 275–308 (2000).
- P. Borrow, H. Lewicki, B. H. Hahn, G. M. Shaw, M. B. Oldstone, Virus-specific CD8+ cytotoxic T-lymphocyte activity associated with control of viremia in primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. *Journal of Virology*. 68, 6103–6110 (1994).
- 289. R. A. Koup *et al.*, Temporal association of cellular immune responses with the initial control of viremia in primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 syndrome. *Journal of Virology*. **68**, 4650–4655 (1994).
- 290. J. D. Wilson *et al.*, Direct visualization of HIV-1-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes during primary infection. *AIDS*. **14**, 225–233 (2000).
- 291. G. Pantaleo *et al.*, Major expansion of CD8+ T cells with a predominant V beta usage during the primary immune response to HIV. *Nature*. **370**, 463–467 (1994).
- 292. E. S. Rosenberg *et al.*, Immune control of HIV-1 after early treatment of acute

infection. Nature. 407, 523-526 (2000).

- 293. R. H. Lyles *et al.*, Natural history of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 viremia after seroconversion and proximal to AIDS in a large cohort of homosexual men. Multicenter AIDS Cohort Study. *J Infect Dis.* **181**, 872–880 (2000).
- 294. K. Relucio, M. Holodniy, HIV-1 RNA and viral load. *Clinics in Laboratory Medicine*. **22**, 593–610 (2002).
- 295. S. H. Bajaria, G. Webb, M. Cloyd, D. Kirschner, Dynamics of naive and memory CD4+ T lymphocytes in HIV-1 disease progression. *J. Acquir. Immune Defic. Syndr.* **30**, 41–58 (2002).
- 296. G. S. Ogg *et al.*, Quantitation of HIV-1-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes and plasma load of viral RNA. *Science*. **279**, 2103–2106 (1998).
- 297. T. Harrer *et al.*, Strong Cytotoxic T Cell and Weak Neutralizing Antibody Responses in a Subset of Persons with Stable Nonprogressing HIV Type 1 Infection. *AIDS Research and Human Retroviruses*. **12**, 585–592 (1996).
- 298. T. Harrer *et al.*, Cytotoxic T lymphocytes in asymptomatic long-term nonprogressing HIV-1 infection. Breadth and specificity of the response and relation to in vivo viral quasispecies in a person with prolonged infection and low viral load. *J Immunol.* **156**, 2616–2623 (1996).
- 299. J. E. Schmitz *et al.*, Control of viremia in simian immunodeficiency virus infection by CD8+ lymphocytes. *Science*. **283**, 857–860 (1999).
- X. Jin *et al.*, Dramatic rise in plasma viremia after CD8(+) T cell depletion in simian immunodeficiency virus-infected macaques. *J Exp Med.* 189, 991–998 (1999).
- 301. T. Matano *et al.*, Administration of an anti-CD8 monoclonal antibody interferes with the clearance of chimeric simian/human immunodeficiency virus during primary infections of rhesus macaques. *Journal of Virology*. **72**, 164–169 (1998).
- 302. R. I. Connor *et al.*, Temporal analyses of virus replication, immune responses, and efficacy in rhesus macaques immunized with a live, attenuated simian immunodeficiency virus vaccine. *Journal of Virology*. **72**, 7501–7509 (1998).
- 303. M. R. Reynolds *et al.*, Macaques vaccinated with live-attenuated SIV control replication of heterologous virus. *J Exp Med.* **205**, 2537–2550 (2008).
- T. C. Friedrich *et al.*, Subdominant CD8+ T-cell responses are involved in durable control of AIDS virus replication. *Journal of Virology*. 81, 3465–3476 (2007).

- 305. H. Yang *et al.*, Antiviral inhibitory capacity of CD8+ T cells predicts the rate of CD4+ T-cell decline in HIV-1 infection. *J Infect Dis.* **206**, 552–561 (2012).
- 306. D. Mendoza *et al.*, Cytotoxic Capacity of SIV-Specific CD8+ T Cells against Primary Autologous Targets Correlates with Immune Control in SIV-Infected Rhesus Macaques. *PLoS Pathog.* **9**, e1003195–12 (2013).
- 307. F. Bernardin, D. Kong, L. Peddada, L. A. Baxter-Lowe, E. Delwart, Human immunodeficiency virus mutations during the first month of infection are preferentially found in known cytotoxic T-lymphocyte epitopes. *Journal of Virology*. **79**, 11523–11528 (2005).
- 308. R. Draenert *et al.*, Immune selection for altered antigen processing leads to cytotoxic T lymphocyte escape in chronic HIV-1 infection. *J Exp Med.* **199**, 905–915 (2004).
- 309. N. A. Jones *et al.*, Determinants of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 escape from the primary CD8+ cytotoxic T lymphocyte response. *J Exp Med.* **200**, 1243–1256 (2004).
- 310. R. A. Koup, Virus escape from CTL recognition. *J Exp Med.* **180**, 779–782 (1994).
- 311. T. M. Allen *et al.*, Selective escape from CD8+ T-cell responses represents a major driving force of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) sequence diversity and reveals constraints on HIV-1 evolution. *Journal of Virology*. **79**, 13239–13249 (2005).
- 312. C. S. Fernandez *et al.*, Rapid viral escape at an immunodominant simian-human immunodeficiency virus cytotoxic T-lymphocyte epitope exacts a dramatic fitness cost. *Journal of Virology*. **79**, 5721–5731 (2005).
- 313. J. Martinez-Picado *et al.*, Fitness cost of escape mutations in p24 Gag in association with control of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. *Journal of Virology*. **80**, 3617–3623 (2006).
- A. Schneidewind *et al.*, Escape from the dominant HLA-B27-restricted cytotoxic T-lymphocyte response in Gag is associated with a dramatic reduction in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication. *Journal of Virology*. 81, 12382– 12393 (2007).
- 315. Z. L. Brumme *et al.*, Marked epitope- and allele-specific differences in rates of mutation in human immunodeficiency type 1 (HIV-1) Gag, Pol, and Nef cytotoxic T-lymphocyte epitopes in acute/early HIV-1 infection. *J Virol.* 82, 9216–9227 (2008).
- 316. E. L. Turnbull *et al.*, Kinetics of expansion of epitope-specific T cell responses during primary HIV-1 infection. *J Immunol*. **182**, 7131–7145 (2009).

- 317. A. B. McDermott, R. A. Koup, CD8(+) T cells in preventing HIV infection and disease. *AIDS*. **26**, 1281–1292 (2012).
- 318. A. McMichael, T cell responses and viral escape. Cell. 93, 673–676 (1998).
- 319. A. J. McMichael, R. E. Phillips, Escape of human immunodeficiency virus from immune control. *Annu Rev Immunol.* **15**, 271–296 (1997).
- 320. T. Mühl, M. Krawczak, P. Ten Haaft, G. Hunsmann, U. Sauermann, MHC class I alleles influence set-point viral load and survival time in simian immunodeficiency virus-infected rhesus monkeys. *J Immunol.* 169, 3438–3446 (2002).
- 321. L. J. Yant *et al.*, The high-frequency major histocompatibility complex class I allele Mamu-B\*17 is associated with control of simian immunodeficiency virus SIVmac239 replication. *Journal of Virology*. **80**, 5074–5077 (2006).
- 322. J. T. Loffredo *et al.*, Mamu-B\*08-positive macaques control simian immunodeficiency virus replication. *Journal of Virology*. **81**, 8827–8832 (2007).
- 323. P. Kiepiela *et al.*, Dominant influence of HLA-B in mediating the potential coevolution of HIV and HLA. *Nature*. **432**, 769–775 (2004).
- 324. Z.-Q. Zhang *et al.*, Mamu-A\*01 allele-mediated attenuation of disease progression in simian-human immunodeficiency virus infection. *Journal of Virology*. **76**, 12845–12854 (2002).
- A. L. Hughes, M. Nei, Pattern of nucleotide substitution at major histocompatibility complex class I loci reveals overdominant selection. *Nature*. 335, 167–170 (1988).
- 326. J. Hennecke, D. C. Wiley, T cell receptor-MHC interactions up close. *Cell*. **104**, 1–4 (2001).
- 327. T. M. Allen *et al.*, Characterization of the peptide binding motif of a rhesus MHC class I molecule (Mamu-A\*01) that binds an immunodominant CTL epitope from simian immunodeficiency virus. *J Immunol*. **160**, 6062–6071 (1998).
- 328. P. J. R. Goulder, B. D. Walker, HIV and HLA class I: an evolving relationship. *Immunity*. **37**, 426–440 (2012).
- 329. M. Carrington *et al.*, HLA and HIV-1: heterozygote advantage and B\*35-Cw\*04 disadvantage. *Science*. **283**, 1748–1752 (1999).
- K. L. Collins, B. K. Chen, S. A. Kalams, B. D. Walker, D. Baltimore, HIV-1 Nef protein protects infected primary cells against killing by cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Nature*. 391, 397–401 (1998).

- 331. C. Y. Cai, X. Zhang, P. J. Sinko, S. J. Burakoff, Y.-J. Jin, Two sorting motifs, a ubiquitination motif and a tyrosine motif, are involved in HIV-1 and simian immunodeficiency virus Nef-mediated receptor endocytosis. *J Immunol.* 186, 5807–5814 (2011).
- 332. M. Q. DeGottardi *et al.*, Selective downregulation of rhesus macaque and sooty mangabey major histocompatibility complex class I molecules by Nef alleles of simian immunodeficiency virus and human immunodeficiency virus type 2. *J Virol.* 82, 3139–3146 (2008).
- 333. A. Khaitan, D. Unutmaz, Revisiting immune exhaustion during HIV infection. *Current HIV/AIDS Reports*. **8**, 4–11 (2011).
- 334. M. El-Far *et al.*, T-cell exhaustion in HIV infection. *Current HIV/AIDS Reports*.
  5, 13–19 (2008).
- 335. P. A. Volberding, S. G. Deeks, Antiretroviral therapy and management of HIV infection. *Lancet.* **376**, 49–62 (2010).
- 336. S. Palmer *et al.*, Low-level viremia persists for at least 7 years in patients on suppressive antiretroviral therapy. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. **105**, 3879–3884 (2008).
- 337. S. G. Deeks *et al.*, Towards an HIV cure: a global scientific strategy. *Nat Rev Immunol.* **12**, 607–614 (2012).
- Q. Abdool Karim *et al.*, Effectiveness and Safety of Tenofovir Gel, an Antiretroviral Microbicide, for the Prevention of HIV Infection in Women. *Science*. 329, 1168–1174 (2010).
- 339. R. M. Grant *et al.*, Preexposure Chemoprophylaxis for HIV Prevention in Men Who Have Sex with Men. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **363**, 2587–2599 (2010).
- 340. J. M. Baeten *et al.*, Antiretroviral prophylaxis for HIV prevention in heterosexual men and women. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **367**, 399–410 (2012).
- 341. K. Choopanya *et al.*, Antiretroviral prophylaxis for HIV infection in injecting drug users in Bangkok, Thailand (the Bangkok Tenofovir Study): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase 3 trial. *Lancet.* **381**, 2083–2090 (2013).
- 342. L. Van Damme *et al.*, Preexposure prophylaxis for HIV infection among African women. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **367**, 411–422 (2012).
- A. J. Hessell *et al.*, Early short-term treatment with neutralizing human monoclonal antibodies halts SHIV infection in infant macaques. *Nat Med.* 22, 362–368 (2016).
- 344. B. Moldt *et al.*, Highly potent HIV-specific antibody neutralization in vitro

translates into effective protection against mucosal SHIV challenge in vivo. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. **109**, 18921–18925 (2012).

- 345. T. W. Baba *et al.*, Human neutralizing monoclonal antibodies of the IgG1 subtype protect against mucosal simian-human immunodeficiency virus infection. *Nat Med.* **6**, 200–206 (2000).
- 346. J. R. Mascola *et al.*, Protection of macaques against vaginal transmission of a pathogenic HIV-1/SIV chimeric virus by passive infusion of neutralizing antibodies. *Nat Med.* **6**, 207–210 (2000).
- 347. B. F. Haynes *et al.*, Immune-correlates analysis of an HIV-1 vaccine efficacy trial. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **366**, 1275–1286 (2012).
- 348. M. Bonsignori *et al.*, Antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity-mediating antibodies from an HIV-1 vaccine efficacy trial target multiple epitopes and preferentially use the VH1 gene family. *J Virol.* **86**, 11521–11532 (2012).
- 349. M. M. Davis, P. J. Bjorkman, T-cell antigen receptor genes and T-cell recognition. *Nature*. **334**, 395–402 (1988).
- 350. T. P. Arstila *et al.*, A direct estimate of the human alphabeta T cell receptor diversity. *Science*. **286**, 958–961 (1999).
- 351. V. Venturi *et al.*, A Mechanism for TCR Sharing between T Cell Subsets and Individuals Revealed by Pyrosequencing. *The Journal of Immunology*. **186**, 4285–4294 (2011).
- 352. E. C. Butcher, L. J. Picker, Lymphocyte homing and homeostasis. *Science*. **272**, 60–66 (1996).
- T. R. Mempel, S. E. Henrickson, U. H. von Andrian, T-cell priming by dendritic cells in lymph nodes occurs in three distinct phases. *Nature*. 427, 154–159 (2004).
- 354. M. L. Kapsenberg, Dendritic-cell control of pathogen-driven T-cell polarization. *Nat Rev Immunol.* **3**, 984–993 (2003).
- 355. J.-H. Wang, E. L. Reinherz, Structural basis of T cell recognition of peptides bound to MHC molecules. *Mol Immunol.* **38**, 1039–1049 (2002).
- L.-A. M. Pozzi, J. W. Maciaszek, K. L. Rock, Both dendritic cells and macrophages can stimulate naive CD8 T cells in vivo to proliferate, develop effector function, and differentiate into memory cells. *J Immunol.* 175, 2071– 2081 (2005).
- 357. Y. D. Mahnke, T. M. Brodie, F. Sallusto, M. Roederer, E. Lugli, The who's who of T-cell differentiation: human memory T-cell subsets. *Eur J Immunol.* **43**,

2797–2809 (2013).

- S. M. Kaech, E. J. Wherry, R. Ahmed, Effector and memory T-cell differentiation: implications for vaccine development. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 2, 251– 262 (2002).
- 359. D. L. Farber, N. A. Yudanin, N. P. Restifo, Human memory T cells: generation, compartmentalization and homeostasis. *Nat Rev Immunol.* **14**, 24–35 (2014).
- 360. F. Sallusto, D. Lenig, R. Förster, M. Lipp, A. Lanzavecchia, Two subsets of memory T lymphocytes with distinct homing potentials and effector functions. *Nature*. **401**, 708–712 (1999).
- F. Sallusto, J. Geginat, A. Lanzavecchia, C entralM emory andE ffectorM emoryT C ellS ubsets: Function, Generation, and Maintenance. *Annu Rev Immunol.* 22, 745–763 (2004).
- H. L. Robinson, R. R. Amara, T cell vaccines for microbial infections. *Nat Med.* 11, S25–32 (2005).
- 363. V. Appay *et al.*, Memory CD8+ T cells vary in differentiation phenotype in different persistent virus infections. *Nat Med.* **8**, 379–385 (2002).
- 364. M.-C. Gauduin *et al.*, Induction of a virus-specific effector-memory CD4+ T cell response by attenuated SIV infection. *J Exp Med.* **203**, 2661–2672 (2006).
- 365. M. R. Pipeling *et al.*, Differential CMV-specific CD8+ effector T cell responses in the lung allograft predominate over the blood during human primary infection. *J Immunol.* **181**, 546–556 (2008).
- 366. T. R. Mosmann, L. Li, S. Sad, Functions of CD8 T-cell subsets secreting different cytokine patterns. *Semin Immunol.* **9**, 87–92 (1997).
- 367. N. N. Kristensen, A. N. Madsen, A. R. Thomsen, J. P. Christensen, Cytokine production by virus-specific CD8(+) T cells varies with activation state and localization, but not with TCR avidity. *J. Gen. Virol.* **85**, 1703–1712 (2004).
- K. R. Demers, M. A. Reuter, M. R. Betts, CD8(+) T-cell effector function and transcriptional regulation during HIV pathogenesis. *Immunol. Rev.* 254, 190–206 (2013).
- C. Svanborg, G. Godaly, M. Hedlund, Cytokine responses during mucosal infections: role in disease pathogenesis and host defence. *Curr. Opin. Microbiol.* 2, 99–103 (1999).
- 370. D. R. Johnson, J. S. Pober, Tumor necrosis factor and immune interferon synergistically increase transcription of HLA class I heavy- and light-chain genes in vascular endothelium. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. **87**, 5183–5187 (1990).

- 371. M. FELDMANN, F. M. BRENNAN, M. J. ELLIOTT, R. O. WILLIAMS, R. N. MAINI, TNF? Is an Effective Therapeutic Target for Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*. **766**, 272–278 (1995).
- 372. P. Scheurich, M. Krönke, C. Schlüter, U. Ucer, K. Pfizenmaier, Noncytocidal mechanisms of action of tumor necrosis factor-alpha on human tumor cells: enhancement of HLA gene expression synergistic with interferon-gamma. *Immunobiology*. **172**, 291–300 (1986).
- 373. M. Groettrup *et al.*, A role for the proteasome regulator PA28alpha in antigen presentation. *Nature*. **381**, 166–168 (1996).
- 374. D. E. Epperson *et al.*, Cytokines increase transporter in antigen processing-1 expression more rapidly than HLA class I expression in endothelial cells. *J Immunol.* **149**, 3297–3301 (1992).
- 375. L. A. Cramer, S. L. Nelson, M. J. Klemsz, Synergistic induction of the Tap-1 gene by IFN-gamma and lipopolysaccharide in macrophages is regulated by STAT1. *J Immunol.* **165**, 3190–3197 (2000).
- D. Wallach, M. Fellous, M. Revel, Preferential effect of gamma interferon on the synthesis of HLA antigens and their mRNAs in human cells. *Nature*. 299, 833– 836 (1982).
- 377. M. Tsujimoto, Y. K. Yip, J. Vilcek, Interferon-gamma enhances expression of cellular receptors for tumor necrosis factor. *J Immunol.* **136**, 2441–2444 (1986).
- 378. X. Xu, X. Y. Fu, J. Plate, A. S. Chong, IFN-gamma induces cell growth inhibition by Fas-mediated apoptosis: requirement of STAT1 protein for up-regulation of Fas and FasL expression. *Cancer Res.* **58**, 2832–2837 (1998).
- 379. I. Voskoboinik, J. C. Whisstock, J. A. Trapani, Perforin and granzymes: function, dysfunction and human pathology. *Nat Rev Immunol.* **15**, 388–400 (2015).
- 380. P. J. Peters *et al.*, Cytotoxic T lymphocyte granules are secretory lysosomes, containing both perform and granzymes. *J Exp Med.* **173**, 1099–1109 (1991).
- S. P. Cullen, S. J. Martin, Mechanisms of granule-dependent killing. *Cell Death Differ.* 15, 251–262 (2008).
- 382. D. Kagi *et al.*, Fas and perforin pathways as major mechanisms of T cellmediated cytotoxicity. *Science*. **265**, 528–530 (1994).
- 383. E. R. Podack, J. D. Young, Z. A. Cohn, Isolation and biochemical and functional characterization of perform 1 from cytolytic T-cell granules. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA. **82**, 8629–8633 (1985).
- 384. M. Fukuda, Lysosomal membrane glycoproteins. Structure, biosynthesis, and

intracellular trafficking. J Biol Chem. 266, 21327-21330 (1991).

- 385. M. H. Y. Chang, L. E. Karageorgos, P. J. Meikle, CD107a (LAMP-1) and CD107b (LAMP-2). *J. Biol. Regul. Homeost. Agents.* **16**, 147–151 (2002).
- 386. P. Waring, A. Müllbacher, Cell death induced by the Fas/Fas ligand pathway and its role in pathology. *Immunol Cell Biol.* **77**, 312–317 (1999).
- S. Lu, Heterologous prime-boost vaccination. *Current Opinion in Immunology*. 21, 346–351 (2009).
- 388. C. L. Parks, L. J. Picker, C. R. King, Development of replication-competent viral vectors for HIV vaccine delivery. *Curr Opin HIV AIDS*. **8**, 401–410 (2013).
- 389. S. P. Buchbinder *et al.*, Efficacy assessment of a cell-mediated immunity HIV-1 vaccine (the Step Study): a double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled, test-of-concept trial. *The Lancet.* **372**, 1881–1893 (2008).
- 390. A. Duerr *et al.*, Extended follow-up confirms early vaccine-enhanced risk of HIV acquisition and demonstrates waning effect over time among participants in a randomized trial of recombinant adenovirus HIV vaccine (Step Study). *J Infect Dis.* 206, 258–266 (2012).
- 391. R. R. Amara *et al.*, Different patterns of immune responses but similar control of a simian-human immunodeficiency virus 89.6P mucosal challenge by modified vaccinia virus Ankara (MVA) and DNA/MVA vaccines. *Journal of Virology*. **76**, 7625–7631 (2002).
- 392. R. R. Amara *et al.*, Control of a mucosal challenge and prevention of AIDS by a multiprotein DNA/MVA vaccine. *Science*. **292**, 69–74 (2001).
- 393. S. G. Hansen *et al.*, Cytomegalovirus vectors violate CD8+ T cell epitope recognition paradigms. *Science*. **340**, 1237874 (2013).
- 394. J. W. Yewdell, Confronting Complexity: Real-World Immunodominance in Antiviral CD8+ T Cell Responses. *Immunity*. **25**, 533–543 (2006).
- K. Irvine, J. Bennink, Factors influencing immunodominance hierarchies in TCD8+ -mediated antiviral responses. *Expert Rev Clin Immunol.* 2, 135–147 (2006).
- N. A. Wilson *et al.*, Vaccine-induced cellular immune responses reduce plasma viral concentrations after repeated low-dose challenge with pathogenic simian immunodeficiency virus SIVmac239. *Journal of Virology*. 80, 5875–5885 (2006).
- 397. A. K. Sasikala-Appukuttan *et al.*, Location and dynamics of the immunodominant CD8 T cell response to SIVΔnef immunization and

SIVmac251 vaginal challenge. PLoS One. 8, e81623 (2013).

- S. Y. Kim, R. Byrn, J. Groopman, D. Baltimore, Temporal aspects of DNA and RNA synthesis during human immunodeficiency virus infection: evidence for differential gene expression. *Journal of Virology*. 63, 3708–3713 (1989).
- J. B. Sacha *et al.*, Gag-specific CD8+ T lymphocytes recognize infected cells before AIDS-virus integration and viral protein expression. *J Immunol.* 178, 2746–2754 (2007).
- J. B. Sacha *et al.*, Pol-Specific CD8+ T Cells Recognize Simian Immunodeficiency Virus-Infected Cells Prior to Nef-Mediated Major Histocompatibility Complex Class I Downregulation. *Journal of Virology*. 81, 11703–11712 (2007).
- 401. A. Brussel, P. Sonigo, Analysis of early human immunodeficiency virus type 1 DNA synthesis by use of a new sensitive assay for quantifying integrated provirus. *Journal of Virology*. **77**, 10119–10124 (2003).
- 402. A. Ranki, A. Lagerstedt, V. Ovod, E. Aavik, K. J. Krohn, Expression kinetics and subcellular localization of HIV-1 regulatory proteins Nef, Tat and Rev in acutely and chronically infected lymphoid cell lines. *Arch Virol.* **139**, 365–378 (1994).
- 403. P. Kiepiela *et al.*, CD8+ T-cell responses to different HIV proteins have discordant associations with viral load. *Nat Med.* **13**, 46–53 (2007).
- 404. M. Rolland *et al.*, Broad and Gag-biased HIV-1 epitope repertoires are associated with lower viral loads. *PLoS One*. **3**, e1424 (2008).
- 405. F. O. Pettersen, K. Taskén, D. Kvale, Combined Env- and Gag-specific T cell responses in relation to programmed death-1 receptor and CD4 T cell loss rates in human immunodeficiency virus-1 infection. *Clin Exp Immunol.* **161**, 315–323 (2010).
- 406. L. R. McKinnon *et al.*, HIV-specific CD8+ T-cell proliferation is prospectively associated with delayed disease progression. *Immunol Cell Biol.* **90**, 346–351 (2012).
- 407. R. Kaul *et al.*, HIV-1 Env-specific cytotoxic T-lymphocyte responses in exposed, uninfected Kenyan sex workers. *AIDS*. **18**, 2087–2089 (2004).
- 408. J. B. Sacha *et al.*, Differential Antigen Presentation Kinetics of CD8+ T-Cell Epitopes Derived from the Same Viral Protein. *Journal of Virology*. **82**, 9293–9298 (2008).
- 409. J. B. Sacha *et al.*, Simian Immunodeficiency Virus-Specific CD8+ T Cells Recognize Vpr- and Rev-Derived Epitopes Early after Infection. *Journal of*

Virology. 84, 10907-10912 (2010).

- 410. P. Kunwar *et al.*, Superior control of HIV-1 replication by CD8+ T cells targeting conserved epitopes: implications for HIV vaccine design. *PLoS One.* **8**, e64405 (2013).
- 411. S. A. Migueles, M. Connors, Success and failure of the cellular immune response against HIV-1. *Nat Immunol.* **16**, 563–570 (2015).
- 412. L. Yue *et al.*, Transmitted virus fitness and host T cell responses collectively define divergent infection outcomes in two HIV-1 recipients. *PLoS Pathog.* **11**, e1004565 (2015).
- 413. M. R. Betts *et al.*, HIV nonprogressors preferentially maintain highly functional HIV-specific CD8+ T cells. *Blood*. **107**, 4781–4789 (2006).
- 414. J. R. Almeida *et al.*, Superior control of HIV-1 replication by CD8+ T cells is reflected by their avidity, polyfunctionality, and clonal turnover. *J Exp Med.* **204**, 2473–2485 (2007).
- 415. C. Riou *et al.*, Differential impact of magnitude, polyfunctional capacity, and specificity of HIV-specific CD8+ T cell responses on HIV set point. *J Virol.* **88**, 1819–1824 (2014).
- 416. C. L. Day *et al.*, Proliferative capacity of epitope-specific CD8 T-cell responses is inversely related to viral load in chronic human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. *Journal of Virology*. **81**, 434–438 (2007).
- 417. H. Horton *et al.*, Preservation of T cell proliferation restricted by protective HLA alleles is critical for immune control of HIV-1 infection. *J Immunol.* **177**, 7406–7415 (2006).
- 418. S. A. Migueles *et al.*, Lytic granule loading of CD8+ T cells is required for HIVinfected cell elimination associated with immune control. *Immunity*. **29**, 1009– 1021 (2008).
- 419. O. O. Yang *et al.*, Efficient lysis of human immunodeficiency virus type 1infected cells by cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Journal of Virology*. **70**, 5799–5806 (1996).
- 420. B. Mothe *et al.*, CTL responses of high functional avidity and broad variant cross-reactivity are associated with HIV control. *PLoS One*. **7**, e29717 (2012).
- 421. P. W. Berman *et al.*, Protection of chimpanzees from infection by HIV-1 after vaccination with recombinant glycoprotein gp120 but not gp160. *Nature*. **345**, 622–625 (1990).
- 422. M. Girard et al., Immunization of chimpanzees confers protection against

challenge with human immunodeficiency virus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. **88**, 542–546 (1991).

- 423. R. B. Belshe *et al.*, Neutralizing antibodies to HIV-1 in seronegative volunteers immunized with recombinant gp120 from the MN strain of HIV-1. NIAID AIDS Vaccine Clinical Trials Network. *JAMA*. **272**, 475–480 (1994).
- 424. P. Pitisuttithum *et al.*, Phase I/II Study of a Candidate Vaccine Designed Against the B and E Subtypes of HIV-1. *J. Acquir. Immune Defic. Syndr.* **37**, 1160–1165 (2004).
- 425. N. M. Flynn *et al.*, Placebo-controlled phase 3 trial of a recombinant glycoprotein 120 vaccine to prevent HIV-1 infection. *J Infect Dis.* **191**, 654–665 (2005).
- 426. P. B. Gilbert *et al.*, Correlation between immunologic responses to a recombinant glycoprotein 120 vaccine and incidence of HIV-1 infection in a phase 3 HIV-1 preventive vaccine trial. *J Infect Dis.* **191**, 666–677 (2005).
- 427. P. B. Gilbert *et al.*, HIV-1 virologic and immunologic progression and initiation of antiretroviral therapy among HIV-1-infected subjects in a trial of the efficacy of recombinant glycoprotein 120 vaccine. *J Infect Dis.* **192**, 974–983 (2005).
- 428. P. Pitisuttithum *et al.*, Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled efficacy trial of a bivalent recombinant glycoprotein 120 HIV-1 vaccine among injection drug users in Bangkok, Thailand. *J Infect Dis.* **194**, 1661–1671 (2006).
- 429. L. Corey *et al.*, HIV-1 vaccines and adaptive trial designs. *Sci Transl Med.* **3**, 79ps13–79ps13 (2011).
- J. H. Kim, J.-L. Excler, N. L. Michael, Lessons from the RV144 Thai phase III HIV-1 vaccine trial and the search for correlates of protection. *Annu Rev Med.* 66, 423–437 (2015).
- 431. M. Rolland *et al.*, Genetic impact of vaccination on breakthrough HIV-1 sequences from the STEP trial. *Nat Med.* **17**, 366–371 (2011).
- 432. G. E. Gray *et al.*, Recombinant adenovirus type 5 HIV gag/pol/nef vaccine in South Africa: unblinded, long-term follow-up of the phase 2b HVTN 503/Phambili study. *Lancet Infect Dis.* **14**, 388–396 (2014).
- 433. G. E. Gray *et al.*, Safety and efficacy of the HVTN 503/Phambili study of a clade-B-based HIV-1 vaccine in South Africa: a double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled test-of-concept phase 2b study. *Lancet Infect Dis.* **11**, 507–515 (2011).
- 434. M. R. Reynolds *et al.*, A trivalent recombinant Ad5 gag/pol/nef vaccine fails to protect rhesus macaques from infection or control virus replication after a

limiting-dose heterologous SIV challenge. Vaccine. 30, 4465-4475 (2012).

- 435. H. Qureshi *et al.*, Low-dose penile SIVmac251 exposure of rhesus macaques infected with adenovirus type 5 (Ad5) and then immunized with a replication-defective Ad5-based SIV gag/pol/nef vaccine recapitulates the results of the phase IIb step trial of a similar HIV-1 vaccine. *J Virol.* **86**, 2239–2250 (2012).
- 436. S. Rerks-Ngarm *et al.*, Vaccination with ALVAC and AIDSVAX to prevent HIV-1 infection in Thailand. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **361**, 2209–2220 (2009).
- 437. C. Karnasuta *et al.*, Antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxic responses in participants enrolled in a phase I/II ALVAC-HIV/AIDSVAX B/E prime-boost HIV-1 vaccine trial in Thailand. *Vaccine*. **23**, 2522–2529 (2005).
- 438. S. Nitayaphan *et al.*, Safety and immunogenicity of an HIV subtype B and E prime-boost vaccine combination in HIV-negative Thai adults. *J Infect Dis.* **190**, 702–706 (2004).
- 439. F. Nawaz *et al.*, The genotype of early-transmitting HIV gp120s promotes  $\alpha$  (4)  $\beta$ (7)-reactivity, revealing  $\alpha$  (4)  $\beta$ (7) +/CD4+ T cells as key targets in mucosal transmission. *PLoS Pathog.* **7**, e1001301 (2011).
- 440. M. K. Gorny *et al.*, Identification of a new quaternary neutralizing epitope on human immunodeficiency virus type 1 virus particles. *Journal of Virology*. **79**, 5232–5237 (2005).
- 441. L. M. Walker *et al.*, Broad and potent neutralizing antibodies from an African donor reveal a new HIV-1 vaccine target. *Science*. **326**, 285–289 (2009).
- 442. A. Changela *et al.*, Crystal structure of human antibody 2909 reveals conserved features of quaternary structure-specific antibodies that potently neutralize HIV-1. *J Virol.* **85**, 2524–2535 (2011).
- 443. J. S. McLellan *et al.*, Structure of HIV-1 gp120 V1/V2 domain with broadly neutralizing antibody PG9. *Nature*. **480**, 336–343 (2011).
- 444. H.-X. Liao *et al.*, Vaccine induction of antibodies against a structurally heterogeneous site of immune pressure within HIV-1 envelope protein variable regions 1 and 2. *Immunity*. **38**, 176–186 (2013).
- 445. S. Rerks-Ngarm *et al.*, Extended evaluation of the virologic, immunologic, and clinical course of volunteers who acquired HIV-1 infection in a phase III vaccine trial of ALVAC-HIV and AIDSVAX B/E. *J Infect Dis.* **207**, 1195–1205 (2013).
- 446. S. M. Hammer *et al.*, Efficacy trial of a DNA/rAd5 HIV-1 preventive vaccine. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **369**, 2083–2092 (2013).
- 447. N. L. Letvin et al., Immune and Genetic Correlates of Vaccine Protection

Against Mucosal Infection by SIV in Monkeys. *Sci Transl Med.* **3**, 81ra36–81ra36 (2011).

- 448. J. W. Shiver *et al.*, Replication-incompetent adenoviral vaccine vector elicits effective anti-immunodeficiency-virus immunity. *Nature*. **415**, 331–335 (2002).
- 449. D. R. Casimiro *et al.*, Attenuation of simian immunodeficiency virus SIVmac239 infection by prophylactic immunization with dna and recombinant adenoviral vaccine vectors expressing Gag. *Journal of Virology*. **79**, 15547–15555 (2005).
- 450. S. G. Hansen *et al.*, Profound early control of highly pathogenic SIV by an effector memory T-cell vaccine. *Nature*. **473**, 523–527 (2011).
- 451. N. L. Letvin *et al.*, Preserved CD4+ central memory T cells and survival in vaccinated SIV-challenged monkeys. *Science*. **312**, 1530–1533 (2006).
- 452. B. R. Mothé *et al.*, Expression of the major histocompatibility complex class I molecule Mamu-A\*01 is associated with control of simian immunodeficiency virus SIVmac239 replication. *Journal of Virology*. **77**, 2736–2740 (2003).
- 453. H. Meyer, G. Sutter, A. Mayr, Mapping of deletions in the genome of the highly attenuated vaccinia virus MVA and their influence on virulence. *J. Gen. Virol.* **72** (**Pt 5**), 1031–1038 (1991).
- 454. S. S. Iyer, R. R. Amara, DNA/MVA Vaccines for HIV/AIDS. *Vaccines (Basel)*.
   2, 160–178 (2014).
- 455. A. Seth *et al.*, Immunization with a modified vaccinia virus expressing simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV) Gag-Pol primes for an anamnestic Gag-specific cytotoxic T-lymphocyte response and is associated with reduction of viremia after SIV challenge. *Journal of Virology*. **74**, 2502–2509 (2000).
- 456. I. Ourmanov *et al.*, Comparative Efficacy of Recombinant Modified Vaccinia Virus Ankara Expressing Simian Immunodeficiency Virus (SIV) Gag-Pol and/or Env in Macaques Challenged with Pathogenic SIV. *Journal of Virology*. **74**, 2740–2751 (2000).
- 457. S. Sadagopal *et al.*, Signature for long-term vaccine-mediated control of a Simian and human immunodeficiency virus 89.6P challenge: stable low-breadth and low-frequency T-cell response capable of coproducing gamma interferon and interleukin-2. *Journal of Virology*. **79**, 3243–3253 (2005).
- 458. R. R. Amara *et al.*, Studies using a viral challenge and CD8 T cell depletions on the roles of cellular and humoral immunity in the control of an SHIV-89.6P challenge in DNA/MVA-vaccinated macaques. *Virology*. **343**, 246–255 (2005).
- 459. R. R. Amara *et al.*, Critical role for Env as well as Gag-Pol in control of a simian-human immunodeficiency virus 89.6P challenge by a DNA

prime/recombinant modified vaccinia virus Ankara vaccine. *Journal of Virology*. **76**, 6138–6146 (2002).

- 460. S. Sadagopal *et al.*, Expansion and exhaustion of T-cell responses during mutational escape from long-term viral control in two DNA/modified vaccinia virus Ankara-vaccinated and simian-human immunodeficiency virus SHIV-89.6P-challenged macaques. *J Virol.* **82**, 4149–4153 (2008).
- 461. H. Horton *et al.*, Immunization of rhesus macaques with a DNA prime/modified vaccinia virus Ankara boost regimen induces broad simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV)-specific T-cell responses and reduces initial viral replication but does not prevent disease progression following challenge with pathogenic SIVmac239. *Journal of Virology*. **76**, 7187–7202 (2002).
- M. D. Daniel, F. Kirchhoff, S. C. Czajak, P. K. Sehgal, R. C. Desrosiers, Protective effects of a live attenuated SIV vaccine with a deletion in the nef gene. *Science*. 258, 1938–1941 (1992).
- 463. M. S. Wyand, K. H. Manson, M. Garcia-Moll, D. Montefiori, R. C. Desrosiers, Vaccine protection by a triple deletion mutant of simian immunodeficiency virus. *Journal of Virology*. **70**, 3724–3733 (1996).
- 464. M. R. Reynolds *et al.*, Macaques vaccinated with simian immunodeficiency virus SIVmac239Delta nef delay acquisition and control replication after repeated low-dose heterologous SIV challenge. *J Virol.* **84**, 9190–9199 (2010).
- 465. R. P. Johnson *et al.*, Induction of vigorous cytotoxic T-lymphocyte responses by live attenuated simian immunodeficiency virus. *Journal of Virology*. **71**, 7711–7718 (1997).
- 466. Y. Fukazawa *et al.*, Lymph node T cell responses predict the efficacy of live attenuated SIV vaccines. *Nat Med.* **18**, 1673–1681 (2012).
- 467. K. J. Metzner *et al.*, Effects of in vivo CD8(+) T cell depletion on virus replication in rhesus macaques immunized with a live, attenuated simian immunodeficiency virus vaccine. *J Exp Med.* **191**, 1921–1931 (2000).
- 468. S. Adnan *et al.*, CD8 T cell response maturation defined by anentropic specificity and repertoire depth correlates with SIV∆nef-induced protection. *PLoS Pathog.* 11, e1004633 (2015).
- 469. M. Genescà *et al.*, Protective attenuated lentivirus immunization induces SIVspecific T cells in the genital tract of rhesus monkeys. *Mucosal Immunol.* **1**, 219– 228 (2008).
- 470. J. B. Whitney, R. M. Ruprecht, Live attenuated HIV vaccines: pitfalls and prospects. *Curr. Opin. Infect. Dis.* **17**, 17–26 (2004).

- 471. J. P. Bilello *et al.*, Vaccine protection against simian immunodeficiency virus in monkeys using recombinant gamma-2 herpesvirus. *J Virol.* **85**, 12708–12720 (2011).
- 472. N. F. Rose *et al.*, An effective AIDS vaccine based on live attenuated vesicular stomatitis virus recombinants. *Cell*. **106**, 539–549 (2001).
- 473. J. B. Schell *et al.*, Significant protection against high-dose simian immunodeficiency virus challenge conferred by a new prime-boost vaccine regimen. *J Virol.* **85**, 5764–5772 (2011).
- 474. M. L. Marthas *et al.*, Partial efficacy of a VSV-SIV/MVA-SIV vaccine regimen against oral SIV challenge in infant macaques. *Vaccine*. **29**, 3124–3137 (2011).
- 475. K. K. A. Van Rompay *et al.*, Immunogenicity of viral vector, prime-boost SIV vaccine regimens in infant rhesus macaques: attenuated vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV) and modified vaccinia Ankara (MVA) recombinant SIV vaccines compared to live-attenuated SIV. *Vaccine*. **28**, 1481–1492 (2010).
- 476. J. Schell *et al.*, Long-term vaccine protection from AIDS and clearance of viral DNA following SHIV89.6P challenge. *Vaccine*. **27**, 979–986 (2009).
- 477. M. A. Egan *et al.*, Priming with plasmid DNAs expressing interleukin-12 and simian immunodeficiency virus gag enhances the immunogenicity and efficacy of an experimental AIDS vaccine based on recombinant vesicular stomatitis virus. *AIDS Research and Human Retroviruses*. **21**, 629–643 (2005).
- 478. E. J. Faul *et al.*, Rabies virus-based vaccines elicit neutralizing antibodies, polyfunctional CD8+ T cell, and protect rhesus macaques from AIDS-like disease after SIV(mac251) challenge. *Vaccine*. **28**, 299–308 (2009).
- T. Matano *et al.*, Cytotoxic T lymphocyte-based control of simian immunodeficiency virus replication in a preclinical AIDS vaccine trial. *J Exp Med.* 199, 1709–1718 (2004).
- 480. M. Kawada *et al.*, Long-term control of simian immunodeficiency virus replication with central memory CD4+ T-cell preservation after nonsterile protection by a cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-based vaccine. *Journal of Virology*. **81**, 5202–5211 (2007).
- 481. S. G. Hansen *et al.*, Immune clearance of highly pathogenic SIV infection. *Nature*. **502**, 100–104 (2013).
- 482. J. Neefjes, M. L. M. Jongsma, P. Paul, O. Bakke, Towards a systems understanding of MHC class I and MHC class II antigen presentation. *Nature Reviews Immunology* (2011), doi:10.1038/nri3084.
- 483. G. Pietra, C. Romagnani, C. Manzini, L. Moretta, M. C. Mingari, The emerging

role of HLA-E-restricted CD8+ T lymphocytes in the adaptive immune response to pathogens and tumors. *J Biomed Biotechnol.* **2010**, 907092 (2010).

- 484. R. M. Zinkernagel, P. C. DOHERTY, Restriction of in vitro T cell-mediated cytotoxicity in lymphocytic choriomeningitis within a syngeneic or semiallogeneic system. *Nature*. **248**, 701–702 (1974).
- 485. R. N. Germain, MHC-dependent antigen processing and peptide presentation: Providing ligands for T lymphocyte activation. *Cell.* **76**, 287–299 (1994).
- 486. P. J. Bjorkman *et al.*, The foreign antigen binding site and T cell recognition regions of class I histocompatibility antigens. *Nature*. **329**, 512–518 (1987).
- 487. K. C. Garcia *et al.*, An alpha beta T Cell Receptor Structure at 2.5 A and Its Orientation in the TCR-MHC Complex. *Science*. **274**, 209–219 (1996).
- 488. D. N. Garboczi *et al.*, Structure of the complex between human T-cell receptor, viral peptide and HLA-A2. *Nature*. **384**, 134–141 (1996).
- 489. E. S. Lander *et al.*, Initial sequencing and analysis of the human genome. *Nature*. **409**, 860–921 (2001).
- 490. V. Steimle, C. A. Siegrist, A. Mottet, B. Lisowska-Grospierre, B. Mach, Regulation of MHC class II expression by interferon-gamma mediated by the transactivator gene CIITA. *Science*. **265**, 106–109 (1994).
- 491. S. M. Shawar, J. M. Vyas, J. R. Rodgers, R. R. Rich, Antigen presentation by major histocompatibility complex class I-B molecules. *Annu Rev Immunol.* **12**, 839–880 (1994).
- 492. J. Robinson *et al.*, The IMGT/HLA database. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **39**, D1171–6 (2011).
- 493. G. M. van Bleek, S. G. Nathenson, Presentation of antigenic peptides by MHC class I molecules. *Trends in Cell Biology*. **2**, 202–207 (1992).
- 494. K. Falk, O. Rötzschke, S. Stevanovié, G. Jung, H.-G. Rammensee, Allelespecific motifs revealed by sequencing of self-peptides eluted from MHC molecules. *Nature*. **351**, 290–296 (1991).
- 495. W. K. Potts, P. R. Slev, Pathogen-Based Models Favoring MHC Genetic Diversity. *Immunol. Rev.* **143**, 181–197 (1995).
- 496. The MHC sequencing consortium, Complete sequence and gene map of a human major histocompatibility complex. The MHC sequencing consortium. *Nature*.
  401, 921–923 (1999).
- 497. Genetic divergence of the rhesus macaque major histocompatibility complex.

Genome Res. 14, 1501–1515 (2004).

- 498. N. Otting *et al.*, Unparalleled complexity of the MHC class I region in rhesus macaques. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. **102**, 1626–1631 (2005).
- 499. M. J. Bijlmakers, H. L. Ploegh, Putting together an MHC class I molecule. *Curr Opin Immunol.* **5**, 21–26 (1993).
- 500. M. G. Rudolph, R. L. Stanfield, I. A. Wilson, HOW TCRS BIND MHCS, PEPTIDES, AND CORECEPTORS. *Annu Rev Immunol.* **24**, 419–466 (2006).
- 501. G. F. Gao *et al.*, Crystal structure of the complex between human CD8alpha(alpha) and HLA-A2. *Nature*. **387**, 630–634 (1997).
- 502. A. L. Goldberg, P. Cascio, T. Saric, K. L. Rock, The importance of the proteasome and subsequent proteolytic steps in the generation of antigenic peptides. *Molecular Immunology*. **39**, 147–164 (2002).
- 503. P. Cascio, Properties of the hybrid form of the 26S proteasome containing both 19S and PA28 complexes. *The EMBO Journal*. **21**, 2636–2645 (2002).
- 504. U. Schubert *et al.*, Rapid degradation of a large fraction of newly synthesized proteins by proteasomes. *Nature*. **404**, 770–774 (2000).
- B. Lankat-Buttgereit, R. Tampé, The transporter associated with antigen processing: function and implications in human diseases. *Physiological Reviews*. 82, 187–204 (2002).
- 506. S. Gorbulev, R. Abele, R. Tampé, Allosteric crosstalk between peptide-binding, transport, and ATP hydrolysis of the ABC transporter TAP. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA. **98**, 3732–3737 (2001).
- 507. M. Bouvier, Accessory proteins and the assembly of human class I MHC molecules: a molecular and structural perspective. *Mol Immunol.* **39**, 697–706 (2003).
- 508. M. Sugita, An unstable beta 2-microglobulin: major histocompatibility complex class I heavy chain intermediate dissociates from calnexin and then is stabilized by binding peptide. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*. **180**, 2163–2171 (1994).
- 509. W. Suh *et al.*, Interaction of MHC class I molecules with the transporter associated with antigen processing. *Science*. **264**, 1322–1326 (1994).
- 510. B. Sadasivan, P. J. Lehner, B. Ortmann, T. Spies, P. Cresswell, Roles for Calreticulin and a Novel Glycoprotein, Tapasin, in the Interaction of MHC Class I Molecules with TAP. *Immunity*. 5, 103–114 (1996).
- 511. B. Ortmann, M. J. Androlewicz, P. Cresswell, MHC class l/β2-microglobulin

complexes associate with TAP transporters before peptide binding. *Nature*. **368**, 864–867 (1994).

- 512. J. W. Lewis, A. Neisig, J. Neefjes, T. Elliott, Point mutations in the α2 domain of HLA-A2.1 define a functionally relevant interaction with TAP. *Current Biology*. 6, 873–883 (1996).
- A. L. Peace-Brewer *et al.*, A Point Mutation in HLA-A\*0201 Results in Failure to Bind the TAP Complex and to Present Virus-Derived Peptides to CTL. *Immunity.* 4, 505–514 (1996).
- 514. A. Williams, C. A. Peh, T. Elliott, The cell biology of MHC class I antigen presentation. *Tissue Antigens*. **59**, 3–17 (2002).
- 515. J. W. Yewdell, A. B. Hill, Viral interference with antigen presentation. *Nat Immunol.* **3**, 1019–1025 (2002).
- 516. M. C. Verweij *et al.*, Viral inhibition of the transporter associated with antigen processing (TAP): a striking example of functional convergent evolution. *PLoS Pathog.* **11**, e1004743 (2015).
- 517. E. M. Bennett, J. R. Bennink, J. W. Yewdell, F. M. Brodsky, Cutting edge: adenovirus E19 has two mechanisms for affecting class I MHC expression. *J Immunol.* **162**, 5049–5052 (1999).
- 518. C. J. Aldrich, J. R. Rodgers, R. R. Rich, Regulation of Qa-1 expression and determinant modification by an H-2D-linked gene, Qdm. *Immunogenetics*. **28**, 334–344 (1988).
- 519. L. Kveberg *et al.*, Two complementary rat NK cell subsets, Ly49s3+ and NKR-P1B+, differ in phenotypic characteristics and responsiveness to cytokines. *J Leukoc Biol.* **88**, 87–93 (2010).
- 520. B. H. Koller, D. E. Geraghty, Y. Shimizu, R. DeMars, H. T. Orr, HLA-E. A novel HLA class I gene expressed in resting T lymphocytes. *J Immunol.* 141, 897–904 (1988).
- 521. J. E. Boyson *et al.*, The MHC E locus in macaques is polymorphic and is conserved between macaques and humans. *Immunogenetics*. **41**, 59–68 (1995).
- 522. M. Alvarez *et al.*, High polymorphism of Mhc-E locus in non-human primates: alleles with identical exon 2 and 3 are found in two different species. *Tissue Antigens*. **49**, 160–167 (1997).
- 523. A. Arnaiz-Villena *et al.*, Primate mhc-E and -G alleles. *Immunogenetics*. **47**, 281 (1998).
- 524. L. A. Knapp, L. F. Cadavid, D. I. Watkins, The MHC-E locus is the most well

conserved of all known primate class I histocompatibility genes. *J Immunol*. **160**, 189–196 (1998).

- 525. X. H. Wei, H. T. Orr, Differential expression of HLA-E, HLA-F, and HLA-G transcripts in human tissue. *Hum Immunol.* **29**, 131–142 (1990).
- 526. N. Lee *et al.*, HLA-E is a major ligand for the natural killer inhibitory receptor CD94/NKG2A. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. **95**, 5199–5204 (1998).
- 527. C. A. O'Callaghan *et al.*, Structural features impose tight peptide binding specificity in the nonclassical MHC molecule HLA-E. *Mol Cell.* **1**, 531–541 (1998).
- 528. V. M. Braud, D. S. Allan, D. Wilson, A. J. McMichael, TAP- and tapasindependent HLA-E surface expression correlates with the binding of an MHC class I leader peptide. *Curr Biol.* **8**, 1–10 (1998).
- 529. V. Braud, E. Y. Jones, A. McMichael, The human major histocompatibility complex class Ib molecule HLA-E binds signal sequence-derived peptides with primary anchor residues at positions 2 and 9. *Eur J Immunol.* **27**, 1164–1169 (1997).
- 530. N. Lee, D. R. Goodlett, A. Ishitani, H. Marquardt, D. E. Geraghty, HLA-E surface expression depends on binding of TAP-dependent peptides derived from certain HLA class I signal sequences. *J Immunol.* **160**, 4951–4960 (1998).
- 531. H. Furukawa *et al.*, Cell surface expression of HLA-E molecules on PBMC from a TAP1-deficient patient. *Tissue Antigens*. **53**, 292–295 (1999).
- 532. V. M. Braud *et al.*, HLA-E binds to natural killer cell receptors CD94/NKG2A, B and C. *Nature*. **391**, 795–799 (1998).
- 533. F. Borrego, M. Masilamani, A. I. Marusina, X. Tang, J. E. Coligan, The CD94/NKG2 family of receptors: from molecules and cells to clinical relevance. *Immunol. Res.* 35, 263–278 (2006).
- 534. F. Borrego, M. Ulbrecht, E. H. Weiss, J. E. Coligan, A. G. Brooks, Recognition of human histocompatibility leukocyte antigen (HLA)-E complexed with HLA class I signal sequence-derived peptides by CD94/NKG2 confers protection from natural killer cell-mediated lysis. *J Exp Med.* 187, 813–818 (1998).
- 535. M. Carretero *et al.*, Specific engagement of the CD94/NKG2-A killer inhibitory receptor by the HLA-E class Ib molecule induces SHP-1 phosphatase recruitment to tyrosine-phosphorylated NKG2-A: evidence for receptor function in heterologous transfectants. *Eur J Immunol.* **28**, 1280–1291 (1998).
- 536. A. G. Brooks *et al.*, Specific recognition of HLA-E, but not classical, HLA class I molecules by soluble CD94/NKG2A and NK cells. *J Immunol*. **162**, 305–313

(1999).

- 537. M. Llano *et al.*, HLA-E-bound peptides influence recognition by inhibitory and triggering CD94/NKG2 receptors: preferential response to an HLA-G-derived nonamer. *Eur J Immunol.* **28**, 2854–2863 (1998).
- 538. R. E. Vance, J. R. Kraft, J. D. Altman, P. E. Jensen, D. H. Raulet, Mouse CD94/NKG2A is a natural killer cell receptor for the nonclassical major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I molecule Qa-1(b). *J Exp Med.* 188, 1841–1848 (1998).
- 539. D. I. Watkins *et al.*, Unusually limited nucleotide sequence variation of the expressed major histocompatibility complex class I genes of a New World primate species (Saguinus oedipus). *Immunogenetics*. **33**, 79–89 (1991).
- 540. R. K. Strong *et al.*, HLA-E allelic variants. Correlating differential expression, peptide affinities, crystal structures, and thermal stabilities. *J Biol Chem.* **278**, 5082–5090 (2003).
- 541. M. Ulbrecht *et al.*, Cell surface expression of HLA-E: interaction with human beta2-microglobulin and allelic differences. *Eur J Immunol.* **29**, 537–547 (1999).
- 542. S. Maier, M. Grzeschik, E. H. Weiss, M. Ulbrecht, Implications of HLA-E allele expression and different HLA-E ligand diversity for the regulation of NK cells. *Hum Immunol.* **61**, 1059–1065 (2000).
- 543. T. Kraemer *et al.*, HLA-E: Presentation of a Broader Peptide Repertoire Impacts the Cellular Immune Response—Implications on HSCT Outcome. *Stem Cells International.* **2015**, 1–12 (2015).
- 544. A. A. Celik, T. Kraemer, T. Huyton, R. Blasczyk, C. Bade-Döding, The diversity of the HLA-E-restricted peptide repertoire explains the immunological impact of the Arg107Gly mismatch. *Immunogenetics*. **68**, 29–41 (2016).
- 545. C. Grimsley, C. Ober, Population genetic studies of HLA-E: evidence for selection. *Hum Immunol.* **52**, 33–40 (1997).
- M. Ulbrecht *et al.*, Cutting edge: the human cytomegalovirus UL40 gene product contains a ligand for HLA-E and prevents NK cell-mediated lysis. *J Immunol.* 164, 5019–5022 (2000).
- 547. C. Cerboni *et al.*, Synergistic effect of IFN-gamma and human cytomegalovirus protein UL40 in the HLA-E-dependent protection from NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity. *Eur J Immunol.* **31**, 2926–2935 (2001).
- 548. E. C. Y. Wang *et al.*, UL40-mediated NK evasion during productive infection with human cytomegalovirus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. **99**, 7570–7575 (2002).

- 549. J. Nattermann *et al.*, HIV-1 infection leads to increased HLA-E expression resulting in impaired function of natural killer cells. *Antivir Ther.* **10**, 95–107 (2005).
- 550. J. Nattermann *et al.*, The HLA-A2 restricted T cell epitope HCV core 35-44 stabilizes HLA-E expression and inhibits cytolysis mediated by natural killer cells. *Am J Pathol.* **166**, 443–453 (2005).
- 551. H. G. Bouwer, M. S. Seaman, J. Forman, D. J. Hinrichs, MHC class Ib-restricted cells contribute to antilisterial immunity: evidence for Qa-1b as a key restricting element for Listeria-specific CTLs. *J Immunol.* **159**, 2795–2801 (1997).
- 552. W. F. Lo, H. Ong, E. S. Metcalf, M. J. Soloski, T cell responses to Gramnegative intracellular bacterial pathogens: a role for CD8+ T cells in immunity to Salmonella infection and the involvement of MHC class Ib molecules. *J Immunol.* **162**, 5398–5406 (1999).
- 553. W. F. Lo *et al.*, Molecular mimicry mediated by MHC class Ib molecules after infection with gram-negative pathogens. *Nat Med.* **6**, 215–218 (2000).
- 554. U. Zügel, S. H. Kaufmann, Activation of CD8 T cells with specificity for mycobacterial heat shock protein 60 in Mycobacterium bovis bacillus Calmette-Guérin-vaccinated mice. *Infection and Immunity*. **65**, 3947–3950 (1997).
- 555. P. García *et al.*, Human T cell receptor-mediated recognition of HLA-E. *Eur J Immunol.* **32**, 936–944 (2002).
- 556. J. Li, I. Goldstein, E. Glickman-Nir, H. Jiang, L. Chess, Induction of TCR Vbetaspecific CD8+ CTLs by TCR Vbeta-derived peptides bound to HLA-E. *J Immunol.* 167, 3800–3808 (2001).
- 557. A. S. S. Heinzel *et al.*, HLA-E-dependent Presentation of Mtb-derived Antigen to Human CD8+ T Cells. *J Exp Med.* **196**, 1473–1481 (2002).
- 558. G. Pietra *et al.*, HLA-E-restricted recognition of cytomegalovirus-derived peptides by human CD8+ cytolytic T lymphocytes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. **100**, 10896–10901 (2003).
- 559. P. Mazzarino *et al.*, Identification of effector-memory CMV-specific T lymphocytes that kill CMV-infected target cells in an HLA-E-restricted fashion. *Eur J Immunol.* **35**, 3240–3247 (2005).
- 560. R. Salerno-Goncalves, M. Fernandez-Viña, D. M. Lewinsohn, M. B. Sztein, Identification of a human HLA-E-restricted CD8+ T cell subset in volunteers immunized with Salmonella enterica serovar Typhi strain Ty21a typhoid vaccine. *J Immunol.* 173, 5852–5862 (2004).
- 561. D. Schulte *et al.*, The HLA-E(R)/HLA-E(R) genotype affects the natural course

of hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection and is associated with HLA-E-restricted recognition of an HCV-derived peptide by interferon-gamma-secreting human CD8(+) T cells. *J Infect Dis.* **200**, 1397–1401 (2009).

- 562. L. A. Cotterill *et al.*, Qa-1 interaction and T cell recognition of the Qa-1 determinant modifier peptide. *Eur J Immunol.* **27**, 2123–2132 (1997).
- 563. M. Ulbrecht, S. Modrow, R. Srivastava, P. A. Peterson, E. H. Weiss, Interaction of HLA-E with peptides and the peptide transporter in vitro: implications for its function in antigen presentation. *J Immunol.* **160**, 4375–4385 (1998).
- 564. E. Lorente *et al.*, A viral, transporter associated with antigen processing (TAP)independent, high affinity ligand with alternative interactions endogenously presented by the nonclassical human leukocyte antigen E class I molecule. *J Biol Chem.* **287**, 34895–34903 (2012).
- 565. Z. B. Davis *et al.*, A Conserved HIV-1-Derived Peptide Presented by HLA-E Renders Infected T-cells Highly Susceptible to Attack by NKG2A/CD94-Bearing Natural Killer Cells. *PLoS Pathog.* **12**, e1005421–22 (2016).
- 566. P. Tomasec *et al.*, Surface expression of HLA-E, an inhibitor of natural killer cells, enhanced by human cytomegalovirus gpUL40. *Science*. **287**, 1031–1033 (2000).
- 567. V. Prod'homme *et al.*, Human cytomegalovirus UL40 signal peptide regulates cell surface expression of the NK cell ligands HLA-E and gpUL18. *J Immunol*. 188, 2794–2804 (2012).
- 568. T. R. Jones *et al.*, Human cytomegalovirus US3 impairs transport and maturation of major histocompatibility complex class I heavy chains. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. **93**, 11327–11333 (1996).
- 569. K. Ahn *et al.*, Human cytomegalovirus inhibits antigen presentation by a sequential multistep process. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. **93**, 10990–10995 (1996).
- 570. K. Ahn *et al.*, The ER-Luminal Domain of the HCMV Glycoprotein US6 Inhibits Peptide Translocation by TAP. *Immunity*. **6**, 613–621 (1997).
- 571. H. Hengel *et al.*, A Viral ER-Resident Glycoprotein Inactivates the MHC-Encoded Peptide Transporter. *Immunity*. **6**, 623–632 (1997).
- 572. P. J. Lehner, J. T. Karttunen, *The human cytomegalovirus US6 glycoprotein inhibits transporter associated with antigen processing-dependent peptide translocation* (Proceedings of the ..., 1997).
- 573. E. W. Hewitt, S. S. Gupta, P. J. Lehner, The human cytomegalovirus gene product US6 inhibits ATP binding by TAP. *EMBO J.* **20**, 387–396 (2001).

- 574. M. Ulbrecht *et al.*, HCMV glycoprotein US6 mediated inhibition of TAP does not affect HLA-E dependent protection of K-562 cells from NK cell lysis. *Human Immunology*. **64**, 231–237 (2003).
- J. D. Miller *et al.*, Analysis of HLA-E peptide-binding specificity and contact residues in bound peptide required for recognition by CD94/NKG2. *J Immunol*. **171**, 1369–1375 (2003).
- J. R. Kraft *et al.*, Analysis of Qa-1(b) peptide binding specificity and the capacity of CD94/NKG2A to discriminate between Qa-1-peptide complexes. *J Exp Med.* 192, 613–624 (2000).
- 577. J. Michaelsson *et al.*, A Signal Peptide Derived from hsp60 Binds HLA-E and Interferes with CD94/NKG2A Recognition. *J Exp Med.* **196**, 1403–1414 (2002).
- 578. E. J. Petrie *et al.*, CD94-NKG2A recognition of human leukocyte antigen (HLA)-E bound to an HLA class I leader sequence. *J Exp Med.* **205**, 725–735 (2008).
- 579. H. Jiang *et al.*, Murine CD8+ T cells that specifically delete autologous CD4+ T cells expressing V beta 8 TCR: a role of the Qa-1 molecule. *Immunity*. 2, 185–194 (1995).
- 580. D. Hu *et al.*, Analysis of regulatory CD8 T cells in Qa-1-deficient mice. *Nat Immunol.* **5**, 516–523 (2004).
- 581. T. van Hall *et al.*, The varicellovirus-encoded TAP inhibitor UL49.5 regulates the presentation of CTL epitopes by Qa-1b1. *J Immunol.* **178**, 657–662 (2007).
- 582. M. H. Lampen *et al.*, Alternative peptide repertoire of HLA-E reveals a binding motif that is strikingly similar to HLA-A2. *Mol Immunol.* **53**, 126–131 (2013).
- 583. S. A. Joosten *et al.*, Mycobacterium tuberculosis peptides presented by HLA-E molecules are targets for human CD8 T-cells with cytotoxic as well as regulatory activity. *PLoS Pathog.* **6**, e1000782 (2010).
- 584. N. Caccamo *et al.*, Human CD8 T lymphocytes recognize Mycobacterium tuberculosis antigens presented by HLA-E during active tuberculosis and express type 2 cytokines. *Eur J Immunol.* **45**, 1069–1081 (2015).
- 585. K. E. van Meijgaarden *et al.*, Human CD8+ T-cells recognizing peptides from Mycobacterium tuberculosis (Mtb) presented by HLA-E have an unorthodox Th2-like, multifunctional, Mtb inhibitory phenotype and represent a novel human T-cell subset. *PLoS Pathog.* **11**, e1004671 (2015).
- 586. R. Salerno-Goncalves, R. Wahid, M. B. Sztein, Ex Vivo kinetics of early and long-term multifunctional human leukocyte antigen E-specific CD8+ cells in volunteers immunized with the Ty21a typhoid vaccine. *Clin Vaccine Immunol.*

17, 1305–1314 (2010).

- 587. L. C. Sullivan *et al.*, The Presence of HLA-E-Restricted, CMV-Specific CD8+ T Cells in the Blood of Lung Transplant Recipients Correlates with Chronic Allograft Rejection. *PLoS One.* **10**, e0135972 (2015).
- 588. G. Pietra *et al.*, The analysis of the natural killer-like activity of human cytolytic T lymphocytes revealed HLA-E as a novel target for TCR alpha/beta-mediated recognition. *Eur J Immunol.* **31**, 3687–3693 (2001).
- 589. C. Romagnani *et al.*, Identification of HLA-E-specific alloreactive T lymphocytes: a cell subset that undergoes preferential expansion in mixed lymphocyte culture and displays a broad cytolytic activity against allogeneic cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. **99**, 11328–11333 (2002).
- 590. P. B. Jørgensen, A. H. Livbjerg, H. J. Hansen, T. Petersen, P. Höllsberg, Epstein-Barr virus peptide presented by HLA-E is predominantly recognized by CD8(bright) cells in multiple sclerosis patients. *PLoS One*. **7**, e46120 (2012).
- 591. S. Haahr, P. Höllsberg, Multiple sclerosis is linked to Epstein-Barr virus infection. *Rev. Med. Virol.* 16, 297–310 (2006).
- 592. A. Ascherio, K. L. Munger, Environmental risk factors for multiple sclerosis. Part I: the role of infection. *Ann. Neurol.* **61**, 288–299 (2007).
- 593. M. P. Pender, Preventing and curing multiple sclerosis by controlling Epstein-Barr virus infection. *Autoimmun Rev.* **8**, 563–568 (2009).
- 594. A. Ascherio, K. L. Munger, Epstein-barr virus infection and multiple sclerosis: a review. *J Neuroimmune Pharmacol.* **5**, 271–277 (2010).
- 595. M. K. Lemberg, F. A. Bland, A. Weihofen, V. M. Braud, B. Martoglio, Intramembrane proteolysis of signal peptides: an essential step in the generation of HLA-E epitopes. *J Immunol.* **167**, 6441–6446 (2001).
- 596. F. A. Bland, Requirement of the Proteasome for the Trimming of Signal Peptidederived Epitopes Presented by the Nonclassical Major Histocompatibility Complex Class I Molecule HLA-E. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. **278**, 33747–33752 (2003).
- 597. A. Weihofen, K. Binns, M. K. Lemberg, K. Ashman, B. Martoglio, Identification of signal peptide peptidase, a presenilin-type aspartic protease. *Science*. **296**, 2215–2218 (2002).
- 598. A. Bai, J. Broen, J. Forman, The pathway for processing leader-derived peptides that regulate the maturation and expression of Qa-1b. *Immunity*. **9**, 413–421 (1998).

- 599. C. J. Aldrich *et al.*, Identification of a Tap-dependent leader peptide recognized by alloreactive T cells specific for a class Ib antigen. *Cell.* **79**, 649–658 (1994).
- 600. J. E. Grotzke *et al.*, The Mycobacterium tuberculosis Phagosome Is a HLA-I Processing Competent Organelle. *PLoS Pathog.* **5**, e1000374 (2009).
- 601. A. L. Ackerman, A. Giodini, P. Cresswell, A role for the endoplasmic reticulum protein retrotranslocation machinery during crosspresentation by dendritic cells. *Immunity*. **25**, 607–617 (2006).
- 602. P. Guermonprez *et al.*, ER-phagosome fusion defines an MHC class I crosspresentation compartment in dendritic cells. *Nature*. **425**, 397–402 (2003).
- 603. M. Houde *et al.*, Phagosomes are competent organelles for antigen crosspresentation. *Nature*. **425**, 402–406 (2003).
- 604. M. Kuhn, W. Goebel, in *Bacterial Invasion into Eukaryotic Cells* (Springer US, Boston, MA, 2000), vol. 33 of *Subcellular Biochemistry*, pp. 411–436.
- 605. J. H. Brumell, S. Grinstein, Salmonella redirects phagosomal maturation. *Curr. Opin. Microbiol.* **7**, 78–84 (2004).
- 606. T. P. Garrett, M. A. Saper, P. J. Bjorkman, J. L. Strominger, D. C. Wiley, Specificity pockets for the side chains of peptide antigens in HLA-Aw68. *Nature*. 342, 692–696 (1989).
- 607. S. E. Buxton, R. J. Benjamin, C. Clayberger, P. Parham, A. M. Krensky, Anchoring pockets in human histocompatibility complex leukocyte antigen (HLA) class I molecules: analysis of the conserved B ("45") pocket of HLA-B27. *J Exp Med.* **175**, 809–820 (1992).
- 608. G. Geginat, W. Hampl, T. Mertens, [Human cytomegalovirus--biology and infection]. *Med. Klin. (Munich).* 87 Suppl 1, 3–10 (1992).
- 609. T. Crough, R. Khanna, Immunobiology of human cytomegalovirus: from bench to bedside. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*. **22**, 76–98– Table of Contents (2009).
- 610. C. Powers, K. Fr u h, Rhesus CMV: an emerging animal model for human CMV. *Med Microbiol Immunol.* **197**, 109–115 (2008).
- 611. W. G. Nichols, M. Boeckh, Recent advances in the therapy and prevention of CMV infections. *J. Clin. Virol.* **16**, 25–40 (2000).
- 612. Z. Novak *et al.*, Cytomegalovirus strain diversity in seropositive women. J. Clin. *Microbiol.* **46**, 882–886 (2008).
- 613. S. B. Boppana, K. B. Fowler, W. J. Britt, S. Stagno, R. F. Pass, Symptomatic Congenital Cytomegalovirus Infection in Infants Born to Mothers With

Preexisting Immunity to Cytomegalovirus. Pediatrics. 104, 55-60 (1999).

- 614. G. Gerna, F. Baldanti, M. G. Revello, Pathogenesis of human cytomegalovirus infection and cellular targets. *Human Immunology*. **65**, 381–386 (2004).
- 615. C. Sinzger, M. Digel, G. Jahn, Cytomegalovirus cell tropism. *Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol.* **325**, 63–83 (2008).
- 616. M. M. Brinkmann *et al.*, Cytomegalovirus immune evasion of myeloid lineage cells. *Med Microbiol Immunol.* **204**, 367–382 (2015).
- 617. J. Taylor-Wiedeman, J. G. Sissons, L. K. Borysiewicz, J. H. Sinclair, Monocytes are a major site of persistence of human cytomegalovirus in peripheral blood mononuclear cells. *J. Gen. Virol.* **72 ( Pt 9)**, 2059–2064 (1991).
- 618. P. Stanier *et al.*, Persistence of cytomegalovirus in mononuclear cells in peripheral blood from blood donors. *BMJ*. **299**, 897–898 (1989).
- M. Mendelson, S. Monard, P. Sissons, J. Sinclair, Detection of endogenous human cytomegalovirus in CD34+ bone marrow progenitors. *J. Gen. Virol.* 77 ( Pt 12), 3099–3102 (1996).
- 620. M. S. Chee *et al.*, in *Cytomegaloviruses* (Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 1990), vol. 154 of *Current Topics in Microbiology and Immunology*, pp. 125–169.
- 621. E. Murphy, I. Rigoutsos, T. Shibuya, T. E. Shenk, Reevaluation of human cytomegalovirus coding potential. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. **100**, 13585–13590 (2003).
- 622. E. Murphy *et al.*, Coding potential of laboratory and clinical strains of human cytomegalovirus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. **100**, 14976–14981 (2003).
- 623. A. J. Davison *et al.*, The human cytomegalovirus genome revisited: comparison with the chimpanzee cytomegalovirus genome. *J. Gen. Virol.* **84**, 17–28 (2003).
- 624. A. Dolan *et al.*, Genetic content of wild-type human cytomegalovirus. *J. Gen. Virol.* **85**, 1301–1312 (2004).
- 625. D. H. Chen, H. Jiang, M. Lee, F. Liu, Z. H. Zhou, Three-dimensional visualization of tegument/capsid interactions in the intact human cytomegalovirus. *Virology*. **260**, 10–16 (1999).
- 626. M. K. Isaacson, T. Compton, Human cytomegalovirus glycoprotein B is required for virus entry and cell-to-cell spread but not for virion attachment, assembly, or egress. *J Virol.* **83**, 3891–3903 (2009).
- 627. A. L. Vanarsdall, D. C. Johnson, Human cytomegalovirus entry into cells.

Current Opinion in Virology. 2, 37–42 (2012).

- T. Compton, D. M. Nowlin, N. R. Cooper, Initiation of human cytomegalovirus infection requires initial interaction with cell surface heparan sulfate. *Virology*. 193, 834–841 (1993).
- C. Carlson, W. J. Britt, T. Compton, Expression, purification, and characterization of a soluble form of human cytomegalovirus glycoprotein B. *Virology*. 239, 198–205 (1997).
- X. Wang, S.-M. Huong, M. L. Chiu, N. Raab-Traub, E.-S. Huang, Epidermal growth factor receptor is a cellular receptor for human cytomegalovirus. *Nature*. 424, 456–461 (2003).
- 631. G. Chan, M. T. Nogalski, A. D. Yurochko, Activation of EGFR on monocytes is required for human cytomegalovirus entry and mediates cellular motility. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. **106**, 22369–22374 (2009).
- 632. X. Wang, D. Y. Huang, S.-M. Huong, E.-S. Huang, Integrin alphavbeta3 is a coreceptor for human cytomegalovirus. *Nat Med.* **11**, 515–521 (2005).
- 633. A. L. Feire, H. Koss, T. Compton, Cellular integrins function as entry receptors for human cytomegalovirus via a highly conserved disintegrin-like domain. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. **101**, 15470–15475 (2004).
- 634. A. L. Feire, R. M. Roy, K. Manley, T. Compton, The glycoprotein B disintegrinlike domain binds beta 1 integrin to mediate cytomegalovirus entry. *J Virol.* 84, 10026–10037 (2010).
- 635. L. Soroceanu, A. Akhavan, C. S. Cobbs, Platelet-derived growth factor-alpha receptor activation is required for human cytomegalovirus infection. *Nature*. **455**, 391–395 (2008).
- 636. K. Viswanathan *et al.*, BST2/Tetherin Enhances Entry of Human Cytomegalovirus. *PLoS Pathog.* **7**, e1002332 (2011).
- 637. T. E. Shenk, M. F. Stinski, Eds., *Human Cytomegalovirus* (Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2008), vol. 325.
- M. F. Stinski, Sequence of protein synthesis in cells infected by human cytomegalovirus: early and late virus-induced polypeptides. *Journal of Virology*. 26, 686–701 (1978).
- 639. J. Sinclair, Latency and reactivation of human cytomegalovirus. J. Gen. Virol.
  87, 1763–1779 (2006).
- 640. R. T. Saffert, R. R. Penkert, R. F. Kalejta, Cellular and viral control over the initial events of human cytomegalovirus experimental latency in CD34+ cells. *J*

Virol. 84, 5594–5604 (2010).

- 641. J. P. Tomtishen, Human cytomegalovirus tegument proteins (pp65, pp71, pp150, pp28). *Virol. J.* **9**, 22 (2012).
- 642. R. M. Smith, S. Kosuri, J. A. Kerry, Role of human cytomegalovirus tegument proteins in virion assembly. *Viruses*. **6**, 582–605 (2014).
- 643. S. Das, A. Vasanji, P. E. Pellett, Three-dimensional structure of the human cytomegalovirus cytoplasmic virion assembly complex includes a reoriented secretory apparatus. *Journal of Virology*. **81**, 11861–11869 (2007).
- 644. J. C. Alwine, The human cytomegalovirus assembly compartment: a masterpiece of viral manipulation of cellular processes that facilitates assembly and egress. *PLoS Pathog.* **8**, e1002878 (2012).
- 645. R. Tandon, E. S. Mocarski, Viral and host control of cytomegalovirus maturation. *Trends in Microbiology*. **20**, 392–401 (2012).
- 646. J. L. L. Huff, Differential detection of B virus and rhesus cytomegalovirus in rhesus macaques. *Journal of General Virology*. **84**, 83–92 (2003).
- 647. D. M. Asher, C. J. Gibbs, D. J. Lang, D. C. Gajdusek, R. M. Chanock, Persistent shedding of cytomegalovirus in the urine of healthy Rhesus monkeys. *Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med.* **145**, 794–801 (1974).
- 648. S. S. Kalter, R. L. Heberling, Primate viral diseases in perspective. *J Med Primatol.* **19**, 519–535 (1990).
- 649. M. J. Kessler *et al.*, Serological survey for viral diseases in the Cayo Santiago rhesus macaque population. *P R Health Sci J.* **8**, 95–97 (1989).
- 650. P. Vogel, B. J. Weigler, H. Kerr, A. G. Hendrickx, P. A. Barry, Seroepidemiologic studies of cytomegalovirus infection in a breeding population of rhesus macaques. *Lab. Anim. Sci.* **44**, 25–30 (1994).
- 651. M. K. Isaacson, L. K. Juckem, T. Compton, Virus entry and innate immune activation. *Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol.* **325**, 85–100 (2008).
- 652. K. W. Boehme, M. Guerrero, T. Compton, Human cytomegalovirus envelope glycoproteins B and H are necessary for TLR2 activation in permissive cells. *J Immunol.* **177**, 7094–7102 (2006).
- 653. C. A. Biron, K. S. Byron, J. L. Sullivan, Severe herpesvirus infections in an adolescent without natural killer cells. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **320**, 1731–1735 (1989).
- 654. R. Gazit *et al.*, Expression of KIR2DL1 on the entire NK cell population: a possible novel immunodeficiency syndrome. *Blood.* **103**, 1965–1966 (2004).

- 655. S. B. Boppana, W. J. Britt, Antiviral antibody responses and intrauterine transmission after primary maternal cytomegalovirus infection. *J Infect Dis.* **171**, 1115–1121 (1995).
- 656. S. Jonjić *et al.*, Antibodies are not essential for the resolution of primary cytomegalovirus infection but limit dissemination of recurrent virus. *J Exp Med.* 179, 1713–1717 (1994).
- 657. G. Gerna *et al.*, Human cytomegalovirus serum neutralizing antibodies block virus infection of endothelial/epithelial cells, but not fibroblasts, early during primary infection. *J. Gen. Virol.* **89**, 853–865 (2008).
- 658. M. Urban, M. Klein, W. J. Britt, E. Hassfurther, M. Mach, Glycoprotein H of human cytomegalovirus is a major antigen for the neutralizing humoral immune response. *J. Gen. Virol.* **77 ( Pt 7)**, 1537–1547 (1996).
- 659. W. J. Britt, L. Vugler, E. J. Butfiloski, E. B. Stephens, Cell surface expression of human cytomegalovirus (HCMV) gp55-116 (gB): use of HCMV-recombinant vaccinia virus-infected cells in analysis of the human neutralizing antibody response. *Journal of Virology*. **64**, 1079–1085 (1990).
- 660. L. Rasmussen, C. Matkin, R. Spaete, C. Pachl, T. C. Merigan, Antibody response to human cytomegalovirus glycoproteins gB and gH after natural infection in humans. *J Infect Dis.* **164**, 835–842 (1991).
- 661. G. S. Marshall, G. P. Rabalais, G. G. Stout, S. L. Waldeyer, Antibodies to recombinant-derived glycoprotein B after natural human cytomegalovirus infection correlate with neutralizing activity. *J Infect Dis.* **165**, 381–384 (1992).
- 662. A. Macagno *et al.*, Isolation of human monoclonal antibodies that potently neutralize human cytomegalovirus infection by targeting different epitopes on the gH/gL/UL128-131A complex. *J Virol.* **84**, 1005–1013 (2010).
- 663. L. E. Gamadia *et al.*, Primary immune responses to human CMV: a critical role for IFN-gamma-producing CD4+ T cells in protection against CMV disease. *Blood.* **101**, 2686–2692 (2003).
- 664. C. R. Li, P. D. Greenberg, M. J. Gilbert, J. M. Goodrich, S. R. Riddell, Recovery of HLA-restricted cytomegalovirus (CMV)-specific T-cell responses after allogeneic bone marrow transplant: correlation with CMV disease and effect of ganciclovir prophylaxis. *Blood.* 83, 1971–1979 (1994).
- 665. P. Reusser, S. R. Riddell, J. D. Meyers, P. D. Greenberg, Cytotoxic Tlymphocyte response to cytomegalovirus after human allogeneic bone marrow transplantation: pattern of recovery and correlation with cytomegalovirus infection and disease. *Blood.* **78**, 1373–1380 (1991).
- 666. G. V. Quinnan et al., Cytotoxic t cells in cytomegalovirus infection: HLA-

restricted T-lymphocyte and non-T-lymphocyte cytotoxic responses correlate with recovery from cytomegalovirus infection in bone-marrow-transplant recipients. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **307**, 7–13 (1982).

- 667. R. Radha *et al.*, Cellular immune responses to cytomegalovirus in renal transplant recipients. *Am. J. Transplant.* **5**, 110–117 (2005).
- 668. P. Reusser, G. Cathomas, R. Attenhofer, M. Tamm, G. Thiel, Cytomegalovirus (CMV)-specific T cell immunity after renal transplantation mediates protection from CMV disease by limiting the systemic virus load. *J Infect Dis.* 180, 247– 253 (1999).
- 669. M. Sester *et al.*, Dominance of virus-specific CD8 T cells in human primary cytomegalovirus infection. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology*. **13**, 2577–2584 (2002).
- 670. O. A. Shlobin *et al.*, Persistent cytomegalovirus-specific memory responses in the lung allograft and blood following primary infection in lung transplant recipients. *J Immunol.* **176**, 2625–2634 (2006).
- 671. T. Bunde *et al.*, Protection from cytomegalovirus after transplantation is correlated with immediate early 1-specific CD8 T cells. *J Exp Med.* **201**, 1031–1036 (2005).
- 672. S. R. Riddell *et al.*, Restoration of viral immunity in immunodeficient humans by the adoptive transfer of T cell clones. *Science*. **257**, 238–241 (1992).
- 673. E. A. Walter *et al.*, Reconstitution of cellular immunity against cytomegalovirus in recipients of allogeneic bone marrow by transfer of T-cell clones from the donor. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **333**, 1038–1044 (1995).
- 674. T. Crough *et al.*, Contemporaneous fluctuations in T cell responses to persistent herpes virus infections. *Eur J Immunol.* **35**, 139–149 (2005).
- 675. G. M. Gillespie *et al.*, Functional heterogeneity and high frequencies of cytomegalovirus-specific CD8(+) T lymphocytes in healthy seropositive donors. *Journal of Virology*. **74**, 8140–8150 (2000).
- 676. N. Khan *et al.*, Herpesvirus-specific CD8 T cell immunity in old age: cytomegalovirus impairs the response to a coresident EBV infection. *J Immunol*. 173, 7481–7489 (2004).
- 677. A. W. Sylwester *et al.*, Broadly targeted human cytomegalovirus-specific CD4+ and CD8+ T cells dominate the memory compartments of exposed subjects. *J Exp Med.* **202**, 673–685 (2005).
- 678. T. J. Manley *et al.*, Immune evasion proteins of human cytomegalovirus do not prevent a diverse CD8+ cytotoxic T-cell response in natural infection. *Blood*.
104, 1075–1082 (2004).

- 679. F. Kern *et al.*, Cytomegalovirus (CMV) phosphoprotein 65 makes a large contribution to shaping the T cell repertoire in CMV-exposed individuals. *J Infect Dis.* **185**, 1709–1716 (2002).
- 680. F. Kern *et al.*, Target structures of the CD8(+)-T-cell response to human cytomegalovirus: the 72-kilodalton major immediate-early protein revisited. *Journal of Virology*. **73**, 8179–8184 (1999).
- 681. N. Khan *et al.*, T cell recognition patterns of immunodominant cytomegalovirus antigens in primary and persistent infection. *J Immunol.* **178**, 4455–4465 (2007).
- 682. N. Khan *et al.*, Identification of cytomegalovirus-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes in vitro is greatly enhanced by the use of recombinant virus lacking the US2 to US11 region or modified vaccinia virus Ankara expressing individual viral genes. *Journal of Virology*. **79**, 2869–2879 (2005).
- 683. N. Khan, M. Cobbold, R. Keenan, P. A. H. Moss, Comparative analysis of CD8+ T cell responses against human cytomegalovirus proteins pp65 and immediate early 1 shows similarities in precursor frequency, oligoclonality, and phenotype. *J Infect Dis.* 185, 1025–1034 (2002).
- 684. E. Kondo *et al.*, Identification of novel CTL epitopes of CMV-pp65 presented by a variety of HLA alleles. *Blood*. **103**, 630–638 (2004).
- 685. W. Tu *et al.*, Persistent and selective deficiency of CD4+ T cell immunity to cytomegalovirus in immunocompetent young children. *J Immunol*. **172**, 3260–3267 (2004).
- 686. M. Sester *et al.*, Levels of virus-specific CD4 T cells correlate with cytomegalovirus control and predict virus-induced disease after renal transplantation. *Transplantation*. **71**, 1287–1294 (2001).
- 687. U. Sester *et al.*, Differences in CMV-specific T-cell levels and long-term susceptibility to CMV infection after kidney, heart and lung transplantation. *Am. J. Transplant.* **5**, 1483–1489 (2005).
- 688. H. Hebart *et al.*, Sensitive detection of human cytomegalovirus peptide-specific cytotoxic T-lymphocyte responses by interferon-gamma-enzyme-linked immunospot assay and flow cytometry in healthy individuals and in patients after allogeneic stem cell transplantation. *Blood.* **99**, 3830–3837 (2002).
- 689. H. Krause, H. Hebart, G. Jahn, C. A. Müller, H. Einsele, Screening for CMVspecific T cell proliferation to identify patients at risk of developing late onset CMV disease. *Bone Marrow Transplant.* **19**, 1111–1116 (1997).
- 690. H. Einsele et al., Infusion of cytomegalovirus (CMV)-specific T cells for the

treatment of CMV infection not responding to antiviral chemotherapy. *Blood.* **99**, 3916–3922 (2002).

- 691. R. Elkington *et al.*, Cross-reactive recognition of human and primate cytomegalovirus sequences by human CD4 cytotoxic T lymphocytes specific for glycoprotein B and H. *Eur J Immunol.* **34**, 3216–3226 (2004).
- 692. J. L. Davignon *et al.*, Anti-human cytomegalovirus activity of cytokines produced by CD4+ T-cell clones specifically activated by IE1 peptides in vitro. *Journal of Virology*. **70**, 2162–2169 (1996).
- 693. J. P. Casazza *et al.*, Acquisition of direct antiviral effector functions by CMVspecific CD4+ T lymphocytes with cellular maturation. *J Exp Med.* **203**, 2865– 2877 (2006).
- 694. N. R. Hegde *et al.*, Endogenous human cytomegalovirus gB is presented efficiently by MHC class II molecules to CD4+ CTL. *J Exp Med.* **202**, 1109–1119 (2005).
- 695. C. Powers, V. DeFilippis, D. Malouli, K. Fruh, in *Human Cytomegalovirus* (Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2008), vol. 325 of *Current Topics in Microbiology and Immunology*, pp. 333–359.
- 696. B. Park *et al.*, Human cytomegalovirus inhibits tapasin-dependent peptide loading and optimization of the MHC class I peptide cargo for immune evasion. *Immunity*. **20**, 71–85 (2004).
- 697. S. G. Hansen *et al.*, Evasion of CD8+ T cells is critical for superinfection by cytomegalovirus. *Science*. **328**, 102–106 (2010).
- 698. E. J. Wherry *et al.*, Lineage relationship and protective immunity of memory CD8 T cell subsets. *Nat Immunol.* **4**, 225–234 (2003).
- 699. L. J. Picker *et al.*, IL-15 induces CD4 effector memory T cell production and tissue emigration in nonhuman primates. *J Clin Invest.* **116**, 1514–1524 (2006).
- 700. Z. Grossman, L. J. Picker, Pathogenic mechanisms in simian immunodeficiency virus infection. *Curr Opin HIV AIDS*. **3**, 380–386 (2008).
- 701. S. G. Hansen *et al.*, Effector memory T cell responses are associated with protection of rhesus monkeys from mucosal simian immunodeficiency virus challenge. *Nat Med.* **15**, 293–299 (2009).
- C. D. Harro *et al.*, Safety and immunogenicity of adenovirus-vectored nearconsensus HIV type 1 clade B gag vaccines in healthy adults. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses.* 25, 103–114 (2009).
- 703. D. J. McGeoch, S. Cook, A. Dolan, F. E. Jamieson, E. A. Telford, Molecular

phylogeny and evolutionary timescale for the family of mammalian herpesviruses. *J Mol Biol.* **247**, 443–458 (1995).

- 704. S. G. G. Hansen, L. I. I. Strelow, D. C. C. Franchi, D. G. G. Anders, S. W. W. Wong, Complete Sequence and Genomic Analysis of Rhesus Cytomegalovirus. *Journal of Virology*. 77, 6620–6636 (2003).
- 705. Y. Yue, P. A. Barry, Rhesus cytomegalovirus a nonhuman primate model for the study of human cytomegalovirus. *Adv. Virus Res.* **72**, 207–226 (2008).
- 706. N. S. Swack, G. D. Hsiung, Natural and experimental simian cytomegalovirus infections at a primate center. *J Med Primatol.* **11**, 169–177 (1982).
- 707. W. L. W. Chang, A. F. F. Tarantal, S. S. S. Zhou, A. D. D. Borowsky, P. A. A. Barry, A Recombinant Rhesus Cytomegalovirus Expressing Enhanced Green Fluorescent Protein Retains the Wild-Type Phenotype and Pathogenicity in Fetal Macaques. *Journal of Virology*. 76, 9493–9504 (2002).
- 708. W. P. Covell, The Occurrence of Intranuclear Inclusions in Monkeys Unaccompanied by Specific Signs of Disease. *Am J Pathol.* **8**, 151–158.1 (1932).
- 709. E. V. Cowdry, G. H. Scott, Nuclear Inclusions in the Kidneys of Macacus Rhesus Monkeys. *Am J Pathol.* **11**, 659–668.3 (1935).
- 710. K. M. Lockridge *et al.*, Pathogenesis of experimental rhesus cytomegalovirus infection. *Journal of Virology*. **73**, 9576–9583 (1999).
- 711. F. W. Stewart, C. P. Rhoads, Lesions in Nasal Mucous Membranes of Monkeys with Acute Poliomyelitis. *Experimental Biology and Medicine*. **26**, 664–665 (1929).
- 712. K. L. Oxford *et al.*, Protein coding content of the UL)b' region of wild-type rhesus cytomegalovirus. *Virology*. **373**, 181–188 (2008).
- A. Kaur *et al.*, Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte responses to cytomegalovirus in normal and simian immunodeficiency virus-infected rhesus macaques. *Journal of Virology*. **70**, 7725–7733 (1996).
- 714. K. S. Chan, A. Kaur, Flow cytometric detection of degranulation reveals phenotypic heterogeneity of degranulating CMV-specific CD8+ T lymphocytes in rhesus macaques. *J Immunol Methods*. **325**, 20–34 (2007).
- Y. Yue, S.-S. Zhou, P. A. Barry, Antibody responses to rhesus cytomegalovirus glycoprotein B in naturally infected rhesus macaques. *Journal of General Virology*. 84, 3371–3379 (2003).
- 716. C. J. Pitcher *et al.*, Development and homeostasis of T cell memory in rhesus macaque. *J Immunol.* **168**, 29–43 (2002).

- 717. P. Rivailler, A. Kaur, R. P. Johnson, F. Wang, Genomic sequence of rhesus cytomegalovirus 180.92: insights into the coding potential of rhesus cytomegalovirus. *Journal of Virology*. **80**, 4179–4182 (2006).
- 718. N. T. Pande, C. Powers, K. Ahn, K. Früh, Rhesus cytomegalovirus contains functional homologues of US2, US3, US6, and US11. *Journal of Virology*. **79**, 5786–5798 (2005).
- 719. W. L. W. Chang, P. A. A. Barry, Cloning of the Full-Length Rhesus Cytomegalovirus Genome as an Infectious and Self-Excisable Bacterial Artificial Chromosome for Analysis of Viral Pathogenesis. *Journal of Virology*. 77, 5073– 5083 (2003).
- 720. D. Malouli *et al.*, Reevaluation of the coding potential and proteomic analysis of the BAC-derived rhesus cytomegalovirus strain 68-1. *J Virol.* 86, 8959–8973 (2012).
- 721. A. E. Lilja, T. Shenk, Efficient replication of rhesus cytomegalovirus variants in multiple rhesus and human cell types. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. **105**, 19950–19955 (2008).
- 722. R. Lachmann *et al.*, Polyfunctional T cells accumulate in large human cytomegalovirus-specific T cell responses. *J Virol.* **86**, 1001–1009 (2012).
- 723. E. Gabanti *et al.*, Polyfunctional Analysis of Human Cytomegalovirus (HCMV)-Specific CD4+ and CD8+ Memory T-Cells in HCMV-Seropositive Healthy Subjects Following Different Stimuli. *Journal of Clinical Immunology*. 34, 999– 1008 (2014).
- 724. L. J. Picker, S. G. Hansen, J. D. Lifson, New paradigms for HIV/AIDS vaccine development. *Annu Rev Med.* 63, 95–111 (2012).
- 725. C. Corradin, A. Lanzavecchia, Chemical and functional analysis of MHC class II-restricted T cell epitopes. *Int. Rev. Immunol.* **7**, 139–147 (1991).
- 726. R. W. Wiseman *et al.*, Major histocompatibility complex genotyping with massively parallel pyrosequencing. *Nat Med.* **15**, 1322–1326 (2009).
- K. S. Anderson, J. Alexander, M. Wei, P. Cresswell, Intracellular transport of class I MHC molecules in antigen processing mutant cell lines. *J Immunol.* 151, 3407–3419 (1993).
- 728. M. Ulbrecht, J. Kellermann, J. P. Johnson, E. H. Weiss, Impaired intracellular transport and cell surface expression of nonpolymorphic HLA-E: evidence for inefficient peptide binding. *J Exp Med.* **176**, 1083–1090 (1992).
- 729. S. G. Hansen *et al.*, Broadly targeted CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell responses restricted by major histocompatibility complex E. *Science*. **351**, 714–720 (2016).

- 730. D. Vidović *et al.*, Qa-1 restricted recognition of foreign antigen by a gamma delta T-cell hybridoma. *Nature*. **340**, 646–650 (1989).
- 731. S. Ferrini *et al.*, T cell clones expressing the natural killer cell-related p58 receptor molecule display heterogeneity in phenotypic properties and p58 function. *Eur J Immunol.* **24**, 2294–2298 (1994).
- 732. M. C. Mingari *et al.*, Cytolytic T lymphocytes displaying natural killer (NK)-like activity: expression of NK-related functional receptors for HLA class I molecules (p58 and CD94) and inhibitory effect on the TCR-mediated target cell lysis or lymphokine production. *Int Immunol.* **7**, 697–703 (1995).
- 733. J. H. Phillips, J. E. Gumperz, P. Parham, L. L. Lanier, Superantigen-dependent, cell-mediated cytotoxicity inhibited by MHC class I receptors on T lymphocytes. *Science*. **268**, 403–405 (1995).
- 734. M. C. Mingari *et al.*, Human CD8+ T lymphocyte subsets that express HLA class I-specific inhibitory receptors represent oligoclonally or monoclonally expanded cell populations. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. **93**, 12433–12438 (1996).
- 735. C. Aiken, Nef induces CD4 endocytosis: Requirement for a critical dileucine motif in the membrane-proximal CD4 cytoplasmic domain. *Cell.* **76**, 853–864 (1994).
- 736. J. V. Garcia, A. D. Miller, Serine phosphorylation-independent downregulation of cell-surface CD4 by nef. *Nature*. **350**, 508–511 (1991).
- 737. R. E. Benson, A. Sanfridson, J. S. Ottinger, C. Doyle, B. R. Cullen, Downregulation of cell-surface CD4 expression by simian immunodeficiency virus Nef prevents viral super infection. *J Exp Med.* 177, 1561–1566 (1993).
- 738. J. Munch, N. Stolte, D. Fuchs, C. Stahl-Hennig, F. Kirchhoff, Efficient class I major histocompatibility complex down-regulation by simian immunodeficiency virus Nef is associated with a strong selective advantage in infected rhesus macaques. *Journal of Virology*. **75**, 10532–10536 (2001).
- 739. G. B. Cohen *et al.*, The selective downregulation of class I major histocompatibility complex proteins by HIV-1 protects HIV-infected cells from NK cells. *Immunity*. **10**, 661–671 (1999).
- 740. J. N. H. Russell *et al.*, A novel strain of cynomolgus macaque cytomegalovirus: implications for host-virus co-evolution. *BMC Genomics*. **17**, 277 (2016).
- 741. R. W. Wiseman *et al.*, Haplessly hoping: macaque major histocompatibility complex made easy. *ILAR J.* **54**, 196–210 (2013).
- 742. A. DeCloux, A. S. Woods, R. J. Cotter, M. J. Soloski, J. Forman, Dominance of a single peptide bound to the class I(B) molecule, Qa-1b. *J Immunol*. **158**, 2183–

2191 (1997).

- 743. H. S. Dunn *et al.*, Dynamics of CD4 and CD8 T cell responses to cytomegalovirus in healthy human donors. *J Infect Dis.* **186**, 15–22 (2002).
- 744. A. Viola, A. Lanzavecchia, T cell activation determined by T cell receptor number and tunable thresholds. *Science*. **273**, 104–106 (1996).
- 745. H. Gao *et al.*, Recombinant HCMV UL128 expression and functional identification of PBMC-attracting activity in vitro. *Arch Virol.* **158**, 173–177 (2013).
- 746. S. K. Lathrop *et al.*, Replication of Salmonella enterica Serovar Typhimurium in Human Monocyte-Derived Macrophages. *Infection and Immunity*. **83**, 2661–2671 (2015).
- 747. E. Giacomini *et al.*, Infection of human macrophages and dendritic cells with Mycobacterium tuberculosis induces a differential cytokine gene expression that modulates T cell response. *J Immunol.* **166**, 7033–7041 (2001).
- 748. D. A. Drevets, J. E. Schawang, V. K. Mandava, M. J. Dillon, P. J. M. Leenen, Severe Listeria monocytogenes infection induces development of monocytes with distinct phenotypic and functional features. *J Immunol.* 185, 2432–2441 (2010).
- 749. M. Savard *et al.*, Infection of primary human monocytes by Epstein-Barr virus. *Journal of Virology*. **74**, 2612–2619 (2000).
- 750. C. Sinzger, B. Plachter, A. Grefte, T. H. The, G. Jahn, Tissue macrophages are infected by human cytomegalovirus in vivo. *J Infect Dis.* **173**, 240–245 (1996).
- 751. P. Bouffard, P. H. Hayashi, R. Acevedo, N. Levy, J. B. Zeldis, Hepatitis C virus is detected in a monocyte/macrophage subpopulation of peripheral blood mononuclear cells of infected patients. *J Infect Dis.* **166**, 1276–1280 (1992).
- 752. L. Mosyak, D. M. Zaller, D. C. Wiley, The structure of HLA-DM, the peptide exchange catalyst that loads antigen onto class II MHC molecules during antigen presentation. *Immunity*. **9**, 377–383 (1998).
- 753. G. Camilli *et al.*, Regulation and trafficking of the HLA-E molecules during monocyte-macrophage differentiation. *J Leukoc Biol.* **99**, 121–130 (2016).
- 754. V. Sanchez, K. D. Greis, E. Sztul, W. J. Britt, Accumulation of virion tegument and envelope proteins in a stable cytoplasmic compartment during human cytomegalovirus replication: characterization of a potential site of virus assembly. *Journal of Virology*. **74**, 975–986 (2000).
- 755. L. M. Hook et al., Cytomegalovirus miRNAs target secretory pathway genes to

facilitate formation of the virion assembly compartment and reduce cytokine secretion. *Cell Host Microbe*. **15**, 363–373 (2014).

- 756. V. Sanchez, E. Sztul, W. J. Britt, Human cytomegalovirus pp28 (UL99) localizes to a cytoplasmic compartment which overlaps the endoplasmic reticulum-golgiintermediate compartment. *Journal of Virology*. **74**, 3842–3851 (2000).
- 757. C. C. Oliveira *et al.*, The nonpolymorphic MHC Qa-1b mediates CD8+ T cell surveillance of antigen-processing defects. *J Exp Med.* **207**, 207–221 (2010).
- B. Chambers *et al.*, Induction of protective CTL immunity against peptide transporter TAP-deficient tumors through dendritic cell vaccination. *Cancer Res.* 67, 8450–8455 (2007).
- 759. S. M. Bueno, P. A. González, J. R. Schwebach, A. M. Kalergis, T cell immunity evasion by virulent Salmonella enterica. *Immunology Letters*. **111**, 14–20 (2007).
- 760. S. M. Bueno, S. Riquelme, C. A. Riedel, A. M. Kalergis, Mechanisms used by virulent Salmonella to impair dendritic cell function and evade adaptive immunity. *Immunology*. **137**, 28–36 (2012).
- 761. S. Apcher, C. Daskalogianni, B. Manoury, R. Fåhraeus, Epstein Barr virusencoded EBNA1 interference with MHC class I antigen presentation reveals a close correlation between mRNA translation initiation and antigen presentation. *PLoS Pathog.* **6**, e1001151 (2010).
- M. Rowe, J. Zuo, Immune responses to Epstein-Barr virus: molecular interactions in the virus evasion of CD8+ T cell immunity. *Microbes Infect.* 12, 173–181 (2010).
- 763. M. John, S. Gaudieri, Influence of HIV and HCV on T cell antigen presentation and challenges in the development of vaccines. *Front Microbiol.* **5**, 514 (2014).
- A. A. R. Tobian *et al.*, Alternate class I MHC antigen processing is inhibited by Toll-like receptor signaling pathogen-associated molecular patterns: Mycobacterium tuberculosis 19-kDa lipoprotein, CpG DNA, and lipopolysaccharide. *J Immunol.* 171, 1413–1422 (2003).
- 765. A. D. Hislop *et al.*, A CD8+ T cell immune evasion protein specific to Epstein-Barr virus and its close relatives in Old World primates. *J Exp Med.* 204, 1863– 1873 (2007).
- 766. J. Zuo *et al.*, The Epstein-Barr virus G-protein-coupled receptor contributes to immune evasion by targeting MHC class I molecules for degradation. *PLoS Pathog.* **5**, e1000255 (2009).
- 767. G. B. Cohen *et al.*, The Selective Downregulation of Class I Major Histocompatibility Complex Proteins by HIV-1 Protects HIV-Infected Cells from

NK Cells. Immunity. 10, 661-671 (1999).

- 768. L. Shang *et al.*, NK cell responses to simian immunodeficiency virus vaginal exposure in naive and vaccinated rhesus macaques. *J Immunol.* **193**, 277–284 (2014).
- 769. P. J. Goulder *et al.*, Evolution and transmission of stable CTL escape mutations in HIV infection. *Nature*. **412**, 334–338 (2001).
- 770. H. Crawford *et al.*, Evolution of HLA-B\*5703 HIV-1 escape mutations in HLA-B\*5703-positive individuals and their transmission recipients. *J Exp Med.* **206**, 909–921 (2009).
- 771. E. W. Hewitt, The MHC class I antigen presentation pathway: strategies for viral immune evasion. *Immunology*. **110**, 163–169 (2003).
- 772. J. J. Miles, D. C. Douek, D. A. Price, Bias in the αβ T-cell repertoire: implications for disease pathogenesis and vaccination. *Immunol Cell Biol.* 89, 375–387 (2011).
- 773. V. Appay, D. C. Douek, D. A. Price, CD8+ T cell efficacy in vaccination and disease. *Nat Med.* **14**, 623–628 (2008).
- 774. T. Yamamoto *et al.*, Virus inhibition activity of effector memory CD8(+) T cells determines simian immunodeficiency virus load in vaccinated monkeys after vaccine breakthrough infection. *J Virol.* **86**, 5877–5884 (2012).
- 775. J. C. Yaciuk *et al.*, Direct interrogation of viral peptides presented by the class I HLA of HIV-infected T cells. *J Virol.* **88**, 12992–13004 (2014).
- 776. T. H. Hansen, J. M. Connolly, K. G. Gould, D. H. Fremont, Basic and translational applications of engineered MHC class I proteins. *Trends in Immunology.* 31, 363–369 (2010).
- 777. S. V. Dambaeva *et al.*, Non-classical MHC-E (Mamu-E) expression in the rhesus monkey placenta. *Placenta*. **29**, 58–70 (2008).
- 778. M. E. Abram, A. L. Ferris, W. Shao, W. G. Alvord, S. H. Hughes, Nature, position, and frequency of mutations made in a single cycle of HIV-1 replication. *J Virol.* 84, 9864–9878 (2010).
- 779. K. A. Reimann *et al.*, Pathogenicity of simian-human immunodeficiency virus SHIV-89.6P and SIVmac is attenuated in cynomolgus macaques and associated with early T-lymphocyte responses. *Journal of Virology*. **79**, 8878–8885 (2005).
- R. R. Redfield, E. C. Tramont, Toward a better classification system for HIV infection. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 320, 1414–1416 (1989).

- 781. S. Le Gall *et al.*, Nef interacts with the mu subunit of clathrin adaptor complexes and reveals a cryptic sorting signal in MHC I molecules. *Immunity*. **8**, 483–495 (1998).
- O. Schwartz, V. Maréchal, S. Le Gall, F. Lemonnier, J. M. Heard, Endocytosis of major histocompatibility complex class I molecules is induced by the HIV-1 Nef protein. *Nat Med.* 2, 338–342 (1996).
- 783. S. Sato *et al.*, Potent antibody-mediated neutralization and evolution of antigenic escape variants of simian immunodeficiency virus strain SIVmac239 in vivo. *J Virol.* **82**, 9739–9752 (2008).
- Y. Fukazawa *et al.*, B cell follicle sanctuary permits persistent productive simian immunodeficiency virus infection in elite controllers. *Nat Med.* 21, 132–139 (2015).
- 785. A. J. Hessell *et al.*, Broadly neutralizing monoclonal antibodies 2F5 and 4E10 directed against the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp41 membrane-proximal external region protect against mucosal challenge by simian-human immunodeficiency virus SHIVBa-L. *J Virol.* **84**, 1302–1313 (2010).
- P. J. R. Goulder, D. I. Watkins, Impact of MHC class I diversity on immune control of immunodeficiency virus replication. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 8, 619–630 (2008).
- 787. L. Vojnov *et al.*, GagCM9-specific CD8+ T cells expressing limited public TCR clonotypes do not suppress SIV replication in vivo. *PLoS One.* **6**, e23515 (2011).
- A. R. Hersperger *et al.*, Perforin expression directly ex vivo by HIV-specific CD8 T-cells is a correlate of HIV elite control. *PLoS Pathog.* 6, e1000917 (2010).
- 789. C. Sun *et al.*, Mucosal priming with a replicating-vaccinia virus-based vaccine elicits protective immunity to simian immunodeficiency virus challenge in rhesus monkeys. *J Virol.* **87**, 5669–5677 (2013).
- 790. J. R. Rodgers, R. G. Cook, MHC class Ib molecules bridge innate and acquired immunity. *Nat Rev Immunol.* **5**, 459–471 (2005).
- 791. C. Grimsley *et al.*, Definitive high resolution typing of HLA-E allelic polymorphisms: Identifying potential errors in existing allele data. *Tissue Antigens*. **60**, 206–212 (2002).
- J. Lajoie *et al.*, Genetic variants in nonclassical major histocompatibility complex class I human leukocyte antigen (HLA)-E and HLA-G molecules are associated with susceptibility to heterosexual acquisition of HIV-1. *J Infect Dis.* 193, 298–301 (2006).

- 793. M. Guzmán-Fulgencio *et al.*, HLA-E variants are associated with sustained virological response in HIV/hepatitis C virus-coinfected patients on hepatitis C virus therapy. *AIDS*. **27**, 1231–1238 (2013).
- 794. P. B. Jørgensen, A. H. Livbjerg, H. J. Hansen, T. Petersen, P. Höllsberg, Epstein-Barr virus Peptide Presented by HLA-E is Predominantly Recognized by CD8bright Cells in multiple Sclerosis Patients. *PLoS One.* **7**, e46120 (2012).
- 795. E. J. Wiertz *et al.*, The human cytomegalovirus US11 gene product dislocates MHC class I heavy chains from the endoplasmic reticulum to the cytosol. *Cell*. 84, 769–779 (1996).
- 796. T. van Hall *et al.*, Selective cytotoxic T-lymphocyte targeting of tumor immune escape variants. *Nat Med.* **12**, 417–424 (2006).
- 797. T. van Hall, C. C. Oliveira, S. A. Joosten, T. H. M. Ottenhoff, The other Janus face of Qa-1 and HLA-E: diverse peptide repertoires in times of stress. *Microbes and Infection.* **12**, 910–918 (2010).
- 798. M. H. Lampen *et al.*, CD8+ T cell responses against TAP-inhibited cells are readily detected in the human population. *J Immunol.* **185**, 6508–6517 (2010).
- 799. C. Soderberg-Naucler, J. Y. Nelson, Human cytomegalovirus latency and reactivation a delicate balance between the virus and its host's immune system. *Intervirology*. **42**, 314–321 (1999).
- 800. C. A. Alford, S. Stagno, R. F. Pass, W. J. Britt, Congenital and perinatal cytomegalovirus infections. *Rev. Infect. Dis.* **12 Suppl 7**, S745–53 (1990).
- R. F. Kalejta, Tegument proteins of human cytomegalovirus. *Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev.* 72, 249–65– table of contents (2008).
- 802. D. Cosman *et al.*, ULBPs, novel MHC class I-related molecules, bind to CMV glycoprotein UL16 and stimulate NK cytotoxicity through the NKG2D receptor. *Immunity.* **14**, 123–133 (2001).
- 803. R. Elkington *et al.*, Ex vivo profiling of CD8+-T-cell responses to human cytomegalovirus reveals broad and multispecific reactivities in healthy virus carriers. *Journal of Virology*. **77**, 5226–5240 (2003).
- 804. J. I. Hopkins *et al.*, Cytotoxic T cell immunity to human cytomegalovirus glycoprotein B. *Journal of Medical Virology*. **49**, 124–131 (1996).
- 805. E. S. Mocarski, Immunomodulation by cytomegaloviruses: manipulative strategies beyond evasion. *Trends in Microbiology*. **10**, 332–339 (2002).
- 806. A. Kaur *et al.*, Decreased Frequency of Cytomegalovirus (CMV)-Specific CD4+ T Lymphocytes in Simian Immunodeficiency Virus-Infected Rhesus Macaques:

Inverse Relationship with CMV Viremia. *Journal of Virology*. **76**, 3646–3658 (2002).

- 807. R. Richards, I. Scholz, C. Powers, W. R. Skach, K. Früh, The cytoplasmic domain of rhesus cytomegalovirus Rh178 interrupts translation of major histocompatibility class I leader peptide-containing proteins prior to translocation. *J Virol.* 85, 8766–8776 (2011).
- 808. D. A. Price *et al.*, Public clonotype usage identifies protective Gag-specific CD8+ T cell responses in SIV infection. *J Exp Med.* **206**, 923–936 (2009).
- 809. M. C. Iglesias *et al.*, Escape from highly effective public CD8+ T-cell clonotypes by HIV. *Blood*. **118**, 2138–2149 (2011).
- 810. J. P. Giraldo-Vela *et al.*, The Major Histocompatibility Complex Class II Alleles Mamu-DRB1\*1003 and -DRB1\*0306 Are Enriched in a Cohort of Simian Immunodeficiency Virus-Infected Rhesus Macaque Elite Controllers. J Virol. 82, 859-870 (2008).
- 811. S. Ranasinghe *et al.*, Association of HLA-DRB1-restricted CD4+ T cell responses with HIV immune control. *Nat Med.* **19**, 930-933 (2013).
- 812. B. J. Burwitz *et al.*, CD8+ and CD4+ cytotoxic T cell escape mutations precede breakthrough SIVmac239 viremia in an elite controller. *Retrovirology*. **9**, 91 (2012).
- 813. A. S. Perelson *et al.*, HIV-1 dynamics in vivo: virion clearance rate, infected cell life-span, and viral generation time. *Science*. **271**, 1582-1586 (1996).

Appendix 1: Identification and spontaneous immune targeting of an endogenous retrovirus K envelope protein in the Indian rhesus macaque model of human disease

Helen L. Wu, Enrique J. Léon, Lyle T. Wallace, Francesca A. Nimiyongskul, Matthew B.Buechler, Laura P. Newman, Philip A. Castrovinci, R. Paul Johnson, Robert J. Gifford,R. Brad Jones and Jonah B. Sacha.

# **Author contributions**

The author wrote the manuscript and performed the experiments shown in Figures 4, 5b, S4, and S5 as well as replicates of experiments shown in Figure 2C, 2E, 2F, and 3.

## I. The problem and scientific approach

Endogenous retroviruses (ERVs) comprise approximately 8% of the human genome. While the vast majority of ERVs no longer possess coding capacity for the production of viral mRNAs and proteins, some ERV open reading frames (ORFs) remain intact (1) (2). Human ERV (HERV) activity is normally repressed in healthy tissues, however, activation of HERV ORF transcription and protein production is detected in numerous developmental and pathological contexts, including embryogenesis, pregnancy, neoplasia, autoimmunity, neurodegeneration, and viral infection (3) (4) (5) (6) (7) (8) (9) (10). In addition, HERV-specific cellular and humoral immunity has been reported in humans, particularly in the context of exogenous retroviral infection with human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) (10) (11) (12) (13). However, ERV activity and ERVspecific immune responses remain poorly defined in the physiologically relevant rhesus macaque model frequently used to study human reproduction, development, neurology, and infectious disease. Therefore, we investigated here if rhesus macaques harbor a functional equivalent of HERV-K (HML-2).

## **II. Materials and methods**

## **Rhesus macaques**

A total of 82 purpose-bred male or female rhesus macaques (RM) (*Macaca mulatta*) of Indian genetic background were used in this study including 34 SIV-infected RM, 46 SIV-naïve RM, and 2 RM with time points taken before and after SIV infection. Rhesus macaques were housed at the Wisconsin National Primate Research Center, New England Primate Research Center, or the Oregon National Primate Research Center. All protocols were approved by the respective Institutional Animal Care and Use Committees, under

the standards of the US National Institutes of Health Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals.

# **Identification of SERV-K1**

We used HERV-K consensus sequences (14) to search the rhesus macaque genome for the simian orthologue of ERV-K. Sequence analysis was conducted using MacVector (Cary, NC, USA) and Geneious (Auckland, New Zealand) software.

## **mRNA** capture

Several micrograms of mRNA were purified from BLCL utilizing the Qiagen (Valencia, CA, USA) RNeasy kit and Oligotex RNA kit according to the manufacturer's protocols. cDNA libraries were made from this mRNA with the Invitrogen (Carlsbad, CA, USA) Superscript II cDNA synthesis kit according to the manufacturer's protocol. The cDNA was ligated into the pCMVsport vector and transformed into stbl4 electromax cells from Invitrogen (Carlsbad, CA, USA). Greater than  $2 \times 10^5$  colonies were plated out from the transformation and were physically scrapped off the plates to make a plasmid prep of the cDNA library. Probes of approximately 50nt in length were designed based on conserved sequences found in an alignment of multiple known ERV. The following probes were ordered from IDT (Coralville, IA, USA) as 5' biotinylated probes that had been HPLC purified:

5'CAGCTAYGGCTGCTGTAGCAGGAGTTGCATTGCACTCTTCTGTTCAGTC3' (envelope sequence),

5'GCTGCCAATCCTCCAGTTAACATAGATGCAGATCAACTATTAGGAATAG3' (gag sequence), and

(envelope sequence). The cDNA library was enriched for the target molecules utilizing the biotinylated probes and the RecA affinity capture method of Zhumabayeva et al. (15, 16). Specifically, the buffer described by Zhumabayeva et al. was mixed with aqueous Adenosine 5'- $[\gamma$ -thiotriphosphate tetralithium salt (stored at -80 in small aliquots in a 2:1 ratio with ATP) from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA) and 50ng of probe and 2µg of RecA protein in a 30µl reaction volume. This was incubated at 37°C for 15 min. Then 5µg of cDNA library was added and a further 37°C incubation of 20 min was done. The RecA was then inactivated by adding 10 % SDS and Proteinase K as described by Zhumabayeva et al. The Proteinase K was incubated for 10 min at 37°C. Finally, the Proteinase K was inactivated by adding 1 µl of 100 mM PMSF. Once this was thoroughly mixed, 20 µl of M-270 Dynal paramagnetic streptavidin beads from Invitrogen (Carlsbad, CA, USA) that were previously washed twice with a binding buffer consisting of 10 mM TrisHCL, 1 M NaCl, and 1 mM EDTA were added to the reaction. This was gently mixed by hand for 30 min at room temperature. The beads were washed three times with 10 mM TrisHCl, 2 M NaCl, and 1 mM EDTA wash buffer to remove unbound plasmid. A last wash was done with pure water at 37°C. The beads were resuspended in 50 µl of TE buffer and extracted with an equal volume of phenol:chloroform:isoamyl alcohol. The aqueous phase was ethanol precipitated and resuspended in 10 µl of TE of which 0.5 µl was used for heat shock transformation of stbl3 cells from Invitrogen (Carlsbad, CA, USA). The resulting colonies were plasmid purified and Sanger sequenced to screen for the target sequences. The resulting clones are typically enriched for target molecule to better than 50 %, although the percentages can vary widely. The non-target molecules are generally random in their nature and probably represent non-specific sticking to the

streptavidin beads. Sequence analysis was conducted using MacVector (Cary, NC, USA) and Geneious (Auckland, New Zealand) software. Accesssion numbers for captured SERV-K1 Env mRNA are KU363810 and KU363811.

## T cell assays

ELISPOT screening was carried out as previous described (*17*) using 15-mer peptides (with 11 amino acid overlap) spanning the entire SERV-K1 Env open reading frame or the entire SIVmac239 proteome. Intracellular cytokine staining assays were carried out as previously described (*18*) (*17*). Positive responses shown were confirmed using peptides synthesized by three independent sources.

## Antibody detection

Heat-inactivated serum was diluted 1:1000 and used in a peptide-based ELISA assay, as previously described (*19*), against overlapping 15-mer peptides (with 11 amino acid overlap) spanning either the entire SERV-K1 Env open reading frame or the entire SIVmac239 Env open reading frame. ELISA was conducted in duplicate, using absorbance at 450 nm to determine binding antibodies.

## Serological tests for antibodies

Intuitive Biosciences performed serology assays. Individual serum samples were screened for presence of antibodies to a panel of viral pathogens using CSA: Simian Expanded Array and CSA: Simian Detection Kit (Intuitive Biosciences, Madison WI), following the standard manufacturer's protocol. Briefly, samples were diluted 1:100 in the supplied Sample Dilution Buffer and incubated on the CSA: Simian Expanded Array for 1 hour at room temperature. Each sample well was washed five times with Wash Buffer, and a 1:5000 dilution of anti-Simian IgG in Sample Dilution Buffer was added to

each well and incubated at room temperature for 1 h. After washing fives times with Wash Buffer, a 1:100 dilution of gold conjugate reagent in gold conjugated diluent was added to each well and incubated at room temperature for 45 min. After five repeat washes with Wash Buffer, each well was rinsed using 1× rinse buffer. SilverQuant reagent A and B were quickly mixed and added to each well, incubating for 3 min while protected from light. Each sample well was quickly rinsed with ultrapure water several times, and the arrays dried with nitrogen gas at approximately 80 psi. Each array was scanned and analyzed using the AthenaQuant System (Intuitive Biosciences). A report was generated with intensity of each spot recorded by antigen as a mean of five replicate spots, in relative intensity units. Cut off values as specified by the manufacturer were used to determine positive and negative designations for each sample. When a sample generates significant intensity of signal on the array, this indicates that the animal is seropositive to the virus represented by the antigen on the array. This does not detect presence of virus, merely presence of specific IgG to the virus, which is indicative of previous exposure or latent and/or subclinical infection.

## **III. Results**

## A. Identification of a spliced SERV-K1 Env mRNA

To assess whether a biologically active ERV might exist in the genome of Indian rhesus macaques, we focused on HERV-K (HML-2), the youngest and most active of all ERVs in the human genome (*20*). To this end, we used consensus HERV-K sequences to scan the rhesus macaque genome, where we identified three proviral insertion sites on chromosomes 5, 11, and 12. The proviral insertion on chromosome 12 exhibited the greatest sequence homology to HERV-K, with 89 % nucleotide homology to HERV-K

Gag, Pro, Pol, and Env open reading frames; we termed this provirus simian ERV-K1 (SERV-K1) (Appendix 1 Figure S1). While the Pro and Pol reading frames contained frameshift mutations leading to premature stop codons, the Gag and Env ORFs remained intact with the potential to code for full length proteins (Appendix 1 Figure 1A). To assess whether the SERV-K1 provirus could produce protein-coding mRNA transcripts, we used mRNA capture to generate a cDNA library from a macaque in which we detected a large SERV-K1 Env T cell response (r02120, see below). The cDNA library from r02120 contained a spliced mRNA transcript coding for the SERV-K1 Env protein possessing canonical structural features of a retroviral Env protein, including a signal leader peptide (L), a RX(K/R)R consensus cleavage site separating the surface (SU) and transmembrane (TM) envelope subunits, a fusion domain, an immunosuppressive domain, and a transmembrane anchor domain (Appendix 1 Figure 1B, C; Figure S2). Phylogenetic analysis confirmed that SERV-K1 is part of a simian 'sister' lineage of the HERV-K (HML-2) lineage that expanded in the hominid germline (Appendix 1 Figure 1D; Figure S3). As HERV-K HML2 Env and SERV-K1 Env share >90% sequence homology, it is likely that, as described for HERV-K Env in humans (20), SERV-K1 Env retains functional activity in rhesus macaques, and thus may serve as a target for immune responses.

#### B. SERV-K1 Env-specific T cell responses are rare, but can be high frequency

Because SERV-K1 Env retained the ability to code for functional protein, we next assessed whether this activity in rhesus macaques was sufficient to trigger SERV-K1 Env-specific immune responses. To this end, we generated a set of overlapping 15-mer peptides spanning the SERV-K1 Env protein sequence and performed IFN-γ ELISPOT

using PBMC from both SIV-infected and uninfected rhesus macaques. We selected SIVinfected macaques due to the well-documented association between HIV-1 infection and increased HERV activity (*21*). Although we screened 29 chronically SIV-infected rhesus macaques (16 progressors and 13 elite controllers), 4 SIVΔNef vaccinated rhesus macaques, and 26 SIV-naïve rhesus macaques we identified only one rhesus macaque mounting T cell responses against SERV-K1 Env (Appendix 1 Figure 2A). As mentioned above, this SIV-infected progressor, r02120, was the same macaque from which we had captured the SERV-K1 Env-encoding mRNA, providing further evidence that SERV-K1 was transcriptionally active in this animal.

Although SERV-K1 Env-specific T cells were only rarely detected in our cohort of macaques via IFN- $\gamma$  ELISPOT, we identified one response in r02120 targeting SERV-K1 Env<sub>526-540</sub> LL15 with surprisingly high magnitude (Appendix 1 Figure 2B). Given that impurities in commercially prepared peptides can result in false positive responses in IFN- $\gamma$  ELISPOT (*22*) (*23*), we confirmed this high magnitude T cell response using SERV-K1 Env<sub>526-540</sub> LL15 peptide synthesized by three independent sources (data not shown). Intracellular cytokine staining (ICS) revealed that this high frequency response was CD4+ T cell mediated (Appendix 1 Figure 2C). Strikingly, the SERV-K1 Env<sub>526-540</sub> LL15-specific CD4+ T cell response was larger in magnitude than the entire SIVmac239specific CD4+ T cell response in r02120 (Appendix 1 Figure 2D), and could be detected in ELISPOT at concentrations of 1  $\mu$ M (Appendix 1 Figure S4). Further analysis of this unusual CD4+ T cell response revealed that SERV-K1 Env<sub>526-540</sub> LL15-specific CD4+ T cells were uniformly effector memory in character (Appendix 1 Figure 2E), suggesting continual exposure to low levels of antigen. SERV-K1 Env<sub>526-540</sub> LL15-specific CD4+ T

cells were also highly polyfunctional, as evidenced by secretion of cytokines (TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$ ) and chemokine (MIP-1 $\beta$ ) and degranulation (measured by CD107a) (Appendix 1 Figure 2F). The effector memory phenotype coupled with the high frequency of responding T cells is reminiscent of the phenomenon of "memory inflation", which is seen with chronic pathogens such as herpes viruses (*24*).

In addition to the large SERV-K1 Env<sub>526-540</sub> LL15- specific CD4+ T cell response, r02120 also mounted a CD8+ T cell response to SERV-K1 Env<sub>108-115</sub> PA8 (Appendix 1 Figure 3A). Similar to the CD4+ T cell response, SERV-K1 Env<sub>108-115</sub> PA8-specific CD8+ T cells could be detected in IFN- $\gamma$  ELISPOT at concentrations of 100 nM (Appendix 1 Figure S4) and were uniformly effector memory in phenotype (Appendix 1 Figure 3B). Thus, while SERV-K1 Env-directed T cell responses are not frequent in SIV-infected rhesus macaques, rare, high frequency, responses can be detected, suggesting that SERV-K1 is active in at least a subset of these animals.

## C. SERV-K1 Env-specific antibodies are common in rhesus macaques

As we had captured an mRNA encoding SERV-K1 Env with all the structural elements of a functional envelope protein, and detected both CD8+ and CD4+ T cells targeting this protein in r02120, we asked whether SERV-K1 Env-specific antibody responses would be present in this animal. To assess this, and to identify the immunogenic domains of SERV-K1 Env, we performed a peptide-based ELISA assay to screen for antibodies directed to SIVmac239 Env and SERV-K1 Env in rhesus macaque r02120. As anticipated, we detected robust antibody responses to SIVmac239 Env (Appendix 1 Figure 4A). However, we also observed robust antibody responses against SERV-K1 Env in the serum of this macaque (Appendix 1 Figure 4B). As the sequence

homology between these two envelopes is low (~19 % amino acid homology), the SERV-K1 Env-specific antibodies detected are unlikely the result of cross-reactive SIVmac239 Env-specific antibodies. Furthermore, we found similar antibody targeting of SERV-K1 Env in 3 additional SIV-infected and 2 SIV-naïve rhesus macaques (Appendix 1 Figure 4B). Interestingly, one of the highly targeted regions in this macaque, SERV-K1 Env<sub>541-</sub> 555 TM, is fully conserved with HERV-K Env and a major humoral target in HIV-infected humans (*10*). Focusing on six frequently targeted SERV-K1 15-mer peptides, we screened an additional 21 SIV-naïve rhesus macaques, and found consistent antibody targeting of these six SERV-K1 15-mer peptides in all animals tested (Appendix 1 Figure 4C). These data demonstrate that the observed SERV-K1 Env antibody responses represent genuine targeting of SERV-K1 Env and not cross-reactive SIV-specific antibody responses. Thus, SERV-K1 Env protein expression is sufficient to commonly trigger SERV-K1 Env-directed antibody responses in rhesus macaques.

# D. Viral infection history does not explain the presence of ERV-specific T cell responses in r02120

Previous studies reported that infection with viruses such as HSV-1, HIV-1, and cytomegalovirus resulted in an increase in ERV expression in human cells in vitro (*25*) (*26*). To investigate whether the viral infection history of r02120 accounted for its ability to mount SERV-K1 Env-specific T cell responses, we screened a cohort of 24 rhesus macaques, including r02120, for previous viral infections by plasma serology. The pattern of antibody detection against various retroviruses (Simian T lymphotropic virus, Simian retrovirus types one and five, Simian foamy virus), herpes viruses (Herpes B virus, Cytomegalovirus, Lymphocryptovirus, Rhesus rhadinovirus), and paramyxoviruses

(Measles virus) did not reveal any correlation between previous viral infections and the presence of SERV-K1-specific immune responses (Appendix 1 Figure 5A). In order to specifically examine whether the observed T cell recognition of SERV-K1 Env LL15 and PA8 in r02120 was the result of cross-reactive SIV-specific T cell responses, we attempted to align these SERV-K1 Env epitopes to SIVmac239 Env and did not find any SIVmac239 Env peptides with greater than 33 and 38 % identity to SERV-K1 LL15 and PA8, respectively (Appendix 1 Figure S5). Furthermore, longitudinal analysis of both the SERV-K1 Env<sub>526-540</sub> LL15-specific CD4+ T cell response and Env<sub>109-115</sub> PA8-specific CD8+ T cell response in r02120 revealed that these responses were present prior to SIV infection, in contrast to a Vif<sub>97-104</sub> WY8-specific CD8+ T cell response that only arose following SIV infection (Appendix 1 Figure 5B). Thus, the LL15- and PA8-specific T cell responses in r02120 likely represent genuine targeting of SERV-K1 Env and not cross-reactive SIV-specific T cell responses. This is in line with a previous report indicating lack of SIV-induced up-regulation of SERV activity in the cells of rhesus macaques (18). Thus, viral infection status alone does not predict SERV-K1-specific T cell immunity.

## **IV. Discussion**

In conclusion, these data suggest that, although ERVs have become endogenous self-antigens, ERV activity can generate specific immune responses. The mechanisms by which this ERV-specific immunity is induced and how tolerance to ERV antigens, if any, is overcome, require further investigation. However, these data contribute to the growing body of evidence that ERVs are not inert genomic fossils, but rather represent dynamic

protein-coding products that impact developmental, pathological, and immunological processes.



**Appendix 1 Figure 1: Identification of macque ERV-K provirus and a fully-spliced SERV-K1 Env mRNA. A)** Using human ERV-K sequences to search the rhesus macaque genome for ERV proviral insertions, we identified a proviral insertion of SERV-K1 on macaque chromosome 12. Genomic organization of this SERV-K1 provirus is shown. **B)** Using mRNA capture, we identified a fully-spliced mRNA encoding the SERV-K1 Env protein. Predicted protein translation of the captured mRNA is shown with canonical Env structural features: leader sequence (light grey), R-X-K/R-R cleavage site (boxed), fusion domain (grey highlight), immunosuppressive domain (bolded and underlined), conserved cysteine residues (white, underlined Cs), and transmembrane anchor domain (grey highlight). **C)** Hydrophobicity plot of SERV-K1 Env protein with features highlighted as in part B. **D)** Phylogram showing the

relationship of the simian ERVs examined here to previously characterized HERV-K HML-2 insertions in chimpanzees and humans. The phylogram was generated using maximum likelihood as implemented in PHYML (*27*) with 1000 bootstrap replicates. The tree is rooted on HERV-K(OLD) pro- viruses previously determined to be ancestors of the HML-2 lineage in Old World primates (*28*). The macaque locus examined here is indicated by background shading. Asterisks indicate nodes that were recovered in >95 % of bootstrap trees. OWM old world monkey, Chr chromosome.



**Appendix 1 Figure 2: SERV-K1 Env-specific T cell responses are rare, but can be high frequency. A)** Fifty-nine Indian rhesus macaques were screened for SERV-K1 Env T cell responses using overlapping 15mer peptides spanning SERV-K1 Env in IFN- $\gamma$  ELISPOT. Table shows summarized results. **B)** Raw IFN- $\gamma$ ELISPOT images of SERV-K1 Env LL15-specific T cell response identified in r02120 performed in duplicate alongside positive control (Concanavalin A, Con A) and negative control (no stimulation, no stim) wells. **C)** Intracellular cytokine staining (ICS) flow plots showing TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$  cytokine induction in SERV-K1 Env LL15-responding T cells. Gating scheme shown on left displays the CD3+ cell population, demonstrating that the SERV-K1 Env LL15-specific T cell response is CD4+ T cell-mediated. **D)** ELISPOT was performed on CD8-depleted PBMC from r02120 stimulating with either SERV-K1 Env LL15 peptide, or a pool of overlapping 15-mer peptides spanning the entire SIVmac239 proteome. Graphs display summed responses performed in duplicate. SFCs = IFN- $\gamma$  spot forming cells. **E)** Flow plots display memory subset staining of either bulk CD4+ T cells (left) or SERV-K1 Env LL15-responding CD4+ T

cells (right, gated by TNF- $\alpha$ /IFN- $\gamma$  induction shown in part C. Memory subsets are labeled as follows: N naïve, CM central memory, EM effector memory. Note SERV-K1 Env LL15-specific T cells are uniformly effector memory in phenotype. **F**) ICS flow plots showing functionality of SERV-K1 Env LL15-specific CD4+ T cells based on induction of TNF- $\alpha$  in conjuction with IFN- $\gamma$ , MIP-1 $\beta$ , and CD107a staining. Plots are gated on CD3+CD4+ as in part C. Note frequency of response of double positive cells is similar among plots, suggesting LL15-specific CD4+ T cells are polyfunctional. Of interest, screening of two half-siblings of r02120's dam and four siblings of r02120's sire revealed no SERV-K1 Env-specific T cell responses.



**Appendix 1 Figure 3: SERV-K1 Env-specific CD8+ T cell response. A)** ICS flow plots showing TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$  cytokine induction in SERV-K1 Env PA8-responding T cells. **B)** Flow plots display memory subset staining of either bulk CD8+ T cells (left) or SERV-K1 Env PA8-responding CD8+ T cells (right, gated by TNF- $\alpha$ /IFN- $\gamma$  induction shown in part A. Memory subsets are labeled as follows: N naïve, CM central memory, EM effector memory. Note SERV-K1 Env PA8-specific T cells are uniformly effector memory in phenotype.





**Appendix 1 Figure 4: SERV-K1 Env-specific antibodies are common in rhesus macaques. A)** Overlapping 15-mer peptides spanning SIVmac239 Env were used in a peptide-based ELISA for detection of specific antibodies in the serum of r02120. **B)** Overlapping 15-mer peptides spanning SERV-K1 Env were used in a peptide-based ELISA for detection of specific antibodies in the serum of 02120 (black) as well as the plasma of 3 additional SIV-infected (red) and 2 SIV-naïve RMs (blue). Arrow indicates SERV-K1 Env<sub>541-555</sub> 15-mer, which is an epitope targeted in HIV-infected patients. Peptides indicated with asterisks (\*) are shown in part C. Graphs in A, B indicate the major subunits and/or variable loops (V1–V5) of the Env proteins. **C)** ELISA detection of antibody responses to six frequently targeted SERV-K1 15-mer peptides in plasma from 21 SIV-naive rhesus macaques (blue). SIV-infected rhesus macaques from part B are shown for reference. All graphs display the average of two duplicate wells, background subtracted.

а										
Animal ID	STLV	SRV5	SRV1	Measles	Herpes B	HSV-1	CMV	LCV	RRV	SFV
r02120							+	+		
r94048					+	+	+	+		+
r99002							+	+	+	+
r03011							+	+	+	+
r99055							+	+		+
r07046							+	+		
r07045				+			+	+	+	
r07039								+		
r07047								+		
r01016							+	+	+	+
r05033				ļ				+		
r99080							+	+	+	+
r99047							+	+		+
r01061										+
r06004							+	+		+
r07015							+	+		+
r90132					Ŧ	Ŧ	+	<u>т</u>	+	+
r03159							+ +	- + -	+ +	+ 
r99037							+		+	+
r05040							+	+		+
r07044								+		
r07030							+	+	+	+
r99079							+		+	+
b 160 140 120 100 100	0 0 - 전 0 - 0 - 0 -				0	-■ -↔ -★	- Vif W - SER\ - SER\	Y8 /-K1 LL /-K1 PA	15 \8	
30 S <sup>∧</sup> - N H I 0	0- 0- 0- -5 0	5 1 Wee	■	■ 20 25 t SIV infe	 30 35 ection					

**Appendix 1 Figure 5: Viral infection history does not explain the presence of ERV-specific T cell responses in r02120. A)** Twenty-four rhesus macaques were screened for previous viral infections by plasma serology. Plasma was tested for antibodies against Simian T Lymphotropic virus (STLV), Simian Retrovirus Groups 1 and 5 (SRV1 and SRV5), Measles virus, Herpes B virus, Herpes Simplex virus type 1 (HSV-1), Cytomegalovirus (CMV), Lymphocryptovirus (LCV), Rhesus rhadinovirus (RRV), and Simian

Foamy Virus (SFV). Rhesus macaque r02120, the only macaque in this group with detectable SERV-K1 Env-specific T cell responses, is boxed in blue. Note previous infection history does not explain r02120's ability to mount SERV-K1 Env-specific immune responses (for example, r02120 and r07046 have identical plasma serology against these tested viruses). **B)** Longitudinal ELISPOT values for IFN- $\gamma$  spot forming cells (SFCs) measured in r02120 PBMC against either SERV-K1 Env LL15, SERV-K1 Env PA8, or SIV Vif WY8 are shown as mean  $\pm$  SD of triplicate wells performed at the indicated times. The grey box indicates pre-SIV infection.

10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100 110 120   TGTGGGGGAAAAGAAGAAGAAGAAGAAGAAGCTGTATATAAGAAAGA
130 140 150 160 170 180 190 200 210 220 230 240   GTCCTTGCAAGAGACATGTGCTGTGGGTAACTCAAGGTTTAATGGATTTTGGGCGTGCAGGGTGGACTTTGTTCCTAGAAAAGCAAGGTATTGTCCCAAGGTTTAATGGCATGGACACGCCCCACCTGAAACCAAGGATCTTTTCGATCCCAAGGTTCCAAATAGGGGTACACTATCCC 230 240   CAGGAACGTTCTCTGTACACGACACCTGAAGGTTCAAGGTTTAATGGCATTTGGGCGTGCAGGGTGGACTTTGTTCCTAGAAAACCAAGGATCTTTTCGATCCCAAATAGGGTCCCAAATAGGGGTACACTATCCC 250 210 220 230 240   CAGGAACGTTCTCTGTACACGAGACACTGGACACCACGCACACCAACGAAAACAAGGATCTTTTCGATCCCAAGGTTCCAAATAGGGGTACACTATCCC 250 210 250 210 250 240   CAGGAACGTTCTCTGTACACGACACCATTGAGTCCAAATTACCAAGGCTACCAACAACAACGACGCACCACTGAAACAAGGATCTTTTCGATCCAAATAGGGTCCAAATAGGGGTACACTATCCC 250 210 250 210 250 240   CAGGAACGTTCTCTGTACACGACACCACTGGAACCACCACTGAAACAAGGATCTTTTGGACCACCACCACTGAAACAAGGATCTTTTCGATCCAAATAGGGTCCAAATAGGGGTACACTATCCC 250 210 250 210 250 <td< td=""></td<>
250 260 270 280 290 300 310 320 330 340 350 360 TGAAACAATGTTGCTAAAAGGTTTATCTCAAGGCACAGGATTTACCTTTAAACTTATTCATGGCACAGATCCTTGTTCTTATGTCTTACTGCCTAATTTCCTCCCCTAAAAATGATCCTATT ACTTTGTTACAACGATTTTCCAAATAGAGTTCCGTGTCCTAAATGGAAATTGACAGATTGCTACTGGAAATAGGAAGAATACAGGAATGACGATTAAAGGAGGGATTTTTACTAGGATA "5'LTR"
370 380 390 400 410 420 430 440 450 460 470 480 GTCCTGCCACTCCCTTATCTTTAAGATGGTAAAGATAATTATCATAAGAGAACTCAGAGGGCGGGGCGCGGGGGGCCCTCGGAGGCGGGGGCCCCGGGGCCCCCGGGGCCCCC CAGGACGGTGAGGGAATAGAAATTCTACCATTTCATTAATAGATATTTATGATTCTCATCCCTTGAGCCCACGCCACCCAGGGGACACTCGGCGCCCCGGGGG "5'LTR"
490 500 510 520 530 540 550 560 570 580 590 600 GCTTTTCTTTCTTATACTTTGTCTCTGTGTCTTATTTCTTTTCTCAAGTCTCCGGTCCACCTTACGAGAAACACCCACAGGTGTGGAGGGCAGGCCACCCCTTCATCGGTGCCCAA CGAAAAGAAAGGATATGAAACAGAGACACAGAATAAAGAAAAAGAGTCGAGGGGGGGG
610 620 630 640 650 660 670 680 690 700 720 CGTGGAAGCTTTTCTCTAAGGTGAAGGTACGCTGGAGGGTGGTCACTGAGGACAAGTCGACGAGAGACTCCCGAGTACGTCTACAGTCAGCCTTGCGGTAAGCTTGTGCGCTCGGAAGAA GCACCTTCGAAAAGAGATTCCACTTCCATGCGACCTCGCACCAGTGACTCCTGTTCAGCTGCTCTGGAGGGCTCATGCAGATGTCAGTCGGAACGCCATTCGAACACGCGAGCCTTCT
730 740 750 760 770 780 790 800 810 820 830 840 CCTAGGGTAACAATGGGGCAAACTAAGAGTAAATATGCCTCTTATCGCAGGCTTTATTAAAATTCTCTTAAAAAGAGGGGGGGTTAAAGTCTCTACCAAAAATCTAATTACGCTATTTCCA GGATCCCATTGTTAACCCCGTTTGATTCTCATTTATACGGAGAATAGCGTCGAAATAATTTAAGAGAATTTTTCTCCCCCCTCAATTTCAGAGATGGTTTTAGATTAATGCGATAAAGT M G Q T K S K Y A S Y R S F I K I L L K R G G V K V S T K N L I T L F Q> GAG"
850 860 870 880 890 900 910 920 930 940 950 960 ACGATAGAGCAGTTTTGCCATGGTTTCCGGAACAGGGAACATTGAATCAAAGATTGGGAAAAAATTGGCAAAGAATCAAGCAAG
970 980 990 1000 1010 1020 1030 1040 1050 1060 1070 1080 GTATGGAATGATTGGGTCATTATTAAAGTAGCTTTAGAACCATTTCCAACAGAAGAAGAGAGAG
1090 1100 1110 1120 1130 1140 1150 1160 1170 1180 1190 1200 ATAGAATCCCGGAAAGGAAAGGAAAGGAAAGTTCACACTGTGAATGTGTATCAGAGCCGGCTATGGCTCGGTCAACGCAAAATGTTGACGATAATCAATTACAGGAGGTAGTATATCCTGAAACG TATCTTAGGGCCTTTCCTTT
1210 1220 1230 1240 1250 1260 1270 1280 1290 1300 1310 1320 TTAAAATTAGAAGAAAAAAATCCAGAATTAGCAGAGCCATCAGAGTCTAAACCACGATGGCCAACTGCTCTTCCAGCAGCTCGAAATGCCTGTAACTTTACAACCTCAAATG AATTTTAATCTTCTTTTTTTAGGTCTTAATCGTCCGGAGGTCTGAGGTGGCGATGGAGGTCGGCGAGTTTACGACGTGAAATGTTGGAGTTACGTCCAATTT L K L E E K N P E L A E P S E S K P R W P T A L P A A Q M P V T L Q P Q M Q V K "GAG"
1330 1340 1350 1360 1370 1380 1390 1400 1410 1420 1430 1440 CAAGTACAAACTGCAAAAGAAGATCAAATTGAAAAAAGATAGAGTTTCTGTCATGGCAATGCCATTCCAAATGCAGTGTCCACAATATCAGCCGGTAGAAGATAAGACCCAGCCGCCAGTA GTTCATGTTTGACGTTTTCTTCTAGTTTATCTTTTTCTATCTCAAAGACAGTACCGTACCGTAAGGTTAAGGTCTACGTCACAGGTGTTATAGTCGGCCATCTTCTATTCTGGGTCGGCGGGCAT Q V Q T A K E D Q I E K D R V S V M A M P F Q M Q C P Q Y Q P V E D K T Q P V V "GAG"
1450 1460 1470 1480 1490 1500 1510 1520 1530 1540 1550 1560 GCCTATCAATACTGGCTGCCAACGGAACTGTGGTATCGGTGGCCAGGAAAATCTGTGGGACAGCCAGGAACATTTCCAGCGCCACGGGGGGGG
1570 1580 1590 1600 1610 1620 1630 1640 1650 1660 1670 1680 ATGAGACTTAATCCTACAGCACTGCCTAGTACACAGGGTAGTGCGTTACATAAAATTATTGATGAGGGCAAGAAAACAAGGAGATATTGAGGCGTGGCAATTCCCAGTAATATTAGAAGCA TACTCTGAATTAGGATGTCGTGACGGATCATGTGTCCCATCACGCAATGTATTTTAATAACTACTCCGGTCTTTTGTTCCTCTATAACTCCGGCACGGCAATGTGTCCTATAAATTCTTCGT M R L N P T A L P S T Q G S A L H K I I D E A R K Q G D I E A W Q F P V I L E A> "GAG"
1690 1700 1710 1720 1730 1740 1750 1760 1770 1780 1790 1800 AGACCACCTGGAGAAGGGGCCCAAGAGGGAGAGCTTCCCGTAGCTGAAGCCAGATATAAGTCTTTTCTATAAAAATGCTAAAAGAAATGAAAGGGAGTAAAACAGTATGGACCCAAC TCTGGTGGACCTCTCCCCGGGTTCTCCCCTCTGGAGGGCATCGACTCGGCTCTATATCCAGAAAAGAAATGTTAAGTCTTTACTTTCCTCTTACTTTTCTCCCTCATTTTGTCATACCGGGTTG R P G E G A Q E G E L P V A E A R Y K S F S I K M L K E M K E G V K Q Y G P N> 
1810 1820 1830 1840 1850 1860 1870 1880 1890 1900 1910 1920 TCTCCTTACATGAGAACATTATTAGATTCCATTGCTATGGACATAGACTCATTCCTTATGATTGGGAGATTCTGGCAAAATCCTCACTCTCACCCTCTCAGTTTTACAATTTAAGACT AGAGGAATGTACTCTTGTAATAATCTAAGGTAACGAGTACCGTGTAAGGAATAACCCTCTAAGACCGTTTAGGAGGGGGGGG
1930 1940 1950 1960 1970 1980 1990 2000 2010 2020 2030 2040 TGGTGGATTGATGGGGGCACAAGTACAGGTCCGAAAAATAGGACTGCCCAATCCTCCAATTGACATAGATGCAGATCAACTATTAGGAATAGGTCAAAATTGGAGCACTGTTGACCAACAA ACCACCTAACTACCCCGTGTTCATGTCCAGGCTTTTTATCCTGACGGTTAGGGGGTTAACTGTTCTACGTCTAGTTGATAATCCTTATCCAGGTTTAACCTCGTGACAACTGGTTGTT W W I D G A Q V Q V R K N R T A N P I D I D A D Q L L G I G Q N W S T V D Q 2 "GAG"
2050 2060 2070 2080 2090 2100 2110 2120 2130 2140 2150 2160 GTAATAATGCCAAATGAGGCCATTGAGCAAAATCAGGGCTATCTGCCTTGGGGCCTGGGAGAAAATCCAAGACCGCCGGGACCGCCTCCTTTAATACAATAAGACAAGGCTCTAAA CATTATTACGGTTTACTCCGGTAACTCGTTTAGTCCCGATAGACGGAACAGCCGGGACGAAAATCCGGCCCTGGCGGCGGGGGGGG
2170 2180 2190 2200 2210 2220 2230 2240 2250 2260 2270 2280 GAGCCCTACCTGATTITCAGCAAGACTTCAAGATGCTGCTACTAGCCAATAGCGCATTGCCGATAGGGCATTGGTGGGGGGGATGGCGAATGCCCAATGCCCAATGCCCATTGCGCCAATGCCCAATGCCCCTAACGCCATGCCCATGCCCATGCCCCTAACGCCATGCCCATGCCCATGCCCATGCCCATGCCCCATGCCATGCCCATGCCCATGCCATGCCATGCCATGCCCATGCCATGCCATGCCCATGCCATGCCATGCCCATGCCATGCCCATGCCATGCCCATGCCCATGCCATGCCATGCCATGCCATGCCATGCCATGCCATGCCATGCCCATGCCATGCCATGCCCATGCC

ΕP	Y	Ρ	D	F	۷	A	R	L	Q	į D		A /	A	Q	К	S	I	Т	. ,	D I GAG	E	N	A	R	К	٧	/	I	٧	E	L	Μ	A	Ą	Y	Е	N	A	N	Ρ	D	C>
CAATC/ GTTAGT Q S	229 AGCC FCGG A	0 ATT TAA I	AAG TTC K	23 CC/ GG1 P	300 ATTA FAA1 L	AAA TTT1 K	AGG TCC G	231) AAA) TTT( K	0 GGT CCA V	TCC AGG / P	2 CG GC	320 CAGO GTCO A O	GAT CTA	CAC GTC S	23 GAT TA D	30 GTA CAT V	AT TA I	CTC GAG S	23 AG	40 AGT TCA E GAG	AC( TG( Y	GTT CAA V	235 AAG TTC K	igco igco A	CTG GAC	2 C G A G C T D	236 ATG TAC	0 GA/ CT1 G	ATT FAA I	2 GGA CCT G	37( GG/ CC <sup></sup> G	) AGC FCG A	TAT ATA	2 TGC ACG M	38 (AT) (TA) (H	9 AAA TTT K	GCT CGA A	23 ATG TAC M	90 6CTT 6GAA	TATO ATAC M	GGC CCG A	2400 TCAA AGTT Q>
GCAATO CGTTAO A I	241 CACA GTGT T	0 GGA CCT G	GTT CAA V	24 GC1 CG/ A	420 FTTA AAA1 L	GGA CCT G	AGG TCC G	243 ACA TGT Q	0 GGT CCA V	TAG ATC / R	2 AA TT	440 CATI GTA/ T F		GGG CCC G	24 GGA CT G	50 AGA TCT R	TG AC	TTA AAT Y	24 TA AT	60 ATTO TAAO N GAG	GT ( CA( C	GGT CCA G	247 CAA GTT Q	'0 AT1 TA4 I	rgg ACC/ G	Z TCA AGT	248 ATC TAG	0 TA/ AT1 L	ААА ГТТ К	2 AAG TTC K	490 AA <sup>-</sup> TT/ N	) FTG AAC C	CC1 GGA	2 TAG ATC	50 TC AG	9 TCA AGT S	AAT TTA N	25 AAA TTT K	10 CAA GTT Q	AAT ITTA N	IGT ACA V	2520 AACT TTGA T>
ACTCA/ TGAGTT T Q	253 AGCT FCGA A	0 ACT TGA T	ACA TGT T	25 AG/ TC1 R	540 AACA TTG1 T	GAT CTA D	TAA ATT K	2550 AGA0 TCT0 E	0 GCC CGG P	ACC TGG P	2 TG AC	560 GCC1 CGG/ G L	ГАТ АТА -	GT( CAC C	25 CA GGT P	70 AGA TCT R	TG AC	TAA ATT K	25 AA TT	80 AGG TCC K GAG	GA/ CT G	AAA TTT K	259 CAT GTA H	O TGC ACC W	GGG GGC G	Z TGA ACT D	260 ATC TAG	0 AA1 TT/ Q	IGT ACA C	2 CGT GCA R	610 TC AG/ S	Э ГАА АТТ К	ATI TAA F	2 T T G A A C F	62 AT TA D	9 4 A A T T T K	AAT TTA N	2 6 GGG CCC G	30 CAA GTT Q		ACT IGA L	2640 GTCG CAGC S>
																																				_	"	PRC	TEA	١ŚΕ	RF	>
GGAAAO CCTTTO G N	265 CGAG GCTC E	0 AGO TCC R	AGG TCC R	26 GGC CCC G	560 CCA0 GGT0 Q	GCC1 GGA P	TCA AGT Q	2670 GGC0 CCG0 A	0 CCC GGG P	GCA CGT Q	AC TG	680 AAAC TTTC Q 1	GAC GAC	GGG CCC G	26 GCA GCA A	90 TTC AAG F	CA GT Q	AAT TTA I	27 TC	00 AGC TCG Q	C C <sup>-</sup> G G / P	TTT AAA F	271 GTT CAA V	.0 CC1 GG <i>A</i> P	C AI AG TI Q		272 5TT 2AA	0 TTC AAC F	CAG GTC Q	GAA CTT E	730 CA/ GT Q	ACA FGT Q	ACC TGC F	2 C C C G G G P	CA GT P	9 CTG GAC L	CCA GGT P	27 CAA GTT Q	GTO GTO CAC V	STC1 AGA S	rca Agt Q	2760 GGGA CCCT G>
G K	R	E	E	G	Ρ	A	S	G	Ρ	A	Т	N	h	1 (	5	I	P "	N PRO	S	ASE	RI	L F 1 "	С	S	S	G	F	9	5	G	Т	Т	Т	P	, .	Г	A	Т	S	۷	S	G>>
ATAAGO TATTCO I S	277 CCAG GGTC Q	0 TTA AAT L	TCA AGT S	27 CAA GT1 Q	780 ATAC TATC Y	CAGO STCO S	CAA STT N	279 TTA AAT Y	0 TTC AAG S	CCC GGG P	2 GC CG	800 CAC/ GTG1 P (	ААА ГТТ 2	CGC GCC T	28 GCA GT	10 GTG CAC V	ICA GTI Q	GCA CGT Q	28 GT CA	20 AGA TCT/ *>	TT AA/	TAT ATA	283 GCA CGT	0 CCA GG1		2 C A A G T T	284 AGC TCG	0 AG1 TC7	ICT AGA	2 CTC GAG	850 TGC ACC	Ð STT SAA	CCA GG1	AGG TCC	860 660 600	9 AGC TCG	CTC GAG	28 CAC GTC	70 AAA TTT	AAA ITT1	ATC FAG	2880 CCCA GGGT
N K	Р	V	I	т	I	Q	Q	_"G/ L	AG " F	P	A	т	N	1 (	5	S	Α	A	V	D ASE	l R I	L F1"	С	т	I	Q	A	1	/	S	L	L	Ρ	G	; 1	E	Р	Ρ	Q	К	I	P>
CAGGGG GTCCCC T G	289 5TAT 2ATA V	0 AT 0 T A 0 Y	GCC CGG G	29 CA1 GT/ P	900 TTGC AACC L	CTO GGAC P	GAG CTC E	291) GGG, CCC G	0 ACT TGA T	GTA CAT V	2 GG CC G	920 ACT/ TGAT L	AAT FTA	CT GA/	29 TAG	30 GAA CTT G	GA CT R	TCA AGT S PRO	29 AG TC S	40 TTTT AAA L ASE	AA/ TT I RI	ATC TAG N F1"	295 TAA ATT L	0 AAC TTC K	GA CT G	2 GTT CAA V	296 TCA AGT Q	0 AA1 TT/	TTC AAG	2 АТА ТАТ Н	970 CT0 GA0 T	GGT CA G	GTO CAO V	2 GGT CCA V	98 TG/ AC	9 ATT TAA D	CAG GTC S	29 ACT TGA D	90 TTA AAT F	AAG TTTC K	GGC CG G	3000 GAAA CTTT E>
TTCAAT AAGTT/ I Q	301 FTGG AACC L	0 TTA AAT V	TTA AAT I	30 GT1 CA/ S	920 FCC1 AGGA S	CAA GT1 S	ATT FAA I	303 CCT GGA P	0 TGG ACC W	AGT TCA S	3 GC CG A	040 CAGT GTC/ S	rcc Agg P		30 GAG	50 ACA TGT D	GG CC R	ATT TAA I PRO	30 GC CG A	AGT AGT AGT ASE	AT TA/ I RI	TAT ATA L F1"	307 TAC ATG L	O TCC AGC L	CTA GAT	3 CCT GGA P	808 TA AT Y	0 TAT AT/	TTA AAT I	3 AAG TTC K	090 TTC AAC V	GGA GCT G	AAC TTC N	3 CAG GTC S	10 TG AC	9 AGA TCT E	TAA ATT I	31 AAA TTT K	.10 GAA CTT R	ACAG IGTO T	GGA CT G	3120 .GGGT CCCA G>
TCGGA/ AGCCTT F G	313 AGCA FCGT S	0 C T 0 G A 0 T	ATC TAG D	31 CGC GCC P	140 GCA0 CGT0 A	GGA CT1 G	AAG TTC K	315 GCT CGA	0 GCA CGT A	TAT ATA Y	3 TG AC	160 GGC/ CCGT A	AAA FTT N	ATCI AGA		70 TCT AGA V FAS	CT GA S	GAG CTC E RF1	31 AG TC S	80 CAG GTC R	AC( TG(	CTG GAC P	319 TGT ACA V	O GTA CA1 C	AG TTC K	3 GCC CGC A	20 AT TA	0 TAT AT/	FTC AAG	3 AAG TTC Q	210 GA/ CT G	AAA TTT K	CAC GTC Q	3 GTT CAA F	22) TT (AA)	9 GAA CTT *> >	GGG CCC	32 TTC AAC	30 GTA CA1	AGAC FCTC	CAC GTG	3240 TGGA ACCT
																	-		_																-	E	G "PR	L OTE	V ASE	D E RF	т 2 "	G> >
GCAGAT CGTCT/ A D	325 FGTC ACAG V	0 TCT AGA S	GTC CAG V	32 AT1 TA/ I	2 6 0 T G C 1 A C G A A	AA1	AAA TTT N	327) TCA AGT Q	0 GTG CAC W	GCC CGG I P	3 AA TT	280 AAA/ TTTT K 1	ATT FAA N	GGG CCC W	32 CCT GGA P	90 AAA TTT K	GT Q	AAA TTT K PRO	33 GG CC	00 CTG GAC A ASE	TT/ AA <sup>-</sup> V RI	ACA TGT T F2"	331 AGA TCT R	.0 ICTI IGAA L	GT ACA V	3 CGC GCC G	332 GCG GCC	0 TAC ATC V	GGC CG G	3 ACA TGT T	330 GC CG/ A	O FTC AAG S	AGA TC1 E	AAG TTC E	34 TG AC V	9 TAC ATG Y	GAA CTT E	33 AGT TCA S	50 ACA TGT T	ATO TTAC M	GAT TA I	3360 TTTA AAAT L>
CATTG GTAACA H C	337 FTTA AAAT L	0 GGA CCT G	GGT P	33 GA1 CT/ D	880 TAA1 ATT# N	CAA GT1 Q	AGA TCT E	339 AAG TTC S	0 TAC ATG T	TGT ACA V	3 TC AG	400 AGCO TCGO Q F	CAA GTT	TG/ ACT M	34 ATT I I	10 ACT TGA T	TC AG S	AAT TTA I PRO	34 TC AG	20 CTG GAC P ASE	TT/ AA <sup>-</sup> V RI	AAT TTA N F2"	343 CTA GAT L	O TGO ACO W	GGG GGG G	3 TCG AGC R	844 GAG CTC	0 ATT TA/ D	TTA AAT L	3 TTA AAT L	450 CA0 GT0 Q	GCA CGT Q	АТ( ТА( //	3 5 G G 5 C C 4	46 GT CA G	9 GCG CGC A	GAA CTT E	34 ATC TAC I	70 АТТ ТАА І		GCC CGG P	3480 CGCT GCGA A>
CCATT/ GGTAAT PL	349 ATAC FATG Y	0 AGC TCC S	CCC GGG P	35 AC TG1 T	500 AAG1 TTC# S	CAA GT1 Q	AAA TTT K	351) AATO TTAO I	0 CAT GTA I	TAAC	3 TA AT	520 AGA1 TCT/ K 1	rgg Acc 1	GAT CT/ G	35 ГАТЛ АТА Ү	30 ATA TAT I	GG GG P	AGG TCC G PRO	35 AA TT	40 AGG TCC K ASE	GG" CC/ G RI	TTA AAT L F2"	355 GGG CCC G	0 AAA TTT K	AA TTT N	3 TGA ACT E	856 AAA TTT	0 ATC TAC N	GGC CG G	3 ATT TAA I	570 AA/ TT K	AGT FCA V	CCC GGC F	3 CAA GTT P	58 TT AA	9 GAG CTC E	ACT TGA T	35 AAG TTC K	90 AAA TT1 K	AAT TTTA N	rca Agt Q	3600 AGAA TCTT E>
																																						_	E	К	S	R> >
AGAAAA TCTTTT R K	361 AGGA FCCT G "PR	0 ATA TAT I 0TE	GGG CCC G	36 TA1 ATA Y RF	520 TCC1 AGGA P F2"	TTT AAAA F	ГТА ААТ *	363) GGG CCC > >	0 GC G C G C	GCC CGG	3 AC TG	640 TGT/ ACA1	AGC FCG	GCG	36 TC GAG	50 СТА БАТ	AA TT	CCC GGG	36 АТ ТА	60 TCC/ AGG	AT' TA/	ТАА АТТ	367 CTT GAA	GGA	AA)	3 ACA TGT	868 AGA TCT	0 AAA TT1	AAC FTG	3 CGG GCC	690 TAT AT/	e FGG ACC	GTA CA1	3 4 A A T T T	70 TC AG	9 AGT TCA	GGC CCG	37 CGC GCC	10 TAC	CGA GCT	AAG FTC	3720 CAAA GTTT
КК	R	N	R	v	Ŝ -	F	L	G	A	Α	Т	۷	A	. F		Р	К	Р,	I PO	DL R	F1	L "	Т	W	K	Т	E	ł	<	P	V	W	V	N		2	W	Р	L	Р	К	Q>>
AACTGO TTGACO K L	373 GAGG CTCC E	0 CTT GAA A	TAC ATG L	37 AT1 TAA H	740 TCA1 AGTA S		GCA CGT A	375) AAG TTC K	0 GAA CTT E	CAA GTT Q	3 TT AA	760 TAA/ ATT K	AAA FTT K		37 GAC	70 ACA TGT H	TT AA I	GAG CTC E 	37 CC GG P0	80 TTC/ AAG S	AT' TA/ F1'	TCT AGA F	379 CAC GTG S	0 CC1 GG <i>A</i> P	GG/ VCC W	3 AAT TTA N	880 TTC AG S	0 TCC AGC	GAC	3 TAT ATA V	810 TTC AAC F	OTA STA CAT V	ATA TAT	3 ACA TGT C	82 (GA) (CT)	9 4 A A T T T K	AAT TTA K	38 CAG GTC S	30 GCA CGT G	AAT ITTA K	rgg Acc W	3840 CGTA GCAT R>>
TGTTA/ ACAAT M L	385 ATGG FACC M	0 ACT TGA D	TAA ATT L	38 GAC CTC R	B60 GCCC GGCC A	TAA ATI V	AAT FTA N	387 GCT CGA A	0 GTA CAT V	ATT TAA I	3 CA GT Q	880 ACCO TGGO P	CAT GTA	GG( CC( I (	38 56C 5CG	90 CTC GAG P	TT AA L	CAA GTT Q 	39 CC GG P P0	00 CGG GCC GCC G L R	AT TA/ I F1	TGC ACG L	391 CCT GGA P	.0 CTC GAC S	CG GCC P	3 GCC CGC A	92 2AT 5TA M	0 GAT CT/	rcc Agg L	3 CAA GTT P	930 AA0 TTO K	D GAC D	TGC ACC W	3 500 560 F	94) TT AA	Ð TAA ATT	TTA AAT I	39 TAA ATT I	050 TTC AAC I	GATO CTAO D	CTT GAA L	3960 AAGG TTCC K>
ATTGCT TAACG/ D C	397 FTTT AAAA F	0 TTA AAT F	CCA GGT T	39 TTC AAC I	980 CCTC GGAC P	CTGO GACO L	GCA CGT A	399) GAG CTC E	0 CAA GTT Q	GAT CTA D	4 TG AC	000 TGA/ ACT1 E	AAA FTT K		40 FTG AAC	10 CCT GGA A	TT. AA F	ACT TGA T	40 AT TA I P0	20 ACC/ TGG P	AGO TCO	CCA GGT A	403 TAA ATT I	0 АТА ТАТ N	ATA TTA N	4 AAA TTT K	IO4 GA TCT E	0 ACC TGC F	GTC	4 CCA GGT A	050 CC/ GG <sup>-</sup> T	AGG FCC R	TTC AAC F	4 CCA GGT C	060 GT CA	9 GGA CCT W	AAG TTC K	40 TAC ATC V	070 TAC ATC L	CTC GGAG P	CAG GTC Q	4080 GGAA CCTT G>

CAAGAGAAAAATTAATTGACTGTTACACATTTCTGCAAGCAGAGGTTGCCAACGCAGGACTAACAATAGCATCGGATAAGATCCAAAACCTCTGCTCCTTTTCATTATTTAGGGATGCAAG 4330 4340 4350 4360 4370 4380 4390 4400 4410 4420 4430 4440 TAGAAAAGTAGAAAAATTAAGCCACAAAAATAGAAATAGAAAAGATACTTTAAAAACTTTAAAATGACTTTCAAAAATTGTTAGGCGATATTAATTGGATTCGGCCAACTCTAGGCAT ATCTTTTCATCTTTTAATTCGGTGTTTTTTATCTTTATCTTTTCTATGAAATTTTTGAAATTTACTGAAAGTTTTTAACAATCCGCTATAATTAACCTAAGCCGGTTGAGATCCGTAA ΕK RKIKPQKIEIRKDTLKTLNDFQKLLGDINWIRPTLGI> \_\_\_\_\_POLRF2"\_\_\_\_\_\_ CCTACTTATGCCATGTCAAATTTGTTCTCTATCCTAAGAGGAGATCCAGACTTAAATAGTAAAAGAATATTAACCCCAGAGGCAACAAAAAAATTAAATTAGTGGAAGAAAAAATTCAG GGATGAATACGGTACAGTTTAAACAAGAGATAGGATTCTCCTCTAGGTCTGAATTTATCATTTGTTATAATTGGGGTCTCCGTTGTTTTCTTAAATCAACCATCTTTTTTAATCACCTTCTTTTTAAGTC P T Y A M S N L F S I L R G D P D L N S K R I L T P E A T K E I K L V E E K I Q> \_\_\_\_\_\_\_"POL RF2"\_\_\_\_\_\_\_ 4570 4580 4590 4600 4610 4620 4630 4640 4650 4660 4670 4680 TCAGCGCAAATAAATAGGATAGATCGTTATGCCCCACTCCAACTTTTGGTACTACCACATTCTCCCAACAGGCATCATTATTCAAAACACTGATCTTGGGAGTGGTCATTTCTT 4690 4700 4710 4720 4730 4740 4750 4760 4770 4780 4790 4800 TCTCACAGTACAATTAAGACTTTTACATTGTACTTGGATCGAATAGCTACATTAATTGGTCAGGCAAGATTACGGATAATAAAATTGTGTGGGAAATGCACCAGACAAAATAGTTGTTGTTCCT AGAGTGTCATGTTAATTCTGAAAATGTAACATGAACATGAACCTAGCTTATCGATGTAATTAACCAGGCCGTTCTAATGCCCATTATTTTAACACACCACCATTACTGGGTCTGTTTTATCAACAAGGA SHSTIKTFTLYLDRIATLIGQARLRIIKLCGNDPDKIVVP> \_\_\_\_\_\_"POLRF2"\_\_\_\_\_\_"POLRF2"\_\_\_\_\_ TTAACCAAGGAACAAGTTAGGCAAGCCTTTATCAATTCTGGTGCATGGCAGATTGGCCTTGCTAATTTTGTGGGAGTTATTGATAATCATTACCCAAAAACAAAAATCTTCCAGTTTTTA AAATTGACTACTTGGATTTTACCTAAAATCACCAGACATGAGCCTTTAGAAAATGCTCTGACAGTATTTACTGATGGTTCCAGCAATGGAAAAGCGGCTTACACAGGACCAAAAGAGCGA V I K T Q Y Q S A Q R A E L V A V I T V L Q D F N Q P V N I I S D S A Y V V Q A> \_\_\_\_\_\_\_"POL RF2"\_\_\_\_\_\_ T R D V E T A L I K Y S M D D Q L N Q L F N L L Q Q T V R K K N F S F Y I T H I> \_\_\_\_\_\_\_"POL RF2"\_\_\_\_\_\_ GGGTTAAAAAACAAATTTGATGTCACATGGAAACAGGCAAAAGATATTGTACGACATTGCACCCAGTGTCAAGTACTACACCTGCCCACTCAAGAGGCAGGAGTGAATCCCAGAGGTTG 5530 5540 5550 5560 5570 5580 5590 5600 5610 5620 5630 5640 TGTCCTAATGCATTATGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCATGTACCTTCATTTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCATATGGCAACATGCCAGCAGGA CAGGATTACGTAATACCGTTTACCTACAATGGGTACATGGAAGTAAACCTTTTAATAGTATACAAGTACATTGTACAACTATGAATAAGTGTAAAGTGTAAACCGTTGTACGGTCGTGCC C P N A L W Q M D V T H V P S F G K L S Y V H V T V D T Y S H F I W A T C Q T G> "POL RF2"\_\_\_\_\_ ΑΑΤCΑGTGGAATATTACACATACAACAGGAATTCCTTATAATTCCCAAGGACAGGCATAGTTGAAAGAACTAATAGAACACTCAATTAAACAAAAAAAGGGGGGAGAGA "POL RF2"\_\_ ACAGATCCACATGAAGGAAAACTGATTGGTGGAAGAAGCAACACAAAATAAGCATGGGAAGGGGAGATAGGGAAGGGGTGATAACCTGGGGAAGAGGGATTGCTTTGCTTGTTTACTCGTGGGAAGAGGGGAGAATAGGAAGCGGACACGAAACGAAACGAACACAAAGGGGTCCTCTTTTAGTC N S P H E G K L I W W K D N K N K T W E I G K V I T W G R G F A C V S P G E N Q> \_\_\_\_\_\_POL RF2"\_\_\_\_\_\_

613 CTTCCTGTT GAAGGACAA L P V	0 TGGAT ACCTA	TAC ATG I	6140 CCACT GGTGA P T	AAAO TTTO	61 CATT STAA	150 TTGA AACT L	AGT TCA/ K I	6 TCT AGA F	160 ACAA TGT1 Y N	TG/	AAC TTG E	6170 CCA GGT/ P	9 TCG AGC I	GAG CTC G	61 ATG TAC D	80 CAAA GTT1 A H	AGAA FCTT K K	61 AAAG TTTC K S	.90 ICGC IGCC	GAG	CA GT	620 CGG GCC T	) AGA( FCT(	CAG. STC	62 AAA TTT E	10 CAC GTG T	CGC GCC P	9 2 A A 1 5 T T 7 0	5220 FCGA AGC1 S	) AGC / FCG 1 S	ACC/ IGG	623 ATTO FAAC I	O AC TG	TCG AGC	6 CAT GTA H	24 GA CT C					
										М	N	Р	S	E	" P O M	L RF Q	2"_ R	К	A	Р	Р	R	R	Q	К	Н	R	N	R	A	Р	L	Т	R	M						
									-													_" EI	۷V"_																		
625 AACCAAGT TTGGTTCA E P S	0 GATGA CTACT D [	ATA TAT D	6260 TCAGA AGTCT I R	AGAA TCTI R	62 ACA0 FGT0 T	270 GATG CTAC D	AAG TTC/ E	6 TCA AGT	280 CCAC GGTC T 1	GC/ GCG	ACC TGG H	6290 AAG/ TTC <sup>-</sup> Q I	9 AAG TTC E	GCG CGC G	63 GAG CTC G	00 CTGC GACC A A	CCGA GGCT	63 ACCT FGGA D L	10 GGG CCC	GCAC GTC	CAG GTC	632) TTA AAT V	9 AAG/ FTC < I	AAG TTC	63 CTG GAC A	30 ACA TGT D	CCG GGC T	GTT/ CAAT V	5346 AGC1 FCGA S	) FGGA ACC1 W	AAA TTT K	635 AAGC TTCG K	O CT/ GA	AGC TCG/ S	6 TAG ATC	36 CA GT H					
N Q V	M	I	S E	E	Q	Μ	К	S	Ρ	R	Т	К	К	A	Е "	L RF L ENV'	P	т	W	A	Q	L	К	К	L	т	Ρ	L	A	G	К	S	L	A	S						
637 AAGGTGAC TTCCACTG K G D	0 ACAAA TGTTT T N	ACC TGG N	6380 CCAGA GGTCT P R	AAAA TTTT K	63 AATO TTAO N	390 GCTG CGAC A	CTT/ GAAT	6 ACA TGT Y	400 GCT1 CGAA S F		ATG TAC N	6410 ATTO TAAO D (	9 GTA CAT	TCA AGT I	64 ACG TGC N	20 GTGC CACC G C	STAA CATI S K	64 AGTC FCAG K S	30 TCC AGG	CC/	ATG FAC	644) CCT GGA	GCA GCA GT GT	GGA CCT	64 GCA CGT S	50 GCT CGA S	GC A	GCT CG/ S	5460 FAA1 ATTA *>	)   TA1   AT <i>A</i>	TAC	647 CTAC GATO	'0 TG AC	GGC	6 CTA GAT	48 T ( A (					
к v т	Q	т	ΡE	К	М	L	L	Т	A	L	_"P M	OL F I	RF2 V	" <u>-</u>	Т,	V FNV'	v	S	L	Р	М	Р	A	G	A	A	A	A	; N	Y	т	Y	W	A	Y						
649 CCTTTCCC GGAAAGGG P F P	0 GCCC1 CGGG	TTA AAT L	6500 ATTCG TAAGC I R	GGC/ CCG1	65 AGTI FCAA V	510 TACA ATGT T	TGG/ ACC <sup>-</sup> W	6 ATG TAC M	520 GATA CTA1 D	ATO TAC N	CCT GGA P	6530 ATTO TAAO I	9 GAA CTT E	GTA CAT V	65 TAT ATA Y	40 GTTA CAA1 V ENV'		65 AATA TTAT N	50 GTG CAC S	TG AC V	rgg ACC W	656 GTA CAT V	D CCTO GGAO P	GGT CCA G	65 CCC GGG P	70 ACA TGT T	GAT CTA D	GAT CT/ D	5586 FCG1 AGC <i>A</i> R		CC GG	659 FGCC ACGG A	0 AAA TT K	ACCI TGGI P	G GGA CCT E	66 GC					
661 GAAGGAAT CTTCCTTA E G M	0 GATGA CTACT M	ATA FAT I	6620 AATAT TTATA N I	TTCC AAGC S	60 CATT STAA I	530 TGGG ACCC G		6 CGT GCA R	640 TATC ATAC Y	CT GGA P	CCT GGA P	6650 ATT TAA/ I	9 TGC ACG C	CTA GAT L	66 GGG CCC G	60 AGAC TCTC R ENV'	GCAC GTC A	66 CCAG GGTC P	GAT GAT G	GTI CAA C	TTA. AAT	668 ATG TAC M	D CCT GGA P	GCT. CGA A	66 ATT TAA I	90 CAA GTT Q	AAT TTA N	TGC ACC W	5700 5770 5770 5770 5770 5700 5700 5700	GTA CA1 V	GA/ CT E	671 AGTA FCAT V	.0 (CC (GG) P	TAC ATG T	6 TGT ACA V	72 C/ G1					
673 CCCACCAG GGGTGGTC P T S	0 TAGAT ATCTA R	TTT AAA F	6740 ACTTA TGAAT T Y	TCAC AGTO H	67 САТО БТАО М	750 GGTA CCAT V	AGCO TCGO S	6 GGA CCT G	760 ATG1 TACA M	CA( AGT( S	CTC GAG L	6770 AAA0 TTT0 K	9 CCA GGT P	CAG GTC Q	67 GTA CAT V	80 AACT TTGA N ENV'	ГАТТ АТАА Ү	67 TTAC AATG L	90 AAG TTC Q	ACT TGA	TTT AAA F	680 TCT AGA S		CAA. GTT Q	68 AGA TCT R	10 TCA AGT S	ATTA AAT L	(AA/ TTT K	5826 ATTI FAAA F	AGC ATCC R	GCC/ GGG P	683 AAAA TTTT K	0 1660 1700	GAA CTT K	6 ACC TGG P	84 T1 AA					
685 CCCAAAGA GGGTTTCT PKE	0 GATTI CTAAA I	TCC AGG S	6860 AGAGA TCTCT R E	ATCO TAGO S	68 544/ 5771 K	B70 AGAT TCTA D	TTAC AATC L	6 GTT CAA V	880 TGG0 ACC0 W	GAA( CTT) E	GAA CTT E	6890 TGT0 ACA0 C	9 GTG CAC V	GCC CGG A	69 GAT CTA D	00 AGTO TCAO S ENV'	GC A G C G T C A	69 GTGA CACT V	10 TAT ATA I		CAA GTT Q	6920 AAC TTG N	9 AAT/ FTA N	ACA TGT T	69 TTC AAG F	30 GGA CCT G	ACA TGT T	GTT CA/ V	5946 ГАТА АТАТ І	) AGAT TCT# D	TTG AC W	695 GGCA CCGT A	0 CC GG P	TAG ATC R	6 AGG TCC G	9 0 T ( A (					
697 TTCTACCA AAGATGGT F Y H	0 CAATI GTTAA N	TGC ACG C	6980 ACAGG TGTCC T G	ACAA TGTI Q	69 AAC1 FTG7 T	990 TCAA AGTT Q	TTC AAG/ F	7 TGT ACA C	000 CCC# GGG1 P	GTO CAO S	GCA CGT A	7010 CTAC GATC L	9 GTG CAC V	AGT TCA S	70 CCA GGT P	20 ACTO TGAO T ENV'	GTTO CAAC V	70 GACA CTGT D	GTG GTG CAC S	D D	TTA. AAT	704) ACG TGC T	GAA/	AAT ITA. N	70 TTA AAT L	50 GAT CTA D	TAAA NTTT K	CAT GT/ H	7060 ГААС АТТС К	GCAC	CAA GTT K	707 AAAA TTTT K	'0 (TT) 'AA' L	ACA TGT Q	7 GTC CAG	08 T1 A/					
709 TACCCTTG ATGGGAAC Y P W	0 GATAT CTATA I	TGG ACC W	7100 GGAGA CCTCT G E	AAAO TTTC K	71 566/ 5001 6	110 AATG TTAC M	TCT/ AGA <sup>-</sup> S	7 ACT TGA T	120 CCAA GGT1 P	GA( CTC R	CCA GGT P	7130 AAA/ TTT K	9 ATG TAC M	ATA TAT I	71 AGT TCA S	40 CCTC GGAC P ENV'	5TT1 2AAA V	71 TTTG AAAC F	50 GTC CAG G	CTO GGAO P	GAA CTT E	716 CATO GTAO H	O CCA GGT P	GAA CTT. E	71 TTA AAT L	70 TGG ACC W	AGA TCT R	CTI GA/	7180 FAC1 ATGA T	O IGTO ACAO V	GC CG	719 ГТСА ААСТ S	0 TA0 AT0 Y	CCG GGC R	7 CCT GGA L	20 T/ A					
721 ATTTGGTC TAAACCAG I W S	0 TGGAA ACCTT G	AAT TTA N	7220 CAAAC GTTTG Q T		72 AGA/ TCT1 E	230 AACA TTGT T	AGA0 TCT0 R	7 GAT CTA D	240 TATA ATA1 Y	AGO TTCO K	CCA GGT P	7250 TTT AAA/ F	Ð TAC ATG Y	TCT AGA S	72 ATC TAG I	60 AACC TTGC N ENV'	СТАА БАТТ L	72 ААТТ ГТАА N	70 CCA GGT S	GT( CAC S	GAT L	728 ACA TGT T		GCT GGA P	72 TTA AAT L	90 CAA GTT Q	AGT TCA S	TG AC/ C	7300 ГGT/ ACA1 V	AAAO TTTC K	GCC GGG P	731 CCT GGGA P	.0 'TA' 'AT/ Y		7 GTT CAA L	3 : A (					
733 ATAGGAAA TATCCTTT I G N	0 TATAO ATATO I	STT CAA V	7340 ATTAA TAATT I K	ACCA TGG1	73 AGAO FCTO D	350 CTCC GAGG S	CAA/ GTT Q	7 ACT TGA T	360 ATAA TATI I	CT GA/ T	TGT ACA C	7370 GAA/ CTT E	9 AAT TTA N	TGC ACG C	73 AGA TCT R	80 TTGT AACA L ENV'	FTTA AAAT F	73 ACTT IGAA T	90 GCA CGT C	TTO AAO I	GAT TA D	740 TCA AGT S	O ACT TGA/ T	TTT AAA F	74 GAT CTA D	10 TGG ACC W	GTC Q	GCAG GTC H	7426 CCG1 GGCA R		GA L	743 ACTG IGAC L	O GT CA V	GAG CTC R	7 AGC TCG A	44 A/					
745 GAAGGCGT CTTCCGCA E G V	0 GTGGA CACC1 W	ATC TAG I	7460 CCTGT GGACA P V	GTCC CAGC S	74 CATO STAO M	470 GGAC CCTG D	CGA0 GCT0 R	7 CCA GGT P	480 TGGC ACCC W	GAG TC E	GCC CGG A	7490 TCA0 AGT0 S	9 CCA GGT P	TCC AGG S	75 ATC TAG I	00 CATA GTAT H ENV'	ATTT FAAA I	75 TTGA AACT L	10 CTG GAC T	E E	GTA CAT	7520 TTA AAT L		GGC GG	75 GTT CAA V	30 TTA AAT L	AGT TCA S	AG/ ATCT R	7546 ATCO FAGO S	AAA GTT1 K	AG TTC R	755 ATTC FAAG F	0 AT TA	TTT AAA/ F	7 TAC ATG	56 T1 A/					
757 ATTGCAGT TAACGTCA I A V	0 GATTA CTAAT	ATG TAC M	7580 GGATT CCTAA G L	AATI TTAA I	75 FGC/ ACG1 A	590 AGTC TCAG V	ACA0 TGT0 T	7 GCT CGA A	600 ACAC TGTC T	GCC GG/ A	TCT AGA S	7610 GTG0 CAC0 V	9 GCA CGT A	GGA CCT G	76 GTT CAA V	20 GCA1 CGTA A ENV'	TTGC AACG L	76 CACT GTGA H	30 CTT GAA S	GAC S	GTT CAA V	764) CAG GTC Q	ACAO TGTO T	STA CAT V	76 AGC TCG S	50 TTT AAA F	GTT CAA V	GAC CTC D	7660 CAA1 GTTA N	) TTGO AACO W	GCA GT Q	767 AAAG TTTC K	0 AA TT/ N		7 CAC STG T	68 AA TT					
769 TTGTGGAA AACACCTT L W N	0 TTCAC AAGTC S	CAA GTT Q	7700 TCTGG AGACC S G		77 GGAT GCT/ D	710 TCAA AGTT Q	AAA <sup>-</sup> TTT/ K	7 TTG AAC L	720 GCAA CGT1 A	ATO TAO N	CAA GTT Q	7730 ATT/ TAA <sup>-</sup> I	9 AAT TTA N	GAT CTA D	77 CTT GAA L	40 AGAC TCTC R ENV'	CAAA GTTT Q	77 ACCG TGGC T	50 TCA AGT V	TTT AA/ I	rgg, Acc' W	776 ATG TAC M	G G G G	GAT. CTA D	77 AGA TCT R	70 CTC GAG L	ATG TAC M	SAGO CTCO S	7786 CTTC GAAC L	GGAA CCT1 E	ACA IGT/ H	779 FCGT AGCA R	0 TTO AAO F	CCA GGT Q	7 GTT CAA L	80 A0 T0					
781 TGTGACTG ACACTGAC C D W	0 GAATA CTTAT	ACG TGC T	7820 TCAGA AGTCT S D	AAAA F	78 ГТСТ ААСА С	830 TATT ATAA I	ACA0 TGT0 T	7 CCC GGG P	840 CAAC GTTC Q	CAA/ V	TAT ATA Y	7850 AATO TTAO N	9 GAG CTC E	TCT AGA S	78 AAA TTT K	60 CATO GTAO H ENV'	CACT GTGA H	78 FGGG ACCC W	70 ACA TGT D	TGC ACC M	GTT. CAA V	788 AGA TCT R		CAT GTA H	78 CTA GAT L	90 CAG GTC Q	GGA CCT G	AG/ TCT R	7900 AGAA FCT1 E	) AGA1 TCT# D	TAAT ATT/ N	791 ГСТС АGАG	.0 AC TG/ T		7 AGA TCT D	9: C/ G <sup>-</sup>					
793 TCTAAATT AGATTTAA S K L	0 AAAAA TTTTC K	GAA CTT E	7940 CAAAT GTTTA Q I	TTTT AAAA F	79 FGAA ACT1 E	950 AGCC TCGG A	TCTO AGAO S	7 CAA GTT Q	960 AGCC TCGC S	AC GTG/ H	TTA AAT L	7970 AAT/ TTA N	9 ATT TAA I	GTG CAC V	79 CCT GGA P	80 GGAC CCTC G ENV'	GCTO CGAC A	79 GAGG CTCC E	90 ICAT IGTA A		GAT TA D	800 CAA GTT Q	O GTG CACO V	GCA GT A	80 AAA TTT K	10 AAT TTA N	CTT GAA L	ATA Y	3020 FGAA ACT1 E	) ATTA TAA1 L	AA) TTT N	803 CCCC GGGG P	O ACO TGO T	GAC CTG T	8 TTG AAC W	04 GA C1					
805	Θ		8060		86	970		8	080			8090	Э		81	00		81	10			8120	Ð		81	30		8	3140	)		815	0		8	16					
TAAGT ATTCA K	GA1 S		GA/ CT G	AAC TTG N	TCT AGA S	ACT TGA	rgc/ Acg <sup>-</sup> A	AAT ITA	AAA TTT N	TTT AAA F		GAA CTT	TTA AAT I	TGT ACA M	IGT ACA C	GAG L	TG AC C	AAA L		FC A ( AG T ( C S _ " E )	GCT GA S	TGT ACA L	AAA F		AC V	TGC ACG C	TG AC W	GACC CTGC T	CAGT GTCA S	CGA GCT R	AGA TCT R	AAT I I	CCT GGA L	GCG CGC R	GTC/ CAGT R (	AAA [TTT] 2   1	ATCO FAGO N R	AGA TCT	AGAA FCTT E N	GCT I E	ACA TGT Q> >
---------------------	--------------------------------	-----------------------------	-----------------	-----------------	------------------------	----------------------	-------------------------------	----------------------	------------------------	-----------------	--------------------	-----------------------	-----------------------	-----------------	-----------------	------------------------	----------------------	-------------------	-------------------------	------------------------------------	------------------------	-----------------	-----------------------	-----------------------------	----------------	-----------------	----------------	----------------------------	-------------------	-------------------	--------------------------	---------------	-----------------	-------------------	----------------------------	-----------------------	----------------------------	------------------	---------------------	-------------------	------------------------
AGCCT TCGGA A	81 TTC <i>A</i> AGT F	L70 ATCO FAGO I	GCC/ GG A	ATG FAC M	818 GCA CGT A	O CAT GT/ H	L	8 ATA ГАТ Ү	190 TAG ATC R	AGG TCC	GAAA TTT G H	82 AAG TTC (	00 GGA CCT G	GGG CCC R	GAG CTC E	821 AAC TTG N	0 GT ICA/ V	TGC ACG A	8 GGQ CCQ	3220 5AA0 5TT0 5	O GTC CAG	AGG TCC Q	82 GA0 CT0 G	230 CCTT GGAA P	GA CT *>	ACG TGC >	82 CA GT	40 5664 5001	ACTO IGAO	82 GCT CGA	50 GAA CT1	AGC( FCG)	CAC GTG	826 GGC CCG	50 CAGA GTCT	<b>AAA</b>   T T T	82 AAC <i>A</i> TTGT	70 TAA AT1	ΑΑΤ ΓΤΤΑ	8 GTA CAT	280 AAG TTC
ATTTO TAAAG	82 САТС БТАС	290 GGAC	AT TA	TTA AAT	830 TTA AAT	00 GTT CA/	TC TO AGAO	8 CCA GGT	310 AAA TTT	T T A A A T	ATA TAT	83 ACT FGA	20 TTT AAA	GT A	ΑΑΤ ΓΤΑ	833 TTC AAG	0 TT/	ATG TAC	8 TC1 AGA	3340 ГGT0 АСА0	Ð CTT GAA	TAC ATG	83 TTT AAA	350 ГААТ АТТ <i>А</i>	GA	TTT AAA	83 AA TT	50 TTCC AAGO	CATO STAC	83 ATC TAC	70 TTC	CTT GAA	TGT ACA	838 AAA TTT	30 ACTO FGAO	GAGO	83 GAGG	90 ATA	ΑΤΑΤ ΓΑΤΑ	8 GTC CAG	400 ACC TGG
TCCGG AGGCC	84 GACC CTGC	10 CCT0 GGA0	GTG/	ATG FAC	842 ATT TAA	0 GCG	CTT/ GAA	8 AAC FTG	430 TGC ACG	ACA TGT		84 ГТG ААС	40 TTT AAA	GTO	GGA CCT	845 GCA CGT	0 TG AC	TGT ACA	8 GT1 CAA	8460 FTG/ AAC	Ð AAC FTG	AAT TTA	84 ATC	170 5884 5771	TC	TGG ACC	84 GC CG	80 ATC1 FAG <i>A</i>	TGO	84 AAA TTT	90 AAC TTC	SAA CTT	ТАА АТТ	850 GAT CTA	00 ГАА( АТТ(	CAGO	85 CAAT STTA	GTI GTI	TC AG AG T C	8 IGGA CCT	520 ACA TGT
AGGGA TCCCT	85 AGGC TCCC	530 CAAC GTTC	CT GA/	IGA ACT	854 ACT TGA	0 GGC		8 CCG GGC	550 GTG CAC	AGC TCG		85 GAC CTG	60 GGA CCT	AC A	AGA FCT	857 GCC CGG	0 АТ/ ТА	ATT TAA	8 TCT AGA	8580 FTC AG/	Ð FCT AGA	TTT AAA	85 CAT	590 ГТАТ ААТА	GC	AAA TTT	86 TA AT	90 GGAG CCTC	SAAA TTT	86 TAT ATA	10 CGC GCC	CTG. GAC	AAT TTA	862 TCT AGA	20 	TTC1	86 CAG AGTC	30 CA/ GT1	AGGA FCCT	8 ACA TGT	640 CCC GGG
CTGAG GACTO	86 5884 5771	550 AGAG FCTC	GAA"	rgc Acg	866 GCT CGA	O CTO GAO	GAG	8 GGT CCA	670 AGG TCC	CCT GGA		86 AAA TTT	80 CGA GCT		CC GGG	869 TTG AAC	0 GA0 CT0	GGC	8 GTO CAO	8700 GCC0 CGG0	) GCC GGG	TTT AAA	87 TAC ATC	710 CGGT GCC <i>A</i>	TG	AAG TTC	87 CC GG	20 GAAC	GGGA	87 TGA ACT	30 AA1 TTA	TAA ATT	GCC CGG	874 CCG GGC	10 56C0 5CG0	CTCC GAGC	87 TGT GACA	50 AGO	CGCT GCGA	8 CCC GGG	760 AGG TCC
CTTAT GAATA	87 TTAG	770 56A0	GAG	GGA CCT	878 AAT TTA	0 TCC AGC	CCAC	8 CCT GGA	790 AAT TTA	AAA TTT		88 ГТG ААС	00 GTC CAG	AG A	AC A	881 GGT CCA	.0 TG AC	TCT AGA	8 GC1 CG <i>A</i>	8820 ГСТ АGA/	Ð FAA ATT	ACC TGG	88 CTC GAC	330 5771 2884	TC	TGA ACT	88 CA GT	40 AGA1 FCT <i>A</i>	GTI	88 ATC TAC	50 CA1 GT <i>A</i>	rga Acti	СТА GAT	886 TGC ACC	50 CATO STAC	GCCC	88 CAA GGTT	70 AA1 TTA		8 ТААТ ТТТА	880 TTT AAA
AACAC TTGTC	88 CA1 GT <i>A</i>	890 FCC1 AGG <i>A</i>	GTO	GAT CTA	890 CTC GAG	0 ATC	CCT ( GGA(	8 GCC CGG	910 TCC AGG	ACT TGA	TGO	89 TT GAA	20 TGT ACA	GA1	ΓΑΤ ΑΤΑ	893 TCC AGG	0 GT GA	TAC ATG	8 TTT AAA	8940 ГGT0 АСА0	Ð Gaa Stt	GTA CAT	89 TGT ACA	950 ГААТ АТТА	GA	CGG GCC	89 TG AC	50 TCA1 AGT <i>A</i>	GA1	89 GAC	70 AA1	rgg ACC	TGG ACC	898 TTT AAA	30 FTGT AAC <i>I</i>	TTG <i>A</i>	89 AAAA TTTT	90 GA/	AAAG TTTC	9 GGG CCC	000 GAA CTT
ATGTO TACAO	96 6660 5000	010 5AAA 2TT1	AG/	AAA FTT	902 GAG CTC	0 ATC	CAGO	9 C T G G A	030 GTT. CAA	ACT TGA	GTO	90 GTC CAG	40 TAT ATA	ATA TA1	AGA FCT	905 AAG TTC	0 AA(	GTA CAT	GA0 CT0	9060 CAT/ STAT '3'1	AAG TTC TR	AGA TCT "	96 CTC GAC	070 CA1 GGTA	GA	TGT ACA	90 TC AG	80 ГGT <i>A</i> АСАТ	TT1	96 GAG CTC	90 ATC	GCT	GTT CAA	910 AAT TTA	00 ГСТ( AGA(	GTGA CACI	91 ACCC TGGG	10 TAC		9 CAA GTT	120 CCT GGA >
TGTCC ACAGO	91 TTC GAAC	L30 GCAA CGT1	GAG	GAC CTG	914 ATG TAC	0 TGC ACC	GAC/	9 ГGG АСС	150 TAA ATT	C T C G A G	CAAC GTTC	91 GGT CCA	60 TTA AAT	АТО	GGA CT	917 TTT AAA	O TGO ACO	GGC	GT0 CA0	9180 GCA0 CGT0 '3'1	GGG CC TR	TGT ACA	91 GAC	190 2771 5884	GT	TCC AGG	92 TA AT	90 5AAA 2TT1	AGO	92 TAG ATC	10 GT/ CA1	ATT FAA	GTC CAG	922 CAA GTT	20 AGG1 FCC/		92 ATCC FAGO	30 CCA GG1	ATGT FACA	9 GAT CTA	240 AGG TCC >
ATGAA TACTT	92 ACA TTG1	250 ААТС ГТАС		GCT CGA	926 AAA TTT	O AGO TCO	GTT CAA/	9 ГАТ АТА	270 CTC GAG	AAG TTC	GC/	92 ACA FGT	80 GGA CCT	TT1 AAA	TAC ATG	929 CTT GAA	0 TA/	AAC TTG	2 TT <i>A</i> AA1	9300 ATTO FAA0 '3'1	D CAT GTA _TR	GTC CAG "	93 AC/	810 AGAT FCT <i>A</i>	GG	TTG AAC	93 TT AA	20 2777 3441	TGT ACA	93 CTT GAA	30 AC1 TG <i>A</i>	rgc' ACG	TAA ATT	934 TTT AAA	10 FCCT AGG/		93 TAA GATT	50 AAA TT1	ATGA FACT	9 TCC AGG	360 TAT ATA >
TGTCC	93 TGC SACC	370 CCAC GGTC	CTC( GAG(	CCT GGA	938 TAT ATA	O CTI		9 AGA FCT	390 TGG ACC	ТАА АТТ	AG/	94 АТА ГАТ	00 ATT TAA	ATO	TA SAT	941 TAA ATT	0 АТ/ ТА	ACT TGA		9420 566/ 500	AAC TTG TTR	TCA AGT	94 GAC CTC	430 56C0 5C60	GG	TGC ACG	94 CG GC	40 GCG1 CGC <i>A</i>	GGG	94 5TCC AGG	50 TC1 AGA	IGT.	AAG TTC	946 CTG GAC	50 GAGO	GCG	94 GGT GCCA	70 CCC GGC	CCT G GGAC	9 GGC CCG	480 CCC GGG >
CGCTT GCGAA	94 TTTC AAA	190 2771 5884	GAG	CTA GAT	956 TAC ATG	0 TTT AA/	IGT ( ACA(	9 CTC GAG	510 TGT ACA	GTC CAG	TT/	95 ATT FAA	20 TCT AGA	TT1 AAA	ICT AGA	953 CAA GTT	0 GT( CA(	CTC GAG B'L	TCO AGO TR'	9540 GTT0 CAA0	Ð CCA GGT	CCT GGA	99 TAC ATC	550 CGAC GCTC	AA.	ACA TGT	95 CC GG	50 CACA GTG1	AGG1 TCCA	95 GTG (CAC	70 GAC CTC	GGG	GC A C G T	958 GGC CCC	80 CCA0 GGT0		CTTC GAAG	A T			

**Appendix 1 Figure S1: SERV-K1 proviral sequence.** Nucleotide sequence of SERV-K1 provirus from chromosome 12 of rhesus macaque r02120 is shown. Long terminal repeat sequences (LTRs) as well as coding sequences for Gag, Pro, Pol, and Env open reading frames are annotated. Note Pro and Pol ORFs contain frameshift mutations resulting in premature stop codons, while Gag and Env ORFs appear intact. RF= reading frame.

1 MNPSEMQRKAPPRRQKHRNRAPLTRMMNQVMISEEQMKSPRTKKAELPTWAQLKKLTPLA r02120 provirus (12) 60 r02120 Env mRNA v1 1 MNPSEMQRKAPPRRQKHRNRAPLTRMMNQVMISEEQMKSPRTKKAELPTWAQLKKLTPLA 60 r02120 Env mRNA v2 1 0 61 GKSLASTKVTQTPEKMLLTALMIVSTVVSLPMPAGAAAANYTYWAYVPFPPLIRAVTWMD 120 r02120 provirus (12) r02120 Env mRNA v1 61 GKSLASTKVTQTPEKMLLTALMIVSTVVSLPMPAGAAAANYTYWAYVPFPPLIRAVTWMD 120 r02120 Env mRNA v2 **PMPAGAAAANYTYWAYVPFPPLIRAVTWMD** 1 30 r02120 provirus (12) 121 NPIEVYVNNSVWVPGPTDDRCPAKPEEEGMMINISIGYRYPPICLGRAPGCLMPAIQNWL 180 r02120 Env mRNA v1 121 NPIEVYVNNSVWVPGPTDDRCPAKPEEEGMMINISIGYRYPPICLGRAPGCLMPAIQNWL 180 r02120 Env mRNA v2 31 NPIEVYVNNSVWVPGPTDDRCPAKPEEEGMMINISIGYRYPPICLGRAPGCLMPAIQNWL 90 r02120 provirus (12) 181 VEVPTVSPTSRFTYHMVSGMSLKPOVNYLODFSYORSLKFRPKGKPCPKEISRESKDLVW 240 r02120 Env mRNA v1 181 VEVPTVSPTSRFTYHMVSGMSLKPQVNYLQDFSYQRSLKFRPKGKPCPKEISRESKDLVW 240 91 VEVPTVSPTSRFTYHMVSGMSLKPQVNYLQDFSYQRSLKFRPKGKPCPKEISRESKDLVW 150 r02120 Env mRNA v2 r02120 provirus (12) 241 EECVADSAVILONNTFGTVIDWAPRGOFYHNCTGOTOFCPSALVSPTVDSDLTENLDKHK 300 241 EECVADSAVILQNNTFGTVIDWAPRGQFYHNCTGQTQFCPSALVSPTVDSDLTENLDKHK 300 r02120 Env mRNA v1 r02120 Env mRNA v2 151 EECVADSAVILQNNTFGTVIDWAPRGQFYHNCTGQTQFCPSALVSPTVDSDLTENLDKHK 210 r02120 provirus (12) 301 HKKLQSFYPWIWGEKGMSTPRPKMISPVFGPEHPELWRLTVASYRLRIWSGNQTIETRDY 360 301 HKKLQSFYPWIWGEKG<mark>I</mark>STPRPKMISPVFGPEHPELWRLTVASYRLRIWSGNQTIETRDY 360 r02120 Env mRNA v1 211 HKKLQSFYPWIWGEKGMSTPRPKMISPVFGPEHPELWRLTVASYRLRIWSGNQTIETRDY 270 r02120 Env mRNA v2 \*\*\*\*\*\* r02120 provirus (12) 361 KPFYSINLNSSLTVPLQSCVKPPYMLVIGNIVIKPDSQTITCENCRLFTCIDSTFDWQHR 420 r02120 Env mRNA v1 361 KPFYSINLNSSLTVPLQSCVKPPYMLVIGNIVIKPDSQTITCENCRLFTCIDSTFDWQHR 420 271 KPFYSINLNSSLTVPLQSCVKPPYMLVIGNIVIKPDSQTITCENCRLFTCIDSTFDWQHR 330 r02120 Env mRNA v2 r02120 provirus (12) 421 ILLVRAREGVWIPVSMDRPWEASPSIHILTEVLKGVLSRSKRFIFTLIAVIMGLIAVTAT 480 r02120 Env mRNA v1 421 ILLVRAREGVWIPVSMDRPWEASPSIHILTEVLKGVLSRSKRFIFTLIAVIMGLIAVTAT 480 r02120 Env mRNA v2 331 ILLVRAREGVWIPVSMDRPWEASPSIHILTEVLKGVLSRSKRFIFTLIAVIMGLIAVTAT 390 r02120 provirus (12) 481 ASVAGVALHSSVQTVSFVDNWQKNSTRLWNSQSGIDQKLANQINDLRQTVIWMGDRLMSL 540 r02120 Env mRNA v1 481 ATVAGVALHSSVQTVSFVDNWQKNSTRLWNSQSGIDQKLANQINDLRQTVIWMGDRLMSL 540 r02120 Env mRNA v2 391 ASVAGVALHSSVQTVSFVDNWQKNSTRLWNSQSGIDQKLANQINDLRQTVIWMGDRLMSL 450 \* \*\*\*\*\* r02120 provirus (12) 541 EHRFQLQCDWNTSDFCITPQVYNESKHHWDMVRRHLQGREDNLTLDISKLKEQIFEASQS 600 r02120 Env mRNA v1 541 EHRFQLQCDWNTSDFCI<mark>I</mark>PQVYNESKHHWDMVRRHLQGREDNLTLDISKLKEQIFEASQS 600 451 EHRFQLQCDWNTSDFCITPQVYNESKHHWDMVRRHLQGREDNLTLDISKLKEQIFEASQS 510 r02120 Env mRNA v2 r02120 provirus (12) 601 HLNIVPGAEALDQVAKNLYELNPTTWIKSIGNSTAINFGIMCLCLISLFLVCWTSRRILR 660 r02120 Env mRNA v1 601 HLNIVPGAEALDQVAKNLYELNPTTWIKSIGNSTAINFGIMCLCLI<mark>G</mark>LFLVCWTSRRILR 660 r02120 Env mRNA v2 511 HLNIVPGAEALDQVAKNLYELNPTTWIKSIGNSTAINFGIMCLCLISLFLVCWTSRRILR 570 r02120 provirus (12) 661 QNRENEQAFIAMAHLYRGKGRENVAGSQGP 690 r02120 Env mRNA v1 661 QNRENEQAFIAMAHLYRGKGRENVAGSQGP 690 r02120 Env mRNA v2 571 QNRENEQAFIAMAHLYRGKGRENVAGSQGP 600

#### Appendix 1 Figure S2: Alignment of captured SERV-K1 Env mRNA to SERV-K1 provirus. Protein

alignment of the predicted amino acid sequence of chromosome 12 provirus and two mRNA variants captured from rhesus macaque r02120 is shown. Matches at each amino acid position are indicated with

asterisks (\*), while mismatches are indicated with periods (.). Mismatches in each sequence are highlighted

in yellow.

CERV-KOLD35587 HERV-KOLD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.5 CERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K103 CERV-K103 CERV-K103 CERV-K103 HERV-K109 HERV-K109 HERV-K104 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102		GAGGCTTTACACTTATTAGCAAAGGAACAATTAGAAAAGGGACATATTGAGCCTTCATTTTGGCTTGGAATTCTCCTGTGTTTGTAATTCAGAAAAAATCCGGCCATGCTG GAGGCTTTAACACTTATTAGCAAAGGAACAATTAGAAAAGGGACATATTGAGCCTTCATTTTGGCTTGGAATTCTCCTGTGTTTGTAATTCAGAAAAAAATCCGGCCAATGGCGCGTGCTG GAGGCTTAACACTTATTAGCAAAGGAACAATTAGAAAAGGGACAATTGAGCCTTCATTTTGGCCTTGGAATTCTCCTGTGTTTGTAATTCAGAAAAAAATCCAGGCAATGGCGCATGCTG GAGGCTTAACACTTATTAGCAAAGGAACAATTAGAAAAGGGACAATTGAGCCTTCATTCTGCGCTTGGAATTCTCCTGTGTTTGTAATTCAGAAAAAAATCCAGGCAATGGCGTATGTA GAGGCTTAACACTTATTAGCAAAGGAACAATTAGAAAAGGGACAATTGAGCCTTCATTCTGCGCTTGGAATTCTCCTGTGTTTGTAATTCAGAAAAAATCCAGGCAATGGCGTATGTA GAGGCTTAACACTTATTAGCAAAGGAACAATTAGAAAAGGGACAATTGAGCCTTCATTCTGCGCTGGAATTCCCTGTGTTTGTAATTCAGAAAAAATCCAGGCAATGGCGTATGTA GAGGCTTAACATTATTAGCAAAGGAACAGTTAGAAAAGGGACAATTGAGCCTTCATTCTGCGCTGGAATTCCCTGTGTTTGTAATTAGAAAAAAATCCAGGCAATGGCGTATGTA GAGGCTTAACATTATTAGCAAAGGAACAGTTAGAAAAGGGACAATTGAGCCTTCATTCTGCGCTGGAATTCCCTGTGTTTGTAATTAGAAAAAAATCAGGCAATGGCGTATGTA GAGGCTTAACATTATTAGCAAATGAACAGTTAGAAAAGGGCAATTGAGCCTTCATTCTGGCCTTGGAATTCCCTGTGTTTGTAATTAGAAAAAAATCAGGCGAATGGCGTATGTA GAGGCTTAACATTATTAGCAAATGAACAGTTAGAAAAGGGCAATTGAGCCTTCATTCTGGCCTTGGAATTCCCTGTGTTTGTAATTCAGAAGAAAATCAGGCGAATGGCGTATGTA GAGGCTTAACATTATTAGCAAATGAACAGTTAGAAAAGGGCAATTGAGCCTTCATTCTGGCCTTGGAATTCCCTGTGTTTGTAATTCAGAAGAAAATCAGGCCAATGGCGTATGTA GAGGCTTTAACTTATTAGCAAATGAACAGTTAGAAAAGGGCAATTGGAGCCTTCATTCTGGAATTCCCTGTGTTGTGAATCAGAAGAAACAGGCCAATGGCGTATGTA GAGGCTTTAACTTATTAGCAAATGAACAGTTAGAAAGGGGCAATTGGAGCCTTCATTCTGGAATTCCCTGTGTTGTGAATCAGAAGAAACAGGCCAATGGCGTATGTA GAGGCTTTAACTTATTAGCAAATGAACAGTTAGAAAGGGGCAATTGGAGCCTTGTTTGT	120 120 120 120 120 120 120 120 120 120
CERV-KOLD35587 HERV-KOLD35587 SRV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.5 CERV-K60 CERV-K102 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K106 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108	121 121 121 121 121 121 121 121 121 121	ACCGACTTAAGAGCCGTTAATGCTGTAATTCAACCCATGGGGGCTCTCCAACCTGGGTTGCTGTCTCCGGTCATGATCCCCAAAGATCGGCCTTTAGTTATAATTGATCTGAAGGATGG ACCGACTTAAGAGCCGTTAATGCTGTAATTCAACCCATGGGGGCTCTCCAACCTGGGTTGCTTCTCCCGGCCATGATCCCCAAAGATCGGCCTTTAGTTATAATTGATCTGAAGGATGG ATGGACTTAAGGCCGTAATACCGCTGTAATTCAACCCCATGGGGCCTCTCCAACCGGCTGCCTCCCGGCCATGATCCCAAAGACTGGCCTTTATTATTATTGTCTTAAGGATGG ATGGACTTAAGGCGGTAATGCGTGTAATTCAACCCATGGGGCCTCTCCAACCGGGTTGCCCTCCCGGCCATGATCCCAAAGACTGGCCTTTATTATTATTGTCTTAAGGATGG ATGGACTTAAGGCGGTAATGCTGTGTAATTCAACCCATGGGGCCTCTCCAACCGGGTTGCCCTCTCCGGCCATGATCCCAAAGACTGGCCTTTATTATTATTGTCTTAAGGATGG ATGGACTTAAGGCGGTAATGCTGTGTAATTCAACCCATGGGGCCTCTCCAACCGGGTTGCCCTCTCCGGCCATGATCCCAAAGACTGGCCTTTATTTA	240 240 240 240 240 240 240 240 240 240
CERV-KOLD35587 HERV-KOLD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.5 CERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K103 CERV-K106 HERV-K108 HERV-K109 HERV-K109 HERV-K109 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102	241 241 241 241 241 241 241 241 241 241	TTTTTACCGTTCCTCFGGCAMACAGGATTTGAAMAATTGCTTTACTATACCAGCCATAMATAATAMAGAACCAGCCACCAGGTTTCAGTGGAMAGTGTTGCCTCAGGGAATGCTT TTTTTACCGTTCCTCFGGCAMACAGGATTTTGAAMAATTGCTTTACTATACCAGCCATAMATAATAMGAACCAGCCACCAGGTTTCAGTGGAMAGTGTTGCCTCAGGGAATGCTT TTTTTACCGTTCCTCFGGCAGACAGGAGGATGGTAAMATTTGCCTTTACTATACCAGCCATAMATAAAGAACCAGCCACCAGGTTTCAGTGGAMAGTTTACCTCAGGGAATGCTT TTTTTACCATTCCTCFGGCAGACAGAGATGGTAAMATTTGCCTTTACTATACCAGCCATAMATAAAGAACCAGCCACCAGGTTTCAGTGGAMAGTATTACCTCAGGGAATGCTT TTTTTACCATTCCTCFGGCAGACCAGCAGAGTTGGTAAMATTTGCCTTTACTATACCAGCCATAMATAAGAACCAGCCACCAGGTTTCAGTGGAMAGTATTACCTCAGGGAATGCTT TTTTTACCATTCCTCFGGCAGACCAGCAGAGTTGGTAAMATTTGCCTTTACTATACCAGCCATAMATAAGAACCAGCCACCAGGTTTCAGTGGAAGTATTACCTCAGGGAATGCTT TTTTTACCATTCCTCFGGCAGACCAGCAGCAGTGGTAAMATTTGCCTTTACTATACCAGCCATAMATAAGAACCAGCCACCAGGTTTCAGTGGAAGTACTACCTCAGGGAATGCTT TTTTTACCATTCCTCFGGCAGACCAGCAGCAGCAGGAATGCTTACTATACCAGCCATAMATAAAGAACCAGCCACCAGGTTTCAGTGGAAGGTATACCTCCAGGGAAGGTTGCT TTTTTACCATCCTCFGGCGAGACCGGCAGCGGCAGAAATTTGCCTTTACTATACCAGCCATAMATAAAGAACCAGCCACCAGGTTTCAGTGGAAAGTGTTACCTCCAGGGAAGGTTGCT TTTTTACCATCCTCFGGCGAGCCGGCAGCGGCGGAAAATTTGCCTTTACTATACCAGCCATAMATAAAGAACCAGCCACCAGGTTTCAGTGGAAGGTGTTACCTCAGGGAAGGTGTTACCTCAGGGAAGGTGTTACCTCAGGGAAGGTTGCACGGAAGGTTGCAGGAAGGTTGCACGGAAGGTTGCACGGAAGGTTGCAGGAAGGTTGCACGGAAGGTTGCACGGAAGGTTGCAGGAAGGTGTTACCTCAGGGAAGGTTGCACGGAAGGTTGCCAGGAAGGTGTTACCTCAGGGAAGGTTGCACGGAAGGTTGCCAGGAAGGTGTTACCTCAGGGAAGGTTGCAGGAAGGTGTTACCTCAGGGAAGGTGTTACCTCAGGGAAGGTGTTACCTCAGGGAAGGTTGCAGGAAGGTGTTACCTCAGGGAAGGTTGCACGGAAGGTTGCAGGAAGGTGTTACCTCAGGGAAGGTTGCAGGAAGGTGTTACCTCAGGGAAGGTGTTACCTCCAGGGAAGGTGTTACCTCAGGGAAGGTGTTACCTCCAGGGAAGGTGTTACCTCAGGGAAAGTGTTACCTCAGGGAAGGTGTT	360 360 360 360 360 360 360 360 360 360
CERV-KOLD35587 HERV-KOLD35587 SRV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.5 CERV-K60 CERV-K102 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108	361 361 361 361 361 361 361 361 361 361	ANTGGTCCAACTATTTIGCCAGACTTTTGAGCTCAAGCTCTTCAACCAGTTAGAGAC-AGTTTTCAGACTCTTAATACATTCATTGTTGATGATATTTTTGGTGTGCTACAGAAAGGAGA AATGGTCCAACTATTTIGCCAGACTTTTGAGCTCAAGCCTCTCAACCAGTTAGAGAC-AGTTTTCAGACTCTTAATCATTCATTGTTGATGATATTTTGTGTGTG	479 480 480 480 480 480 480 480 480 480 480
CERV-KOLD35587 HERV-KOLD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grövet CERV-Kochr.5 CERV-K102 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K105 HERV-K10	486 480 481 481 481 481 481 481 481 481 481 481	GACAMATTAATTGACTGTTALCALATTTCTGCAGACAGAGGTTGCAMACGCAGGACTGACGACGACGACTGATAMGATTCAMACCTCTALCCTTTACTTTACTTGGAAATGCAGGTGGAG GALAMATTAATTGACTGTTALCALATTTCTGCAGACAGAGGTGCAAACGCAGGACTGACGALAGCATCTGATAMGATTCAMACCTCTALCCTTTACTTTACTTGGAAATGCAGGTGGAG GALAMATTAATTGACTGTTALCALATTTCTGCAGCAGAGGTTGCAAACGCAGGACTGACGALAGCATCTGATAMGATCAAACCTCTALCTCTTTACTTTACTTGGAAATGCAGGTGGAG GALAMATTAATTGACTGTTALCALATTTCTGCAAGCAGAGGTTGCCAACGCAGGACTAACAATAGCACTGATAMGATCCAAACCTCTALCTCTTTACTTTACTTGGAAATGCAGGTGCAG GALAMATTAATTGACTGTTALCALATTTCTGCAAGCAGAGGTTGCCAACGCAGGACTAACAATAGCACTGATAGAATGCAAACCTCTALCTTCATTATTTAGGGATGCAAATGCAGGTGCAAATGCAGGATGCAA GALAMATTAATTGACTGTTALCALTTTCTGCAAGCAGAGGTTGCCAACGCAGGACTAACAATAGCACTGGATAGAATGCAAACCTCTLGCTTTCATTATTTAGGGATGCAAATGCAGGATGCAA GALAMATTAATTGACTGTTALCALTTCTGCAAGCAGAGGTTGCCAACGCAGGACTAACAATAGCACTGGATAGAATGCAAACCTCTLGCTTGCTTTCATTATTTAGGGATGCAAATGCAGA GALAMATTAATTGACTGTTALCALTTCTGCAAGCAGAGGTTGCCAACGCAGGACTAACAATAGCACTGGATAGAATGCAAACCTCTLGCTTGCTTTCATTATTTAGGGATGCAAATGCAA GALAMATTAATTGACTGTTALCALTTCTGCAAGCAGAGGTTGCCAACGCAGGACTGACAATAGCAATGCAAACCTCTACTATAGGATGGAATGAA GALAMATTAATTGACTGTTALCALTTCTGCAAGCAGAGGTTGCCAACGCAGGCAGGCAGGACTGGAATAGCAATGGAATGAA GALAMATTAATTGACTGTTALCALTTCTGCAAGCAGAGGTTGCCAATGCAGGCAGGCAGGACTGGAATAGCAATGGAATGGAATGCAAACCTTAGATTGATGCAATGCAATGCAGGAGTGGAATAGAA GALAMATTAATTGACTGTTALCALTTCTGCAAGCAGAGGTTGCCAATGGCAGTGGCAATAGCAATGGAATGCAAACCTTGATAGAATGGAATGGAATGGAA GALAMATTAATTGACTGTTALCALTTCTGGAAGGAAGGTTGCCAATGGCAGTGGCAATAGCAATGGAATGGAATGCAAACCTTAGATGGAATGGAATGGAA GALAMATTAATTGACTGTTALCALTTCTGGAAGGAAGGTTGCCAATGGCAGTGGGAATAGGAATGGAATGCAAACCTTGATAGAATGGAATGGAATGGAA GALAMATTAATTGACTGTTALGAATGCAGGAGGTTGCCAATGGCAGGTGGCAATAGGAATGGAATGGAATGCAAACCTTGATGGAATGGAATGGAA GALAMATTAATTGACTGTTALGAATTCTGGGAAGGGTGCCAATGGCGGAATGGGAATAGGAATCGAAACCTTGATAGGATGGAATAGGAATGGAA GALAMATTAATTGACTGTTALGAATGCAAGGGAGGTGCCAATGGCGGAATGGGAATAGGAATGGAA GALAMATTAATTGACTGTTAGAATGTTGGGAAGGGTGCCAATGGGCAATGGGAATAGGAATGGAATGCAAACCTTGATGGAATGGAATGGAAGTGGAATAGGAATGGAAGGAGG	599 599 600 600 600 600 600 600 600 600 600 6

HERV-K102 HERV-K50A	481 481	GATANATTAATTGACTGTTATACATTTCTGCAAGCAGAGGTTGCCAATGCTGGACTGGCAATAGCATCTGATAAGATCCAAACCTCTACTCCTTTTCATTATTAGGGATGCAGATAGAA GATANATTAATTGACTGTTATACATTTCTGCAAGCAGAGGGTTGCCAATGCTGGACTGGCAATAGCATCTGATAAGATCCAAACCTCTACTCCTTTCATTATTTAGGGATGCAGATGAGA	600 600
CERV-KOLD35587 HERV-KOLD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet	600 600 601 601 601 601	GAAATGAAAATTAAACCACAAAAAATAGAAAATAGAAAAGACACAATTAAAAGATTAAATGACTTTCAAAAATTGCTAGGAGATATTAATTGGATTCAGCCAACTCTAGGCATCTCACT GAAACGAAAATTAAACCATAAAAATAGAAATAGAAAATGACACATTAAAAAGATTAAATGACTTTCAAAAATTGCTAGGCGATATTAATTGGATTCGGCCAACTCTAGGCATCCTACT AATGAAAAATTAAGCCACAAAAATAGAAATAGAAATGAGACACATTAAAATGACTTTCAAAAATTGTTAGGCGATATTAATTGGATTCGGCCAACTCTAGGCATCCTACT AATGAAAAATTAAGCCACAAAAAATAGAAATAGAAAAGATCCATTAAAAAGATTAATGACTTTCAAAAATTGTTAGGCGATATTAATTGGATTCGGCCAACTCTAGGCATTCCTACT AGTGAAAAATTAAGCCCACAAAAAATAGAAAATGAGAAAGATCCATTTAAAAAGATTAAATGACTTTCAAAAATTGTTAGGCGATATTAATTGGATTCGGCCAACTCTAGGCATCCTACT AGTGAGAAAAATTAAGCCACAAAAAATGAGAAATGAGAAGAGATCATTAAAAAGATTAAATGACTTTCAAAAATTGATTAGGCGATATTAATTGGATTCGGCCAACTCTAGGCATCCTACT AGTGAGAAAAATTAAGCCACAAAAATGAGAAATGAGAAGAGATCATTAAAAAGATTAAATGACTTTCAAAAATTGTTAGGCGATATTAATTGGATTCGGCCAACTCTAGGCATTCCTACT	719 719 720 720 720 720
SERV-K1 chr.5	601	ATTAGAAATTTAAGCACAAAAAATAGAATAA GACACATTAAAAACCAAATGACTTTCAGAAATTGCTAGGCGATATTAATTGGATCGCCAACTCTAGGCATTCCTACT ATTACAAAATTTAAGCCACAAAAAATAGAAATAA GACACAATTAAAAACCAAATGACTTTCAGAAATTGCTAGGCGATATTAATTGGATCGCCAACTCTAGGCATTCCTACT ATTACAAAATTTAAGCCACAAAAAATAGAAATAA GACACAATTAAAAACCAAATGACTTTCCAGAAATTGCTACGCAATTAATT	715
CERV-K102	601	AATAGAAMAATTAAGCCACAMAAATAGAAATAAGAAAAGCACATTAAAAACCTAAATGATTTTCAAMAATTGCTGGGGAGATATTAATTGGATTCGGCCAACTCTAGGCATTCCAAC TATAGAAMAATTAAGCCACAMAAATAGAAATAAGAAAAGCACATTAAAAACCTAAATGATTTTCAAMAATTGCTGGGGAGATATTAATTGGATTCGGCCAACTCTAGGCATTCCACT	720
HERV-K104 HERV-K50D	601 601	AATAGAAAAATTAAGCACAAAAAATAGAAATAAGAAAATACCACTATAAAAACACTAAATGATTITCAAAAATTGCTGGGGATATTAATTGGATTCGCCAACCTAGGCATTCCACT AATAGAAAAATTAAGCACAAAAAATAGAAATAAGAAATACACATTAAAAAACACTAAATGATTITCAANAATTGCTGGGGATATTAATTGGATTCGGCCAACCTAGGCATTCCACT	720 720
HERV-K50B HERV-K106	601 601	AATAGAAAAATTAAGCCACAAAAAATAGAAATAAGAAAAGACACATTAAAAACACTAAATGATTITTCAAAAATTACTAGGATATAATTGGATTGCCCAACTCATGGGATCACTAG AATAGAAAAAATTAAGCCACAAAAAATAGAAAATAAGAAAAGACAAAAAAACACTAAATGATTITTCAAAAATTACTAGGGATTAGATTGGATTG	720 720
HERV-K101	601	ARTAGANANTTANGCACANANA TAGANTANGANANGACACATTANANACATANTGATTITCANANTTACTAGAGATATTANTTGCATCGCCAACTCTAGGACTTCGGCCAACTCTAGGACTACTAGGAGATATTACTAGCAATTACTAGACAATTAGATTAGACTAGAATTAGATTAGACTAGAATTAGA	719
CERV-K100	601	ATAGAAAAATTAAGCACAAAAATAGAAATAAGAAAAGACACATTAAAAACACTAAATGATTTTCAAAAATTACTAGGGAATATTAATTGGATCGCCAACTCAGGCCTTAGCATTCCTAC	720
HERV-K10 HERV-K108	601 601	ΑΛΤΑ ΚΑΛΑΛΑΤΤΑ ΜΕ Ο ΚΑΛΑΛΑΛΑΤΑ ΚΑΛΑΤΑ Α ΚΑΛΑΛΑΛΑ ΚΑΛΑΤΑ ΚΑΤΑ ΤΑ ΑΤΑ ΤΟ ΚΑΛΑΛΤΤΑ ΤΙ ΤΑ ΚΑΛΑΛΤΤΑ ΤΙ ΤΑ ΚΑΛΑΛΤΙ ΚΑ Α ΤΙ ΚΑΛΑΛΑΤΤΑ ΜΕ Ο ΚΑΛΑΛΑΛΑΤΑ ΚΑΛΑΤΑ ΚΑΛΑΛΑ ΚΑΛΑΛΑΛΑ ΚΑΤΑ ΜΑΤ ΚΑΤΤΙ ΚΑΛΑΛΑΤΤΑ ΚΙ ΤΑ ΚΑΓΑΛΑΤΙ ΤΙ ΓΟ ΚΟ ΓΙ ΚΟ ΚΑ	720 720
HERV-K109 HERV-K113	596 601	AATAGAAAAATTAAGCCACAAAAAATAGAAATAAGAAAAGACACATTAAAAACACTAAATGATTITTCAAAAATTACTAGGAATTAATTGGATTTGGCCAACTCTAGGACATCATGA AATAGAAAAAATTAAGCCACAAAAAATAGAAAATAAGAAAAGACAAAAAAACACTAAATGATTITTCAAAAATTACTAGGAGATATAATTGGATCGACCAACTCAAGGCATTCCTACT	715 720
HERV-K36	601	AaTaGAAAAATTAAGCACAAAAAATAGAAATAAGAAAAGACACATTAAAAGCACTAAATGATTITCAAAAATTACTAGGAGATATTAATTGGATCACCAACCTAAGGAGATCAACAATAAATTAGATGAATTAGGATGAATTAATT	720
HERV-K102	601	MTROMAMTTANGCCACMANAGTIGAMATANGANAGACACTTAMANACACTANTGATTTCAMAMTTATCTAGGAGATATTATTGGATTCGGCCAACTCTAGGCATTCCTACT	720
HERV-K50A	601	ΑΑΤΑGAAAAATTAAGCAACAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA	720
CERV-KOLD35587 HERV-KOLD35587	720 720	TATGCCATGTCAAATTTGTTCTCTATCTTAAGAGGGGATCCAGAATTGAATAGTAAAAGAACATTAACTCCAGAAGCAACTAAAGAAATTGAATTAGTTGAAGAAAAAATTCGGTCAGCA TATGCCATGTCAAATTTGTTCTCTATCTTAAGAGGGGATCCAGAATTGAATAGTAAAAGAACATTAACTCCAGAAGCAACTAAAGAAAATTGAATTAGTTGAAGAAAAAATTCGGTCAGCA	839 839
SERV-K1 chr.11	721	TATGCCATGTCAAATTGTTCTCTATACCTAGGGGGGCCCGGGCTTAAATAGTAAAAGAATATAAACCCCAGGGGCAACAAAAGAAATTAAATTAGTGGAAGAAAAAATTCAGTCAG	840
SERV-K1 chr.12	721	TATGCCATGTCAAATTTGTTCTCTATGTCAAAGAGAGAATCCAGACTTAAATAGTAAAAGAATATTAAACCCCAAGAGGCAACAAAAGAAATTAAATTAGTGGAAGAAAAAATTCAGTCAG	840
SERV-K1 chr.5	716	ΤΑΙ ΒΕΙΖΑΙ ΒΙ ΕΛΑΛΤΙΤΙΚΙ ΤΙ ΕΙ ΕΙ ΛΑΙΔΙΚΟΔΙΑΙ Ι ΕΛΑΛΑΙ ΤΑΛΑΙ ΑΚΙ Ι ΑΛΑΛΑΚΑΙ ΑΙ ΤΑΛΕΙΣΚΑΙ ΚΑΙΔΑΛΑΛΑΛΑΛΑΙ ΤΑΛΑΙ ΤΑ ΤΑΓΕCΑΤΙ ΕΙ ΕΛΑΛΑΤΤΕΓΙΤΕΤΑΙ ΕΙ ΛΑΔΙΚΟΔΙΑΙ ΕΙ ΔΑΚΟΙ Ι ΑΛΑΛΙ ΑΝΑΙ ΑΛΑΛΑΛΑΛΑΛΑΙ ΤΑΛΕΙ ΔΑΛΑΛΑΛΑΛΑΙ ΤΑΛΙ ΤΑΓΙ ΒΕΛΑΛΑΛΑΛΑΛΑΙ ΓΙ ΑΔΙ ΕΙ ΔΑΣ	840 835
CERV-K60 CERV-K102	721 721	TATGCCATGTCANATTGTTCTCTATCTCAAGAGGAGACTCAGACTTAAATAGTAAAAGAATGTTAAACCCCAGAGGCAACAAAAGAAATTAAATTAGTGGAAGAAAAAATTCAGTCAG	840 840
HERV-K104	721	TATGCCATGTCAANTTGTTCTTATCTTAGGGGGGGCTCGGGCTTAAATAGTAAAAGATGTTAAACGCAGGGGAGCAAAAGAAATTAAATTAGTGGAGGAAAAAAATTCGTCGGGGGGGAGGAAAAGAATTAAATTAGTGGAGGAGAAAAAA	840
HERV-K50B	721	ΤΑΤΒΕCΑΤΕΤΟΑΛΤΤΤΘΙΤΕΤΕΤΑΤΑΤΙΤΑΚΟΚΟΚΟΛΕΤΟΚΟΛΕΤΙΑΛΑΤΑΓΙΑΛΑΚΟΚΑΤΑΤΙΛΑCCECAROSCAACAMARAMATIAATIAGTIGGAACAMAAATICTEG ΤΑΤΒΕCCATΒΙΤΟΛΑΤΙΤΕΤΕΤΕΤΑΤΙΤΙΑΚΟΚΟΚΟΚΕΤΟΚΟΓΙΑΛΑΤΙΑΤΙΑΛΑΚΟΚΑΤΑΤΙΛΑCCECAROSCAACAMARAMATIAATIAGTIGGAACAMAAATICABITCAG	840
HERV-K106 HERV-K101	720	ΤΑΙ ΙGLCA Ι G Ι CAAATI Ι G Ι Ι C I CI AI C I TAAGAGGAGACI LAGACI TAAA I AG Ι AAAAGAA I G TAACUCLAGAGGAACAAAAAAAA I AAATI AG I GGAAGAAAAAA I I CAG I CAACGA ΤΑΤGCCATGCAAATTGTTCTCTTATTTAAGAGGAGACI CLAGACT CAAATAGTAAAAGAATATTAACCCCAGAGGCAACAAAAGAAATI AAATI AGTGAAGAAAAAAT	840 839
HERV-K103 CERV-K100	721 721	TATGCCATGTCANATTGTTCTCTATCTTAAGAGGAGACTCAGACTTAAATAGTAAAAGATATTAACCCCAGAGGCAACAAAAGAAATTAAATTAGTGGAAGAAAAAATTCAGTCAG	840 840
HERV-K10 HERV-K108	721	TATGCCATGTCAAATTGTTCTTTATTTAAGAGGGAGCTCAGACTTAAATAGTCAAAGAATATTAACCCCAGAGGCAACAAAAGAAATTAAATTAGTGGAAGAAAAAATTCAGTCAAGG TATGCCATGTCAAATTGTTCTTTATTTAAGAGGAGACTTCAGACTTAAATAGTAAAAGAATAGTTAACCCCAGAGGCAACAAAAGAAATTAATT	840 840
HERV-K109	716	TATGCCATGTCANATTTGTCTTATTTAGAGGAGACTCAGACTTAANTAGTAANAAGATGTTAACCCCAGGGACACAAAAGAAATTAAATT	835
HERV-K113 HERV-K36	721	ΤΑΙ ΒΙ ΕΙ ΑΙ ΒΙ ΕΛΑΤΙ ΤΕΙ ΤΕΙ ΕΙ ΑΤΕΙ ΤΑ ΜΑΘΑΘΑΚΕΙ ΕΑΘΑΕΙ ΕΑΛΑΙ ΙΑΛΑ ΙΑ ΒΙ ΑΛΑΛΕΛΑ ΙΕΙ ΤΑΛΟΕΙ ΕΛΑΛΑΛΑΛΑΛΑΙ ΙΑΛΗ ΤΑ ΤΕ ΕΙ ΕΙ ΕΙ ΕΛΑΛΑΤΙ ΤΕΙ ΤΕΙ ΕΙ ΑΤΕΙ ΤΑ ΜΑΘΑΘΑΚΕΙ ΕΑΘΑΕΙ ΕΑΛΑΙ ΕΙ ΑΛΑΛΕΛΑ ΙΕΙ ΤΑΛΟΕΙ ΕΛΑΛΑΛΑΛΑΛΙ ΙΑΛΕΙ ΑΕΛΑΓΑ	840 840
HERV-K115 HERV-K102	721 721	TATGCCATGTCAAATTTGTTCTTATGTTAAGAGGAGACTCAGACTTAAATAGTAAAAGATATTAACCCCAGAGGCAACAAAAGAAATTAAATTAGTGGAAGAAAAAATTCAGTCAG	840 840
HERV-K50A	721	TATGCCATGTCAAATTTGTTCTCTATCTTAAGAGGAGACTCAGACTTAAATAGTAAAAGAATATTAACCCCAGAGGCAACAAAAGAAATTAAATTAGTGGAAGAAAAAATTCAGTCAG	840
CERV-KOLD35587 HERV-KOLD35587	840 840	CAAGTAAATAGAATAGAATCACTTAGCCCCACTCCAACTTTTGATTTTTGCTACTGCACATTCTCCAACAGGCATTATTGTTCAAAATACAGATCTTGTGGAGTGGTTCTTCCTTC	959 959
SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza	841 841	CANATANGTANANTAGATACCTTTTAGCCCCACTCCAACTITTGATTTTTGCTACTGCAACTICTCCAACAGGCATCATTGTTCANATACTGATCATTGTTGGGAGTGGTCATTCCTTCCCTCAC CANATANATACATACATTCATTCTTTAGCCCCACTCCAACTITTGATTTTGCTACTGCAATTCTCCAACAGGCATCATTGTTCAANATACTGATTCTGTGGGGGTGGTTATC	960 960
SERV-K1 chr.12	841	CANATANATAGGATAGATCCTTTAGCCCCACTCCAACTTTTGATTTTTGCTACTACACATTCTCCAACAGGCATCATTATTCAAAACACTGATCTTGTGGGGGGGG	960
SERV-K1 chr.5	836	CANATARG MGANTAGATCCTTTAGCCCACTCCACTTTTAATTTTGCTACTACACATTCCCAACAGGCATCATTATCCAAATACTGATCATTCTGTGGAGGGGTGATTCTTCTCCCAC	955
CERV-K60 CERV-K102	841 841	CANATANATAGATAGATCCTTAGCCCCACTCCAACTITTGATITTGCCACTGCACATCTCCAACAGGCATCATTATTCANATACTGATCATGTGGAGGGGTCATTCCTTCC CANATANATAGATAGATCCCTTAGCCCCACTCCAACTITTGATTITGCCACTGCACATCTTCCCAACAGGCATCATTATTCANATACTGATCTGTGGAGGGGTCATTCCTCCGC	960 960
HERV-K104 HERV-K50D	841 841	CANATANATAGATAGATCCCTTAGCCCCACTCCAACTITTGATTITTGCCACTGCACATCCTCCAACAGGCATCATTATTCANATACTGATCATTGTGGAGTGGTCATTCCTTCCTCAC CANATANATAGATAGATCCCTTAGCCCCACTCCAACTITTGATTITTGCCACTGCACATTCTCCAACAGGCATCATTATTCANATACTGATCTTGTGGAGTGGTCATTCCTTCCTCAC	960 960
HERV-K50B	841	canataata 6aata 6aataccetta 6aatacce a contractor a contracta contractor a contracta	960
HERV-K100	840	CANATAATAGATAGATCCCTTAGCCCACTCCAACTITIGATTITIGCCACIGCACTGCAACAGGCATCATTATCAAAATACIGATCTGTGGGGGGGGGCATCCTTCCTCAC CANATAATAGATAGATCCCTTAGCCCACTCCAACTITIGATTITIGCCACIGCACTGCACACAGGCATCATTATCAAAATACIGATCTGTGGGGGGGGGCATCCTTCCTCC	959
HERV-K103 CERV-K100	841 841	CANA IANA IAGAN IAGGILCLI IAGLILCAL ILCAALI II IGAI II II GLALI GLALA II GILCAALAGGLAILA II AI LCAANA IAL IGAILI IG IGGAGIGGILA II CLI ILCI ILC CANATANATAGANTAGATICCTTIAGCILCAALICLATITCATITTIGATITTIGGLATIGACAATICTICAACAGGCATCATTATICTAAANATACTGATICTGIGGGAGTGGTGTCTTICTICCTICL	960 960
HERV-K10 HERV-K108	841 841	CANATAATAGATAGATCCCTTAGCCCCACTCCAACTITTGATTTTGCCACTGCACATTCTCCAACAGGCATCATTATTCANATACTGATCATTGTGGAGTGGTCATTCCTTCCTCAC CANATAATAGATAGATCCCTTAGCCCCACTCCAACTITTGATTTTGGCACTGCACATTCTCCAACAGGCATCATTATTCANATACTGATCTGTGGGGTGGTGATCCTTCCTCC	960 960
HERV-K109	836	CANATAATAGATAGATCCCTTAGCCCCACTCCAACTITTGATTTTTGCCACTGCAACTCCTCCAACAGGGCATCATTATTCANATACTGATCTTTGTGGGGGGGTGATCCTTCCTCCACCGCAACAGGGCATCATTATTCANATACTGATCTTGTGGGGGGGTGATCCTTCCTCCACCGCAACAGGGCATCATTATTCAAATACTGATCTGTGGGGGTGGTGATCCTTCCT	955
HERV-K36	841	${\tt GAAATAAATAGAATAGATCCCTTAGCCCACCCACCTATTTGATTTTTGCCACTGCACATTCCCAACAGGCATCATTATTCAAAATACTGATCTGTGTGGAGTGGTCATTCCTTCC$	960
HERV-K115 HERV-K102	841 841	CANA TANA TAGATAGATLCCTTAGECECAETECAATETTTGATTTTGECAETGEACATETECAAAAGGEATEATTATTCAAAATAETGATEATEGTGGAGTGGTEATTECTTCAETCA	960
HERV-K50A	841	CAAATAAATAGATAGATAGTCCCTTAGCCCCACTCCCAACTTTTGATTTTTGCCACTGCAACAGGTATCATTATTCAAAATACTGATCTTGGGAGTGGTCATTCCTTCC	960
CERV-KOLD35587 HERV-KOLD35587	960 960	AGTACAATTAAGACTTTTACATTGTACTTGGATCAAATGGCTACATTAATTGGTCAGGCAAGATTACGAATTATAAAATTGTGTGAAAGTGACCCAGATAAAAATATTGTTCCTTAAAC AGTACAATTAAGACTTTTACATTGTACTTGGATCAAATGGCTACATTAATGGTCAGGCAAGATTACGAATAATAAAATTGTGTGAAAGTGACTCAGATAAAAATATTGTTC	1079
SERV-K1 chr.11	961	AGTACAATTAAGACTTTTACATTGTACTTGGATGAAATAGCTACATTAATTGGTCAGGCAAGATTACAAATAATAAAATGGTGGGAAGGAA	1080
SERV-K1 chr.12	961	AGTACAATTAAAGCTTTTAACTITTACATGTACTIGGATCAAATAGCTACATTAATTGGTCAGGCAAGATTACGGATAATAAAAATGTGTGGGGATAGACCAAAATAGTGTGTCGTCATTAACG	1080
Grivet SERV-K1 chr.5	961 956	AGIALAAIIAAGALIIIIACATTGTACTTGGATCAAATAGCTACATTAATTGGTCAGGCAAGATTACGAATAATAATAATATGTGGTAATGACCCAGACAAAAAGGTTGTTCCCTTAACC AGTACAATTAAGACTTTTACGTTGTACTTGGATCAAATAGCTACATTAATTGGTCAGGCAAGATTACGAATAATAATAATAGTGTGGGAAATGACCCAGACAAAATAGTTGTTCCTTTAACC	1080 1075
CERV-K60 CERV-K107	961 961	AGTACAGTTAAGACTTTTACATTGTACTTGGATCAAATAGCTACATTAATTGGTCAGACAAGATTACGAATAATAATAATTATGTGGAAATGACCCAGACAAAATAGTTGTCCCTTTAACC AGTACAGTTAAGACTTTTACATTGTACTTGGATCAAATAGCTACAATAGTTGGTCAGACAAGATTACGAATAATAATAATAATTATGTGGCAATGACCCAGACAAAATAGTTGTCCCTTTAACC	1080 1080
HERV-K104	961	AGTACAGTTAAGACTTTTACATTGTACTTGGATCAAATAGCTACATTAATTGGTCAGACAAGATTACGAATAATAAAATTATGTGGAAATGACCCAGACAAAATAGTTGTCCCTTTAACC	1080
HERV-K50B	961	AGTACAGTTAGAGTTTAGATTGTACTTGGATCAAATAGCTACATTAATCGGTCAGACAAGATTACGAATAATAAAATTAGTGGAAATAGCCCAGACAAAAATAGTGTCCCTTTAACC	1080
HERV-K106 HERV-K101	961 960	A GIALAGIIAANALIIIIALAIIGIALIIGAALAAA AAGLIALAIIAAILGGILAGALAAGATTACGAATAATAAAATTATGTGGAAATGACCCAGACAAAATAGTGTCCCTTTAACCAAGACAAAATAGTCTGTCCCTTTAACCAAGACAAAATAGTCTGTCCCTTTAACCAAGACAAAATAGTCTGTCCCTTTAACCAAGACAAAATAGTGTCCCTTTAACCAAGACAAAATAGTGTCCCTTTAACCAAGACAAAATAGTGTCCCTTTAACCAAGACAAAATAGTGTCCCTTTAACCAAGACAGACAAGACAAGACAAGACAAGACAAGACAAGACAAGACAAGACAAGACAAGACAAGACAAGACAAGACAAGACAAGACAAGACAAGACAAGACAGACA	1080 1079
HERV-K103 CERV-K100	961 961	AGTACAGTTAAGACTTTTACATTGTACTTGGATCAAATAGCTACATTAATCGGTCAGACAAGATTACGAATAACAAAATTATGTGGAAATGACCCAGACAAAATAGTTGTCCCTTTAACC AGTACAGTTAAGACTTTTACATTGTACTTGGATCAAATAGCTACAATAATCGGTCAGACAAGATTACGAATAACAAAATTATGTGGAAATGACCCAGACAAAATAGTTGTCC	1080 1080
HERV-K10	961	AGTACAGTTAAGACTTTTACATTGTACTTGGATCAAATAGCTACATTAATCGGTCAGACAAGATTACGAATAACAAAAATTATGTGGAAATGACCCAGACAAAAATAGTTGTCCCTTTAACC AGTACAGTTAAGACTTTTACGTACTGGATCAGAATAGTGACCAACATTAATGGGCAGACAAGATTAATGAATAATTATGTGGAATGACCCAGACAAAAATAGTGTCCCCTTTAACC	1080
HERV-K109	956	AGTACAGTTAAGACTTTACACTGTACTGGATCAAATAGCTACATTAATCGGTCAGACAAGATTACGAATAATAAAATTATGTGGAAATGACCCAGACAAAAATAGTGTCCCTTTAACC	1075
HERV-K113 HERV-K36	961 961	A GIALAGIIAANALIIIIALAIIGIALIIGAALAAA AAGIIALAIIAAILGGILAGALAAGATTACGAATAATAAAATTATGTGGGAATGACCCAGACAAAATAGTGTGCCCTTTAACC AGTACAGTTAAGACTTTTACACTGTACTTGGATCAAATAGCTACAATAGTGTCCCTACAATAATACGAATAATAATAATAATATGTGGAAATGACCCAGACAAAATAGTGTCCCTTTAACC	1080 1080
HERV-K115 HERV-K102	961 961	AGTACAGTTAAGACTTTTACACTGTACTTGGATCAAATAGCTACATTAATCGGTCAGACAAGATTACGAATAATAATAATAATATGTGGAAATGACCCAGACAAAATAGTGTCCCTTTAACC AGTACAGTTAAGACTTTTACACTGTACTTGGATCAAATAGCTACATTAATTGGTCAGACAAGATTACGAATAATAATAATAATGTGGAAATGACCCAGACAAAATAGTTGTCCCTTTAACC	1080 1080
HERV-K50A	961	AGTACAGTTAAGACTTTTACACTGTACTTGGATCAAATAGCTACATTAATTGGTCAGACAAGATTACGAATAATAAAATTATGTGGAAATGACCCAGACAAATAGTTGTCCCTTTAACC	1080

	1080	AAGGAACAGGTTAGACAAGCCTTTATCAATTCTGGTGCATGGCAGATTGGTCTTGCTGATTTTGTGGGAATTATTGACAATCATTACCCAAAAACAAAAATCTTCCAGTTTTTAAAAATTG 1199
HERV-KOLD35587	1080	AAGGAACAGGTTAGACAAGCCTTTATCAATTCTGGTGCATGGCAGGATTGGTCTTGCTGATTTTGTGGGAATTATTGACAATCATTACCCAAAAAAAA
SERV-K1 chr.11	1081	AAGGAACAAGTTAGACAAGCCTTTATCAATTCTGGTGCATAGCAGAGTTGGTCTTGCTGATTTTGTGGGAATTATTGATAATCATTACCCAAAAAACAAAAATCTTCCAGTTTTTAAAATTG 1200
Guereza	1081	AAGGAACAAGTTAAACAAGCCTTTATCAATTCTGGTGCATGGCAAATTGGCCTTGCTGATTTTGTGGGAATTATTGATAATCATTACCCAAAAAACAAAAATTTCCAGTTTTTAAAATTG 1200
SERV-K1 chr.12	1081	AAGGAACAAGTTAGGCAAGCCTTTATCAATTCTGGTGGCATGGCAAGGCAAGTTGGCCTAATTTTGGGGAGTTATTGATAATCATTACCCAAAAAAAA
GFIVET	1081	
CERV-KEQ	1070	ANGGARCANGTINGACANGCETTATCANTELEGIGAN BGCANGGCANG IGGTOTTGTANTH ING INGGANTATCATACCANAACANAACTICCANAAATTTTTAAAATTG
CERV-K102	1081	ANGGANCANGTINGACANGGCTTIATCANTICTGGTGCATGGCAGATTGGTCTTGCTAATTTTGTGGGAATTATTGATAATCATTACCCANAAACAAAAAATCTTCCAGTTCTTAAAATTG
HERV-K104	1081	AAGGAACAAGTTAGACAAGACTTTATCAATTCTGGTGGCAGGATGGCAGATTGGTCTTGCTAATTTTGTGGGAACTATTGATAATCATTACCCAAAAACAAAGATCTTCCAGTTCTTAAAATTG 1200
HERV-K50D	1081	AAGGAACAAGTTAGACAAGCCTTTATCAATTCTGGTGCATGGCAGATTGGTCTTGCTAATTTTGTGGGAACTATTGATAATCATTACCCAAAAACAAAGATCTTCCAGTTCTTAAAATTG 1200
HERV-K50B	1081	AAGGAACAAGTTAGACAAGCCTTTATCAATTCTGGTGCATGGCAGATTGGTCTTGCTAATTTTGTGGGAATTATTGATAATCATTACCCAAAAACAAAGATCTTCCAGTTCTTAAAAATG 1200
HERV-K106	1081	AAGGAACAAGTTAGACAAGCCTTTATCAATTCTGGTGCATGGCAGATTGGTCTTGCTAATTTTGTGGGAATTATTGATAATCATTACCCAAAAACAAAGATCTTCCAGTTCTTAAAACTG 1200
HERV-K101	1080	AAGGAACAAGCTTTAGACAAGCCTTTATCAATTCTGGTGCGAGCTTGGTCATTGGTCATTGGTGGAATTATTGATAATTCATTACCCAAAAAACAAAC
CERV-K100	1081	ANGGAACAAGTI NGACAAGCETTATCAATTETGGTCA GGCAGATIGGTCTTGGTAATTTTGGTGGGAATTATTGATAATCATTACCCAAAAACAAAGATCTTCGGTCATTAAAATTG 1200
HERV-K10	1081	AAGGAACAAGTIAGACAAGCCITTATCAATTCIGGTGCATGGCAGATIGGCTTAGTTATCATTATCATATCA
HERV-K108	1081	AAGGAACAAGTTAGACAAGCCTTTATCAATTCTGGTGCATGGAAGATTGGTCTTGCTAATTTTGTGGGAATTATTGATAATCATTACCCCAAAAACAAAGATCTTCCAGTTCTTAAAATTG 1200
HERV-K109	1076	AAGGAACAAGTTAGACAAGCCTTTATCAATTCTGGTGCATGGAAGATTGGTCTTGCTAATTTTGTGGGAATTATTGATAATCATTACCCAAAAACAAAGATCTTCCAGTTCTTAAAATTG 1195
HERV-K113	1081	AAGGAACAAGTTAGACAAGCCTTTATCAATTCTGGTGCATGGCAGAGTTGGTCTTGCTAATTTTGTGGGAATTATTGATAACCATTACCCAAAAACAAAGATCTTCCAGTTCTAAAATTG 1200
HERV-K36	1081	AAGGAACAAGTTAGACAAGCCTTTATCAATTCTGGTGCATGGCAGATTGGTCTTGCTAATTTTGTGGGAATTATTGATAATCATTACCCAAAAACAAAGATCTTCCAGTTCTAAAATTG 1200
HERV-K115	1081	AAGGAACAAGTTAGACAAGCCTTTATCAATTCTGGTGCATGGCAGATTGGTCTTGCTAATTTTGTGGGAATTATTGATAATCATTACCCAAAAACAAAGATCTTCCAGTTCTTAAAACTG 1200
HERV-KIUZ	1001	ANGGANCANG TINGACANG CETTATCANTIC IG IGCA IGGCAGATIG ICTATTITIC IGGCANTIATIGATAN CATTACCANANACAN GATETIC ICAGTETIAAAACEG
HERV-ROOM	1001	
CERV-KOLD35587	1200	AATACTTGGATTTTACCTAAAATTACTAGACATAAACCTTTAGAAAATGCTCTGACAGTGTTTACTGATGGTTCCAGCAATGGAAAAGCGGCTTACACCAGGCCAAAAGAACGACTCATT 1319
HERV-KOLD35587	1200	ACTACTTGGATTTTACCTAAAATTACTAGACATAAACCTTTAGAAAATGCTCTGACAGTGTTTACTGATGGTTCCAGCAATGGAAAAGCGGCCTTACACCAGGCCAAAAGAACGACCTCATT 1319
SERV-K1 chr.11	1201	ACTACTTGGATTTTACCTAAAAATTATCAGACATGAACCTCTAGAAAATGCTCTGACAGTATTTACTGATGGTTCCAGCAATGGAAAAGCAGCTTACACAGGGCCAAAAGGAGCGAGTAATC 1320
Guereza	1201	ACTACTIGGATTITACCTAAAATTACCAGACATAAACCTITAGAAAATGCTCTGACAGTATTTACTGATGGTTCCAGGAAAAGGGGGCTTACACAGGGCCAAAAGAGCGGGTAATC
SERV-KI CHF.12	1201	ACTACTIGGATITIACCTAAAATCACCAGGACAATGAGCGCTTACAAAAAGGGCGACAAAGGAGCGGCTTACACAAGGACCAGGACAAAGGGCGGACAAAGGGCGGCTTACACAGGACCAAGGACCAGGACCAAAGGGCGGCTTACACAGGACCAGGACCAAAGGGCGGCTTACACAGGACCAGGACCAGGACGAGGAG
SERV-K1 chr 5	1196	ACTACTIGGATITIACCTAAAATTACCAGACATGAACCTCTAGAAAATGCTCTGACAGTATTTACGATAGGTCCAGCAATGGAAAAGCGCCTTACGACAGGACCAAGAAGGCGGAGTAATC
CERV-K60	1201	ACTACTIGGATICTACCTAAAATTACCAGACACGAACCTITAGAAAATGCTCTAACAGTATTTAGGAACGGTACTAGGAAAGTGGCTTACACAGGGCCAAAAGAACGAGTAATC 1320
CERV-K102	1201	ACTACTTGGATTCTACCTAAAATTACCAGACGTGAACCTTTAGAAAATGCTCTAACAGTATTTACTGATGGTTCCAGCAATGGAAAAGCGGCTTACACAGGGCCGAAAGAACGAGTAATC 1320
HERV-K104	1201	ACTACTTGGATTCTACCTAAAATTACCAGACATGAACCTTTAGAAAATGCTCTAACAGTATTTACTGATGGTTCCAGCAATGGAAAAGCAGCTTACACAGGGCCGAAAGAATGAGTAATC 1320
HERV-K50D	1201	ACTACTTGGATTCTACCTAAAAATTACCAGACATGAAACCTTTAGAAAATGCTCTAACAATATTTACTGATGGTTCCAGCAATGGAAAAGCAGCTTACACAGGGCCGAAAGAATGAGTAATC 1320
HERV-K50B	1201	ACTACTTGGATTCTACCTAAAATTACCAGACGTGAACCTTTAGAAAATGCTCTAACAGTATTTACTGATGGTTCCAGCAATGGAAAAGCAGCTTACACAGGGCCGAAAGAACGAGTAATC 1320
HERV-K106	1201	ACTACTIGGATTCTACCTAAAATTACCAGACGTGAACCTTTAGAAAATGCTCTAACAGTATTTACTGATGGTTCCAGCAATGGAAAAGCAGGTCAACGAGTAATC 1320
HERV-K101	1200	
CERV-K100	1201	ACTACTIGGATICIACCIANAATIACCAGATGIGAACCITTAGAAAATGICICIAACGIATIACIGATGICICAGCAATGAAAAGCAGCITACAAGGAACGAAGCAAAGCA
HERV-K10	1201	ACTACTIGGATICTACCTAAAATTACCAGAGGTGAACCTITAGAAAATGCTCTAACAGTATTTACTGATGGTACGAAAGGCAGCTTACACAGGGCCGAAAGAACGAGTATT
HERV-K108	1201	ACTACTTGGATTCTACCTAAAATTACCAGACGTGAACCTTTAGAAAATGCTCTAACAGTATTTACTGATGGTTCCAGCAATGGAAAAGCAGCTTACACAGGACCGAAAAGAACGAGTAATC 1320
HERV-K109	1196	ACTACTTGGATTCTACCTAAAATTACCAGACGTGAACCTTTAGAAAATGCTCTAACAGTATTTACTGATGGTTCCAGCAATGGAAAAGCAGCTTACACAGGGCCGAAAGAACGAGTAATC 1315
HERV-K113	1201	ACTACTTGGATTCTACCTAAAATTACCAGACGTGAACCTTTAGAAAATGCTCTAACAGTATTTACTGATGGTTCCAGCAATGGAAAAGCAGCTTACACAGGGCTGAAAGAACGAGTAATC 1320
HERV-K36	1201	ACTACTTGGATTCTACCTAAAATTACCAGACGTGAACCTTTAGAAAATGCTCTAACAGTATTTACTGATGGTTCCAGCAATGGAAAAGCAGCTTACACAGGGCCGAAAGAACGAGTAATC 1320
HERV-K115	1201	
HERV-KIUZ	1201	ACTACTIGGATICTACCTANAATTACCAGGCGGGAACCTTAAGAAATGCTCTAAGAGTTTACCGGATTACGAGATGGAAAAGGAGCGGCTTACAGGACGGAGGAGGAGGAGGAGGAGGAGGAGGAGGAGGA
HERV-ROOM	1201	
CERV-KOLD35587	1320	GAAACTCAATATCACTGGGCTCAAAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTG
CERV-KOLD35587 HERV-KOLD35587	1320	GAAACTCAATATCACTGGGGCTCAAAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTG
CERV-KOLD35587 HERV-KOLD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11	1320 1320 1321	GAAACTCAATATCACTGGGCTCAAAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTG
CERV-KOLD35587 HERV-KOLD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza	1320 1320 1321 1321	GAAACTCAATATCACTGGGCTCAAAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTG
CERV-KOLD35587 HERV-KOLD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12	1320 1320 1321 1321 1321	GANACTCANTATCACTGGGCTCANAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGCTGCTGTATTATAGTGTTACAAGATTTTAATCAGCCTATTAACATTGTATCAGATTCTGCATATGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG 1439 GANACTCAATATCACTGGGCTCANAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGTGCTGTATTACAGTGTTACAAGTATTTAATCAGCCTATTAACATTGTATCAGATTCTGCATATGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG 1439 ANACTCAATATCAATCGGCTCANAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGATTTTAAGCAACTGTTAATATTATATCAGATTCTGCATATGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG 1440 ANACTCAATATCAATCAGTCCAAAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGATTTTAATCAGCCTATTAATATTATATCAGATTCTGCATATGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG 1440 ANACTCGATATCAATCAGTCAAAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGATTTTAATCAGCTGTTAATATTATATCAGATTCTGCATATGTAGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG 1440
CERV-KOLD35587 HERV-KOLD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet	1320 1320 1321 1321 1321 1321 1321	GANACTCANTATCACTGGGCTCANAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGCTGCTGTATTATAGTGTTACAAGATTTTAATCAGCCTATTAACATGTATCAAGATTCTGCATATGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGA 1439 GANACTCANTATCACTGGGCTCANAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGTTGCTGTATACAGGTATACAGGCTATTAACTAGGCCTATTAACATGTGATAGAGTCTGGATATGAGGCAGAGGCAGAAGG ANACTCANTATCAATGCGCTCANAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGCTGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGATTTTAATGAGCCTGTTAATATTATATCAGATTCTGCATATGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG ANACTCAATATCAATGCAGCTCANAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTAGAAGATTTTAATCAACCTGTTAATATTATATCAGATTCTGCATATGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG ANACTCAATATCCAATGCAGCTCAAAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGG
CERV-KOLD35587 HERV-KOLD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.5 CERV-K60	1320 1320 1321 1321 1321 1321 1321 1316	GANACTCANTATCACTGGGGTCANAGGACGAGGTTGGTTGGTGTGTATTATAGTGTTACAAGATTTTAATCAGCTCATTAACATTGTATCAGATTCTGCATATGTAGTACAGGGTACAAGG 1439 GANACTCANTATCACTGGGCTCANAGGGCAGGTGGTTGGTGCGTCATTALAGTGTTACAGGTATTTAAGCAACTGTATAACATTGTATCAGATTCTGCATATGTAGGAGCAGG ANACTCANTATCAATGCGCTCANAGGGCAGGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGGTATAGAGATTTTAAGCAACTGTATAATTATATCAGATTCTGCATATGTAGGAGCAGG ANACTCAATATCAATCAGTCAGCAAGGGCAGGATGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGGTATGAGGAGTATTAAGGAGTAGAGAGAG
CERV-KOLD35587 HERV-K0LD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.5 CERV-K102	1320 1321 1321 1321 1321 1321 1321 1316 1321 1321	GANACTCANTATCACTGGGCTCANAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGTTGCTGCTATTATAGTGTTACAAGATTTTAATCAGCCTATTAACATTGTATCAGATTCTGCATATGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGA 1439 GANACTCANTATCACTGGGCTCANAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGCTGCTATTACAGTGTACAAGATTTTAATCAGCCTATTAACATTGTATCAGATTCTGCATATGTAGTAGGCAGCAGAGA 1439 AMACTCANTATCANTCGGCTCANAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAATCAGCCTATTAACATTGTATGAGTTCGCATTGTAGTAGGCAGCAGAG AMACTCAATATCANTCAGCTCANAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAGATTTTAATCAGCCTGTTAATATTATATCAGATTCTGCATATGTAGTAGCAGCCACAAGG AMACTCAATATCAATCAGCTCAAAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGATTTTAATCAGCCTGTTAATATTATATCAGATTCTGCATATGTAGTAGCAGCGCACAAGG AMACTCAGTATCAATCAGCTCAAAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGATTTTAATCAGCTGTTAATATTATATCAGATTCTGCATATGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG AMACTCAGTATCAATCAGCTCAAAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGATTTTAATCAACCTGTTAATATTATATCAGATTCTGCATATGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG AMACTCCAATATCAATCCAGCTCAAAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGATTTTAATCAACCTGTTAATATTATATCAGATTCTGCATATGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG AMACTCCAATTCAATCCAGCTCAAAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGATTTTAATCAACCTGTTAATATTATATCAGATTCTGCATATGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG AMACTCCAATTCAATCCGCTCAAAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGATTTTGATCAACTGTATATATTATATGTAGAGTTCTGCATTGTAGGAGCAGCGACGAGG AMACTCCAATTCAATCCGCTCAAAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGATTTTGATCAAGTTCTGATTGTAGAGTCTGCATGTAGGGCTACAAGG AMACTCCAATTATATCAGCGCCAAAGGGCAGGATGGTTGGTGCAGTCATTACAGGTTACAAGGTATTGAAGGTCAGAGTCTGCAATGTAGTGAGGCACAGAGG AMACTCCCATATTAATCGGCTGAAGGACGAGGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGGTTACAAGGTACAGGCTACAAGG AMACTCCAATTATATCAGGCTCGATGTTGGTGGATGGTGGAGCAGGCAG
CERV-KOLD35587 HERV-KOLD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.5 CERV-K60 CERV-K102 HERV-K104	1320 1321 1321 1321 1321 1321 1321 1321	GANACTCANTATCACTGGGGTCANAGGACGAGGTTGGTTGGTGTGTATTATAGTGTTACAAGATTTTAATCAGCCTATTAACATTGTATCAGATTCTGCATATGTAGTACAGGGTACAAGG 1439 GANACTCANTATCACTGGGCTCANAGGGCAGGATTGGTGGTGCTGATTACAGTGTATACAGTTTTAAGCATCTGTATAGATTCTGCATATGTAGTACGGCTACAAGG 1440 ANACTCANTATCAATCAGTCAGTCAAGGGCAGGATTGGTGGATGCATTACAGTGTTACAGTTTTAAGCAACTGTATAATATTATATCAGATTCTGCATATGTAGTACGGCTACAAGG MAACTCAATATCAATCAGTCAGTCAAGGGCAGGATTGGTGGATGCATTACAGTGTACAGATTTTAAGCAACTGTATAATATTATCAGATTCTGCATATGTAGTACGGCTACAAGG MAACTCAATATCAATCAGTCAGTCAAGGGCAGGATTGGTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGTGTACAGGTATAGAAGTTCTGCATATGTAGTAGTGCAGGCAACAAGG MAACTCCAATATCAATCAGTCAGTCAAGGGCAGGATTGGTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAGGTACAAGGATTATATATGAGATTCTGCATTGTAGTAGTACGGCTACAAGG MAACTCCAATATCAATCAGTCAGTCAAGGGCAGGATTGGTGGATGCATGC
CERV-KOLD35587 HERV-KOLD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.5 CERV-K60 CERV-K102 HERV-K104 HERV-K50D	1320 1320 1321 1321 1321 1321 1321 1321	GANACTCANTATCACTGGGCTCANAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGTTGCTGTATTATAGTGTTACAAGATTTTAATCAGCCTATTAACATTGTATCAGATTCTGCATATGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG 1439 GANACTCANTACCATGGCTCANAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGTTGCTATTALAGTGTTACAAGATTTTAACGACTCATTAACATTGTATCAGATTCTGCATATGTAGTAGGCAGCAGAG 1439 ANACTCANTACCATGGCTCANAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGCTGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGTATTTAAGCAACTGTTAATATTATTATCAGATTCTGCATATGTAGTAGGCACAGAG ANACTCAGTATCAATCAGTCAGCAAGAGGCAGAGTTGGTTGG
CERV-KOLD35587 HERV-KOLD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.5 CERV-K60 CERV-K102 HERV-K104 HERV-K50D HERV-K50B	1320 1320 1321 1321 1321 1321 1321 1321	GANACTCANTATCACTGGGCTCANAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGTTGCTGTCATTATAGTGTTACAAGTTTTATACGGCCTATTAACATTGTATCAAGTTCTGCATTATGTAGTACAGGCTACAAAG 1439 GANACTCANTATCACTGGGCTCANAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGTTGCTGTATTACAGTGTATACAGTCTATTAACATTGTATCAAGTTCTGCATATGTAGTAGGCTACAAGG MANCTCANTATCAATCGGCTCANAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCATTACAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAAGCAACTGTATAATTATATCAAGTTCTGCATATGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG MANCTCAATATCAATCAGTCAGTCAAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCATTACAGTGTATACAGTGTATAATTATATCAAGTCTGCATATGTAGTAGTGCAGGTACAAGG MANCTCAATATCAATCAGTCAGTCAAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTATTACAGTGTATCAAGTTCTGCATATGTAGTAGTCAGGTCAAGGGCACAAGG MANCTCAATATCAATCAGTCAGTCAAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCATTACAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAATCAAGTTCTGCATTGTAGTAGTACAGGGCTACAAGG MANCTCCAATATCAATCAGTCG-ATATTGGGTGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGTTTGAAGTATGTAGTAGTGTGCAATGTAGTGAGGCAAGAG MANCTCCAATATCAATCGGCTCAAAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTGCAAGTGTATGAAGTTCGCATTGTAGTAGAGGCTACAAGG MANCTCCGATATCAATCGGCTCAAAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATACAGGTTACAAGTTTGAAGTGTAGAGTCTGCAATGTAGTGAGGCAACAGG MANCTCCGATACAATCGGCTCAAAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATAGGGTCAAGGTCAGAGGTCAGAGG MANCTCCGATACAATCGGCTCAAAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATACAGGTTTGCAAGTTTGCAGTCTGCAATGTAGTGCAGGCACAAGG MANCTCCGATACAATCGGCTCAAAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGTGCAGTCATTACAGGTTTGCAAGTTTGCAGTCAGGTCAAGGTCCAGGGTCAAGGGCACAAGG MANCTCCGATACAATCGGCTCAAAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGTGCAGTCATTACAGGTTTGCAAGGTTTGCAATGTAGTAGTGCAGGTCAAGGGCACAAGG MANCTCCCATACAATCGGCTCAAAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGTGCAGTCATTACAGGTTTGCAAGGTTTGCAAGGTCAGGTCAAGGGTCAAGGGTCAGGG MANCTCCCATACAATCGGCTCAAAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGGA
CERV-KOLD35587 HERV-KOLD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.5 CERV-K60 CERV-K60 CERV-K104 HERV-K308 HERV-K308	1320 1320 1321 1321 1321 1321 1321 1321	GANACTCANTATCACTGGGCTCANAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGTTGCTATTATAGTGTTACAAGATTTTAATCAGCCTATTAACATTGTATCAGATTCTGCATATGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG 1439 GANACTCANTATCACTGGGCTCANAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGTTGCTATTATAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAACGACTATTAACATTGTATCAGATTCTGCATATGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG 1440 ANACTCANTATCAATCGCTCANAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGCATGCATTACAGGTATAGAGTTTTAAGCAACTGTATAATTATATCAGATTCTGCATATGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG 1440 ANACTCAGTATCAATCAGTCACAGAGAGAGAGTGGTTGGATGCATGC
CERV-KOLD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 SERV-K1 chr.11 Gureza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet CERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K30D HERV-K30D HERV-K30D HERV-K106 HERV-K104	1320 1320 1321 1321 1321 1321 1321 1321	GANACTCANTATCACTGGGCTCANAAGACGAGAGTTGGTTGGTTGCTGTATTATAGTGTTACAAGATTTTAATCAGCCTATTAACATTGTATCAGATTCTGCATATGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGA [33] GANACTCANTATCACTGGGCTCANAAGACGAGAGTIGGTTGGTGCATATTACAGTGTATACAAGTATTAACGACTATTAACATTGTATCAGATTCTGCATATGTAGTAGGCACAGAG AMACTCANTATCANTCGGCTCANAAGACGAGAGTIGGTTGGATGCATTACAGGTATACAGATTTTAAGCACTGTTAATATTATATCAGATTCTGCATATGTAGTAGGCACAGAGG AMACTCANTATCANTCAGTCAGCAGAGAGTIGGTGGCAGTATTACAGGTATACAGGTAGAGAG AMACTCANTATCANTCAGTCAGAGGCAGAGTIGGTGGCAGTGATTACAGGTATACAGGTAGAGAG AMACTCANTATCANTCAGTCGCAAAGAGCAGAGTIGGTGGCAGTCATTACAGGTATACAGGTAGAGAGAGAGAGA
CERV-KOLD35587 FERV-KOLD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Gureca SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.5 CERV-K102 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K101 HERV-K101 HERV-K104	1320 1320 1321 1321 1321 1321 1321 1321	GANACTCANTATCACTGGGCTCANAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGTTGCTGTATTATAGTGTTACAAGATTTTAATCAGCCTATTAACATTGTATCAGATTCTGCATATGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG 1439 GANACTCANTATCACTGGGCTCANAGAGCAGAGTGGTGGTGCAGTCATTACAGTATTACAGATTTTAACGCCTATTAACATTGATCAGATTCTGCATATGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG 1449 ANACTCANTATCAATCAGTCGCTAAAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCATTACAGGTATACAGATTTTAAGCAACTGTATAATTATATCAGATTCTGCATATGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG ANACTCAATATCAATCAGTCAGTCAAAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTG
CERV-KOLD35587 SERV-KIL035587 SERV-KIL05587 SERV-KIL057.112 Grivet SERV-KIL02 HERV-KI02 HERV-KI04 HERV-K500 HERV-K500 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K103 CERV-K100	1320 1320 1321 1321 1321 1321 1321 1321	GANACTCANTATCACTGGGCTCANAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGTTGCTGCTATTATAGTGTTACAAGATTTTAATCAGCCTATTAACATTGTATCAGATTCTGCATATGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG 1439 GANACTCANTACCATGGCTCANAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGCTGCTATTACAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAAGCATCTATAACATTGTATCAGATTCTGCATATGTAGTAGGCCACAAGG 1440 ANACTCAATATCAATCGGCTCANAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGCTGCATGTATTACAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAACGATCTATTATATATA
CERV-KOLD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.11 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet CERV-K10 CERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K101 HERV-K100 HERV-K100 HERV-K108	1320 1320 1321 1321 1321 1321 1321 1321	GANACTCANTATCACTGGGCTCANAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGTTGCTGTATTATAGTGTTACAAGATTTTATACAGCTCTATAACATTGTATCAGATTCTGCATTATGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG 1439 GANACTCANTATCACTGGGCTCANAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCATTACAGGTATACAAGATTTTATACGCCTATTAACTTGTATCAGATTCTGCATTATGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG 1449 ANACTCANTATCAATCGGCTCANAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCATTACAGGTATACAGGTATTTAAGCAACTGTATATATA
CERV-KOLD35587 SERV-KIL035587 SERV-KIL05587 SERV-KIL057.11 SERV-KIL057.12 Grivet SERV-KIL04 HERV-KI04 HERV-KI04 HERV-KI08 HERV-KI08 HERV-KI08 HERV-KI08 HERV-KI08 HERV-KI08 HERV-KI08 HERV-KI08 HERV-KI08 HERV-KI08 HERV-KI08 HERV-KI08	1320 1321 1321 1321 1321 1321 1321 1321	GANACTCANTATCACTGGGCTCANAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGTTGCTGTCATTATAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAATCAGCCTATTAACATTGTATCAGATTCTGCATTAGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG 1439 GANACTCANTACCATGGCTCANAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGTGCTGCTATTACAGTGTTACAGGTATTTAACGCCATCTATAACTTGATCAGATTCTGCATATGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG 1440 ANACTCAATATCAATCGGCTCANAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGCTGCATCATTACAGTGTTACAGGTATTAACAGTCTGATATATAT
CERV-KOLD35587 SERV-KI chr.11 Guereza SERV-KI chr.11 Grivet SERV-KI chr.12 Grivet CERV-K60 CERV-K106 CERV-K106 HERV-K104 HERV-K101 HERV-K101 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108	1320 1321 1321 1321 1321 1321 1321 1321	GANACTCANTATCACTGGGCTCANAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGTTGCTGTCATTATAGTGTTACAAGTTTTATACGCCTATTAACATTGTATCAGATTCTGCATTATGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG 1439 GANACTCANTACCATGCGGCTCANAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGTGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAAGCAGCTGTATAACTTGTATCAGATCTGCATATGTAGTAGGCACAAGG MAACTCAATATCAATCGGCCTCANAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCATTACAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAAGCAACTGTTAATATTATCAGATTCTGCATATGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG MAACTCAATATCAATCGGCCTCANAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCATTACAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAAGCAACTGTTAATATTATATCAGATCTGCATATGTAGTAGGATCAAGG MAACTCAATATCAATCGGCCTCAAAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGG
CERV-KOLD35587 SERV-KILD35587 SERV-KILChr.11 SERV-KILChr.12 SERV-KILChr.5 CERV-KIG CERV-KIG CERV-KIG CERV-KIG HERV-KI04 HERV-KI04 HERV-KI06 HERV-KI06 HERV-KI06 HERV-KI08 HERV-K	1320 1321 1321 1321 1321 1321 1321 1321	GANACTCANTATCACTGGGCTCANAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGTTGCTGTCATTATAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAACAGTGTATAACATTGTATCAGATTCTGCATATGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG 1439 GANACTCANTATCATGCGGCTCANAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGTGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAAGCATCTATATATA
CERV-KOLD35587 SERV-KDL035587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.50 CERV-K106 CERV-K106 CERV-K106 HERV-K101 HERV-K101 HERV-K101 HERV-K100 HERV-K100 HERV-K100 HERV-K100 HERV-K100 HERV-K100 HERV-K100 HERV-K100 HERV-K100 HERV-K100 HERV-K100 HERV-K100 HERV-K100 HERV-K100	1320 1321 1321 1321 1321 1321 1321 1321	GANACTCANTATCACTGGGCTCANAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGTTGCTGTCATTATAGTGTTACAAGTTTTATACGCCTATTAACATTGTATCAGATTCTGCATATGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG 1439 GANACTCANTACCATGCGCTCANAGAGCAGAGTGGTTGGTGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAAGCAGCTGATAAGATTCTGATATGTAGTACAGCTCACAGGCTACAAGG 1440 AMACTCANTACCATGCGCTCANAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCATGCAGTGATTACAGTGTTACAGTTTTAAGATTGTATGAGTCTGCATTGTAGTAGTGCAGGTACAAGG AMACTCAATATCAATCAGTCGCTAAGGGCAGAGTTGGTGGATGCATGC
CERV-KOLD35587 SERV-KICD35587 SERV-KICD35587 SERV-KIChr.11 Gureza SERV-KIChr.12 Grivet SERV-KICCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCC	1320 1321 1321 1321 1321 1321 1321 1321	GANACTCANTATCACTGGGCTCANAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGTTGCTGTATTATAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAACAGTGTATAACAGTTCTATAGATTCTGCATTATGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG 1439 GANACTCANTACCATGCGGCTCANAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGTGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAAGCAGCTGTATAACTATGTATG
CERV-KOLD35587 SERV-KICD35587 SERV-KICD35587 SERV-KIChr.11 Guereza SERV-KIChr.5 CERV-KGC CERV-KIC CERV-KIC CERV-KIC CERV-KIC HERV	1320 1321 1321 1321 1321 1321 1321 1321	GANACTCANTRCATGGGGTCANAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGTGTGTGTGTGTGTGTATTALAGTGTTACAAGATTTTAALGGCTATTAAAGTTGTATCAGATTCTGCATTGTAGTACAGGGCTACAAGG GANACTCANTRCATGGGGTCANAGAGCAGGAGGTGGTGGTGGTGGAGTCATTACAGTGTATACAGCTATTAAGGTCATTAAGATTCTGCATTGTAGTAGAGCTACAGGGCTACAAGG MANCTCANTRCANTCGGCTCANAGGGCAGAGTTGGTGGAGTGATGGTGGAGGCAGAG MANCTCATATCAGTGGCTGAAGGGCAGGGTGGTGGGTGGAGTGATGGAGGCAGG MANCTCATATCAGTGGCTGAAGGGCAGGGTGGTGGTGGAGTGATGGAGGCAGGG MANCTCAGTATCAGTGGCTGAAGGGCAGGGTGGTGGGTGGAGGCAGGG MANCTCAGTATCAGTGGCTGAGGGCAGGGTGGTGGGTGGAGTGATGGAGGCAGGG MANCTCAGTACGAGGCAGGGCGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGG
CERV-KOLD35587 SERV-KL035587 SERV-KL chr.11 Guereza SERV-KL chr.12 Grivet SERV-KL0CC CERV-K102 CERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K101 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K105 H	1320 1320 1321 1321 1321 1321 1321 1321	GANACTCANTATCACTGGGCTCANAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGTTGCTGTATTATAGTGTTACAAGTTTTATACGGCTATTAACATTGTATCAAGTTCTGCATTATGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG 1439 GANACTCANTATCACTGGGCTCANAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGTGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAAGCACTGTTAATATTATATCAGATTCTGCATTATGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG MAACTCAATATCAATCGGCTCANAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCATTACAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAAGCAACTGTTAATATTATATCAGATTCTGCATTATGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG MAACTCAATATCAATCGGCTCANAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCATTACAGTGTTACAAGTATTTAAGCAACTGTTAATATTATATCAGATTCTGCATTGTAGTAGTCAGGCTACAAGG MAACTCAATATCAATCGGCTCANAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAACAGCTGTTAATATTATATATCAGATTCTGCATTGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG MAACTCAATATCAATCGGCTCANAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGTTTGTACAGGTTACAAGTTCGATGTAGTAGTACAGGGCTACAAGG MAACTCCAATATCAATCGGCTCANAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGTTTGTACAGCTGTTAATATTATATCAAGTTCTGCATTGTAGTACAGGGCTACAAGG MAACTCCAATATCAATCGGCTCANAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGTTTGTACAGCTCATGAATTATATGTAGATTCTGCATTGTAGTACAGGGCTACAAGG MAACTCCAATACAATCGGCTCANAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGTTTGACAGCTACAGAGTTATATATGTAGGTTCAGGCTACAAGG MAACTCCAATACAATCGGCTCANAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGGTTTGACAGCTACAGGTTACAAGGTTCAAGGTCAAGG MAACTCCCATACAATCGGCTCANAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGGTTACAAGGTTTGACAGGCTACAAGG MAACTCCCATACAATCGGCTCAAAGGAGCAGGATGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGGTTACAAGGTTTGACAGGCTACAAGG MAACTCCCATACAATCGGCTCAAAGGAGCAGGATGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGGTTACAAGGTTTGCAAGTACTGCAGCTACAAGGTTCAAGGTCAAGGGCAAGAGG MAACTCCCATACAATCGGCTCAAAGGAGCAGGAGTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGGTTACAAGGTTTGCAAGTATTGACGGCTACAAGGT MAACTCCCATACAATCGGCTCAAAGGAGCAGGAGTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGGTATTACAGGTTTGCAAGGTACTAGGATCAAGGTTCAGGGTCAAGGG MAAGTCCCATACAATCGGCTCAAAGGAGGAGGTGGTTGGATGGA
CERV-KOLD35587 SERV-KICD35587 SERV-KICD35587 SERV-KIChT.11 Gureza SERV-KIChT.5 CERV-KGC CERV-KIC CERV-KIC ERV-KIC ERV-KIC HERV-KI	1320 1321 1321 1321 1321 1321 1321 1321	GAMACTCANTATCACTGGGCTCAMAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGTTGCTGTCATTATAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAACAGTGTATAACAGTTCTGCATATGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG 1439 GAMACTCANTATCACTGGGCTCAMAGAGCAGAGTGGTTGGTGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAAGCAACTGTATAATTATTAGAGTTCTGCATTGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG 1440 AMACTCAATATCAATCGGCTCAMAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCATGCATTACAGTGTACAAGTTTTAAGCAACTGTATAATTATTATCAGATTCTGCATTGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG 1440 AMACTCAATATCAATCGGCTCAAAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCATGC
CERV-KOLD35587 SERV-KI chr.11 Guereza SERV-KI chr.11 Guereza SERV-KI chr.12 Grivet SERV-KI chr.5 CERV-K00 CERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K105 HERV-K105 HERV-K105 HERV-K105 HERV-K105 HERV-K00LD35587 HERV-K0LD35587	1320 1321	GANACTCANTRCATCGGGCTCANAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGTTGCTGTCATTATAGTGTTACAAGTTTTARCAGCCTATTAACATTGTATCAGATTCTGCATATGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG 1439 GANACTCANTRCATCGGGCTCANAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGTGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAGGCCATTATAACTTTGATCAGATTCTGCATATGTAGAGTCAGGGCTACAAGG MANCTCAATATCAATCGGCTCANAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCATGCATGCAGTGTTACAGGTTATAACTGAGTCAGTTCGATCGA
CERV-KOLD35587 SERV-KOLD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.5 CERV-K60 CERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K1035587 SERV-K1 chr.11	1320 1320 1321	GAMACTCANTATCACTGGGCTCAMAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGTTGTGTGTGTATTATAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAACAGTGTATAACAGTTTGAACAGATTCGCAATTGTAGTAGTACAGGGCTACAAAG 1439 GAMACTCANTATCACTGGGCTCAMAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGTGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAAGCAACTGTTAAAGTTTGATCAGTCTGCATTGTAGTAGGCACAGAG 1440 AMACTCAATATCAATCGGCTCAMAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCATTACAGTATTACAGGTTATAATTATATCAGCTCTATAATTATATATCAGATTCTGCATTGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG 140 AMACTCAATACAATCGGCTCAAAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCATTACAGGTTACAGATTTTAAGCAACTGTTAAATTATATATCAGATTCTGCATTGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG 140 AMACTCAATACAATCGGCTCAAAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGGTTACAGATTTTAACAGCTGTTAAATTATATATCAGATTCTGCATTGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG 140 AMACTCAATACAATCGC-AATATGGGCGAGGATTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGGTTACAGAGTATTTAACAGCTGTTAAATTATATATCAGATTCTGCAATGTAGTACAGGGCTACAAGG 140 AMACTCCAATACAATCGGC-AAAGGGCAGAGTTGGTGGCAGTCATTACAGGTTACAGAGTTGTAATGCAGCTCATAGAATTGTAAGTTCTGCAATGTAGTGACAGGCTACAAGG 140 AMACTCCAATACAATCCAGCC-AAAGGGCAGAGTTGGTGGCAGTCATTACAGGTTACAAGATTTGAACTGCATACAGGTACAAGGATACAAGG 140 AMACTCCAATACAATCCAGCCAAAGAGCCAGAGTGGTGGATGCAGTCAATGAAGTGTTACAGGTACAGGCTACAAGG 140 AMACTCCAATACAATCCAGCCAAAGAGCAGAGTGGTGGATGCAGTCAATGAGTGTTGCAGGTACAAGGTTTGACAGGCTACAAGG 140 AMACTCCAATACAATCCAGCCAAAGAGCAGAGTGGTGGATGCAGTCAATGGATGAGGTACAAGGTTACAGGTACAAGG 140 AMACTCCAATACAATCCAGCCAAAGAGCAGAGTGGTGGATGCAGTCAATGGGTACAAGGTTTGACAGGCTACAAGG 140 AMACTCCAATACAATCCAGCCAAAGAGCAGAGTGGTGGATGCAGTCAATGGTACAGGGTACAAGG 140 AMACTCCAATACAATCCAGCCAAAGAGCAGAGTGGTGGCAGTCAATGGTGATGCAGGCTACAAGG 140 AMACTCCAATACAATCGGCTCAAAGAGCAGAGTGGTGGCAGTCAATGGGTGACAGGGTACAAGG 140 AMACTCCAATACAATCGGCTCAAAGAGCAGAGTGGTGGCAGTCAATGGGTGACAGGGTACAAGGTTGTGGCGAGTCAAGGGTACAAGG 140 AMACTCCAATACAATCGGCTCAAAGAGCAGGATGGTGGAGGAGTGGTGGGAGCAGTGGTGGAGGAGTGGTGGAGGAGTGGTGGAGGAGTGGTG
CERV-KOLD35587 SERV-KL chr.11 Guereza SERV-KL chr.11 Guereza CERV-K60 CERV-K102 CERV-K102 CERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K105 HERV-K	1320 1320 1321 1321 1321 1321 1321 1321	GAMACTCANTATCACTGGGCTCANAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGTTGCTGTCATTATAGTGTTACAAGTTTTATACGGCCTATTAACATTGTATAGATTCTGCATTATGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG 1439 GAMACTCANTACCATGCGGCTCANAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGTGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAGGCCATTATAATTATATCAGATTCTGCATATGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG MAMCTCANTACCATGCGCTCANAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCATGCATGCAGTGATTACAGGTATTAAGATTTAGAGCATCTATATATA
CERV-KOLD35587 SERV-KI chr.11 Guereza SERV-KI chr.11 Grivet SERV-KI chr.12 Grivet SERV-KI chr.5 CERV-K00 CERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K108 HERV-K101 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K105587 SERV-KI chr.112 Grivet	1320 1320 1321 1321 1321 1321 1321 1321	GAMACTCANTATCACTGGGCTCAMAGGACGAGGTTGGTTGGTTGCTGTATTATAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAACAGTGTATAACAGTTTGAACAGTTCGATTATGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG 1439 GAMACTCANTATCACTGGGCTCAMAGGGCAGGTTGGTTGGTGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAAGCAACTGTTAATATTATATCAGTCTGCATTATGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG MAACTCAATATCAATCGGCTCAMAGGGCAGGTTGGTTGGATGCATGCATTACAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAAGCAACTGTTAATATTATATCAGATCTGCATATGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG MAACTCAATATCAATCGGCTCAMAGGGCAGGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAAGCAACTGTTAATATTATATATGAGTTCTGCATTGTGATACAGGCTACAAGG MAACTCAATATCAATCGACTGC-AATATGGGCGAGGATTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAACAGCTGTTAATATTATATATGAGATCTGCATATGTAGTACAGGGCTACAAGG MAACTCCAATATCAATCGACTGC-AATATGGGCGAGGATTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGGTTACAAGTTTGAACTGCATTGAATATTATATGCAGTCTGCAATGTATATATGGAGTCAGGGCAACAAGG MAACTCCAATATCAATCGC-AATATGGGCGAGGATTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGGTTACAAGTTTGAACTGCATTGAATGTATGT
CERV-KOLD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.11 GUEREZ SERV-K1 chr.12 SERV-K1 chr.5 SERV-K102 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K107 HERV-K1	13200 13210 13211 13440 14441 14441 14441 14411 14411 14411 14411	GANACTCANTATCACTGGGCTCANAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGTTGTGTGTGTATTATAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAACAGTGTATAAGATTCTGCATTATGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG GANACTCANTACCATGGGCTCANAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGTGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAAGCAGCTGTATAACTATTATAGAGTTCTGCATTGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG MANCTCANTACCATGGGCTCANAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCATGCAGTGATTACAGGTATTACAGGTCTATTACAGTGTATAGATTCTGCATTGTAGTAGTGCAGGCTACAAGG MANCTCAATACCATGGGCTCANAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGGTATACAGGTATTACAGGCTATAGAGT MANCTCAATACCATCAGCTCANAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGGTATAGAGT MANCTCAATACCAATGCAGCG-AATATGGGTGGATGGATGGATGCAGTGATTGCAGGTATTACAGGTAGTAGG MANCTCCAATACCAATGCAGCG-AATATGGGTGGATGGATGGATGGAGGCAGAG MANCTCCAATACCAATGCAGCG-AATATGGGTGGATGGATGGATGGAGGAGTAGAGG MANCTCCAATACCAATGCAGCG-AATATGGGTGGATGGATGGATGGAGGAGTGGTGGAGGAGG
CERV-KOLD35587 SERV-KL chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.11 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet ERV-K10 CERV-K10 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K50B HERV-K101 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K103587 SERV-K10L35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet	13200 13211	GANACTCCANTRCATCGGGCTCANAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGTTGCTGTCATTATAGTGTTACAAGTTTTATACGGCCTATTAACATTGTATCAGATTCTGCATTATGTAGTACAGGCCTACAAGG GANACTCCANTRCATCGGGCTCANAGGGCAGGATTGGTTGGTGCGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAGGCCTATTAACATTGTATCAGTCTCGCATTGTAGTAGGCCAGAGG H40 ANACTCCANTRCANTCGGCTCANAGGGCAGGATTGGTTGGATGCATGCATTACAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAGGCACTCATTAACATTTATATCAGATTCTGCATTGTAGTAGGCCACAGGG H40 ANACTCCATATCAATCGGCTCANAGGGCAGGATTGGTTGGATGCATTACAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAAGCACCTGTTAATATTATATATGCAGTCTGCATTGTAGTAGGCCACAGGG H40 ANACTCCATATCAATCGGCTCANAGGGCAGGATTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAACAGCTGTTAATATTATATCAGATTCTGCATTGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG H40 ANACTCCATATCAATCGGCTCANAGGGCAGGATTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGTTTTGACAGCTTTAATATTGTATATGTGTGCAGTGTACAGGGCTACAAGG H40 ANACTCCGATATCAATCGGCTCANAGGGCAGGATTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGGTTTGACAGGCTACAAGG H40 ANACTCCGATACAATCGGCTCANAGGGCAGGATTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGGTTTGACAGCTACAGGTTACAAGGTTCAGGCTACAGGG H40 ANACTCCGATACAATCGGCTCANAGGGCAGGATTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGGTTTGACGACCTACAGGT H40 ANACTCCGATACAATCGGCTCAAAGGGCAGGATTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGGTTTGACGACCTACAGGT H40 ANACTCCGATACAATCGGCTCAAAGGGCAGGATTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGGTTTGACGACCCACCACCACCACTACAAGTTCGATGTAGTACGGCTACAAGG H40 ANACTCCGATACAATCGGCTCAAAGGGCAGGATTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGGTTTGCAGGCTACAAGG H40 ANACTCCGATACAATCGGCTCAAAGGGCAGGATGGTTGGTGGAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGGTTTGCAGGCTACAAGG H40 ANACTCCGATACAATCGGCTCAAAGGGCAGGAGTGGTTGGATGGA
CERV-KOLD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.11 GUERY-K3 CERV-K60 CERV-K60 CERV-K100 HERV-K100 HERV-K100 HERV-K100 HERV-K100 HERV-K100 HERV-K100 HERV-K100 HERV-K100 HERV-K100 HERV-K100 HERV-K100 HERV-K100 HERV-K100 HERV-K100 HERV-K100 HERV-K100 SERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 SERV-K102 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.12 GERV-K60 CERV-K602	13200 1321 1321 1321 1321 1321 1321 1321	GANACTCANTATCACTGGGCTCANAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGTTGTGTGTGTGTATTATAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAACAGGCTATTAACAGTTCTGATATGATGTACAGGCTACAAGG 1439 GANACTCANTACCATGGGCTCANAGAGCAGAGTGGTGGTGGTGGAGCATTACAGGTATTACAGGCTATTAACATTTAACGAGTTATATATTATAGATTCTGCATTATGAGTACAGGGCTACAAGG MAMCTCANTACCATGGGCTCANAGGGCAGAGTTGGTGGAGTGATTGCAGGCATTACAGGTATTACAGGCTATTAACAGTTATATATA
CERV-KOLD35587 SERV-KI chr.11 Guereza SERV-KI chr.11 Guereza SERV-KI chr.12 Grivet SERV-KI chr.5 CERV-K06 CERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K105587 SERV-K10235587 SERV-K1 chr.112 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.122 Grivet SERV-K104 HERV-K104	13200 13211 13201 13211 13440 14441	GANACTCCANTRCATCGGGCTCANAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGTTGCTGTCATTATAGTGTTACAAGTTTTTAACAGTGTATAAGATTCTGCATATGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG GANACTCCANTRCATCGGGCTCANAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGTGCGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAAGCAGCTGTTAAGATTTGTATCAGTCTGCATTGTAGTAGGTCAGGCTACAAGG MAACTCCANTRCANTCGGCTCANAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCATGCATTACAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAAGCAACTGTTAATATTATATCAGATTCTGCATTGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG MAACTCCANTRCANTCGGCTCANAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCATGCATGCAGTGTTACAGGTATTACAGGTTACAGGTACAGGC MAACTCCANTRCANTCGGCTCANAGGGCAGGATTGGTTGGATGCATTACAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAAGATTGTATATATGTCGATTGTGATGACAGGCTACAAGG MAACTCCANTRCANTCGGCTCANAGGGCAGGATTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAATGCAGCTGTTAATATTATGTCGATGTGGATGCAGGCATCAAGG MAACTCCANTRCANTCGGCTCANAGGGCAGGATTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGTTTGAAGTGTTAATATGTAGGTTCGATGTGATGAGGGCAACAAGG MAACTCCGATATCANTCGGCCAAAGAGGCAGGATTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGTTTGACAGCGTACAAGG MAACTCCGATACAATCGGCCAAAGAGGCAGGGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATACAGGTTTACAGGTACAGGCTACAAGG MAACTCCGATACAATCGGCCAAAGGGCAGGGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTGACGGTCAAGGT MAACTCCGATACAATCGGCCAAAGGGGCAGGGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATACAGGTTACAAGGTTTGACGACGCACAGGCTACAAGG MAACTCCGATACAATCGGCCAAAGGGCGAGGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGGTTACAAGGTTTGCAGGTCAAGGT MAACTCCGATACAATCGGCCAAAGGGCGAGGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTGACGGTCAAGGT MAACTCCGATACAATCGGCCAAAGGGCGAGGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTGATTGCAGGTACTAGGGTCAAGGG MAACTCCGATACCAATCGGCCAAAGGGCGAGGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTGATGCAGGTCAAGGG MAACTCCGATACCAATCGGCCCAAAGGGCGAGGTTGGTTGG
CERV-KOLD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.11 GUERY-K0 CERV-K0 CERV-K102 CERV-K102 CERV-K102 HERV-K103 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K105 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K107 HERV-K108 HERV-K	13200 1321 13201 1321 1321 1321 1321 132	GANACTCANTATCACTGGGCTCANAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGTTGGTTGTTATATAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAACAGTGTATAACAGTTTTAACAGTTGTATAGATTCTGCATTATGTAGTACAGGGCTACAAGG 1439 GANACTCANTATCATGCGGCTCANAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCATTATACAGTATTACAGGTATTAACAGTATTAGAGTTCTGCATATGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG 1440 ANACTCAATATCAATCGGCTCANAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCATTACAGGTATACAGAGTATTTAAGCAACCTGTTAATATTATATATCAGATTCTGCATTGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG 1440 ANACTCAATATCAATCAGCTCAAAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCATTATACAGTGTTACAAGTATTTAAGCAACCTGTTAATATTATATATCGAATTCTGCATTGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG 1440 ANACTCAATATCAATCAGCTCAAAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGGTATCAACGATTTTAACAGCTGTTAATATTATATATGCAGTTCTGCATATGTAGTACAGGGCTACAAGG 1440 ANACTCCAATATCAATCAGCTGC-AATATGGGCGAGGATTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGGTTACAAGATTTGAACTGCTTAATATTGTAAGTTCTGCATTGTAGTAGTACAGGGCTACAAGG 1440 ANACTCCAATATCAATCGC-AATATGGGCGAGGATTGGTGCAGTCATTACAGGTTTACAGGTATTGAACTGTATGAAGTGTAAGGGTCAAGGATCAAGG 1440 ANACTCCGATACAATCGGCTCAAAGGGCGAGGTTGGTGGCAGTCATTACAGGTTTACAGGTATTGAACTGCATGCA
CERV-KOLD35587 SERV-KDL035587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.11 SERV-K1 chr.12 SERV-K1 CERV-K60 CERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K107 HERV-K107 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 SERV-K105587 SERV-K1 chr.112 Grivet SERV-K102 HERV-K109 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 SERV-K102 HERV-K108	13200 13211 13201 13211 13410 14411	GANACTCCANTARCATGCGGGCTCANAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGTTGCTGTCATTATAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAACAGTGTATAACAGTTTGATAGAGTTCTGCATATGTAGTACAGGGCTACAAGG GANACTCCANTARCAGTGGGCTCANAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGTGCGTGCTATACAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAGGCACTGTATAACTATTGATAGATTCTGCATTGTAGTAGGCTACAAGGGCTACAAGG MAACTCCANTARCAGTGGGCTCANAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAAGCAACTGTTAATATTATATGAGATTCTGCATTGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG MAACTCCANTARCAGTGGCTCAAAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAAGCAACTGTTAATATTATATGTAGAGTTCTGCATTGTAGTACAGGGCTACAAGG MAACTCCANTARCAGTCGC-AATATGGGTGGATGGTGGTGGATGCATGCAGTGTTACAGGTTTTAATGTAGATTCTGCATTGTGATGACAGGGCTACAAGG MAACTCCANTARCAGTCGC-AATATGGGCGAGGATTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGGTTACAAGTTTGAAGTGTTGAAGTGTTGATGTGGATGCAGGCAACAAGG MAACTCCANTARCAGTCG-AATATGGGGCGAGGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGGTTACAAGATTTGAACGGTCAAGAGTCAGAGGTCAAGGGCACAAGG MAACTCCGATACAATCGGCTCAAAGGGCGAGGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGGTTTACAGGTTTGCAAGTGTTGAAGGTCAGAGGCAGAGG MAACTCCGATACAATCGGCTCAAAGGGCGAGGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGGTTACAAGGTTTGCAGGTCAAGGGCACAAGG MAACTCCGATACAATCGGCTCAAAGGGCGAGGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGGTTTGCAAGGTTTGCAAGGTCAAGGGTCAAGGGCACAAGG MAACTCCGATACCAATCGGCCAAAGGGCGAGGTTGGTTGGATGGA
CERV-KOLD35587 SERV-KI chr.11 Guereza SERV-KI chr.11 Guereza CERV-KG CERV-KG CERV-KI HERV-KI chr.5 CERV-KI04 HERV-KI04 HERV-KI04 HERV-KI04 HERV-KI08 HERV-KI01 HERV-KI08 HERV-KI08 HERV-KI08 HERV-KI08 HERV-KI08 HERV-KI08 HERV-KI08 HERV-KI08 HERV-KI08 HERV-KI08 HERV-KI08 HERV-KI08 HERV-KI08 HERV-KI05587 SERV-KI chr.12 Griyet SERV-KI chr.12 Grivet SERV-KI chr.50 CERV-KI04 HERV-KI04	13200 1321 13201 1321 1321 1321 1321 132	GANACTCCANTRCATCGGGGTCANAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGTTGCTGTCATTATAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAACTAGCGCTATTAACATTGTATCAAGTTCTGCATTATCAGTGTACAGGGCTACAAGG 1439 GANACTCCANTRCATCGGGCTCANAGGGCAGGTTGGTTGGATGCATGCATTACAGGTATTACAGGTTATTAGAGTTTTAGGCTCATTATATATTATCAGTCTGCATTATGTAGGTCAGGGCTACAAGG MAACTCCANTRCANTCGGGCTAAAGGGCAGGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGGTTACAGAGTTTTAAGCAACCTGTTAAATTATATATCAGATTCTGCATTGTAGTAGGCCACGAGG 1440 MAACTCCANTRCANTCGGCTCAAAGGGCAGGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGGTTACAGGTATTACAGGTTATATATTATATCAGATCTGCATTGTAGTAGTACAGGGCTACAAGG MAACTCCANTRCANTCGGCTCAAAGGGCAGGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGGTTACAGAGTTTTAATTGTAAGTTCTGCATTGTGTGCAGTCAACGGGCTACAAGG MAACTCCANTRCANTCGGCTCAAAGGGCAGGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGGTTACAAGATTTGAACTGCTTAAATTGTAATTATATGCAGTTCGCATGTAGTGACGGCTACAAGG MAACTCCANTRCANTCGGCTCAAAGGGCAGGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGGTTACAAGATTTGACGGCTACAAGG MAACTCCANTATATGCGGCTCAAAGGGCAGGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGGTTACAAGGTTTGCAGGTACTAGGGCACGAGG MAACTCCANTCANTCAGTCGCAAAGGGCAGGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGGTTACAAGGTTTGCAGGTCAAGGGCACAAGG MAACTCCANTCANTCAGTCGCCAAAGGGCAGGAGGTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGGTTACAAGGTTTGCAAGGTCAAGG MAACTCCANTCANTCAGTCGCCAAAGGGCAGGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGGTTACAAGGTTTGCAGGTCACAGGC MAACTCCANTCANTCAGGTCCAAAGGGCAGGTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGGTTACAGGTTACAAGGTTTGCAGGTCACAGGGCACAAGG MAACTCCANTCANTCAGGTCCAAAGGGCAGGTGGTGGTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGGTTACAAGGTTTGCAGGTCACAGGG MAAGTCCANTCANTCAGGCTCAAAGGGCAGGTGGTGGTGGATGCAGTCAATGGGTCAAGGGTCAAGGG MAAGTCCANTCANTCAGGCTCAAAGGGCAGGAGGTGGTGGATGCAGTCAATTACAGGTTACAGGTTTACAGGTCACGGCCAAGGG MAAGTCCANTCANTCAGGCTCAAAGGGCAGGAGGTGGTGGATGCAGTCAATTACAGGTTACAGGGTTCAAGGTTTGCAGGTCAAGGGCCAAGGG MAAGTCCANTCANTCAGGCTCAAAGGGCGAGGTGGTGGATGCAGTCGATGCAGTGATGCAGGTCAAGGGTCAAGGG MAAGTCCANTCANTCGGCTCAAAGGGCGAGGTGGTGGATGCAGGCAGTTACAGGGTTCAAGGGTCAAGGG MAAGTCCANTCANTCGGCTCAAAGGGCGAGGTGGTGGGTGGATGCAGTGCATGCA
CERV-KOLD35587 SERV-KI chr.11 Guereza SERV-KI chr.11 GUEREZ SERV-KI chr.11 GUEREZ SERV-KI chr.5 CERV-KOB CERV-KI06 CERV-KI06 CERV-KI06 HERV-KI06 HERV-KI06 HERV-KI06 HERV-KI06 HERV-KI07 HERV-KI07 HERV-KI07 HERV-KI07 HERV-KI07 HERV-KI07 HERV-KI07 HERV-KI07 HERV-KI07 HERV-KI07 SERV-KI chr.12 Grivet SERV-KI CHR.10 HERV-KI06 HERV-KI06 HERV-KI06 HERV-KI06 HERV-KI06 HERV-KI06	13200 13211 13440 14441	GANACTCCANTRCATGGGGTCANAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGTTGCTGTCATTATAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAACAGTGTATAACAGTTTGATCAAGTTCTGCATTGTAGTAGTGCAGGCACAAAG 1439 GANACTCCANTRCATGCGGCTCANAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAAGCAACTGTTAAAGTTTGATCAAGTCTGCATATGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG MAMCTCCANTRCANTCGGCTCANAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAAGCAACTGTTAATATTATATCAAGTTCTGCATTGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG MAMCTCCANTRCANTCGGCTCANAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAAGCAACTGTTAATATTATATCAAGTTCTGCATTGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG MAMCTCCANTRCANTCGGCTCANAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAATCAACTGTTTAATATTATATCAAGTTCTGCATTGTAGTACAGGGCTACAAGG MAMCTCCANTRCANTCGGCTCANAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGATTTTAATCAACTGTTAATATTATATCAAGTTCTGCATTGTAGTACAGGGCTACAAGG MAMCTCCANTRCANTCGGCTCANAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGATTTGACAGCTTTAATATTGTAAGTTCTGCATTGTAGTACAGGGCTACAAGG MAMCTCCANTRCANTCGGCTCANAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGGTTTGCAAGTGTTACAAGGTTCAAGGCTACAAGG MAMCTCCCANTCANTCAGTCGGCTCAAAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTATTACAGGTTACAAGGTTTGCAAGTTTGCAAGTTTGCAAGTTGTGCATGTAGTGCAGGCAACAGGG MAMCTCCCANTCAATCCAGCGCAAAGGGCAGGAGTGGTTGGTGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGGTTTGCAAGTTTGCAAGTTTGCAAGTGTTGCAAGGTCAAGGG MAMCTCCCANTCAATCCAGCGCAAAGGGCAGGAGTGGTTGGATGGATGCAGTGTTGCAGGTATCAAGGTTTGCAAGGTCAAGG MAMCTCCCANTCCANTCAAGCGCAGAGTGGTTGGATGGATGGAGTGGATGCAGGCAG
CERV-KOLD35587 SERV-KL035587 SERV-KL035587 SERV-KL045587 SERV-KL045587 SERV-KL04 CERV-K106 CERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K108 HERV-K101 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K107 SERV-K107 SERV-K107 SERV-K107 SERV-K107 SERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K108 HERV-K104 HERV-K108 HERV-K104 HERV-K108 HERV-K104 HERV-K108 HERV-K104 HERV-K108 HERV-K104 HERV-K108 HERV-	13200 13211 13440 14441 14411	GANACTCCANTRCACTGGGCTCANAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGTTGCTGTCATTATAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAACAGTGTATAACAGTTTTAACAGTTGTATCAAGTCTGCATATGAAGTACAGGGCTACAAGG GANACTCCANTRCAATGCGGCTAAAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAAGCAACTGTTAAAGTTTATATGAAGTTCTGCATTGTAGTACGGCTCAAGGGCACAAGG H40 ANACTCCAATATCAATCCAGTCGAAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAAGCAACTGTTAAATTATTATATGAAGTTCTGCATTGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG H40 ANACTCCAATATCAATCCAGTCGAAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAAGCAACTGTTAAATTATTATCAAGTTCTGCATTGTAGTACAGGGCTACAAGG H40 ANACTCCAATATCAATCCAGTCGATATTGGGTGCAGTCATTGCAGTGTATCACAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAACAGCTGTTAAATTATTATCAGATTCTGCATTGTAGTACAGGGCTACAAGG H40 ANACTCCGATATCAATCAGTCGATATTGGGGCAGGATTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGGTTACAAGTTTGTACAGGTTCAAGTTTGTAATATTGTGATGTGCGATGCAGGGCAACAAGG H40 ANACTCCGATATCAATCAGTCGGCTCAAAGGGCAGGATTGGTTGG
CERV-KOLD35587 SERV-KI chr.11 Guereza SERV-KI chr.11 GUEREZ SERV-KI chr.12 SERV-KI chr.5 CERV-KOB CERV-K104 HERV	13200 13211 13411 14411	GANACTCCANTACCATGGGGTCANAAGACGAGAGTTGGTTGGTTGCTGTCATTATAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAACGGCTATTAACAGTTTAACAGTTCTGATATGTAGTACGAGCTACAAGG 1439 GANACTCCANTACCATGCGGCTAAAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAAGCAACTGTTAAAGTTTGATCAGTCTGCATATGTAGTACGAGCGTACAAGG MAACTCCANTACCATGCGGCTAAAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAAGCAACTGTTAATATTATATCAGATTCTGCATTGTAGTACGAGCTACAAGG MAACTCCANTACCAATCCAGGCCAAAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGTTTTAAGCAACTGTTAATATTATATCAGATTCTGCATTGTAGTACAGGGCTACAAGG MAACTCCAATACCAATCCAATCGGCCAAAGGGCAGAGTTGGTTG
CERV-KOLD35587 SERV-KI chr.11 Guereza SERV-KI chr.11 Guereza SERV-KI chr.12 Grivet SERV-KI chr.5 CERV-KI0 CERV-KI04 HERV-KI04 HERV-KI04 HERV-KI04 HERV-KI08 HERV-KI01 HERV-KI08 HERV-KI08 HERV-KI08 HERV-KI08 HERV-KI08 HERV-KI08 HERV-KI08 HERV-KI08 HERV-KI01 SERV-KI02 SERV-KI02 SERV-KI02 SERV-KI02 SERV-KI04 HERV-KI04 HERV-KI04 HERV-KI04 HERV-KI08 HERV-KI04 HERV-KI08	13200 13211 13201 13211 14400 14411	GAMACTCAATATCACTEGGETCAAMAGAGCAAGATTGGTTGCTGTCATATTATAAGAGTTTATATCAGCTTATAMACATTGTATCAGATTTCAGTATGGTAGGCTACAMAG GAMACTCAATATCACTGGGETCAAMAGAGCAAGATTGGTTGGTGGTGTACAGAGTTTAAACAGCTGTTAMACATTGTATCAGATTTGGATAGGGTACAMAG MAACTCAATATCAATCAGGCTCAAMAGGCAAGATTGGTTGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAGAGTTTATAACAGCTGTTAMACATTATATATCAGATTTGGATCAGGCTACAMAG MAACTCAGTATCAATCAGTCAAMAGGCAAGATTGGTTGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAGGATTATAACAGCTGTTAMATATTATATCAGATTTGGATCAGGCTACAMAG MAACTCAGTATCAATCAGCTCAAMAGGCAAGATTGGTTGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAGGTTACAGCTGTTAMATATTATATCAGATTTGGATCAGGCTACAMAG MAACTCAGTATCAATCAGTCAAMAGGCAAGATTGGTTGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAGGTTACAGCTGTTAMATATATATCAGATTTGGATCAGGTTACAMGG MAACTCAGTATCAATCAGTCAAMAGGCAAGATTGGTTGGATGCATTACAGTGTTACAGGTTACAGCTGTAMATATATATCAGATTTGGATCAGGCTACAMG MAACTCCATATTAATCGGCTCAAMAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCATTACAGTGTTACAGGTTACAGGTTACAGGTTACAGGTTACAGGTACAGG MAACTCCATATTAATCGGCTCAAMAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGAGGATTACAGTGTTACAGGTTACAGGCTACAMGC MAACTCCGATATCAATCGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCATTACAGTGTTACAGGTTACAGGTTACAGGCTACAMGC MAACTCCGATATCAATCGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGCATTACAGTGTTACAGGTTACAGGTTACAGGCTACAGGC MAACTCCGATATCAATCGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGGATGATTACAGTGTTACAGGTTACAGGCTACAGGC MAACTCCGATATCAATCGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGGATGATACAGGTTACAGGTTACAGGCTACAGGC MAACTCCGATATCAATCGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGGATGATACAGGTTACAGGTTACAGGCTACAGGC MAACTCCGATATCAATCGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGGATGATACAGGTTACAGGTTACAGGCTACAGGC MAACTCCGATATCAATCGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGGATGATAGAGGTTACAGGCTACAGGC MAACTCCGATATCAATCGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGGATGAATAGAGTTACAGGTTACAGGCTACAGGC MAACTCCGATATCAATCGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGGATGGATGAGTAGAGAGAG
CERV-KOLD35587 SERV-KI chr.11 Guereza SERV-KI chr.11 GUERY-KG CERV-KG CERV-KG CERV-KI CERV-KIG CERV-KIG HERV-KI	13200 13211 13411 14440 14441 14411	GAMACTCAATATCACTEGGETCAAMAGAGCAGAGTTGGTTGCTGTCATATTATATCAGAGTTTAATAGACGTTATAACATTGTATCAGATTTGGATACGGCTAATAGGAGAGAGGAGAGGTGGTTGCAGGTATAGAGGTTACAGGGTTCAGAGGTAGAGGGTAGAAGG GAMACTCAATATCAATGCGGCTCAAMAGGCAGAGTTGGTTGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAGGGTTACAGGCTTATATATTATATCAGATTTGGATACGGTATGTAGTAGGGCTACAAGG MAMACTCAGTATCAATCAGCTCAAMAGGCAGAGTTGGTTGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAGGGTTACAGGCTTATATATTATATCAGATTTGGATACGGTATGTAGTAGGGTACAAGG MAMACTCAGTATCAATCAGCTCAAMAGGCAGAGTTGGTTGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAGGTTTACAGCTGTTATATTATATTCAGATTTGGATACGGTTACAAGGCTACAAGG MAMACTCAGTATCAATCAGCCG-ATATTGGGTGCAGCATTACAGTGTTACAGGTTTACAGCTGTTACAGCTGTTATATTATATCAGATTTGGATACGGTTACAAGG MAMACTCAGTATCAATCCAGTCAAMAGGCAGAGTTGGTTGCAGCATTACAGTGTTACAGGTTTACAGCTGTTACAGCTGTTATATTATTATCGAGTTCGACGATATGTAGTAGGCTACAAGG MAMACTCCATATCAATCCAGTCAAMAGGCAGAGTTGGTTGCAGCATTACCAGTGTTACAGGTTTACAGCTGTTACAGCTGTTACAGCTGTATATTATATCGAGTTCGCATAGGCTACAAGG MAMACTCCATATCAATCCAGTCAAMAGGCAGAGTTGGTTGCAGCATTACCAGGTTACAGGTTTACAGCTGTACAGCTTATATATTATCGAGTTCGCATAGGCTACAAGG MAMACTCCATATCAATCCAGCCAAGGTGGTTGGATGCATTACAGGTTACAGGTTTACAGCTGTTACAGCTGTACAGCTAATATTATATCGAGTTCGCATAGGCTACAAGG MAMACTCCATATCAATCAGCCAAGAGTGGTTGGATGCATTACAGGTTACAGGTTACAGGTTACAGGTTACAGGTTACAGGTTACAGGCTACAAGG MAMACTCCATATCAATCAGCCAAGGTGGTGGTGGATGCATTACAGGTTACAGGTTACAGGTTACAGGTTACAGGTTACAGGCTACAAGG MAMACTCCATATCAATCAGCCAAGGTGGTGGTGGATGCATTACAGGTTACAGGTTACAGGTTACAGGCTACAGGGTACAAGG MAMACTCCATATCAATCAGCCGAAGAGTGGTTGGAGGATTACAGGTTACAGGTTACAGGTTACAGGCTACAGGGTACAAGG MAMACTCCATATCAATCAGCCGAAGAGTGGTTGGAGGAGTGGTGGAGGATACGGTTACAGGTTACAGGTTACAGGCTACAGGGTACAGGGTACAGGG MAMACTCCATATCAATCAGGCGAAGAGTGGTTGGAGGAGGTGGTGGAGGAGGTGGTGAGAGGTACAGGGTTACAGGTTACAGGTTACAGGCTACAGGGTACAGGG MAMACTCCATATCAATGGACGAGAGTGGTTGGAGGAGTGGTGGAGGAGGTGGTGAGAGGTGGT
CERV-KOLD35587 SERV-KL035587 SERV-KL chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.11 SERV-K1 chr.5 CERV-K60 CERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K107 HERV-K107 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K107 HERV-K108	13200 13211 13201 13211 13440 14441 144114	GAMACTCAATATCACTGGGETCAAMAGAGCAAGATTGGTTGCTGTCATTATATAGAGTTTAATAGGCTATATAACATTGTATCAATTTGTATCAATGTGATAGGGTACAAGG GAMACTCAATATCACTGGGETCAAMAGAGCAAGATTGGTTGGATGCATACAGATTTAATAGGCTATATATA
CERV-KOLD35587 SERV-KI chr.11 Guereza SERV-KI chr.11 GUERY-KG CERV-KG CERV-KG CERV-KG CERV-KIG CERV-KIG HERV-KI	13200 13211 13201 13211 13440 14441	GAMACTCANTALCACTGGCTCANAGGCAGGTTGTTGCTGCTATTALAGGTTTACAGGTTTACAAGGTTACAAGGTTATAATTGTGTGAGTAGGTTGGAATTGTGTAGAGGCTACAGG GAMACTCANTALCAGTGGCGCANAGGGCAGGTTGTTGCTGTGTGTATALAGGTTTACAGGATTTAACAGGCTATTAACTGAGTTCGGATAGTTGTGATCAGGCTACAGG 440 AMACTCANTALCAGTGAGTCAAGGGCAGGTTGGTTGCGTGTATALCAGGTTTACAGGATTTAACAGGCTATTAACTGAGTTCGGATAGTGTGAGTAGGGCAGA 440 AMACTCAGTALCAGTGAGTGAGGCGAGTTGGTGCGAGTATACAGGTTACAGGGTTACAAGGATTTAAGCAGCCGTATAATTTATTAGGATTCTGCATAGTGTAGTAAGGC 440 AMACTCAGTALCAGTGAGTGAGGGCAGGTTGGTGCGAGTATACAGGTTACAGGGTTACAAGGATTTAAGCAGCCGTATAATTTATTAGGATTCTGCGATAGTGTGAGTACAGGC 440 AMACTCAGTALCAGTGAGTCAGGGCAGGTGGTGGTGCGAGTATTAGGTGTTACAGGGTTACAAGGATTTAATTAA
CERV-KOLD35587 SERV-KL chr.11 Guereza SERV-KL chr.11 Guereza SERV-KL chr.11 SERV-KL chr.5 CERV-K60 CERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K107 HERV-K107 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 SERV-K107 SERV-K10CT.11 SCRV-K106 HERV-K102 SERV-K10CT.12 SCRV-K10CT.	13200 13211 13201 13211 13411 14411	GAMACTCANTACKGEGGCCAMAGGCAGGTEGTEGTEGTATATAGSETTACAAGATTTAACAGCCTATTAACTTEGTACAGATTEGATACAGGCTACAAGE 439 GAMACTCANTACKGEGCCAMAGGCAGGATEGTEGTEGTEGTACTACAGGETTACAGGATTTAACAGCCTATTAACTTEGTACAGGTETGCATATEGTAACAGGCTACAGG 440 AMACTCANTACATCAGTCAACAGGCAGATEGTEGTEGACGCATTACAGEGTTACAAGATTTAACGAGCCTATTAACTTEGTACAGGTETGCATATEGTAACAGGCTACAGG 440 AMACTCANTACATCAGTCAACAGGCAGATEGTEGTEGACGCATTACAGEGTTACAAGATTTAACGAGCCTATTAACTTEGTACAGGTCTGCATAGTGTAGTACAGGCTACAGG 440 AMACTCATATACATCAGTCAACAGGCAGATEGTEGTEGACGCATTACAGEGTTACAGGGTTACAAGATTTAATCAGCCTGTTAATTTAATCAGGTCTGCATAGTGTAGTACAGGCTACAGG 440 AMACTCATTACATCGCCCAAGGCCAGATEGGTCGATGCATTACAGEGTTACAAGGATTTAACAGCCTGTAATTTAATCAGGTCTGCATAGTGTAGTACAGGCTACAGG 440 AMACTCCATATCAGTCGATTAGGCCGAGTEGGTCGACGCATTACAGGTTACAGGGTTACAAGGATTTGACAGCCTGTAATTTAATCAGGTCTGCATAGTGTGAGCAGCCACAGG 440 AMACTCCCATACAGTCGCAAGAGCCAGGTGGTGCAGCATATACAGGTTACAGGGTTACAAGGATTTGACGACGCTATCAAGTTTGACGACGGTCAGAGG 440 AMACTCCCATACAGTCGACGACGAGTGGTGCGCGCATATACAGGTTACAAGGATTTGACGACGCTATCAAGTTTGACGACGATGCAGGTCGGCTGAAGGCAGG 440 AMACTCCCATACAGTCGCAAGGCCAGGTGGTGCGCGCATATACAGGTTACAAGGTTACAGGCTATCAAGGTTACAGGTTACGACGTTCGCATATTTAATCAGGTCTGCATAGTGTGACGACGCAGG 440 AMACTCCCATACAGTCGCCAAAGGCCAGGTGGTGCGCCATATACAGGTTACAAGGTTTACAGGCTATCAAGGCTATCAAGGCTACGAGG 440 AMACTCCCATACAGTCGCCAAAGGCCAGGTGGTGCGTCATTACAGGGTTACAAGGATTTGACGACGCTATCAAGTTTGACGACGAGTGGCGCAAGGG 440 AMACTCCCATACAGCCGCAAGAGCGAGGTGGTGCGTCATTACAGGGTTACAAGGATTTGACGACGCTATCAAGTTTGACGACGTACGGCCAAGGGCGGCGCAAGGGCGGTGGTGCGCACGAGGG 440 AMACTCCCATACAGCCCAAGGCCAGGTGGTGGTGCAGCATATACAGGGTTACAAGGGTTACAAGGTTTACAGGCTACAGGCTAAGGCCAAGGGCGGCGCAAGGGCGGTGGTGCAGGCATACGGCCAAGGGCGGCGAGGGTGGTGCGACGACGGCGAGGTGGTGCAGGCAAGGGCGAGTTGCAGGCCAAGGGCGAGTGGGCGAAGGGCGGCGAAGGGCGGCGAAGGGCGGCGCAAGGGCGGC
CERV-KOLD35587 SERV-KI chr.11 Guereza SERV-KI chr.5 CERV-KGO CERV-KGO CERV-KGO CERV-KGO CERV-KIO HERV-KIO SERV-KI chr.12 Grivet SERV-KI chr.12 Grivet SERV-KI chr.12 Grivet SERV-KI chr.12 Grivet SERV-KI chr.12 Grivet SERV-KI chr.12 HERV-KIO HERV-K	13200 13211 13440 14411	GAMACTCANTALCACTGGCTCAMAGAGCAGGTTGTTGCTGCTATTALTAGTGTTACAAGATTTAACTAGCGCTATTAACTTGTALCAGGTTCGCATATGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG GAMACTCANTALCAGTGGCGCCAMAGGGCAGGTTGGTTGCTGTGTATALCAGGTTTACAAGGATTTAACTAGGTCTATTAATTAGATTGTGTAGTAGGCGCACAAGG H440 AMACTCANTALCAGTGACTGAAGGGCAGGTTGGTTGCAGTCATTACAGGTTACAAGGATTTAACAGCCTATTAATTTAATTCAGATTCTGCATAGTGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG H440 AMACTCAGTALCAGTCAAGAGGCCAGGTTGGTTGCAGTCATTACAGGTTACAAGGATTTAACAGCCTGTTAATTTAATTCAGATTCTGCATAGTGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG H440 AMACTCAGTALCAGTCAAGTCAGGCCAGGTTGGTTGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGGATTTAATCAGCCTGTTAATTTAATTCAGATTCTGCATAGTGTAGTACAGGCTACAAGG H440 AMACTCAGTALCAGTCAATAGGCCAGAGTTGGTTGCAGCTATTACAGTGTTACAAGGATTTAACTAGGCTGTTAATTTAATTCAGAGTCTGCATAGTGTGAGTACAGGCTACAAGG H440 AMACTCCATATCAGTCAGTCAGAGGCCAGGTGGTGCGCAGTCATTACAGTGTTACAAGGATTTAACAGCCTGTTAATTTAATTCAGAGTCTGCATAGGTCAGGCAAGGGC H440 AMACTCCATATCAGTCAGAGCCAGGTGTGTGCAGGCTATTACAGTGTTACAAGGATTTGACAGCCTATCAAGTTTGTGACGAGCTACAGGGCACAGGG H440 AMACTCCCATACGATCGAGCCAGAGTGGTGCGCGCATTACAGGGTTACAAGGATTTGACGACGCTATCAAGTTGTGAGTAGGCCAGGCAGG

CERV-K01 D35587	1560	CATACTAATTTATCAGAGCCTTTAACTAAAGCAAATGAACAAGTTGACTTGCTAGTATCATCTGCATTCCTGGAAGCACCAGGACTTCATGCCTTGACTCATGCAAGAACTGCAACAGGACTA	679
HERV-KOLD35587	1560	CATACTAATTTACCAGAGCCTTTAACTAAAGCAAATGAACAAGTTGACTTGCTAGTATCATCTGCATTCCTGGAAGCACAAGAACTTCATGCCTTGACTCATGTAAATGCAACAGGACTA 16	679
SERV-K1 chr.11	1561	CACACTAATTTACCAGGACCTTTAACTAAAGCAAATGAACAAGCTGACTTACTGGTATCCTCTGCATTCATAAAAGCACCAAGAACTTCATGCTTGACTCATGTAAATGCAGCAGGGTTA 16	680
Guereza	1561	CACACTAATTTACCAGGACCTTTAACTAAAGCTAATGAAAAGGCTGACTTACTGGTATCCTCGCATTCATAAAAGCACCAAGAACTTCATGCTTGACTCATGTAAATGCAGCAGGGTTA 16	680
SERV-K1 chr.12	1561	CACACTAATTTGCCAGGACCTTTAACTATAGCAAAAGCAGCAGGGCTTACCGCGATCCCTCTGCATTCATAAAAGCACAAGAACTTCATGCTTTGACTAATGCCAGAGGGCTAA	680
Grivet	1561		580 C70
SERV-KI CNF.5	1554		3/3 con
CERV-K107	1561	CACACTANTITACCAGGGCCTTGACTAAAGCAAATGAACAGCTGACTGAC	680
HERV-K104	1561		680
HERV-K50D	1561	CACACTAATTTACCAGGGCCTTTGACTAAAGCAAATGAACAAGCTGACTTACTGGTATCATCTGCATTCATAAAAGCACAAGAACTTCATGCTTTGACTCATGTAAATGCAGCAGGATTA 16	680
HERV-K50B	1561	CACACTAATTTACCAGGGCCTTTGACTAAAGCAAATGAAGAAGCTGACTTACTGGTATCATCTGCACTCATAAAAGCACAAGAACTTCATGCTTTGACTCATGTAAATGAAGCAGGATTA 16	680
HERV-K106	1561	CACACTAATTTACCAGGGCCTTTGACTAAAGCAAATGAAGAAGCTGACTGA	680
HERV-K101	1560	CACACTAATTTACCAGGGCCTTTGACTAAAGCAAATGAACAAGCTGACTTACTGGTATCATCTGCACTCATAAAAGCACCAAGAACTTCATGCTTTGACTCATGTAAATGCAGCAGGATTA 16	679
HERV-K103	1561		580 690
HERV-K10	1561	CACACTMATTACCAGGGCCTTGACTAAAGCAAATGAACAAGCTGACTGA	680
HERV-K108	1561		680
HERV-K109	1556	CACACTAATTTACCAGGGCCTTTGACTAAAGCAAATGAACAAGCTGACTTACTGGTATCATCTGCACTCATAAAAGCACAAGAACTTCATGCTTGACTCATGTAAATGCAGCAGGATTA	675
HERV-K113	1561	CACACTAATTTACCAGGGCCTTTGACTAAAGCAAATGAACAAGCTGACTTACTGGTATCATCTGCACTCATAAAAGCACAAGAACTTCATGCTTTGACTCATGTAAATGCAGCAGGATTA 16	680
HERV-K36	1555	CACACTAATTTACCAGGGCCTTTGACTAAAGCAAATAAACAAGCTGACTTACTGGTATCATCTGCACTCATAAAAGCACAAGAACTTCATGCTTTGACTCATGTAAATGCAGCAGGATTA 16	674
HERV-K115	1561	CACACTAATTTACCAGGGCCTTTGACTAAAGCAAATGAACAAGCTGACTAACTGGTATCATCTGCACTCATAAAAGCACCAAGAACTTCATGCTTGACTCATGTAAATGCAGCAGGATTA 16	680
HERV-K102	1561	CACACTAATTTACCAGGGCCTTTGACTAAAGCAAATGAACAAGCTGACTTACTGGTATCATCTGCACTCATAAAAGCACCAAGAACTTCATGCTTTGACTCATGTAAATGCAGCAGGATTA 16	680
HERV-K50A	1561		580
CERV-K01 D35587	1680		796
HERV-KOLD35587	1680	AAAAATAAATTTGGCATCACATGGCAAACAACATATTGTACAACATTACACCAGTGTCAGATTCCACCACCTGCCCACTGCGCAGGAGGCAGGAGTTAATCCCAGAGGGTTGGTGT	796
SERV-K1 chr.11	1681	AAAAACAAATTTAATGTCACATGGAAACAGGCAAAAGATATAGTACAACATTGCACCCAGTGTCAAGTACTACACCTGCCCACTCAAGAGGCAGGAGTTAATCCCAGAGGTCTGTT 17	797
Guereza	1681	AAAAACAAATTTGATGTCACATGGAAACAGGCAAAAAATATTGTACAACATTGTACCCAGTGTCAAGTACTACACCTGCCCACCAAGAGGCAGGAGTTAACCCCAGAGGTCTGTGT 17	797
SERV-K1 chr.12	1681	AAAAACAAATTTGATGTCACATGGAAACAGGCAAAAGATATTGTACGACATTGCACCCAGTGTCAAGTACTACACCTGCCCACTCAAGAGGCAGGAGTGAATCCCAGAGGTCTGTGT 17	797
Grivet	1681	AAAAACAAATTTGATGTCACATGGAAACAGGCAAAAGATATCGTACAACACTGCACCCAGTGTCAAGTACTACACCTGCCCACTCAAGAGGCAGGAGTTAATCCCAGAGGTCTGTGT 17	797
SERV-K1 chr.5	1674	AAAAACAAATTTGATGTCACTTGGAAACAGGCAAAAGATATTGTACAACCCTGCACCCAATGTTAAGTCCTACACCTGCCCACTCAAGAGGCAGGAGTTAATCCCAGAGGTCTGTT	790
CERV-K60	1681	AAAAACAAATTTGATGTCACATGGAAACAGGCAAAAGATATTGTACAACATTGCACCCAGTGTCAAGTCTTACACCTGCCCACTCAAGAGGCAGGAGTTAATCCCAAGAGGTCTGTGT 17	797
LERV-KI02	1681	AAAAACAAALIIGA GILALA GGAAALAGGAAAAGA TA IGTACAACA TUGALCLAGIGILAAGICIIA CACLIGLCLA LAAGAGGAGGAGIAAAGAIA IG	797
HERV-KSOD	1681	AAAAAACAAAATTTGAAAGAGCGCAAAGAAGAATATTGAACAACATTGGACGAGGGCAAGGTCTGTCACCIGCCCACTGAAGAGGCAGAGAATATCGAAGAGGCGGGTAGGTCTGTGT-AAAAAATTTGAAGAGGCGGGTAAATTCGAAGAGGCAGGTAATTCGAAGAGGCAGGTAATTGGAAGAGGCAGGTAAGTTGGAAGAGGCAGGTAAGTTGGAAGAGGCAGGTAAGTTGGAAGAGGCAGGTAAGTTGGAAGAGGCAGGTAAGTTGGAAGAGGCGGGTAGGTCGGTGTGGTGTGTGT	797
HERV-K50B	1681	AAAAACAAATTIGATGICACATGGAAACAGGCAAAAGATATTGTACAACATTGCACCCAGTGTCAAGTCTTACACCTGCCCCACTGAGAGGCAGGAAGTAATCCCAGAGGTCTGTGT-17	797
HERV-K106	1681	AAAAACAAATTTGATGTCACATGGAAACAGGCAAAAGATATTGTACAACATTGCACCCAGTGTCAAGTCTTACACCTGCCCACTCAAGAGGCAGGAGTTAATCCCAGAGGTCTGTGT	797
HERV-K101	1680	AAAAACAAATTTGATGTCACATGGAAACAGGCAAAAGATATTGTACAACATTGCACCCAGTGTCAAGTCTTACACCTGCCCACTCAAGAGGCAGGAGTTAATCCCAGAGGTCTGTGT 17	796
HERV-K103	1681	AAAAACAAATTTGATGTCACATGGAAACAGGCAAAAGATATTGTACAACATTGCACCCAGTGTCAAGTCTTACACCTGCCCACTCAAGAGGCAGGAGTTAATCCCAGAGGTCTGTGT 17	797
CERV-K100	1681	AAAAACAAATTTGATGTCACATGGAAACAGGCAAAAGATATTGTACAACATTGCACCCAGTGTCAAGTCTTACACCTGCCCACTCAAGAGGCAGGAGTTAATCCCAGAGGTCTGTGT 17	797
HERV-K10	1681	AAAAACAAATTTGATGTCACATGGAAACAGGCAAAAGATATTGTACAACATTGCACCCAGTGTCAAGTCTTACACCTGCCCACTCAAGAGGCAGGAGTTAATCCCAGAGGTCTGTGT 17	797
HERV-K108	1681	AAAAACAAATTTGATGTCACATGGAAACAGGCAAAAGATATTGTACAACATTGCACCCAGTGTCAAGTCTTACACCTGCCCACTCAAGAGGCAGGAGTTAATCCCAAGAGGCCTGTT 17	797
HERV-K109	16/6	ANAMACMANITIGATE CANTEGRAAK AGU ANAMANIATIGIACAACATUGAL CAGUGICAAGICITIA CACUGUCUCU CAMAGAGU AGUAGIAGIA A A	707
HERV-KIIS	1675	AAAAAACAAATTTGATGICACATGGAAACTAGCAAAAGATATTGAACATTGCACCCAGTGTCAAGTCTTA CACCTGCCCACTCAAGAGCAGAGAATTACCCCAAGGGCTGGTTGGT	791
HERV-K115	1681	AAAAACAAATTIGATGICACATGGAAACAGGCAAAAGATATTGTACAACATTGCACCCAGTGTCAAGTCTTACACCTGCCCCACTGAGAGGCAGGAAGTAATCCCAGAGGTCTGTGT-17	797
HERV-K102	1681	AAAAACAAATTTGATGTCACATGGAAACAGGCAAAAGATATTGTACAACATTGCACCCAGTGTCAAATCTTACACCTGCCCACTCAAGAGGCAGGAGTTAATCCCAGAGGTCTGTGT	797
HERV-K50A	1681	AAAAACAAATTTGATGTCACATGGAAACAGGCAAAAGATATTGTACAACATTGCACCCAGTGTCAAATCTTACACCTGCCCACTCAAGAGGCAGGAGTTAATCCCAGAGGTCTGTGT 17	797
		***** ****** * **** ****** ****** **** ****	
CERV-KOLD35587	1797	CCTAATGCGTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGGAAAATTGTCATTTCTCCATGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTCACATTTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGCCAGACAGGAGAA 19	916
CERV-KOLD35587 HERV-KOLD35587	1797	CCTAATGCGTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGGAAAATTGTCATTGTCATGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTCACATTTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGCCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGCGTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTGGAAAATTGTCATTTCTCCATGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTGACAGTTTTTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGCCAGACAGGAGAA 19	916 916
CERV-KOLD35587 HERV-KOLD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11	1797 1797 1798	CCTAATGGGTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGGAAAATTGTCATTTCTCCCATGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTCACATTTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGGCCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGCGTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGGAAAATTGTCATTTCTCCCATGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTCACATTTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGCCAGACAGGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGCATATGGCAAATGGATGTTACACATGTACCTTCATTTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCATGTTAATGGTAATTATTCACATTTCATATGGGCAGCTGCCAGACAGGAGAA 19	916 916 917
CERV-KOLD35587 HERV-KOLD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza	1797 1797 1798 1798 1798	CCTAATGCGTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGGAAAATTGTCATTTCTCCATGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTCACATTTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGCCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGCGTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGGAAAATTGTCATTTCTCCATGTCAGTGTCATGCCATTTCTACAGTTCATGGCAGACTGGCCAGGCAGG	916 916 917 917
CERV-KOLD35587 HERV-KOLD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet	1797 1797 1798 1798 1798 1798	CCTAATGGGTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGGAAAATTGTCATTTCTCCCATGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTCACATTTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGCCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGCGTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGGAAAATTGTCATTTCTCCATGTGACAGTGATACTTATTCACATTTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGCCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGCTTATGGCAAATGGATGTTACCATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATATGTCTCATGTACAGTGTAATCTTATTCACATTTCATTGGCAAACGGCGACAGGGA CCTAATGCCATTATGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCATGTACAGTGTAATCTTATTCACATTTCATGGCAAACGGCGACAGG CCTAATGCATTATGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATTGTCTCATGTACAGTGTAACTTATTCACTTTTCACTTTCAGGCCAGACGGCGAGAGGGAA 19 CCTAATGCATTATGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCCATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATTGTCATGTCAGACGAGACGTGAACTTGACCAGGCAGACGGCCGCGCAGCAGGGAGA	916 916 917 917 917 917 917
CERV-KOLD35587 HERV-KOLD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.5	1797 1797 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1791	CCTAATGGGTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGGAAAATTGTCATTTCTCCCATGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTCACATTTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGGCCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCATATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGGAAAATTGTCATTTCTCCCATGTGACAGGTGATGCTTATTCACATTTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGCCAGACAGGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCAATATGGCAAATGGATGTTACCACATGTACCTTCATTTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCATGTGATAGTTATTCACATTTTTCACATTTCTATGGGCAAGCGC CCTAATGGCAATGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCATGTACCTTCATTTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCATGTGATACAGTTGATACTTATTCACATTTCATGGGCAAGCGCGGCAGACAGGGAGAA CCTAATGGCAATTGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCATGTACCTTCATTTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCATGTACAGTTGATACTTATTCACATTTCATTGGGCAACTGCCAGACAGGGAGAA CCTAATGGCATTATGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCATGTACAGTTGATACTTATTCACATTTCATGGGCAACTGCCAGCAGGGAGAA CCTAATGGCATTATGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCCATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATATGGTCAGGTAGACAGGTGATACTTATTCACATTTCATGGGCAACTGCCAGCAGGGAGAA	916 916 917 917 917 917 917 917
CERV-KOLD35587 HERV-KOLD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.5 CERV-K60	1797 1797 1798 1798 1798 1798 1791 1798	CCTAATGGGTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACAAGTGTACCTTCAGTTGGAAAATTGTCATTTGTCATGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTCACATTTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGCCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCATATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGGAAAATTGTCATTGTCACTGTCAGAGCGTGATGCAGACAGGGCAAACTGGCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCATATGGCAAATGGATGTTACCATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATATGTCTCATGTAACGGTGAATGGCAAACTGGCAGACAGGGCAGAC CCTAATGGCTATTGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCATGTACAGTTGAATGTTATTCACATTTCATGGGCAAAGTGGCAGACAGGGCAGACAGG CCTAATGGCATTATGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATTGTTCATGTACAGTTGAATCTTATTCACATTTCATGGGCAACATGGCAGACAGGGGGAA CCTAATGGCATTATGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCATGTCAGATACAGTTGAACTTATTCACATTTCATGGGCAACATGGCCAGACAGGGAGA CCTAATGGCATTATGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATAGTTGTCAGTGACAGTGAACCATGGACAATGGGCAACATGGCCAGACAGGGAA CCTAATGGCATTATGGCAAATGGTTACCCATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATAGGTCAGATGAACGGTGAACTTGATCTAATTCACATTTCACATTTCACATTCGGCAAACTGGCCAGACAGGGAGA	916 916 917 917 917 917 917 910 917
CERV-KOLD35587 HERV-KOLD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.5 CERV-K10 CERV-K102	1797 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1791 1798 1798	CCTAATGGGTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGGAAAATTGTCATTTGTCACTGTGACAGGTGATGCTTATTCACATTTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGGCCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCATATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGGAAAATTGTCATTGTCACTGTGATGATGATGTTATCACATTTGTCAGGGCAAACTGGCAGACAGGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGCTATTGGCAAATGGATGTTACCACTGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCATGATACGGTTAATCTTATTCACATTTCATTGGGCAAGCGCGCCCAGACAGGGAGA 19 CCTAATGCTATTGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCATGATACGGTTAATCATTTTCACATTTCATTGGGCAAGCGCGCCAGACAGGGAGA 19 CCTAATGCTATTGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCATGATAGCGGTAATCTTATTCACATTTCATTGGGCAAACTGGCCAGCAGGGAGA 19 CCTAATGCATTATGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCATGTAGTACGGTTGATACCTTATTCACATTTCATTGGGCAAACTGGCCAGCAGGGGAGA 19 CCTAATGCATTATGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCATGTACCTTACTTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCATGTAGTACGGTGATACCTTATTCACATTTCATTGGGCAAACTGGCCAGCAGGGGAGA 19 CCTAATGCATTATGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCATGTACCTTTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCATGTAGGTGAACGGTGGATACTTATTCACATTTCACATTCACATGGCGAACTGCCAGGAGGGGAGA 19 CCTAATGCATTATGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCATGTACCTTGGAAATTATCATATGTTCATGGTCAGTAACGGTGAATCTTATTCACATTTCATATGGGCAACTGCCGGCAGCGGGGAGA 19 CCTAATGCATTATGGCAAATGGATGTACCCGATGTACCTTGCAGAATTACCATGTGATGACGGTGAATACGCTTGATGCAAATGGCAACTGCCGAGCAGGGGAACTGCCAGGCAGG	916 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917
CERV-KOLD35587 HERV-KOLD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.5 CERV-K60 CERV-K102 HERV-K104	1797 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1791 1798 1798	CCTAATGGGTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGGAAAATTGTCATTTCTCCCATGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTCACATTTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGCCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGCGTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGGAAAATTGTCATTTCTCCCATGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTCACATTTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGCCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGCTTATGGCAAATGGATGTTACCATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCTCATGACAGTTGAATCTTATTCACATTTTATGGGCAAGATGGCAGACAGG CCTAATGCTTATGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCTCATGACAGTTGAATCTTATTCACATTTCTACTGGGCAAGATGGCAGACAGG CCTAATGCCATTATGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCCATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCTCATGACAGTTGAATCTATTCACATTTCACATTTGGGCAAATGGCAGACAGGGCAGACAG CCTAATGCCATTATGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCCATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCATGACAGTTGAATCTATTCACATTTCACATTTGGGCAAACTGGCCAGCAGGGGAGA 19 CCTAATGCGATTATGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCCATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATAGTTGTCATGACAGTTGAACAGTTGAATCTATTCACATTTCACATTGGGCAAACTGGCAGACAGGGCAGACAGGCAGCAGGAGA CCTAATGCGATTATGGCAAATGGTCACCGATGTACCCTTGCATGCA	916 917 917 917 917 917 910 917 910 917 917 917
CERV-KOLD35587 HERV-KOLD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Gureza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet CERV-K60 CERV-K60 CERV-K102 HERV-K104 HERV-K500	1797 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798	CCTAATGGGTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGGAAAATTGTCATTTGTCATGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTCACATTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGCCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCATATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGGAAAATTGTCATTTGTCATGTCAGTGATGCTTATTCACATTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGCCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGCCATTATGGCAAATGGATGTTACCATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATATGTCTCATGACAGTGATACTTATTCACATTTCATTGGGCAAGCGCGCAGCAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGCATTATGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCATGACAGTGAACTTATCACATTTCATGGGCAACTGGCCAGACAGGAGA 19 CCTAATGCATTATGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCATGACAGTGAACTTATCCACTTTCACATTTGGGCAAACTGGCCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGCATTATGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCATGACAGTGAACTTATCCACTTTCACATTTGGGCAACATGGCCAGACAGGGAA 19 CCTAATGGCATATGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCATGTACCTTCATTTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCATGACGATGAACTTATCCACTTTCACATTTGGGCAAACTGGCCAGCAGGGAA 19 CCTAATGGCATATGGCAAATGGATGTCACCGATGTACCCTTCATTTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCATGACGATGAACCGTGAACTGATCTATTCACATTTCACATTGGCAAACTGGCAACTGGCCAGCAGGGAA 19 CCTAATGGCAAATGGAATGGATGTCACGCATGTACCCTTCATTTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCATGTAGGCAACTTGATCACATTGGCAAACTGGCGAACTGGCCAGCAGGGAA 19 CCTAATGGCAAATGGAATGGATGTCACGCATGTACCCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCATGTGAACGATGAACCTGATCACATTTCACATTGCCAAACAGGGAACTGCCAGCAAGGGAAA	916 917 917 917 917 917 917 910 917 917 917 917 917
CERV-KOLD35587 HERV-KOLD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.5 CERV-K102 HERV-K500 HERV-K500 HERV-K500	1797 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798	CCTAATGGGTTATGGCANATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGGANAATTGTCATTTCTCCCATGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTCACATTTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGCCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGCGTTATGGCANATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGGANAATTGTCATTTCTCCATGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTCACATTTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGCCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGCGTTATGGCANATGGATGTACCACATGTACCTTCATTGGANAATTGTCATTTCTCATGTACAGTTGATACTTATTCACATTTCTATGGGCAAGCTGCCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGCGTTATGGCANATGGATGTTACCCATGTACCTTCATTGGANAATTATCATATGTTCTCATGACAGTTGATACCTTATTCACATTTCATGGGCAAGATGGCAGACAGG CCTAATGCGTTATGGCANATGGATGTTACCCATGTACCTTCATTGGANAATTATCATAGTTCATGATACAGTTGATACCTTATTCACATTTCATGGGCAAGATGGCAGACAGG CCTAATGCGTTATGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCATGTACCTTCATTGGANAATTATCATAGTTCATGATACGATGAACAGTTGAATGGACAATGGGCAAGTGGCCAGGCAGG	916 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917
CERV-KOLD35587 HERV-KOLD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.5 CERV-K160 CERV-K160 HERV-K104 HERV-K50B HERV-K104 HERV-K104	1797 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798	CCTAATGGGTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGGAAAATTGTCATTTCTCCCATGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTCACATTTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGCCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCATATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGGAAAATTGTCATTTCTCCCATGTGACAGTGATACTTATTCACATTTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGCCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCTATTGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATATGTCTCATGACAGTGATACTTATTCACATTTCTATGGCAAACGGCCGCCGAGCAGGAGAA CCTAATGGCTATTGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCATGACAGTGAAACTTATCACATTTATTGGGAACAGGCGCGCCGAGCAGGAGAGA CCTAATGGCTATTGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATTGTTCATGTACAGTGAAACTTATTCACATTTCATTGGGCAAATGGCAGACGGCGAGCAGGGAGA CCTAATGGCTATTGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATTGTTCATGTACAGTGAACGTGAACTTATCGCAATTGGGCAAATGGCCAGGCAGG	916 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917
CERV-KOLD35587 HERV-KOLD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Gureca SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.5 CERV-K10 CERV-K102 HERV-K104 HERV-K500 HERV-K500 HERV-K106 HERV-K103	1797 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798	CCTAATGGGTTATGGCANATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGGANAATTGTCATTTGTCATGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTGACATTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGCCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCTTATGGCANATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGGANAATTGTCATTTGTCATGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTGACATTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGCCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCTTATGGCANATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCATTTGGANAATTGTCATTTGTCATGTCA	916 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917
CERV-KOLD35587 HERV-KOLD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet CERV-K10 CERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K108 HERV-K101 HERV-K101 CERV-K101 CERV-K100	1797 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798	CCTAATGGGTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGGAAAATTGTCATTTCTCCCATGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTCACATTTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGCCAGACAGGGGAAA CCTAATGGCTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGGAAAATTGTCATTTCTCCCATGTGACAGTTGATGCATTTTCACATTTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGCCAGACAGGGAGA CCTAATGGCTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACCATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTGTCATTTGTCATGTACAGTTGATACTTATTCACATTTTGTAGGGCAAATGGCAGACGGCGCGCAGACAGGGAGA CCTAATGGCTATTGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATTGTTCATGACAGTTGAATCTATTCACATTTGTGGGCAAGTGGCAGACAGGGAGA CCTAATGGCTATTGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATTGTTCATGTACACGTTGAATCTTATTCACATTTGGGCAAATGGGCAGACGGCGAGCAGGGAGA CCTAATGGCATTGGGCAATGGATGTTACCCATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATTGTTCATGTACACGTTGAATCTATTCACATTTGGGCAAACTGGCCAGACAGGGAGA CCTAATGGCATTGGGCAATGGATGTACCCCATGTACCCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATAGTTGTCATGACAGTTGAATCTATTCACATTTGGGCAAACTGGGCAGACGGCCGAGCAGGGAGA CCTAATGGCATTGGGCAATGGATGTCACCGATGTACCCTTGACTTGGAAAATTATCATGGCTACTGATGACGATGAACGGTGAACTGGCAGACAGGGCAGACGGCAGACGGCAGACGGCAGACGGCAGACGGCAGACGGCAGACGGCCGAGCAGGGAGA CCTAATGGCAATGGGCAATGGCAGCGCATGTACCCTCATTGGAAGATTATCACATGTGATACGATGAACGGTGAACTGATCTATTGGGCAAACTGGCCAGCAGGGGAGA CCTAATGGCAATGGGCAAGGGATGTCACGCATGTACCCTTCATTGGAAAATTACCATGGTGAATGACGGTGAACGGTGAACGGCGAGACGGCAGACGGCAGACGGCAGACGGCAGACGGCGCAGC	916 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917
CERV-KOLD35587 HERV-KOLD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.5 CERV-K102 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K103 CERV-K100	1797 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798	CCTAATGGGTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGGAAAATTGTCATTTGTCATGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTCACATTTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGCCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGGAAAATTGTCATTTGTCATGTACAGTTGATACCTTATTGACAGTGATACCTTATTGGCAAACGGCAAACTGCCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCATTTGGAAAATTGTCATTGTCATGTACAGTTGATACCTTATTCACATTTCTTGAGGGCAAGTGCCAGGACAGGAGA CCTAATGGCTTATGGCAAATGGATGTACCCATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTGTCATTGTCATGTACAGTGATACCTTATTGACATTGTCATTGGGCAAATGGCAGACAGGCAGACAGGCAGA CCTAATGGCTTATGGCAAATGGATGTACCCATGTACCTTCATTTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCATGTCAGTGAAACGGTGAAACTGGCAGACAGGCAGACAGGCAGACAG CCTAATGGCATTGGCAAATGGATGTACCCCATGTACCTTCATTGGAAATTATCATATGTTCATGTCAGTGAAACGGTGAAACTGGCAGACAGGCAGACAGGCAGACAG CCTAATGGCATTGGCAAATGGATGTACCCCATGTACCTTCATTTGGAAATTATCATATGTTCATGTACGGATGAATGTATTCAATTGGGCAAATGGCAAGACAGGCAGAGA CCTAATGGCATTGGCAAATGGATGTACCCCAGTGACCTCAATTGGAAATTATCATAGTTCATGAGGTGAAATTGCAATTGGGCAAATGGCAAGCAGGCAG	916 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917
CERV-K0LD35587 HERV-K0LD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet CERV-K10 CERV-K10 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K101 HERV-K101 HERV-K100 HERV-K108	1797 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798	CCTAATGGGTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGGAAAATTGTCATTTCTCCCATGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTCACATTTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGCCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGGAAAATTGTCATTTCTCCTGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTCACATTTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACCATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCTCATGACAGTTGATACTTATTCACATTTTATGGGCAAACTGGCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCTTATGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCTCATGACAGTTGAATCTTATTCACATTTTATGGGCAAACTGGCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCATTATGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCTCATGACAGTTGAACAGTTGAATCTATTCACATTTGCAGAACAGGCAGACAGGGCAGACAGGGCAGACAGGCAGAGAGGCAG	916 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917
CERV-KOLD35587 HERV-KOLD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet CERV-K60 CERV-K102 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108	1797 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798	CCTAATGGCHTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGGAAAATTGTCATTTCTCCCATGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTCACATTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGCCAGACAGGGAGA 19 CCTAATGGCHTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGGAAAATTGTCATTTCTCCTGTGACAGTGATGATGTTATTCACATTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGCCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACCAGTGTACCTTCATTTGGAAAATTATCATATGTCTCATGACAGTGATACCATTTATCACATTTGATGGCAAACTGGCAGACAGGGCAGAC CCTAATGGCTATTGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCTCATGACAGTGAATCTTATTCACATTTCATTGGGCAAACTGGCAGACAGGGAGA 19 CCTAATGGCTATTGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCATGTACCTTCATTTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCTCATGACAGTGAATCTTATTCACATTTCATTGGGCAAACTGGCAGACAGGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCATTATGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCATGTACCTTCATTTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCTCATGACAGTGAACCATGTGAATCTATTGGGCAAACTGGCCAGACAGGGAGA 19 CCTAATGGCATATGGCAAATGGATGTCACCGATGTACCCTTCATTTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCTCAGTACAGTGAATCTTATTCACATTTCACATTTGGGCAAACTGGCCAGGCAGG	916 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917
CERV-K0LD35587 HERV-K0LD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.5 CERV-K06 CERV-K106 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108	1797 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798	CCTAATGGCHTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGAAAATTGTCATTTCTCCATGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTCACATTTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGGCAGACGGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCHTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGGAAAATTGTCATTTCTCCATGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTCACATTTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGGCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCHTATGGCAAATGGATGTTACCATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTGTCATTATGTTCTTCATGACAGTTGATCTTATTCACATTTTGACAGCGCAGACAGGGCAGACAGG CCTAATGGCHTATGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCTCATGACAGTTGAACGTTGATCAGTTTGATGGGCAAATGGCAGACAGG CCTAATGGCHTATGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCTCATGACAGTTGAACGTTGATCACATTGGGCAAATGGCCAGCAGGGGAGA 19 CCTAATGGCHTATGGCAAATGGATGTACCCCATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCTCATGACAGTTGAACGTTGAATCTATTGGGCAAATGGGCAGACTGGCAGGCA	916 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917
CERV-KOLD35587 HERV-KOLD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.5 CERV-K60 CERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K108 HERV-K101 HERV-K108 HERV-K10	1797 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798	CCTAATGGCATATGGCAATGGATGTCACCACATGTACCTTCAGTTGGAAAATTGTCATTTCTCCCATGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTCACATTTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGCCAGACAGGGAGA 19 CCTAATGGCATATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGGAAAATTGTCATTTCTCCTGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTCACATTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGCCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCATATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCTCATGTACAGTTGATACTTATTCACATTTCTTCATGGCAAACTGGCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGCCTATTGGCAAATGGATGTACCCATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCTCATGACAGTTGATACCATTTATCACATTTATTGGGCAAACTGGCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGCCATTATGGCAAATGGATGTACCCCATGTACCTTCATTTGGAAAATTATCATTGTTCTCATGACAGTTGATACCATTTATCACATTTGATTGGGCAAACTGGCCAGACAGGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGCCATTATGGCAAATGGATGTACCCCATGTACCTTCATTTGGAAAATTATCATTGTTCTCATGTCAACAGTTGAATCTTATTCACATTTCTATGGGCAAACTGGCCAGACAGGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGCCATTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACCGCATGTACCCTTCATTTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCTCATGACAGTTGAATCTATTCACATTTCACATTTGGGCAAACTGGCCAGACAGGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCATTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACCGCATGTACCCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCATGTACAGATGTGAATCTATTCACATTTCACATTTGGGCAAACTGGCCAGGCAGG	916 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917
CERV-KOLD35587 HERV-KOLD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.12 GRV-K10 CERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K108 HERV-K109 HERV-K109 HERV-K109 HERV-K109 HERV-K109 HERV-K109 HERV-K109 HERV-K109 HERV-K109 HERV-K109 HERV-K109 HERV-K109 HERV-K109	1797 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798	CCTAATGGCHTATGGCANATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGAANATTGTCATTTGTCATGTGATGGACAGTTGATGCTTATTGCACATTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGCCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCHTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGAANATTGTCATTTCTCATGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTCACATTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGCCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCHTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCATTTGAAAATTGTCATTTCTCATGTGACAGTTGATACTTATTCACATTTCTATGGGCAAACTGGCCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCHTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCATTTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCTCATGTACAGTTGATACTTATTCACATTTCTATGGGCAAACTGGCCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCHTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACCATGTACCTTCATTTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCTCATGTACAGTTGATACCATTTATCACATTTCATTGGGCAAACTGGCCAGACAGGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCHTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACCCATGTACCTTCATTTGGAAAATTATCATAGTTCATGTCAGTGAAACGATGGAAACTTATCGACATTGGGCAAACTGGCCAGGCAGG	916 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917
CERV-KOLD35587 HERV-KOLD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet CERV-K10 CERV-K10 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K105 HERV-K106 HERV-K105 HERV-K106 HER	1797 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798	CCTAATGGCHTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGGAAAATTGTCATTTCTCCCATGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTCACATTTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGCCAGACAGGGAGA 19 CCTAATGGCHTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGGAAAATTGTCATTTCTCCATGTGACAGTGATGATGTTATTCACATTTGTGAGAGGCAAACTGGCAGACAGGGAGA 19 CCTAATGGCTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACCATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCTCAGTACACGTTGATCACATTTGACAGTGCAGGCAG	916 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917
CERV-KOLD35587 HERV-KOLD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.12 GRV-K10 CERV-K106 CERV-K106 HERV-K104 HERV-K106 HERV-K10	1797 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798	CCTAATGGGTTATGGCANATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGAANATTGTCATTTGTCATGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTGCACATTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGGCAGACAGGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCATTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGAANATTGTCATTTGTCATGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTGCACATTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGGCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCATTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCATTTGGAAAATTGTCATTTGTCATGTACAGTTGATACTTATTCACATTTGTAAGGCCAAACTGGCAGACAGGAGA 19 CCTAATGGCATTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACCAGTGTACCTTCATTTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCTCATGTACAGTTGATACTTATTCACATTTGTATGGGCAAACTGGCAGACAGGAGA 19 CCTAATGGCATTGGCAAATGGATGTCACCAGTGTACCTTCATTTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCTCATGTACAGTTGATACCGTTGATTGCAGATTGGGCAAATGGCAGACAGGCAGACAGG CCTAATGGCATTGGCAAATGGATGTCACCCAGTGTACCTTCATTTGGAAAATTATCATAGTTCATTGATGACGATGAACAGTTGATACATTTGTCAGTTTCATTGGGCAAATGGCAGACAGGCAGACAGG CCTAATGGCATTGGCAAATGGATGTCACCGATGTACCTTCATTTGGAAATTATCATAGTTCATTGATGACGATGAACCGTGATACTTATTGGGCAAATGGCAGACAGGCAGACAGG CCTAATGGCATTGGCAAATGGATGTCACCGATGTACCTTCATTTGGAAATTATCATAGTTGATTGA	916 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917
CERV-KOLD35587 HERV-KOLD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.5 CERV-K10 CERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K108 HERV-K101 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K101 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K105 HERV-K10	1797 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798	CCTAATGGGTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGGAAAATTGTCATTTCTCCCATGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTCACATTTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGCCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGGAAAATTGTCATTTCTCCATGTGACAGTGATGATGTTATTCACATTTGTGAGAGGCAAACTGGCAGACAGGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTGTCATTGTATATGTACAGTGATGATGATGTTATTCACATTTGACAGTGCAGACAGGGCAGACTGGCAGACAGGGAGA 19 CCTAATGGCATTGGCAAATGGATGTACCCATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCTCAGTACACGTGAAACTTATCACATTTGACGGCACAGGCGGCAGACAGGGAGA 19 CCTAATGGCATGTTAGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCTCAGTACACGTGAAACTTGATCACATTGGGAAAATGGGCAACTGGCAGGCA	916 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917
CERV-KOLD35587 HERV-KOLD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.5 CERV-K102 HERV-K104 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K109 HER	1797 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798	CCTAATGGGTTATGGCANATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGAANATTGTCATTTGTCATGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTGCACATTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGCCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCATTATGGCANATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGAANATTGTCATTTCTCTCTGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTCACATTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGCCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCATATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCATTTGGAAATTATGTCATTTCTCTGTGTACAGTTGATACTTATTCACATTTCTTGAAGGCCAAACTGGCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCATTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCATTTGGAAATTATCATATGTTCTCTGTGTACAGTTGATACTTATTCACATTTCTTATGGGCAACTGGCCAGACAGGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCATTTGGCAAATGGATGTCACCACGTGACCTTCCATTTGGAAATTATCATATGTTCTCTGTGTACAGTTGATACCTTTATTCACATTTCTTATGGGCAACTGGCCAGGCAGG	916 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917
CERV-K0LD35587 HERV-K0LD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.5 CERV-K00 CERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K108 HERV-K101 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K105 HERV-K105 HERV-K105 HERV-K005587	1797 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798	CCTAATGGGTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGGAAAATTGTCATTTCTCCCATGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTCACATTTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGGCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTGTCATTTCTCATGTGACAGTTGATGATGTTATTCACATTTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGGCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCTATTGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCTCATGACAGTTGATACTTATTCACATTTTGACAGCGCAGACAGGGCAGGCAGGCAGGCAGGCAGGCAGGCAGGAGAGGGCAGGCGCAGGCAGGCAGGCAGGCAGGCGCAGGCAGGCGCGGCG	916 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917
CERV-KOLD35587 FERV-KIChr.11 SERV-KIChr.11 SERV-KIChr.12 Grivet SERV-KIChr.12 Grivet SERV-KIC CERV-KIC CERV-KIC HERV	1797 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798	CCTAATGGGTTATGGCANATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGAANATTGTCATTTGTCATGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTCACATTTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGCCAGACAGGAGAAAA CCTAATGGCTTATGGCANATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGAANATTGTCATTTGTCATGTGACAGTTGATAGCTTATTCACATTTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGCCAGACAGGAGAAAAAAAA	916 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917
CERV-K0LD35587 HERV-K0LD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet CERV-K0C CERV-K102 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K108 HERV-K101 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K105 HERV-K105587 SERV-K0LD35587 SERV-K1 chr.111 Guereza	1797 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798	CCTAATGGGTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGGAAAATTGTCATTTCTCCATGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTCACATTTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGGCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGGAAAATTGTCATTTCTCCATGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTCACATTTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGGCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCTTATGGCAAATGGATGTTACCATGTGACCTTCATTTGGAAAATTATCATTGTTCTCATGACAGTTGATACTTATTCACATTTTGACAGCGCAGACAGGGCAGACAGGGCAGACAGGCAGCAGGCGCGGCG	916 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917
CERV-KOLD35587 FERV-KOLD35587 SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.5 CERV-K00 CERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K108 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12	1797 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798	CCTAATGEGTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGGAMAATTGTCATTTGTCACTGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTCACATTTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGCCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGEGTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGGAMAATTGTCATTTGTCAGTGTCATGTACAGTTGATACCTTATTGACAGTGATACCGTGATGGCAAACTGCCAGACAGGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGECTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCATTTGGAMAATTGTCATTGTCATGTACAGTGATACCTTATTCACATTTCTTATGGGCAAACTGGCAGACAGGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCATTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACCAGTGTACCTTCATTTGGAMAATTATCATATGTTCATGTACAGTGATAACGTTATTCACATTTCTATGGGCAAACTGGCAGGAGAGAG CCTAATGGCATTGGCAAATGGATGTCACCAGTGTACCTTCATTTGGAMAATTATCATATGTTCATGTAGTGACAGTGAAACTGTACATTTGGGGCAACTGGCAGGACAGGGCAGGAGA CCTAATGGCATTGGCAAATGGATGTCACCGATGTACCTTCATTTGGAMAATTATCATATGTTCATGTAGTGACAGTGAAACTGTACATTGGGCAAATGGGCAGACTGGCAGGAGGGAG	916 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917
CERV-K0LD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet ERV-K10 CERV-K06 CERV-K106 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K107 HERV-K1	1797 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798	CCTAATGGGTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGAAAATTGTCATTTCTCCATGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTCACATTTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGGCAGACAGGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCATATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGAAAATTGTCATTTCTCATGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTCACATTTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGGCAGACAGGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCATATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCATTTGGAAAATTGTCATTTCTCATGTGACAGTTGATCATTTCACATTTCTATGGGCAAACTGGCAGACAGGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCATTGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCATGTACCTTCATTTGGAAAATTATCATTGTTCTGTGATACAGTTGATACCATTTATCACATTTCATGGGCAACTGGCAGACAGGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCATTGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCATGTACCTTCATTTGGAAAATTATCATTGTTCTGTGATACAGTTGATACCATTTATCACATTTCTATGGGCAACTGGCAGGACAGGGCAGGAA 19 CCTAATGGCATTGGCAAATGGATGTCACCGATGTACCTTCATTTGGAAAATTATCATTGTTCATGTACAGTTGATACCGATTGACAGTTGGACAAATGGGCAACTGGCAGGACAGGGCAGA 19 CCTAATGGCATTGGCAAATGGATGTCACGCATGTACCTTCATTTGGAAAATTATCATGGTCATGTACAGTTGATCACGATGAACGTTGATGGGCAACTGGCCAGGCAGG	916 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917
CERV-KOLD35587 HERV-KOLD35587 SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.5 CERV-K10 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K1025887 SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.5 SERV-K1 chr.5 SERV	1797 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798	CCTAATGGCHTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGGAAAATTGTCATTTCTCCATGTGCACAGTTGATGCTTATTCACATTTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGCCAGACAGGGAAA CCTAATGGCHTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTGTCATTTCTCCATGTGCACAGTTGATGCTTATTCACATTTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGCCAGACAGGGAAA CCTAATGGCATATGGCAAATGGATGTCACCACTGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTGTCATTATGTTCTCAGATACCAGTTGATACTTATTCACATTTCTATGGGCAAACTGGCAGACAGGGAAA CCTAATGGCATATGGCAAATGGATGTACCCATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCTCAGTACACGTTGATACTTATTCACATTTCTATGGGCAAACTGGCAGACAGGGAAA CCTAATGGCATATGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCATGTACCTTCATTTGGAAAATTATCATTGTTCTCAGTACACGTTGAAACTTGATCACATTGGCAAACTGGCAGACAGGGCAGGACAGGCCAGGCAGG	916 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917
CERV-KOLD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.112 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.5 CERV-K06 CERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K108 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet	1797 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798	CCTAATGGGTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGAAAATTGTCATTTCTCCATGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTCACATTTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGGCCAGACAGGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCATATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGAAAATTGTCATTTCTCATGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTCACATTTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGGCCAGACAGGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCATATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCATTTGAAAATTGTCATTTCTCATGTGACAGTTGAACGTTGATTCACATTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGGCAGACAGGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCATTGGCAAATGGATGTCACCATGTACCTTCATTTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCTCATGTACAGTTGAAACGTTGATACTTATTCACATTTCTATGGGCAAACTGGCAGACAGGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCATTTGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCATGTACCTTCATTTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCTCATGTACAGTTGAAACGTTGAAACTTATGGGCAACTGGCAGGACAGGGCAGGAGA 19 CCTAATGGCATTTGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCATGTACCTTCATTTGGAAAATTATCATAGTTCATTGATGACGATGAAACTTTATCACATTTGACGGCACATGGCAGGCA	916 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917
CERV-K0LD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet CERV-K00 CERV-K102 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K108 HERV-K101 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K105587 SERV-K1 chr.112 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.5 CERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 SERV-K104	1797 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1791 1798 1798	CCTAATGGGTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGGAAAATTGTCATTTCTCCATGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTCACATTTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGGCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTGTCATTTCTCATGTACACGTTGATACTTATTCACATTTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGGCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCTATTGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCTCATGACACGTTGATACTTATTCACATTTCTATGGGCAAACTGGCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCATTATGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCATGTACCTTCATTTGGAAAATTATCATTATGTTCTCATGACACGTTGATACTTATTCACATTTCTACGGCAACATGGCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCATTATGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCCATGTACCTTCATTTGGAAAATTATCATTATGTTCTCATGACACGTTGAACAGTTGAATCTTATTCGGGCAACTGGCCAGACAGGGAGA 19 CCTAATGGCATTGGGCAATGGATGTCACCGATGTACCCTTGCATTGGAAAATTATCATTGTTCATGTACACGATGAACCGTTGATCACAGTTGGACAACTGGCAGACAGGGCAGACAGGCCGCAGACAGGGAGA 19 CCTAATGGCATATGGCAAATGGATGTCACGCATGTACCCTTGCATGGAAGATTATCATGGTCAATGACGATGAACCGTGGAACATGGCCAGCAGGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCATTATGGCAAAGGGATGTCACGCATGTACCCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATGTCTATGTACACGATGGAACTTGACCATTGGAAACTGGGCAACTGGCCAAGCAGGGAGA 19 CCTAATGGCATTGGGCAAGTGCACGCGATGTACCCTCACTTGGAAGATTATCATGGTCACGATGAACGATGGAACCTTGATCGGAACATGGCCAACAGGGAA 19 CCTAATGGCATATGGCAAAGGGATGCACGCGATGTACCCGCATGACCTTGACTGAGAGTTATCATATGTTCATGTACAGTTGGAACAGTGGAACTGGCCAGCAGGGGAGA 19 CCTAATGGCATATGGCAAAGGGATGCACGCGATGTACCCGCATGACGCAGGAATTACCATGGACAATGGACAGTTGACCGCGAGAGAGGAA 19 CCTAATGGCAATGGGAAGTGCACGCGATGTACCCGCATGTACCCTTCATTGGAAGATTATCATGGTACGATGAACGAGTGAACCGGAGAACTGGCCAGGCAGG	916 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917
CERV-KOLD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.5 CERV-K06 CERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K107 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.50 CERV-K102 HERV-K106	1797 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798	CCTAATGGGTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGAAAATTGTCATTTCTCCATGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTCACATTTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGGCAGACAGGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCATATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGAAAATTGTCATTTCTCATGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTCACATTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGGCAGACAGGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCATATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCATTTGGAAAATTGTCATTTCTCATGTGACAGTTGATACTTATTCACATTTCTATGGGCAAACTGGCAGACAGGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCATTGGCAAATGGATGTCACCACGTGTACCTTCATTTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCTCATGTACAGTTGATACCTTTATTCACATTTCTATGGGCAAACTGGCAGGACAGGGCAGACAGGCAGACAGGCAGACATGCCAGGACAGGGCAGACAGGCAG	916 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917
CERV-K0LD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K10 CERV-K102 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K508 HERV-K101 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K101 SERV-K102 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K508	1797 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1791 1798 1798	CCTAATGGCTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGGAAAATTGTCATTTCTCCATGTGCACAGTTGATGCTTATTCACATTTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGGCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTGTCATTTCTCATGTACACGTTGATCACTTTTCACATTTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGGCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCTTATGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCTCATGACACGTGATACCTTTTCACATTTCTATGGGCAAACTGGCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCATTGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCTCATGACACGTGATACCTTTTCACATTTCTACGGCAACATGGCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCATTGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCCATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCTCATGACACGTGAACAGTGAACTTAGGGCAACTGGCCAGCAGGAGAGA CCTAATGGCATTGGCAAATGGATGTCACCGATGTACCCTTGCATGGAAGATTATCATATGTTCTCATGACAGTTGAATCTTATTCACATTTCTACGGCAACTGGCCAGCAGGAGAGA CCTAATGGCATTGGGCAAATGGATGTCACGCATGTACCCTTGCATGGAAGATTATCATAGGTCACGATGAACGATGTGATCTACTTCACATTTGGGCAACTGGCCAGCAGGAGAGA CCTAATGGCATTGGGCAAATGGATGCACGCATGTACCCTGCATGGAAGATTAGCATGTGATACCATTGATCCATTTCCACTTTCTATGGGCAACTGGCCAGCAGGGAGA 19 CCTAATGGCATTGGGCAATGGCAGGCGCGCGCGCGCGCGC	916 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917
CERV-KOLD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.11 GUEREZ SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.5 CERV-K06 CERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K109 HERV-K109 HERV-K109 HERV-K109 HERV-K109 HERV-K109 HERV-K109 HERV-K109 HERV-K100 SERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K104 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K104 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106	1797 1798 1797 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798	CCTAATGGCTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGAAAATTGTCATTTCTCCATGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTGCACATTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGCCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGAAAATTGTCATTTCTCTGTGTACAGTTGATAGCTTATTCACATTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGCCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCATTTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCTCATGTACAGTTGATACTTATTCACATTTCTTATGGGCAAACTGGCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACCACGTACCTTCATTTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCTCTGTGTACAGTTGATACTTATTCACATTTCTTATGGGCAACTGGCCAGGCAGG	916 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917 917
CERV-K0LD35587 HERV-K0LD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.5 CERV-K00 CERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K108 HERV-K101 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K101 SERV-K10CHT.21 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.112 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K104 HERV-K10	1797 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798	CCTAATGCGTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACCATGTACCTTCAGTTGGAAAATTGTCATTTCTCCATGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTCACATTTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGCCAGACAGGGAGA 19 CCTAATGCGTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACCATGTGACCTTCATTGGAAAATTGTCATTTCTCATGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTCACATTTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGCCAGACAGGGAGA 19 CCTAATGCGTTATGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCATGTGACCTTCATTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCTCATGACAGTTGAACGTTGATCAATTTTCACATTTCTATGGGCAAACTGGCAGACAGGGAGA 19 CCTAATGCGTATGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCATGTGACCTTCATTTGGAAAATTATCATTGTTCTCATGACAGTTGAACGATGAACTTATGGGCAAACTGGCAGACAGGGCAGGACAG CCTAATGGCATTGGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCCATGTGACGTTCCATTGGAAAATTATCATTGTTCTCATGACAGTTGAACGATGAACTTATGGGCAAACTGGCAGACAGGGCAGGACAG CCTAATGGCATTGGGCAAATGGATGTCACCGATGTACCCTTGCATTGGAAAATTATCATGTGTCATGACAACGATGAACCATGGACAATGGGCAACTGGCCAGACAGGGAG CCTAATGGCATATGGCAAATGGATGTCACGCATGTACCCTTGCATTGGAAGATTATCATGGTCATGTACAGTTGAACCATGGACATTGGCAAACTGGGCAACTGGCCAGACAGGGAG CCTAATGGCATTGGGCAAATGGATGCACGCATGTACCCTTGCATTGGAAGATTATCATGGTCACTGATGACGATGAACCATGGACACTGGCCAAGCAGGGAG CCTAATGGCATTGGGCAAATGGATGCACGCGATGTACCCTCATTGGAAGATTACCATGGTACATTATCACATTGATCCATTGCAAACAGGGAACTGGCCAGCGAGGAG CCTAATGGCATTGGGCAAATGGATGCACGCGATGTACCCGCATGGAGGATATCATATGTTGTCATGACGATGAACCATGGAACTTGACGGCAGATGGCCAGCGAGGAG CCTAATGGCATATGGCAAATGGATGCACGCGATGTACCCGCATGTGACGAGGAATTACCATGGACAATGGACATTGCCAAACAGGGAACTGGCCAGGCAGG	916 9917 9917 9917 9917 9917 9917 9917 9
CERV-KOLD35587 HERV-KOLD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Gurer23 SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K10 CERV-K06 CERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K109 HERV-K109 HERV-K109 HERV-K109 HERV-K109 HERV-K109 HERV-K100 HERV-K100 HERV-K100 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106	1797 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798	CCTAATGGGTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGAAAATTGTCATTTGTCATGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTGCACATTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGCCAGACAGGGAGA 19 CCTAATGGCTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGAAAATTGTCATTTCTCAGTTGTAACAGTGAATTGACATTGATGGCCAGACAGGGAAACTGCCAGACAGGGAGA 19 CCTAATGGCTATTGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCATTTGGAAAATTGTCATTTGTCAGTGTAACAGTTGAATGATTTTCACATTTCTTATGGGCAACTGGCAGACAGGGAGA 19 CCTAATGGCTATTGGCAAATGGATGTCACCAGTGTACCTTCATTTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCTCATGTGACAGTTGAACAGTTGAATGTTATTGACATTTGACATTGGGCAACTGGCAGGACAGGGAGA 19 CCTAATGGCATTGGCAAATGGATGTCACCAGTGTACCTTCATTTGGAAAATTATCATATGTTCATGTCAGGATGAACGGTGAACTTGGCAGACTGGCAGGACGGGCAGGAGCGGCAGGAGAGGGCAGGAGAGGGCAGGAGAGGGCAGGAGG	916 9177 9177 9177 9177 9177 9177 9177 9
CERV-K0LD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.5 CERV-K06 CERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K103587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K106	1797 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798	CCTAATGCGTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACCACTGTACCTTCAGTTGGAAAATTGTCATTTCICCATGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTCACATTTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGCCAGACAGGGAGA 1 CCTAATGCGTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACCACTGTGACCTTCAGTTGGAAAATTGTCATTTCICCATGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTCACATTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGCCAGACAGGGAGA 1 CCTAATGCGTTATGGCAAATGGATGTTACCACTGTACCTTCGATTGGAAAATTGTCATTTGTATGTGATACAGTTGATACCATTTATCACATTTGATGGCAAACTGGCAGACAGGGAGA 1 CCTAATGCGTATTGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCATGTACCTTCGATTGGAAAATTATCATTGTTCTGTGATACAGTTGATACCATTTGACAATTGGGCAAACTGGCAGACAGGGCAGACAGG CCTAATGCGATTGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCATGTACCTTGCATTGGAAAATTATCATTGTTCTGTGATACAGTTGATACCATTGATTCGATTTGGGGAAACTGGCAGACAGGGCAGGAGA 1 CCTAATGCGATTGGCAAATGGATGTCACCGATGTACCTTGCATTGGAAAATTATCATGGTCATGTACAGCGATGAACGTGAACCTGATGGGAAACTGGCAGACAGGGCAGA CCTAATGGCATATGGCAAATGGATGCACGCATGTACCTTGCATTGGAAAATTATCATGGTCAGTGAACAGTGGAACATTGCACATTGGGCAAATGGGCAACTGGCCAGCAGGGAGA 1 CCTAATGGCATATGGCAAATGGATGCACGCATGTACCTTGCATTGGAAGATTATCATGGTCAGTGAACAGTGGAACCTGATCCAGTGGGAACTGGCCAGCAGGGAGA 1 CCTAATGGCATATGGCAAAGGGATGCACGCGATGTACCTCCATTGGAAGATTACCATGGTGAATGACGATGGAACTTGATCGATTGGGCAACTGGCCAAGCAGGGAGA 1 CCTAATGGCATTGGCAAAGGGATGCACGCGATGTACCTCCATTGGAAGATTACCATGGTACATTATCCATTGCATGTACGATGGGAACTTGGCAAACTGGCCAACTGGCCAAGCAGGGAA 1 CCTAATGGCATTGGCAAAGGGATGCACGCGATGTACCTCCATTGGAAGATTACCATGGAACTAGCAGTGAACCGAGGAACTTGCCAAGCAGGGAA 1 CCTAATGGCATTGGCAAAGGGATGCACGCGATGTACCTCCATTGGAAGATTACCATGGTACATTATCCATTGCATGATGCAGTGGAACTGGCCAAGCGGGAGA 1 CCTAATGGCATTGGCAAAGGGATGCACGCGATGTACCTCCATTGGAAGATTACCATGGAACATGGAACTGTACCATGGAACAGGGAACTGCCAAGCAGGGAA 1 CCTAATGGCATTGGGCAAATGGAGATGCACGCGATGTACCTCCATTGGAAGATTACTATGGTGACTGATGACGATGAACCGAGGAACTGGCCAGGAAGGA	916 9177 9177 9177 9177 9177 9177 9177 9
CERV-KOLD35587 HERV-KOLD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Gurer23 SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K109 HERV-K109 HERV-K109 HERV-K109 HERV-K109 HERV-K109 HERV-K109 HERV-K100 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K106	1797 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798	CCTAATGGGTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGGAMAATTGTCATTTCTCCCATGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTGCACATTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGCCAGACAGGGAGAA 19 CCTAATGGCTATTGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGGAMAATTGTCATTTCTCCTGTGACAGTTGATACCTTATTGACAGTTGATTGA	916 9177 991777 99177 9977 9977 997777 997777 997777 997777 997777 997777 997777 997777 997777 997777 997777 997777 997777 9977777 9977777 9977777 99777777
CERV-K0LD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet ERV-K10 CERV-K100 CERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K107 HERV-K107 HERV-K107 SERV-K107 SERV-K107 SERV-K107 SERV-K107 SERV-K107 SERV-K107 SERV-K107 SERV-K107 SERV-K107 SERV-K107 SERV-K107 SERV-K107 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K107 HERV-K107 SERV-K106 HERV-K107 SERV-K107 SERV-K107 SERV-K107 SERV-K107 SERV-K107 SERV-K107 SERV-K107 SERV-K107 SERV-K107 HERV-K107 SERV-K107 HERV-K107 HERV-K107 SERV-K	1797 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798	CCTANIGGGTATIGGCAMATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGGAMATTGTCATTTCTCACTTCGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTCACATTTGTAAGGGCAMACTGCCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTANIGGCAMATGGATGTTACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGGAMATTGTCATTTCTCATTGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTCACATTTGTAAGGGCAMACTGCCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTANIGGCAMATGGATGTTACACATGTACCTTCATTTGGAMATTATCATATGTTCATGTGAAGTTGATACTTATTCACATTTGATAGGGCAMACTGCCAGACAGGAGAA 19 CCTANIGGCAMATGGATGTTACACATGTACCTTCATTTGGAMATTATCATATGTTCATGTGAAGGTTGATGCTTATTCACATTTGATAGGGCAMACTGCCAGACAGGGAGA 19 CCTANIGGCAMATGGATGTTACACCATGTACCTTCATTTGGAMATTATCATATGTTCATGTGAAGGTTGATACTTATTCACATTTGATAGGGCAMACTGCCAGACAGGGAGA 19 CCTANIGGCAMATGGATGTGTACCCAGTGTACCTTCATTTGGAMATTATCATATGTTCATGTTCAGTGTAGATGTTGATACATTTGATTGGGCAMCTGCCAGACAGGGAGA 19 CCTANIGGCATATGGCAMATGGATGTCACCCAGTGTACCTTCATTTGGAMATTATCATATGTTCATGTCAGTGTGATAGCTTGATACCATTTGATTGGGCAACTGCCAGACAGGGAGA 19 CCTANIGGCATATGGCAMATGGATGTCACCGACGTGTACCTTCATTTGGAMATTATCATATGTTCATGTCAGTGTCAGTGTGATACTTTATTCACATTTGATAGGGCAACTGCCAGACAGGGAGA 19 CCTANIGGCATTGGCAAATGGATGTCACCGACGTGTACCTTCATTTGGAMATTATCATATGTTCATGTCAGGTGTGATCTTATTCACATTTGATAGGGCAACTGCCAGACAGGGAAA 19 CCTANIGGCATTGGCAAATGGATGTCACCGACGTGTACCTTCATTTGGAAGATTACTATGTTGATGTGATAGGTGATGTCACATTTGATCAAACAGGGAAA 19 CCTANIGGCATTGGCAAATGGATGTCACCGACGTGTACCTTCATTTGGAAGATTGGTATGTGTAGTGTAGAGTGATACTTATTCACATTTGATAGGGCAACTGCCAACAGGGAAA 19 CCTANIGGCATTGGCAAATGGATGTCACCGACGTGTACCTTCATTTGGAAGATTGGTAGTGTGTCAGTGTAGAGTGAGT	9166999177 99107799177 991777999177799919999999999
CERV-KOLD35587 HERV-KOLD35587 SERV-KI chr.11 Gurer2a SERV-KI chr.12 Grivet SERV-KI chr.12 Grivet ERV-KI06 HERV-KI06 HERV-KI06 HERV-KI06 HERV-KI06 HERV-KI06 HERV-KI06 HERV-KI06 HERV-KI06 HERV-KI06 HERV-KI06 HERV-KI06 HERV-KI06 HERV-KI07 HERV-KI07 HERV-KI08 HERV-KI08 HERV-KI08 HERV-KI02 HERV-KI02 HERV-KI02 HERV-KI02 HERV-KI02 HERV-KI02 HERV-KI06 HERV-KI08	1797 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798	CCTANTGGGTATIGGGAANTGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGGAMATTGTCATTTCTCCATGTGGACAGTGGATGGTGATGCTGATTCACATTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGCCAGACAGGGAGAA 19 CCTANTGGGTATIGGCAANTGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGGAMATTGTCATTTCTCAGTGTGATGGTGATGCTTATTCACATTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGCCAGACAGGGAGA 19 CCTANTGGCTATIGGCAANTGGATGTTACCACTGTACCTTCATTTGGAMATTATCATATGTTCATGTGATAGGTTGATACTTATTCACATTTGATAGGGCAAACTGCCAGACAGGGAGA 19 CCTANTGGCTATIGGCAANTGGATGTTACCCACTGTACCTTCATTTGGAMATTATCATATGTTCATGTAAGGTTGATACTTATTCACATTTGATAGGGCAACTGCCAGACAGGGAGA 19 CCTANTGGCTATIGGCAANTGGATGTTACCCACTGTACCTTCATTTGGAMATTATCATATGTTCATGTTCAGTGTAAGGTTGATACCATTTGATTGGGCAACTGCCAGACAGGGAAA 19 CCTANTGGCATATGGCAANTGGATGTCACCCACGACGACGTCTTGCGAMATTATCATATGTTCATGTCAGTGTAAGGTGGATACTTATTCCACTTTCATATGGGCAACTGCCAGACAGGGAAA 19 CCTANTGGCATATGGCAANTGGATGTCACCCACGACGACGTCCTCATTTGGAAGATTATCATATGTTCATGTCAGAGTGGATACTTCACATTCATATGGGCAACTGCCAGACAGGGAAA 19 CCTANTGGCATATGGCAANTGGATGTCACCGACGACGACGTCAGTGCAGAGAACTGTCAGTAGTACATTATTGCACATTGGCAAACTGCAGACGGGAACTGCCCAGACAGGGAAA 19 CCTANTGGCATATGGCAANTGGATGTCACCGACGACGACGTCAGTCCAGAGAGAAACTGGCAGACTGTCAGACAGGGAAA 19 CCTANTGGCATATGGCAANTGGATGTCACCGACGACGACGTCAGCCAGAGAGAAACTGGCAGACTGCCAGACAGGGAAA 19 CCTANTGGCATATGGCAANTGGATGTCACCGACGACGACGTCAGTCCAGAGGAGAAACTGGCAACTGCCAGACAGGGAAA 19 CCTANTGGCATATGGCAANTGGATGTCACCGACGACGACGACGACGAGAGAACTGTCAGACGAGGAAACTGGCAACTGCCAAACAGGGAAA 19 CCTANTGGCAANTGGATGTCACGCAGGAGGACGCTCCCTCAATTGGAAGGAGAATTACTATGTGTCAGTGTAACGAGGAGGAGAACTTGCCAAACGGGAAACTGCAGACGAGAAACTGGCAACTGCCAGAGGGAAACTGCAGGAGAA 19 CCTANTGGCAANTGGAATGGCAGTGTCACCGACGACGCTCCTCATTGGAAGGAGGAATTGGTAGTGGTCAGGTGGACAGTGCCAACAGGGAAACTGCAGAGGAGAAACTGGCAAGTGGCAACTGCCAGAGGAGAAACTGGAGGAGAACTGGCAAGTGGCAACTGCCAACAGGGAAACTGGCAAGTGGCAAGTGGCAAGTGGCAGGAGGAAGAAGAGGAAACTGGCAAGTGGCAAGTGCCAGAGGAGAAGAGAGAAGAGAAGAGAAGAAGAGAAAGGGAAAA	991679991779991999999999999999999999999
CERV-KOLD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet ERV-K106 CERV-K106 CERV-K106 HERV-K104 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K10 HERV-K108	1797 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798	CCTANTGGGTATIGGCAMATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTTGGAMATTGTCATTTCTCCATGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTCACATTTGTAAGGGCAMACTGCCAGACAGGGAGA 19 CCTANTGGCTANTGGCAMATGGATGTTACACATGTACCTTCATGTGGAMATTGTCATTTCTCCATGTGTACAGTTGATACCTTTATTCACATTTGTAAGGGCAMACTGCCAGACAGGGAGA 19 CCTANTGGCAMATGGATGTTACACATGTACCTTCATTTGGAMATTATCATATGTTCATGTGTAAGGTTGATACTTATTCACATTTGTAAGGGCAMACTGCCAGACAGGGAGA 19 CCTANTGGCAMATGGATGTTACACAGTGTACCTTCATTTGGAMATTATCATATGTTCATGTGTAAGGTTGATACTTATTCACATTTGATAGGGCAMACTGCCAGACAGGGAGA 19 CCTANTGGCAMATGGATGTTACCCATGTACCTTCATTTGGAMATTATCATATGTTCATGTTAGGTAGATGTTATTCACATTTGATAGGGCAMACTGCCAGACAGGGAGA 19 CCTANTGGCATATGGCAMATGGATGTCACCCATGTACCTTCATTTGGAMATTATCATATGTTCATGTACAGTTGATACTTATTCACATTTGATGGGGCAACTGCCAGACAGGGAGA 19 CCTANTGGCATATGGCAMATGGATGTCACCCATGTACCTTCATTTGGAMATTATCATATGTTCATGTACAGTTGATACCATTTATTCACATTTGATAGGGCAACTGCCAGACAGGGAGA 19 CCTANTGGCATATGGCAMATGGATGTCACCGACGTGCACCTTCATTGGAMATTATCATATGTTCATGTACAGGTGATACTTTATTCACATTTGATAGGGCAACTGCCAGACAGGGAAA 19 CCTANTGGCATATGGCAMATGGATGTCACCGACGTGCACCTTCATTTGGAMATTATCATATGTTCGTATAGGAGTGATACTTATTCACATTTGATAGGGCAACTGCCAGACAGGGAAA 19 CCTANTGGCATATGGCAAATGGATGTCACCGACGTGCACCTCCTCATTGGAMATTATCATATGTTCGTTAGTGACAGGTGGATACTTTATTCACATTGCAACAGGGAA 19 CCTANTGGCATATGGCAAATGGATGTCACCGACGTGCACCTCCTCAAGGAGGAA 19 CCTANTGGCATATGGCAAATGGATGTCACCGACGTGCCACCTCCTCAGAGGGAAACTGCCAGGTGGAACTGCCAGACAGGGAAA 19 CCTANTGGCATATGGCAAATGGATGTCACCGACGTGCACCTCCTCATTGGGAGGATTGCCTAATGTCAGAGGGAACTGCCAGACGGAACGAGGAA 19 CCTANTGGCATATGGCAAATGGATGTCACCGACGTGCCCACTGCCTGAGGAGGAAGTATGCTATGTGTAGTGTAGAGGAGGTGAGTGCCAGACGGAACGGGAAACTGCAGAGGGAAACTGCAGGGAACTGCCAGAGGAAACGGGAAACTGCAGAGGGAAACTGCAGAGGAAGAAGGAAG	99167 99177 99177 99177 991777 991777 9917777 9917777 9917777 9917777 9917777 99177777 9917777 9917777 99177777 99177777 9917777 99177777 99177777 9917777 9917777 9917777 991777777 99177777 991777777 99177777777
CERV-K0LD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.5 CERV-K00 CERV-K102 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K108 HERV-K101 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K105587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K108 HERV-K101 HERV-K108 HERV-K101 HERV-K108 HERV-K101 HERV-K108 HERV-K101 HERV-K108 HERV-	1797 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798	CCTANTGGCTTATGGCAAATGGATGTCACACATGTACCTTCAGTGGAAAATGTCATTGTCACTTTCTCCAGTGGACAGTGATGCTTATTCACATTTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGCAGAGAGAAGA CCTANTGGCTTATGGCAAATGGATGTTACCACATGTACCTTCATTGGAAAATTGTCATTTCTTCTCTGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTCACATTTTGTAAGGGCAAACTGCCAGACAGGGAAA CCTATGCCTTATGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCCTGTATCCTTCATTTGGAAAATTGTCATTTCTTCTGTGACAGTTGATGCTTATTCACATTTTGTATGGGCAACTGCCAGACAGGGAAA CCTATGCCTTATGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCCTGTGTACCTTCATTTGGAAAATTATCTATGTTCATGTGACAGTTGATACTTTTTCACTTTTTCTATTGGACAACTGGCCAGACAGGGAAA CCTATGGCATTGGCAAATGGATGTTACCCCTGTGTACCTTCATTTGGAAAATTATCTATGTTCAGTGTAACAGTTGATACTTTTTTCAATTTCATTTGGGCAACTGGCCAGACAGGGAAA CCTATGGCATTGGCAATGGATGTACCCCTGTGTACCTTCTTTTGGAAAATTATCTATGTTCAGTGTAACAGTGGATACAGTGGATACAGCCGCAGACAGGGAAA CCTATGGCATTGGCAATGGATGTACCCCTGTGTACCTTCATTTGGAAAATTATCAATGTCTATGGATGG	916699917799199999999999999999999999999
CERV-KOLD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Gurer2a SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K102 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K109 HERV-K109 HERV-K109 HERV-K109 HERV-K109 HERV-K109 HERV-K109 HERV-K109 HERV-K109 HERV-K109 HERV-K109 HERV-K109 HERV-K100 SERV-K102 SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K106 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K109 HERV-K109 HERV-K102 HERV-K109 HERV-K102	1797 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798	CCTANTGGG TATAGGG AAT GGA TGT CA.C.M.C.ATGT TGCAMAATTGT CATTGT CACATGT GALAGTTGA TGT TGT AAATTTGT CAATTTGT AAGGGCAAACTGC CAGACAGGGGAA 1 CCTANTGGG TATAGGCAATTGGA TGT CACACATGT ACCTTCAATTG GGAAATTGT CATTGT CACATGT GALAGTT GALAGTT TGT AAGGT TATTT CAATTGGC CAGACAGGGC CGGC GAACAGGGGAA CCTANTGGC TATGGC AAATGGA TGT AACCAGTGT ACCCTTCATTT GGAAAATTATC TATTGT CATTGT GALAGTT TGT ATATTT CAATTTC CAATTGGG CACATGCC GAGACAGGGAA CCTANTGGC TATGGC AAATGGA TGT TACCCCT GATGT CCTTCATTT TGGAAAATTATC TATGT TCT GATTG GATTATTT CAATTTC CAATTGGG CACATGCC GAGACAGGGAA CCTANTGGC TATGGC AAATGGA TGT TACCCCA TGT ACCTTC TTT TGGAAAATTATC TATGT TCT GATTG GATTATTT CAATTGGG CAACTGC CAGACAGGGAA CCTANTGGC TATGGC AAATGGA TGT TACCCCA TGT ACCTTC TTT TGGAAAATTATC TATGT TCT GATTG GATTATTT CAATTGGGC AACTGC CAGACAGGGAA CCTANTGGC TATGGC AAATGGA TGT CAC CGA TGT ACCTTC TTT TGGAAAATTATC TATGT TCT GATTG GATTATTT CAATTTC CAATTGGG CAACTGC CCGAACAGGGAA CCTANTGGC TATGGC AAATGGA TGT CAC GCA TGT ACCTTC TTT TGGAAAATTATC CAATTGC TGT TAC TGT TATC CAATTTC CAATTGC GAATGGGA CTT CCCAGGGAA CCTANTGGC ATTGGA TGT CAG CGA TGT ACCTTC TTT TGGAAAGT TAC CAATTGC CAATGT CGA TGT CAG TGT TAC TTT CAATTTC CAATTGC AATGGG CAATGC CCGAACGGAA CCTANTGGC ATTGGA TGT CAG CGA TGT CAC CCTTC TTT TGGAAGAT TAC CAATTGC CAATGT CGA TGT CAG TGT TAC TT TC CAATTCC AATGGG CAAGGGAA CCTANTGGA TT TGGA TGC CAGCATGT CAC CCTTC CTT TGGAAGAT TAC CAATTGC CAATGT CGA TGT CAG TGT TAC CATTTC CAATTCC AATGGG CAAGGGAA CCTANTGGA TT TGGA TGC CAGCATGT CAC CCTTC CTT TGGAAGAT TAC CATTGC TGT TAC TGT TAC AGTT CAATTCC AATGGG CAAGGGAA CCTANTGGA TT TGGA TGC CAGCATGT CAC CCTTC CTT TGGAAGAT TAC CATTGC TGT CAG CGT GAACGT CGA CCT TGC CAAGCAGGGAA CCTANTGGA TT TGGA TGC CGA CT TGC CAG TGT CAC CTT TG CT CAG CGA TGT CAC TGT CAG CGA CT TGC CAACCAGGGAA CCTANTGGA TT TGGA CGA TGT CAG CGA TGT CAT TGT TG CAG TGT TGA TGT TGA TGT TGA TGT TGA CAG TGT CAG CGA TGT CAG	99917777999999999999999999999999999999
CERV-K0LD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet ERV-K10 CERV-K100 CERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K101 HERV-K101 HERV-K100 HERV-K100 HERV-K100 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K101 SERV-K105587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K104 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K107 HERV-K107 HERV-K107 HERV-K108 HERV-K107 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K108 HERV-K107 HERV-K108 HERV-K	1797 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798 1798	CETANTGGG TATAGGG ANA TGGATGT CALAKATGT ACCTTC ANT TGGAAAATTGT CATTTGT CALAGT TGA CACTTGA TGATGT TTATAGATTTT GAATGGG CAAACTGGC AGA CAGGGGAA E CETANTGGG TATAGGC AATGGATGT CACACATGT ACCTTC ATTGGAAAATTGT CATTTGT CATGT GAACAGTT GATACTTT TATAGATTTT CAATTGGG CACAGTGC CAGACAGGGAA E CETANTGGC TATGGC AATGGATGT TACCCA TGT ACCTTC TTTT GGAAAATTGT CATTTC TATTGT GAATGT TATTT CAATTTGGC ACGC TGGC CAGACAGGGAA E CETANTGGC TATGGC AATGGATGT TACCCA TGT ACCTTC TTTT TGGAAAATTTACTATGT TCT AGTGT GAACGT TGATACTTTT CAATTTGGGAACATGCC CAGACAGGGAA E CETANTGGC TATGGC AATGGATGT TACCCA TGT ACCTTC TTTT GGAAAATTTACTATGT TCT AGTGT GAACGT TGATACTTTT CAATTTGGGAACATGCC CAGACAGGGAA E CETANTGGC TATGGC AATGGATGT TACCCA TGT ACCTTC ATTTGGAAAATTTACTATGT TCT AGTGT GAACGT TGATACTTTT CAATTTC CAATTCC ATTGGG CAACTGC CAGACAGGGAA E CETANTGGC ATTGGG CAATGGATGT CACCGATGT ACCTTC ATTT TGGAAAATTTACTATGT TCT AGTGT GAACGT TGATACTTT TCT AATTTC CAATTCC ATTGGG CAACTGC CAGACAGGGAA E CETANTGGC ATTGGG CAATGGATGT CACGCATGT CACCTTC ATTTGGAAAATTACCAATTGC CATGT GAACAGT TGATACAGT TTACTATTTC CAATTCC ATTGGG CAACTGC CAGACAGGGAA E CETANTGGC ATTGGG CAATGGATG CACGC TGT TACCTTC ATTT GGAAGATT TACCATTCC ATTGT GAATGT GAATGT TACTTT CAATTGGG CAACTGC CAGACAGGGAA E CETANTGGC ATTGGG CAATGGATGT CACGCATGT CACCTTC TTT TGGAAGATT TACCATTCC ATTGT GAATGT GAATGT TACTTT CAATTGGG CAACTGC CAGACAGGGAA E CETANTGGATTAGGC AATGGATGT CAGCGATGT ACCTTC TTT TGGAAGATT TACTATTGT TCAGT TGATACAGT TGAATGT TACTT TT TACATTTC CAATTGGG CAACTGC CAAACGGGAA E CETANTGGATTAGGC AATGGATGT CAGCGATGT ACCTTC TTT TGGAAGATTACCATTGT TACTG TATACGAT TTACATTTC CAATTGGG CAACTGC CAAACGGGAA E CETANTGGATTAGGC AATGGATGT CAGCGATGT CACCTTC TTT TGGAAGATTACTATGT TGT TACTG TGAT CAGT TT ATTC AATTTC CAATTCG CAATGGG CATGC CAAGAGGAA E CETANTGGATTAGGG AATGGATGT CAGCGATGT CACCTTC TTT TGGAGAGT TACCATGT TGAT TGA	999107 999107 999177 9999999999999999999

CERV-KOLD35587 HERV-KOLD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12 Grivet SERV-K1 chr.5 CERV-K102 HERV-K102 HERV-K104 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K106 HERV-K109 HERV-K109 HERV-K109 HERV-K115 SERV-K105 HERV-K105 HERV-K105 HERV-K105 HERV-K105 HERV-K105 HERV-K105 HERV-K105 HERV-K105 HERV-K105 HERV-K105 HERV-K105 SERV-K1	2037 2038 2038 2038 2038 2038 2038 2038 2038	CAGTGGAAAATTACACATACAACAGGAATCCCTTATAATTCCCAAGGACAGGTCATAATTGAAAAAACTGATAGAACACTCAAAGGTCAAATTGGTTAAACAAAAAAGGAAAAAGCACGT 2156 CAGTGGAAAATTACACATACAACAGGAATCCCTTATAATTCCCAAGGACAGGCCATATTGAAAAAACTGATAGAACACTCAAATGGTTAAACTAAAAAAGGAAAAAAGCACGT 2156 CAGGGGAAAATTACACATACAACAGGAATTCCTTATAATTCCCAAGGACAGGCCATATTGAAAAAACTGATAGAACACTCAAATGTTAATTGATAAAAAAAGGAAAAAGCACGT 2157 CAGTGGAATTTACACATACAACAGGAATTCCTTATAATTCCCAAGGACAGGCCATAGTTGAAAAAACTGATAGAACCTCAATAGTAATGATAACAAAAAGAGGGGAGACACT 2157 CAGTGGAATTTACACATACAACAGGAATTCCTTATAATTCCCAAGGACAGGCCATAGTTGAAAAAAACTAATGAAACTCAATTAATT
HERV-K102	2038	castiggardatticasticastacasticitatatticitasticcastasticastasticastastastastastastastastastastastastasta
HERV-ROOM	2050	
CERV-KOLD35587 HERV-KOLD35587 SERV-K1 chr.11 Guereza SERV-K1 chr.12	2157 2157 2158 2158 2158	ARGGAGTATAACACTCCCCCAGATGCAACTTAATCTAGCACTCTATACTTTAACTTTATAAACATTTATAGAAATCAAACCACTACTTCTCCCAGAACAACATTTACTGGTAAAAAGAAC 2276 AAGGAGTATAACACTCCCCAGATGCAACTTAATCTAGCACTCTATACTTTAACTTTTTAAACATTTATAGAAATCAAACCACTACTTCTGCAGAACAACATTTACTGGTAAAAAGAAT 2276 AAGGAGTATAACACTCCCCCAGATGCAACTTAATCTAGCACTCTATACTTTAAATTTTTTAAACATTTATAGAAATCAAACCACTACTTCTGCAGAACAACATCTTACTGGTAAAAAAGAAC 2277 AAGGAGTATACCACTCCCTCAGATGCAGCTTAATCTTAGCACTCTATACTTTAAAATTTTTAAACATTTATAGAAATCAGACTACCACTCTGCGCAGAACAACATCTTACTGGTAAAAAAGAAC AAGGAGTATACCACTCCCTCCAGATGCAGCTTAATCTTAGCACTCTATACTTTAAACTTTTTAACAATTATAGAAATCAGACTACCACTCTGCGCAGAACAACATCTTACTGGTAAAAAAGAC 2000 A AGGAGTATACCACTCCTCCTCAGATGCAGCTTAATCTGGACACACATCTTAGCAATCAGACTACCACTCTGCGCAGAACAACATCTTACTGGTAAAAAAGAC
SFRV-K1 chr. 5	2150	Angong is tacked in the index of that index in the internet internet in the grant carded in the index date internet int
CERV-K60	2155	AAGGAGTGTACCACTCCTCAGATGCAACTTAATCTAGCACTCTATACTTTAAAATTTTTTAAACATTTATAGAAAATCAGACTACTACTTCTGCAGAACATCTTACTGGTAAAAAAAAAA
CERV-K102	2158	AAGGAGTGTACCACTCCTCAGATGGAACTTAATCTAGGACTCATACTTTAAATTTTTAAAACATTTATAGAAATCAGACTACTACTCTGTAGAACAAACA
HERV-K50D	2154	ANGGAGTGTACCACTCCTCAGATGCAACTTAATCTAGCACTCATTATTTTAAATTTTTTTAAACATTATAGAATCAGACTACTACTCTCTGCAGAACAACATCTTACTGTTAAAAGAAC
HERV-K50B	2158	AAGGAGTGTACCACTCCTCAGATGCAACTTAATCTAGCACTCTATACTTTAAAATTTTTTAAACATTTATAGAAATCAGACTACTACTGCAGAACAACATCTTACTGGTAAAAAGAAC 2277
HERV-K106	2153	AAGGAGTGTACCACTCCTCAGATGCAACTTAATCTAGCACTCTATACTTTAAATTTTTTAAACATTTATAGAAATCAGACTACTACTTCTCGGAAGAAACATCTTACTGGTAAAAAGAAC AAGGAGTGTACCACTCCTTAGATGCAACTTAATCTAGCATCTATATTTTTTAAACATTTATAGAAATCAGACTACTACTTCTCGGAAGAAGATTTAATCGAAAAGGAC 2272
HERV-K103	2158	Anggang The Technologic Activation and the transmission of the technologic and the technologic activation of technologic activation activ
CERV-K100	2158	ANGGAGTGTACCACTCCTCAGATGCAACTTAATCTTAGCACTCTATACTTTATAAATTTTTTAAACATTTATAGAAATCAGACTACTACTACTGCAGAACAAACA
HERV-KI0 HERV-K108	2158	ANGGAG IG IACLACITCICAGA IGLAACTIAAT TAGGALICIA IACITIAAATITTITTAAACATITAIAGAAAI LAGAALIACIACIACIAGTAACAATITIACAAAAGAACAACIACIACIACIACIACIACIACIACIACIACIACI
HERV-K109	2127	AAGGAGTGTACCACTCCTCAGATGCAACTTAATCTAGCACTCTATACTTTAAAATTTTTTAAACATTTATAGAAATCAGACTACTACTGCAGAACAACATCTTACTGGTAAAAAGAAC 2246
HERV-K113	2158	AAGGAGTGTACCACTCCTCAGATGGAACTTAATCTAGGACCCTATACTTTATAAATTTTTTAAACATTTATAGAAATCAGACTACTACTCTGGCAGACAAACATCTTACTGGTAAAAAGAAC 2277
HERV-K115	2152	ANGGASTGTACCATTCCTCAGATGCAACTTAATCTAGCATTCATTAATTTTTTTAACATTTATAGAATCAGACTACTTCTCGCAGAACAACATCTTACTGTAAAAAGAAC
HERV-K102	2158	AAGGAGTGTACCACTCCTCAGATGCAACTTAATCTAGCACTCTATACTTTATACATTTTTAAACATTTATAGAAATCAGACTACTACTTCTGCAGAACAACATCTTACTGGTAAAAAAAA
HERV-K50A	2158	
CERV-KOLD35587	2277	AGCCCACATGAAGGAAAACTG 2297
HERV-KOLD35587 SERV-K1 cbr 11	2277	AGCCCACATGAAGGAAAACTG 2297
Guereza	2278	AGCCCACATGAAGGAAAACTG 2298
SERV-K1 chr.12	2278	AGTECACATGAAGGAAAACTG 2298
Grivet	2278	AGTCCACATGAAGGAAAACTG 2298
CERV-KG0	2272	
CERV-K102	2278	AGCCCACATGAAGGAAAACTA 2298
HERV-K104	2274	AGCCCACATGAAGGAAAACTA 2294
HERV-K50D HERV-K50B	2274	AGCCCACA IGANGGANANCIA 2234
HERV-K106	2273	AGCCCACATGAAGGAAAACTA 2293
HERV-K101	2277	AGCCCACATGAAGGAAAACTA 2297
CERV-K103	22/8	AGULLALA ISAAGGAAAALTA 2298
HERV-K10	2278	AGCCCACATGAAGGAAAACTA 2298
HERV-K108	2278	AGCCCACATEAAGGAAAACTA 2298
HERV-K109	2247	AUCLULUA I UAAUUMAAALIA 2207
HERV-K36	2272	AGCCCACATGAAGGAAAACTA 2292
HERV-K115	2278	AGCCCACATCAAGGAAAACTA 2298
HERV-K102	22/8	AGULARATIOANGUMANALIA 2230 AGULARATIOANGUMANALIA 2238

Appendix 1 Figure S3: Alignment of SERV-K to primate ERVs. Nucleotide alignment showing part of the pol locus of SERV-K from rhesus macaque r02120 aligned to various ERVs from hominids (humans, chimpanzees) and old world monkeys. Matches at each amino acid position are indicated with asterisks (\*). The SERV-K1 locus described here is highlighted in grey. CERV = chimpanzee endogenous retrovirus; HERV = human endogenous retrovirus. Sequences shown here were used to construct phylogram in Figure 1d.



**Appendix 1 Figure S4: ELISPOT titration of SERV-K1 Env-specific T cell responses. (A)** Titration of SERV-K1 Env LL15-specific CD4+ T cell response in r02120 (1 week prior to SIV infection) using decreasing concentrations of peptide. Influenza nucleoprotein 15-mer MQ15 is included as a negative control. (B) Titration of SERV-K1 Env PA8-specific CD8+ T cell response in r02120 (20 weeks post-SIV infection) using decreasing concentrations of peptide.

```
a

SERV-K1 Env 526-540 LRQTVIWMGDRLMSL

SIVmac239 Env 703-717 -LRI--YIVQM-AK-

b

SERV-K1 Env 109-115 PFPPLIRA

SIVmac239 Env 236-243 -GYA-L-C

SIVmac239 Env 865-872 AI-RR--Q
```

Appendix 1 Figure S5: Alignments of SERV-K1 Env T cell epitopes to SIVmac239 Env peptides. (A) Amino acid alignment of r02120 CD4+ T cell epitope SERV-K1 Env LL15 to SIVmac239 Env LL15. This is the only SIVmac239 Env peptide with 10 or less mismatches to SERV-K1 Env LL15. (B) Amino acid alignment of r02120 CD8+ T cell epitope SERV-K1 Env PA8 to SIVmac239 Env PC8 and AQ8. These are the only SIVmac239 Env peptides with 5 or less mismatches to SERV-K1 Env PA8. For both (a) and (b), matches to the SERV-K1 Env peptide are shown as dashes.

### V. References

- 1. G. Turner *et al.*, Insertional polymorphisms of full-length endogenous retroviruses in humans. *Curr Biol.* **11**, 1531–1535 (2001).
- 2. M. Barbulescu *et al.*, Many human endogenous retrovirus K (HERV-K) proviruses are unique to humans. *Curr Biol.* **9**, 861–868 (1999).
- 3. E. J. Grow *et al.*, Intrinsic retroviral reactivation in human preimplantation embryos and pluripotent cells. *Nature*. **522**, 221–225 (2015).
- 4. T. Christensen, HERVs in neuropathogenesis. *J Neuroimmune Pharmacol.* **5**, 326–335 (2010).
- 5. S. Mi *et al.*, Syncytin is a captive retroviral envelope protein involved in human placental morphogenesis. *Nature*. **403**, 785–789 (2000).
- 6. K. Büscher *et al.*, Expression of the human endogenous retrovirus-K transmembrane envelope, Rec and Np9 proteins in melanomas and melanoma cell lines. *Melanoma Res.* **16**, 223–234 (2006).
- 7. F. Wang-Johanning *et al.*, Expression of multiple human endogenous retrovirus surface envelope proteins in ovarian cancer. *Int J Cancer*. **120**, 81–90 (2007).
- 8. R. Contreras-Galindo *et al.*, Human endogenous retrovirus K (HML-2) elements in the plasma of people with lymphoma and breast cancer. *J Virol.* **82**, 9329–9336 (2008).
- 9. G. Freimanis *et al.*, A role for human endogenous retrovirus-K (HML-2) in rheumatoid arthritis: investigating mechanisms of pathogenesis. *Clin Exp Immunol.* **160**, 340–347 (2010).
- 10. H.-A. A. Michaud *et al.*, Trans-activation, post-transcriptional maturation, and induction of antibodies to HERV-K (HML-2) envelope transmembrane protein in HIV-1 infection. *Retrovirology*. **11**, 10 (2014).
- 11. K. E. Garrison *et al.*, T cell responses to human endogenous retroviruses in HIV-1 infection. *PLoS Pathog.* **3**, e165 (2007).
- 12. R. B. Jones *et al.*, HERV-K-specific T cells eliminate diverse HIV-1/2 and SIV primary isolates. *J Clin Invest*. **122**, 4473–4489 (2012).
- 13. H.-A. Michaud *et al.*, Cutting edge: An antibody recognizing ancestral endogenous virus glycoproteins mediates antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity on HIV-1-infected cells. *J Immunol.* **193**, 1544–1548 (2014).
- 14. Y. N. Lee, P. D. Bieniasz, Reconstitution of an infectious human endogenous retrovirus. *PLoS Pathog.* **3**, e10 (2007).

- B. Zhumabayeva, C. Chang, J. McKinley, L. Diatchenko, P. D. Siebert, Generation of full-length cDNA libraries enriched for differentially expressed genes for functional genomics. *Biotechniques*. 30, 512–6–518–20 (2001).
- B. Zhumabayeva, A. Chenchik, P. D. Siebert, RecA-mediated affinity capture: a method for full-length cDNA cloning. *Biotechniques*. 27, 834–6–838–840 passim (1999).
- S. E. P. Champiat *et al.*, T cells target APOBEC3 proteins in human immunodeficiency virus type 1-infected humans and simian immunodeficiency virus-infected Indian rhesus macaques. *Journal of Virology*. 87, 6073–6080 (2013).
- 18. N. C. Sheppard *et al.*, Vaccination against endogenous retrotransposable element consensus sequences does not protect rhesus macaques from SIVsmE660 infection and replication. *PLoS One.* **9**, e92012 (2014).
- 19. K. K. A. Van Rompay *et al.*, Immunization of newborn rhesus macaques with simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV) vaccines prolongs survival after oral challenge with virulent SIVmac251. *Journal of Virology*. **77**, 179–190 (2003).
- 20. O. Hohn, K. Hanke, N. Bannert, HERV-K(HML-2), the Best Preserved Family of HERVs: Endogenization, Expression, and Implications in Health and Disease. *Front Oncol.* **3**, 246 (2013).
- A. C. van der Kuyl, HIV infection and HERV expression: a review. *Retrovirology*. 9, 6 (2012).
- 22. J. R. Currier *et al.*, Peptide impurities in commercial synthetic peptides and their implications for vaccine trial assessment. *Clin Vaccine Immunol.* **15**, 267–276 (2008).
- R. K. Karlsson, W. Jennes, K. Page-Shafer, D. F. Nixon, B. L. Shacklett, Poorly soluble peptides can mimic authentic ELISPOT responses. *J Immunol Methods*. 285, 89–92 (2004).
- 24. A. Lang, J. D. Brien, J. Nikolich-Zugich, Inflation and long-term maintenance of CD8 T cells responding to a latent herpesvirus depend upon establishment of latency and presence of viral antigens. *J Immunol.* **183**, 8077–8087 (2009).
- 25. W. J. Lee, H. J. Kwun, H. S. Kim, K. L. Jang, Activation of the human endogenous retrovirus W long terminal repeat by herpes simplex virus type 1 immediate early protein 1. *Mol Cells*. **15**, 75–80 (2003).
- 26. A. Assinger, K.-C. C. Yaiw, I. G o ttesdorfer, C. Leib-M o sch, C. S o derberg-Naucl e r, Human cytomegalovirus (HCMV) induces human endogenous retrovirus (HERV) transcription. *Retrovirology*. **10**, 132 (2013).

- 27. S. E. P. Guindon, F. Lethiec, P. Duroux, O. Gascuel, PHYML Online--a web server for fast maximum likelihood-based phylogenetic inference. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **33**, W557–9 (2005).
- 28. K. Reus *et al.*, HERV-K(OLD): ancestor sequences of the human endogenous retrovirus family HERV-K(HML-2). *Journal of Virology*. **75**, 8917–8926 (2001).

### Appendix 2: Tertiary mutations stabilize CD8+ T lymphocyte escape-associated compensatory mutations following transmission of simian immunodeficiency virus.

Benjamin J. Burwitz, Helen L. Wu, Jason S. Reed, Katherine B. Hammond, Laura P.Newman, Benjamin N. Bimber, Francesca A. Nimiyongskul, Enrique J. Leon, Nicholas J.Maness, Thomas C. Friedrich, Masaru Yokoyama, Hironori Sato, Tetsuro Matano, DavidH. O'Connor, Jonah B. Sacha.

### **Author contributions**

The author created the SIVmac239-2V, SIVmac239-2V-P, and SIVmac239-P viruses, and performed and made figures for the experiments shown in Figure 4B, C, and E.

### I. The problem and scientific approach

Reversion of particular CD8+ T cell escape mutations is well documented following human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) transmission between HLA-discordant individuals and is dependent upon the fitness cost of the escape mutation. Escape mutations that exact a high fitness cost often revert following HIV transmission to an HLA-discordant individual, while those that impose a low fitness cost do not (1)(2)(3). Two epitopes targeted by CD8+ T cell responses associated with long-term HIV control, HLA-B\*27-bound Gag263-272 KK10 and HLA-B\*57-bound Gag240-249 TW10, lie within a conserved region of Gag, and escape mutations within these epitopes reduce viral fitness. However, while the codon 242 threonine-to-asparagine (T242N) escape mutation within Gag<sub>240-249</sub> TW10 reverts readily following transmission to an HLA-disparate host, the R264K escape mutation within  $Gag_{263-272}$  KK10 does not (3) (4). This finding is surprising given that the R264K mutation reduces viral replicative fitness to a significantly greater extent than the T242N mutation (5). Compensatory mutations that maintain viral fitness while allowing for intra-epitopic variation have been described for both Gag<sub>263-272</sub> KK10 and Gag<sub>240-249</sub> TW10, and the difference in reversion kinetics between these epitopes is likely dependent on these compensatory mutations (4) (6) (7).

In simian immunodeficiency virus mac239 (SIVmac239)-infected rhesus macaques, the Mamu-A1\*001:01-bound CD8+ T cell epitope Gag<sub>181-189</sub> CM9 is analogous to Gag<sub>263-272</sub> KK10 and Gag<sub>240-249</sub> TW10 in that it lies within a conserved region of Gag and has associated compensatory mutations that increase the fitness of viral variants containing Gag<sub>181-189</sub> CM9 escape mutations. We, and others, have previously shown that the canonical Gag<sub>181-189</sub> CM9 escape mutation T182A is

frequently linked with the flanking downstream mutation I206V and reverts following transmission to Mamu-A1\*001:01-negative rhesus macaques (8) (9) (10). Additionally, the I206V compensatory mutation is consistently associated with a subsequent upstream mutation, I161V. This mutation is not necessary for the emergence of viruses with the T182A escape mutation, but it is believed to further increase viral fitness following mutations at both T182 and I206.

### II. Materials, Methods, & Results

### A. Pre-existing compensatory mutations I161V and I206V do not facilitate rapid Gag<sub>181-189</sub> CM9 escape

We hypothesized that preexisting I161V and I206V compensatory mutations would facilitate rapid, acute-phase escape within the conserved Gag<sub>181-189</sub> CM9 CD8+ T cell epitope upon transmission to Mamu-A1\*001:01-positive rhesus macaques. To test this hypothesis, we engineered an SIVmac239 variant harboring the I161V and I206V compensatory mutations associated with Gag<sub>181-189</sub> CM9 escape (SIVmac239-2V) by site-directed mutagenesis of SIVmac239 plasmid DNA using the QuikChange XL kit (Stratagene, La Jolla, CA) and generated a virus stock as previously described (2). Following intravenous infection of a Mamu-A1\*001:01-positive rhesus macaque, r98003, with 100 ng Gag p27CA, SIVmac239-2V replicated efficiently, peaking at 3.96 x 10<sup>7</sup> viral RNA (vRNA) copies/ml plasma at 10 days post-infection (d.p.i.), as measured by quantitative reverse transcription-PCR (RT-PCR) using previously described techniques (*11*) (Appendix 2 Figure 1A). This level of viral replication is consistent with a large body of data collected from wild-type SIVmac239-infected Mamu-A1\*001:01-positive rhesus macaques (*12*) (*13*). Additionally, major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I tetramer staining of freshly isolated peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) revealed that SIVmac239-2V elicited a strong CD8+ T cell response against Gag<sub>181-189</sub> CM9, with 3.5% of all circulating CD8+ T cells targeting this epitope at 14 d.p.i. (Appendix 2 Figure 1A). Importantly, this Gag<sub>181-189</sub> CM9-specific CD8+ T cell response remained at high frequency in r98003 through 15 weeks p.i. (w.p.i.).

Next, we monitored viral evolution within gag by performing Roche/454 pyrosequencing on plasma samples as described previously (8). Unexpectedly, instead of observing rapid, acute-phase escape of  $Gag_{181-189}$  CM9, we detected high-frequency reversions of both the I161V and I206V compensatory mutations (Appendix 2 Figure 1B). The frequency of revertant viruses in plasma increased through 8.5 w.p.i., when 98.3% of plasma virus sequences were wild-type SIVmac239 at I206 and 84% were wildtype SIVmac239 at I161. Subsequently, we detected two Gag<sub>181-189</sub> CM9 escape mutations, C181G and T182A, only after the I206V compensatory mutation had reverted almost entirely to wild type, with I206V present in only 1.7% of all pyrosequencing reads (Appendix 2 Figure 1B). The C181G mutation is rare but is a previously described Gag<sub>181-189</sub> CM9 escape mutation that also associates with the I161V and I206V compensatory mutations in *Mamu-A1\*001:01*-positive, SIVmac239-infected rhesus macaques (8) (9). These three mutations increased in frequency together and were tightly linked, with 87% of sequences containing one or both escape mutations also harboring the I206V compensatory mutation (data not shown). While we failed to observe rapid acute-phase CD8+ T cell escape, r98003 did manifest the earliest Gag<sub>181-189</sub> CM9 escape mutations of nine Mamu-A1\*001:01-positive rhesus macaques that we have investigated previously via Roche/454 pyrosequencing (8) (Appendix 2 Figure 1C).

# B. The SIV compensatory mutations Gag I161V and I206V do not always revert following transmission to Mamu-A1\*001:01-negative rhesus macaques.

Given the surprising reversion of the compensatory mutations following infection of a naive host, we next investigated additional animals infected with SIVmac239 harboring the pre-engineered I161V and I206V mutations. Friedrich et al. previously described three rhesus macaques infected with 3XSIVmac239, a virus encoding the Gag<sub>181–189</sub> CM9 escape mutation T182A and the two compensatory substitutions I161V and I206V (2). We Roche/454 pyrosequenced virus from plasma samples obtained from these three animals, spanning the first 8 months of infection, to make direct comparisons with virus sequences from r98003 and to glean additional insight into why SIVmac239-2V reverted at positions I161V and I206V before Gag<sub>181-189</sub> CM9 escape. Two of these rhesus macaques were Mamu-A1\*001:01-negative (r98020, r96115), and one was Mamu-A1\*001:01-positive (r97089). The 3XSIVmac239 circulating in r97089 retained all three (I161V, T182A, and I206V) pre-engineered mutations, most likely due to lowfrequency Mamu-A1\*001:01-restricted, Gag<sub>181-189</sub> CM9-specific CD8+ T cells (14) (Appendix 2 Figure 2A). In contrast, 3XSIVmac239 evolution diverged between the two Mamu-A1\*001:01-negative animals. The 3XSIVmac239 circulating in r96115 reverted completely to wild type at all three positions (I161, T182, and I206) by 24 w.p.i., supporting our data from r98003 (Appendix 2 Figure 2B). Surprisingly, 3XSIVmac239 in r98020 reverted completely to wild type at position T182 by 24 w.p.i. but maintained the compensatory mutations I161V and I206V in 100% of sequence reads through 30 w.p.i. (Appendix 2 Figure 2C). This finding is in contrast to our data from r98003 and r96115,

in which compensatory mutations I161V and I206V reverted in the absence of a  $Gag_{181-}$ <sub>189</sub> CM9 escape mutation (Appendix 2 Figures 1B and 2B).

## C. The downstream Gag mutation A312P stabilizes SIV containing compensatory mutations I161V and I206V in the absence of a Gag<sub>181–189</sub> CM9 escape mutation.

The divergent viral evolution between r98003, r96115, and r98020 raised the possibility that a tertiary mutation was maintaining viral fitness while allowing for the retention of the I161V and I206V compensatory mutations. To test this hypothesis, we analyzed Gag sequences from a cohort of 25 chronically SIV-infected rhesus macaques, including r98003, r97089, and r98020, at various time points postinfection (11 Manu-A1\*001:01-positive, 14 Mamu-A1\*001:01-negative macaques) using consensus Sanger sequencing as previously described (15). We found that viral sequences from five of seven SIVmac239-infected, Mamu-A1\*001:01-positive animals contained mutations 1161V, T182A/C, I206V, and a downstream mutation, Gag A312P (Appendix 2 Figure 3A). Virus from the two remaining Mamu-A1\*001:01-positive animals (r98001 and r99084) harbored the A312P mutation alone, suggesting that this mutation can precede the I161V, T182A/C, and I206V mutations. In contrast, none of these mutations were observed in Mamu-A1\*001:01-negative animals (Appendix 2 Figure 3A). Thus, it appeared that A312P was associated with Gag<sub>181-189</sub> CM9 escape. Next, we examined the association of A312P with the maintenance of the I161V and I206V compensatory mutations following transmission of our engineered viruses to naive hosts. In two out of the three Mamu-A1\*001:01-positive animals infected with 3XSIVmac239 (r97089 and r97035), the A312P mutation arose following infection, which again suggested that A312P stabilizes the Gag<sub>181-189</sub> CM9 escape-associated compensatory mutations

(Appendix 2 Figure 3B). In the two Mamu-A1\*001:01-negative animals infected with 3XSIVmac239 (r98020 and r96115), A312P was present only in r98020, where the compensatory mutations persisted in the absence of  $Gag1_{81-189}$  CM9 escape. In r98003, the Mamu-A1\*001:01-positive animal infected with SIVmac239-2V, the lack of A312P was associated with reversion of the compensatory mutations to wild type (Appendix 2 Figure 3C).

To further test if the tertiary mutation A312P would stabilize the I161V and I206V compensatory mutations during reversion of Gag<sub>181-189</sub> CM9 epitope mutations, we infected a Mamu-A1\*001:01-negative animal, r00033, with virus from rh1937 that contained the T182C Gag<sub>181-189</sub> CM9 escape mutation, the I161V and I206V compensatory mutations, and the tertiary A312P mutation (Appendix 2 Figure 3A, D). In agreement with our previous observations, the A312P mutation stabilized the I161V and I206V compensatory mutations, while the T182C escape mutation reverted to wild type (Appendix 2 Figure 3D). Cumulatively, these data suggest that A312P is necessary for the maintenance of I161V and I206V compensatory mutations in the absence of Gag<sub>181-189</sub> CM9 escape.

### D. Gag A312P is a bona fide compensatory mutation.

We observed that A312P consistently associated with the Gag<sub>181–189</sub> CM9 escapeassociated compensatory mutations, but we wanted to further assess the compensatory characteristics of the A312P mutation. We first investigated the possibility that A312P could be a CD8+ T cell escape mutation but found no evidence of T cells targeting this region of Gag. Using *in silico* binding algorithms

(http://www.cbs.dtu.dk/services/NetMHC/) we found that no 8-, 9-, or 10-mer peptides

between SIVmac239 Gag residues 301 and 323 are predicted to bind Mamu-A1\*001:01 with physiologically relevant affinity (50% inhibitory concentration [IC50]  $\leq$  500 nM) (*16*). In addition, we detected no CD8+ T cell responses to the A312 region by a gamma interferon (IFN-γ) enzyme-linked immunosorbent spot assay (ELISPOT) in 7 Mamu-A1\*001:01-positive rhesus macaques with detectable Gag<sub>181-189</sub> CM9-specific CD8+ T cell responses, 4 of which also had circulating virus harboring the A312P mutation (Appendix 2 Figure 4A, red symbols). These results, in combination, support the conclusion that CD8+ T cell pressure does not drive the emergence of A312P in Mamu-A1\*001:01-positive animals.

Next, we performed an *in vitro* SIVmac239 replication assay to compare the growth kinetics and levels of stability of viruses containing the I161V, I206V, and A312P mutations. We engineered two SIVmac239 mutants (in addition to SIVmac239-2V) containing the I161V, I206V, and A312P mutations together (SIVmac239-2V-P) or the A312P mutation alone (SIVmac239-P). We infected separate cultures of staphylococcal-enterotoxin B-stimulated rhesus macaque CD4+ T cells with 2 x 10<sup>7</sup> virus particles of either SIVmac239 or a mutant virus in complete medium containing 100 IU interleukin 2 (IL-2)/ml and cultured them for 7 days. On days 7 and 14, virus-containing cell supernatant was diluted 1:4 with medium and used to infect additional activated CD4+ T cells. We compared the frequencies of infected targets for each mutant virus on days 14 and 21 by intracellular Gag p27 antibody staining, normalizing to the frequency of SIVmac239-infected targets (Appendix 2 Figure 4B). Mutant viruses showed replication kinetics similar to that of SIVmac239 over the first 14 days but exhibited a higher replicative capacity by day 21. We Sanger sequenced the mutant viruses from our

replication assay at day 14 and found that SIVmac239-2V, but not SIVmac239-2V-P, showed a prominent double peak indicating reversion of the I206V mutation (Appendix 2 Figure 4C).

Finally, we generated structural models of the SIVmac239 capsid (CA) hexamer as previously described (*17*) and assessed locations and potential interactions of the I161, T182, I206, and A312 amino acid residues (Appendix 2 Figure 4D, top). The I161 residue is found in helix 1 of CA, and its side chain protrudes into helix 4, where the I206 residue is located, supporting the observed linkage between the I161V and I206V mutations. Importantly, the A312 residue lies within CA helix 9, near the I206-containing helix 4 of the adjacent CA monomer (Appendix 2 Figure 4D, bottom). Thus, SIVmac239 CA structural data suggest that the A312P mutation may influence the intermolecular interactions and stability of the CA hexamer. In support of this hypothesis, we consistently detected higher levels of intracellular Gag p27 CA in cells infected with viruses containing the A312P mutations (Appendix 2 Figure 4E). Taken together, our structural and *in vitro* sequencing data strongly support our conclusion that A312P is a tertiary compensatory mutation that stabilizes SIVmac239 expressing the Gag<sub>181–189</sub> CM9-associated compensatory mutation.

### **III.** Discussion

The association of A312P with the I161V and I206V compensatory mutations has not previously been described in studies of  $Gag_{181-189}$  CM9 escape but is not altogether an unexpected finding. In fact, the data presented herein contribute to a growing body of evidence that HIV and SIV variation within Gag is highly organized, both in terms of mutation kinetics and constrained patterns of escape (*18*) (*19*) (*20*). These structural

restraints have contributed to the identification of Gag as a premier target for T cell-based HIV vaccine design. As HIV circulates in human populations, there is concern that CD8+ T cell epitopes will be "lost" as escape substitutions accumulate in transmitted viruses. While the finding that such escape mutations frequently revert in the absence of selecting HLA alleles ameliorates this concern, the persistence of compensatory mutations in transmitted viruses may facilitate rapid escape when the virus next encounters CD8+ T cells restricted by the selecting HLA molecule. However, our data indicate that transmitted compensatory mutations do not necessarily facilitate rapid, acute-phase immune escape from CD8+ T cell responses. Further study of additional compensatory mutations, in terms of their frequency in circulating HIV strains and their effect on post-transmission CD8+ T cell responses, is warranted to fully understand their impact on the adaptation of HIV to HLA molecules present at high frequency within the human population.



Appendix 2 Figure 1: Compensatory mutations in SIVmac239-2V revert rapidly to wild type despite a Gag<sub>181-189</sub> CM9-specific CD8<sub>TL</sub> response. (A) Replication of the engineered SIVmac239 mutant SIVmac239-2V in r98003 was monitored in plasma over the first 15 weeks postinfection (w.p.i.). During the same period, the magnitude of the Gag<sub>181-189</sub> CM9-specific CD8<sub>TL</sub> response was assessed by Mamu-A1\*001:01/Gag<sub>181-189</sub> CM9 tetramer staining. (B) The Gag<sub>181-189</sub> CM9 region from the SIVmac239-2Vinfected, Mamu-A1\*00101-positive rhesus macaque r98003 was Roche/454 pyrosequenced at the indicated w.p.i. Each consensus sequence indicates all mutations present in 1% or more of total sequence reads (limit of detection). Amino acid substitutions are shown above the reference sequence; the frequencies of the mutations are shown both as percentages and as shaded boxes according to prevalence, as indicated by the key at the bottom right. Boxed amino acids within the reference sequence comprise the Gag<sub>181-189</sub> CM9

epitope. The consensus sequence of the SIVmac239-2V virus stock used to infect r98003 is shown below the sequences from r98003. **(C)** Times to  $Gag_{181-189}$  CM9 escape (as defined by the first of two consecutive time points showing amino acid substitutions within the epitope at a frequency of >1% of total sequence reads) in nine MamuA1\*00101-positive rhesus macaques (filled circles) and animal r98003 (open circle). The means and standard deviations of times to  $Gag_{181-189}$  CM9 escape are shown.

A		I <sub>161</sub> V	T <sub>182</sub> A	I <sub>206</sub> V	I <sub>247</sub> Y
	w.p.i.	IEEKKFGAEVVPGFQ	ALSEG <mark>CTPYDINQM</mark> LNCVG	 DHQAAMQIIRDIINEEAADWDLQHPQPAF	QQGQLREPSGSDIAGTTSSVDEQIQWM
6	2	<b>■</b> 99.6%	<b>9</b> 9.6%		
	4	■ 98.6%	<b>.</b>		
	10	<b>9</b> 9.5%	<b>9</b> 9.5%		
9708	12	<b>■</b> 100%			
Ľ	14	99 4%	100%	100%	
	24	1002	100%		
	31	100%	100%		
		100%	100%	100%	
B		$[I_{161}V]$	Т <sub>182</sub> А 	V <sub>206</sub> V	I <sub>236</sub> Y I <sub>247</sub> Y
	w.p.i.	IEEKKFGAEVVPGFQA	ALSEG <mark>CTPYDINQM</mark> LNCVGE	HQAAMQIIRDIINEEAADWDLQHPQPAP	QQGQLREPSGSDIAGTTSSVDEQIQWM
	2	99%	100%	100%	
	4	99.4%	99.4%	100%	
2	6	 100%	93.2%	99.3%	
9611	8	98.8%	52.2%	96.9%	_
-	10	98.9%	∎		
	12	86%	<b>]</b> 12 <b>.</b> 3%		
	14	<b>□</b> 25.9%			
	24				
С		I <sub>161</sub> V	T <sub>182</sub> A	I <sub>206</sub> V	I <sub>247</sub> Y
	w.p.i.				
	3		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	·····	
	6		100%	100%	
0	8	99.68	99.4% 	99.6%	1%
9802	12	100%	98.78 <b>D</b>	100%	
2	16		59.88 []	100% 	
	24	100%	J • 1°0	99.Jo 	
	30	100%			
		1 + 0 0 0		T 0 0.0	



Appendix 2 Figure 2: Consensus sequences of the Gag<sub>181–189</sub> CM9 region in rhesus macaques infected with 3XSIVmac239. The Gag<sub>181–189</sub> CM9 regions from three rhesus macaques infected with 3XSIVmac239 were Roche/454 pyrosequenced at the indicated w.p.i. (A) r97089 (Mamu-A1\*001:01 positive); (B) r96115 (MamuA1\*001:01 negative); (C) r98020 (Mamu-A1\*001:01 negative). Each consensus sequence indicates all mutations present in 1% or more of total sequence reads (limit of detection). Amino acid substitutions are shown above the reference sequence; the frequencies of the mutations are shown both as percentages and as shaded boxes according to prevalence, as indicated by the key at the bottom right. Boxed amino acids within the reference sequence comprise the Gag<sub>181–189</sub> CM9 epitope.

	Α	SIVm	ac239	infected	Infecting virus reference sequence								
				Mamu-	16 <sup>1</sup> 18 <sup>1</sup>	- n V							
		Animal	w.p.i.	A1*001:01	IEEKKFGAEVVPGFQALSEGCTPYDINQMLNCVGDHQAAMQIIRDI	A							
		r95096	150	+	VV	Р							
		r96078	229	+	VV	Р							
1		rh1937	166	+	VV	Р							
		rh2095	284	+	VV	Р							
		rh2125	68	+	VV	Р							
		r98001	135	+		Р							
		r99084	74	+		Р							
		r03035*	47	-		.							
		r03054	46	-		.							
		r03098	54	-		.							
		r03140	46	-		.							
~		r87081	40	-		.							
Ĕ		r89053	45	-		.							
las		r90098	116	-		.							
2		r92080	47	-		.							
5		r97044	128	-		.							
p		r98017	95	-		.							
ar		r98027	61	-									
ЫŇ	_												
믭	в	3XSIV	mac23	9-infected	Infecting virus reference sequence	_							
ő				Mamu-	N61 N61 N6	32							
×		Animal	w.p.i.	A1*001:01	VEEKKFGAEVVPGFQALSEGCAPYDINQMLNCVGDHQAAMQIIRDV	A							
0.1		r97089	49	+		Р							
d (		r97035	263	+	••••••••••••••••••	Р							
e		r98015	157	+	••••••••••••••••••	·							
nsf		r98020	30	-	·····	Р							
<u>a</u>		r96115	24	-	II								
	~	<b>o</b> 11 <i>i</i>											
	С	SIVma	c239-2	V-infected	Infecting virus reference sequence	_							
				Mamu-	1 <sup>66</sup> 1 <sup>86</sup> 1 <sup>96</sup>	3 <sup>1</sup>							
		Animal	w.p.i.	A1*001:01	VEEKKFGAEVVPGFQALSEGCTPYDINQMLNCVGDHQAAMQIIRDV	A							
		r98003	15	+	II								
		-											
		D			Infecting virus reference sequence								
				Mamu-	16 16 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10	Str.							
		Animal	w.p.i.	A1*001:01	VEEKKFGAEVVPGFQALSEGCCPYDINQMLNCVGDHQAAMQIIRDV	Р							
I		r00033	54	-	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·								

#### Appendix 2 Figure 3: The Gag A312P mutation stabilizes the compensatory mutations Gag I161V

and I206V. Consensus Sanger sequences spanning Gag I161 through I206 and the tertiary mutation site Gag A312 at the indicated w.p.i. are shown. (A) Eighteen SIVmac239-infected rhesus macaques (seven Mamu-A1\*001:01 positive and eleven Mamu-A1\*001:01 negative). \*, r03035 was infected with the SIVmac239 variant B\*008:01 8 SIVmac239 described in (*21*). (B) Five 3XSIVmac239- infected rhesus macaques (three Mamu-A1\*001:01 positive and two Mamu-A1\*001:01 negative). (C) One Mamu-A1\*001:01-positive, SIVmac239-2Vinfected rhesus macaque. (D) One Mamu-A1\*001:01-negative rhesus

macaque infected by transfer of plasma and PBMC from rh1937 at 166 w.p.i. (see the arrow). Reference sequences for respective infecting SIV strains are shown across the top.



**Appendix 2 Figure 4: Gag A312P is a tertiary compensatory mutation stabilizing SIVmac239 CA expressing I206V. (A)** Seven Mamu-A1\*00101-positive rhesus macaques infected with SIV were screened for T cell responses against three overlapping 15-mer peptides spanning the A312 region by IFN-γ ELISpot. Animals harboring SIV with the A312P mutation are represented with open red symbols. SFC, spot-forming cells. The dashed line at 50 SFC is the limit of detection for this assay. (B) Frequency of Gag p27 CD4 T cell targets infected with engineered mutant viruses in vitro. Values were normalized to the frequency of Gag p27 targets infected with SIVmac239. (C) Table showing Sanger sequencing results from vRNA taken at day 14 of the in vitro replication assay. (D) Structural modeling of SIVmac239 capsid,

showing positions of the I161, T182, I206, and A312 amino acid residues. (Top) Top view of the SIVmac239 CA hexamer, with one monomer colored light blue and a second monomer colored dark blue. (Bottom) Magnified side view of the potential interaction between A312 (within the light-blue monomer) and I206 (within the dark-blue monomer). **(E)** Representative Gag p27-staining histogram, showing the mean fluorescent intensity of intracellular Gag p27-fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC) staining for each virus at day 21 of our in vitro replication assay. Results are indicative of separate assays performed with two different Gag p27-specific antibodies.

### **IV. References**

- 1. P. A. Mudd *et al.*, CD8+ T cell escape mutations in simian immunodeficiency virus SIVmac239 cause fitness defects in vivo, and many revert after transmission. *J Virol.* **85**, 12804–12810 (2011).
- 2. T. C. Friedrich *et al.*, Reversion of CTL escapevariant immunodeficiency viruses in vivo. *Nat Med.* **10**, 275–281 (2004).
- 3. A. J. Leslie *et al.*, HIV evolution: CTL escape mutation and reversion after transmission. *Nat Med.* **10**, 282–289 (2004).
- 4. A. Schneidewind *et al.*, Transmission and long-term stability of compensated CD8 escape mutations. *J Virol.* **83**, 3993–3997 (2009).
- 5. C. L. Boutwell *et al.*, Frequent and variable cytotoxic-T-lymphocyte escapeassociated fitness costs in the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 subtype B Gag proteins. *J Virol.* **87**, 3952–3965 (2013).
- 6. M. A. Brockman *et al.*, Early selection in Gag by protective HLA alleles contributes to reduced HIV-1 replication capacity that may be largely compensated for in chronic infection. *J Virol.* **84**, 11937–11949 (2010).
- A. Schneidewind *et al.*, Escape from the dominant HLA-B27-restricted cytotoxic T-lymphocyte response in Gag is associated with a dramatic reduction in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication. *Journal of Virology*. 81, 12382–12393 (2007).
- 8. B. J. Burwitz *et al.*, Pyrosequencing Reveals Restricted Patterns of CD8+ T Cell Escape-Associated Compensatory Mutations in Simian Immunodeficiency Virus. *Journal of Virology*. **85**, 13088–13096 (2011).
- 9. T. C. Friedrich *et al.*, Extraepitopic compensatory substitutions partially restore fitness to simian immunodeficiency virus variants that escape from an immunodominant cytotoxic-T-lymphocyte response. *Journal of Virology*. **78**, 2581–2585 (2004).

- F. W. Peyerl *et al.*, Simian-human immunodeficiency virus escape from cytotoxic T-lymphocyte recognition at a structurally constrained epitope. *Journal of Virology*. 77, 12572–12578 (2003).
- 11. T. C. Friedrich *et al.*, Subdominant CD8+ T-cell responses are involved in durable control of AIDS virus replication. *Journal of Virology*. **81**, 3465–3476 (2007).
- 12. E.-Y. Kim *et al.*, Contribution of CD8+ T cells to containment of viral replication and emergence of mutations in Mamu-A\*01-restricted epitopes in Simian immunodeficiency virus-infected rhesus monkeys. *J Virol.* **82**, 5631–5635 (2008).
- 13. N. A. Wilson *et al.*, Vaccine-induced cellular immune responses reduce plasma viral concentrations after repeated low-dose challenge with pathogenic simian immunodeficiency virus SIVmac239. *Journal of Virology*. **80**, 5875–5885 (2006).
- 14. T. C. Friedrich *et al.*, Consequences of cytotoxic T-lymphocyte escape: common escape mutations in simian immunodeficiency virus are poorly recognized in naive hosts. *Journal of Virology*. **78**, 10064–10073 (2004).
- 15. D. H. O'Connor *et al.*, A dominant role for CD8+-T-lymphocyte selection in simian immunodeficiency virus sequence variation. *Journal of Virology*. **78**, 14012–14022 (2004).
- C. Lundegaard *et al.*, NetMHC-3.0: accurate web accessible predictions of human, mouse and monkey MHC class I affinities for peptides of length 8-11. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 36, W509–12 (2008).
- 17. N. Inagaki *et al.*, A structural constraint for functional interaction between N-terminal and C-terminal domains in simian immunodeficiency virus capsid proteins. *Retrovirology*. **7**, 90 (2010).
- V. Dahirel *et al.*, Coordinate linkage of HIV evolution reveals regions of immunological vulnerability. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. **108**, 11530–11535 (2011).
- 19. A. Schneidewind *et al.*, Structural and functional constraints limit options for cytotoxic T-lymphocyte escape in the immunodominant HLA-B27-restricted epitope in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 capsid. *J Virol.* **82**, 5594–5605 (2008).
- M. A. Brockman *et al.*, Escape and compensation from early HLA-B57-mediated cytotoxic T-lymphocyte pressure on human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Gag alter capsid interactions with cyclophilin A. *Journal of Virology*. 81, 12608–12618 (2007).
- 21. L. E. Valentine *et al.*, Infection with "escaped" virus variants impairs control of simian immunodeficiency virus SIVmac239 replication in Mamu-B\*08-positive macaques. *J Virol.* **83**, 11514–11527 (2009).